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‘All’s well that ends well’: a Late Bronze Age hoard from Vange

by N. Brown

A large Late Bronze Age, Ewart Park phase, hoard
was recovered during construction of a new school in
1953. The hoard is part of the major concentration of later
Bronze Age metalwork around the mouth of the Thames
Estuary. Following 1ts discovery, the hoard had a remarkable
history which is outlined, the hoard and its contents are
briefly described and discussed, and the umplications for
Late Bronze Age settlement on London Clay considered.
Finally, some suggestions are made with regard to the
preservation and recording of discoveries of Bronze Age
metalwork.

Discovery and subsequent history

The Vange Hoard was discovered during construction
of the Swan Mead School, Vange, part of the early phase
of the creation of Basildon new town (Fig. 1). An
anonymous account of the discovery preserved in
Colchester Museum states:-

“The objects...were found on Friday, 9th October,
1953, while a drainage trench was being excavated.
They lay in one compact group within the width of the
trench (2’3" wide), the earth immediately surrounding
being stained green from the corrosion of the bronze.
The ground consists of approximately 12 inches of
topsoil with brown clay below (moderate admixture of
small round stones and sulphate crystals) and is moist
but not saturated during wet weather’.

The account wrongly attributes the objects to the
Middle Bronze Age and lists the pieces as:-

‘1 Cast Bronze Axe Complete 2 (Hollow)
Heads (Celts) with metal ~ Broken fragments 7 (Hollow)
loops for thongs Solid flanged type 1 (Solid)

2 Spear Heads Broad type with two holes 1 (Hollow)
(ornamental only) and

engraved ornamental lines

Pointed thin type. 1 (Hollow)
3 Spear or Arrow Heads Narrow type (broken). 1 (Hollow)
Narrow type with gouge 1 (Hollow)
shaped point.
4 Bronze Blade Fragment, sharpened 1 (Solid)
both edges.
S Square Section hammer 1 (Part
head (?) hollow at base. Hollow)

6 Fragments of axe head 4 (Hollow)
hollow necks.
7 Rough pieces of bronze 23 (Solid)’

casting metal (all sizes).
This list gives a total of 43 pieces.

A minute of the Essex County Council General
Purposes Committee for 27th October 1953 notes the
discovery of the hoard and states,

‘...that some of the items have suffered from
corrosion but that there are two exceptionally fine
socketed celts with their loops, a fragment of what may
have been a winged adze, fragments of two types of
spearheads and two fragments of mountings with rivets
and that the hoard which it is felt dated between 1000
BC and 750 BC is of the West Alpine type’.

The minute also records that,

‘...the Chairman of the Committee be authorised to
approve arrangements and any expenditure involved as
he may deem fit for the purposes of having the articles
cleaned by an expert’.

and that,

‘...pending a decision as to it’s eventual disposition
the finer pieces in the hoard be exhibited in County
Hall’ and further that ‘Permission be given for
photographs of the hoard to be taken on behalf of the
Essex Archaeological Society’.

Enquiries in June 1987 revealed no trace of the
photographs in the Essex Archaeological Society’s
records, and it may be that the photographs were not
taken. The description of the hoard in this minute
appears more accurate than the earlier account and to
have been written by an archaeologically informed
individual, quite possibly William Pollitt of Southend
Museum who had been active in recording the
archaeology, especially Bronze Age metalwork, of south
Essex and south-east Essex in particular since the
1920s. The description of the hoard as of “West Alpine
type’ seems rather antiquated for the mid 1950s, but was
widely used, including by Pollitt, two or three decades
earlier (e.g. Pollitt 1935; Francis 1931).

A further minute of the General Purposes
committee for 26 October 1954 records a decision to
display some of the objects in a cabinet in the Council
Chamber Lobby and a few pieces at Swan Mead
Primary School, Basildon. The hoard was then
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Fig.1 Vange hoard. Location Map

apparently deposited in the County Record Office. A
minute of the Library, Museum and Records committee
of 17 January 1977 states that the hoard was deposited
in the Record Office for safe keeping in November 1953
but that “...some of the best pieces were lent...for
display at the school in October 1954 and others were
for some years on display outside the Council
Chamber”. The minute goes on to say that some items
were lent to the Colchester and Essex Museum for
examination recording and cleaning in August 1967,
and that a representative of the museum had been to the
school to list the items there.

The minute further records the decision:-

“That the Vange Hoard referred to above, other than
the items on display at the school, be formally deposited

in the Colchester and Essex Museum on indefinite loan
for public display’.

The Colchester and Essex Museum Annual Report
for 1976-77 records the Vange Hoard as having been
deposited by the Record Office in 1976, but by this time
two axes were in the collections at Southend Museum,
although there seems to be no record of how they got
there. Perhaps they are the ‘two exceptionally fine
socketed celts’ noted in the minute of 27 October 1953.
If Pollitt provided these comments, this would establish
a link with Southend Museum.

During 1976 Chris Couchman of the then recently

established, Essex County Council Archaeology Section
attempted to trace the contents of the Vange Hoard as
part of the background research for a paper given to the
first conference on Essex archaeology organised by
Essex County Council in 1978 (Couchman 1980).
A letter dated 4 January 1977 written to Couchman by
the then curator of the Colchester and Essex Museum,
appears to refer to the original list of objects; and notes
that there are far more, and different objects present
than are listed. He also records the poor state of many of
the pieces noting ‘...it is possible they have disintegrated
during cleaning, particularly as there was a very
unfortunate accident over the cleaning: it was left
soaking a while when my previous conservator left and
I did not catch up with it quite quickly enough; however,
even so I do not think that it can account for all of this’.
The two axes at Southend Museum, though generally
complete, are deeply pitted with corrosion. As these
two objects did not suffer in the cleaning accident
at Colchester, and given the corrosion damage
noted in the minute of 1953, it seems likely that much
of the corrosion damage occurred rapidly after the
hoard’s discovery.

In the 1980s three hoards (Wickham Bishops I and
IT and Chigborough) were discovered and reported to
the County Council Archaeology Section. In
considering how best to publish these hoards, it was
thought desirable to undertake metallurgical analysis,
and that such a publication might usefully be extended
to include the Vange hoard and a hoard of copper ingot
fragments from Hanningfield. Accordingly, Peter
Northover of Oxford University was contacted with
regard to metallurgical analysis, and grant aid was
sought to cover the costs of the metallurgy and
illustration. In the event, insufficient funds could be
obtained either from grant aid or the County Council’s
own resources, and accordingly the scope of the
publication (Brown and Northover forthcoming) was
reduced by excluding the Vange hoard. However, a draft
catalogue was produced and the metallurgical samples
taken, the results of these are incorporated into the
discussion of the other three hoards (Brown, Crowe and
Northover forthcoming). During this process enquiries
were made to the Essex Society for Archaeology and
History regarding the photographs mentioned in the
minute of 27 October 1953 (above). However, no
photographs could be found and it is uncertain if the
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hoard had in fact ever been photographed. At about this
time Ken Crowe of Southend Museum was preparing a
catalogue of Bronze Age finds from south-east Essex,
and made enquiries at Swan Mead school with regard to
objects from the Vange hoard, but without success.
There matters rested, until the mid 1990s when Pat
Connell, then the County Council Archaeology
Section’s Education Officer, undertook some work with
the children of Swan Mead school, and was shown a
display box containing objects from the Vange hoard.
This provided renewed impetus to finally bring the
hoard to publication. The objects at the school had
suffered some corrosion over the previous 40 years and
were in urgent need of conservation. This was carried
out at Colchester Museum, and the present report and
its accompanying illustrations were prepared, all this
work being funded by Essex County Council. It was also
decided to reunite all the objects from the two museums
and the school and deposit them at a single place.
Southend Museum is now the most appropriate place
for such finds from the Basildon area, and all the objects
have been deposited there. In accordance with current
best practice, full legal title has been granted to the
museum and at the same time the County Council
adopted a formal policy to donate all archaeological
finds, together with full legal title, recovered from land
in its ownership, to the relevant museum for the area.

Hoard Catalogue

1. Socketed Axe. Mouth missing, sides curve
smoothly to a moderately expanded cutting edge.
Casting flash on sides largely smoothed away.
Sub-rectangular socket section. Surfaces cracked
and pitted with corrosion with large areas eaten
away. ? Needham (1986) Class A1. Wt. 116g.

2 Tip of socketed axe. Sub-rectangular socket
section. Remaining sides curve smoothly to a
moderately expanded cutting edge. Cutting edge
heavily damaged, all surfaces very badly pitted
with corrosion with no surface patina surviving.
Wt. S6g.

3. Socketed axe. Mouth missing, concave sides
curving to expanded cutting edge, lower stump of
side loop survives, with trace of casting flash
blade and blade edges heavily damaged. All
surfaces pitted with corrosion. Internal rib,
Ehrenberg (1981) Type S5A. Needham (1986)
Class Al, Schmidt and Burgess (1981) ? Isle of
Harty variant. Wt. 70g.

4. Tip of socketed axe, concave sided with widely
expanded blade. Badly affected by corrosion,
cutting edge of blade entirely missing. Where they
survive, surfaces are smooth and only lightly
pitted with corrosion. Needham (1986) Class Al.
Schmidt and Burgess (1981) ? Isle of Harty
variant. Wt. 37g.

5, Socketed axe. Mouth missing, sub-rectangular
socket section. Fairly straight sided somewhat

10.

I<[%

12,

13,

14.

15.

16.

17,

18.

19,

wedge shaped form, unexpanded blade. Lower
stump of loop survives. Top of surviving side
appears to have been bent and crushed in
antiquity. All surfaces very badly pitted with
corrosion. Needham (1986) Class Al, appears
similar to Schmidt and Burgess (1981) Type
Everthorpe. Wt. 48g.

Lower part of socketed axe, sub-rectangular
socket section. Sides curve smoothly to a widely
expanded blade. One side of the blade is far more
heavily worn than the other. The faces are very
heavily pitted with corrosion, the sides are less
badly affected. Part of one internal rib, Ehrenberg
(1981), type SA survives. Needham (1986) Class
A1.Wt. 188g.

Tip of socketed axe, expanded blade. Relatively
unaffected by corrosion. Wt. 41g.

Tip of socketed axe, expanded blade, one side of
the blade is heavily damaged by corrosion. Wt.
6lg.

Tip of socketed axe surviving to base of socket,
expanded blade, most of the cutting edge is missing
the piece is badly affected by corrosion. Wt. 65g.
Tip of socketed axe, expanded blade. Very badly
affected by corrosion. Wt. 30g.

Tip of socketed axe, slightly expanded blade.
Very badly affected by corrosion. Wt. 62g.

Tip of socketed axe, narrow bladed very heavily
corroded, particularly on one face. Wt. 51g.
Mouth of socketed axe, square section. Heavy
mouth moulding, prominent casting flash
survives on one side, stump of side loop on the
other. All surfaces heavily pitted with corrosion.
Internal rib of Ehrenberg (1981) Type 5SA
present on surviving side. Wt. 83g.

Blade fragment of small socketed axe base of
socket present. Heavily corroded. Wt. 7g.

Mouth fragment of socketed axe, socket probably
of sub-rectangular section. Heavy mouth
moulding, slight moulding below. Prominent
casting flash. Interior heavily pitted with
corrosion. Wt. 20g.

Mouth fragment of socketed axe, socket probably
of sub-rectangular section. Double mouth
moulding. All surfaces badly affected by
corrosion. Wt. 22g.

Mouth fragment of socketed axe, sub-rectangular
socket section. Heavy mouth moulding. Some
corrosion pitting of surfaces. Wt. 29g.

Two joining mouth fragments of socketed axe,
sub-rectangular  section. Double mouth
moulding, stump of side loop level with lower
moulding. Single internal rib survives. Very badly
corroded. Wt. 12g.

Two joining fragments of socketed axe, sub-
rectangular section. Double mouth moulding,
stump of side loop level with lower moulding.
Quite prominent casting flash, surfaces badly
pitted with corrosion. Wt. 13g.
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Fig. 2 Vange hoard. Socketed axe fragments
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Fig. 3 Vange hoard. Socketed axe fragments
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36.

37.

38.

39,

40.

41.

42.

ESSEX ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

Part of mouth moulding of socketed axe,
probably of sub-rectangular section. Part of an
internal rib survives. Wt. 8g.

Part of mouth moulding of socketed axe.
Moulding prominent with casting flash on top
and ? scar left by removal of feeder. Part of
second moulding and casting flash survive below
mouth moulding. Wt. 13g.

Part of mouth moulding of socketed axe with
part of internal rib surviving. Wt. 10g.

Part of mouth moulding of socketed axe. Very
badly corroded. Not illustrated. Wt. 8g.

Part of mouth moulding of socketed axe. Wt. 6g.
Mouth moulding of ? socketed axe with raised
area which may be a partly smoothed off scar left
by a feeder. Wt. 4g.

Mouth of socketed axe, very badly corroded. Wt.
7g.

Mouth of socketed axe, very badly corroded. Not
illustrated. Wt. 4g.

Mouth of socketed axe, badly cracked and pitted
with corrosion. Wt. 7g.

Mouth of socketed axe, with double mouth
moulding. Not illustrated. Wt. 5g.

Mouth of socketed axe, badly corroded. Not
illustrated. Wt. 4g.

Side loop from socketed axe. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.
Fragment of mouth of socketed axe, double
mouth moulding, with stump of side loop
emerging from lower moulding. Wt. 8g.
Fragment of socketed axe, with stump of side
loop emerging from a very slight moulding. Wt.
7g.

Fragment of socketed axe with double moulding.
Stump of side loop emerging from just above the
slight lower moulding, casting flash. Wt. 11g.
Fragment of socketed axe with stump of side
loop, badly corroded. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.
Fragment of socketed axe pitted with corrosion
with part of a moulding surviving and internal
rib. Not illustrated. Wt. 7g.

Two joining fragments of socketed axe, bent and
broken in antiquity, badly corroded. There is a
row of three sub-circular indentations on the
surviving face; owing to the poor condition of the
fragments it is uncertain whether these are part of
the casting, or the result of subsequent damage.
Wt. 22g.

Fragment of axe socket bent and twisted in
antiquity; corrosion damage particularly to
surviving face. Wt. 28g.

Fragment of axe socket, very badly pitted and
cracked with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 10g.
Fragment of axe socket, very badly pitted and
cracked with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.
Fragment of axe socket, with some heavy
corrosion damage. Not illustrated. Wt. 8g.
Fragment of ? axe socket, extensively pitted with
corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.

43.

44,

45

46.

47.
48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55,

56.

57.

58.

59:

60.

61.

62.

+63.

+64.

Fragment of axe socket, extensively pitted and
cracked with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.
Fragment of axe socket, extensively pitted and
cracked with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 5g.
Fragment of axe socket, extensively pitted and
cracked with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.
Fragment of ? axe socket, extensively pitted and
cracked with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.
Fragment of ? axe socket. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.
Fragment of ? axe socket extensively cracked and
pitted with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.
Small fragment of ? mouth moulding of socketed
axe. Not illustrated. Wt. 1g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket. Not illustrated.
Wt. 2g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket. Not illustrated.
Wt. 2g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket extensively pitted
with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket pitted with
corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket extensively pitted
with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket extensively pitted
with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket extensively pitted
with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket extensively pitted
with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket extensively pitted
with corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 1g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket exterior
extensively pitted with corrosion. Not illustrated.
Wt. 1g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket exterior
extensively pitted and cracked with corrosion.
Not illustrated. Wt. 1g.

Small fragment of ? axe socket surfaces
extensively pitted with corrosion. Not illustrated.
Wt. 3g.

Very small fragment possibly from socket of axe.
Not illustrated. Wt < 1g.

Socketed Axe. Mouth moulding with second
moulding below it from which springs a side
loop. Sub-rectangular socket sections, with
internal ribs of Ehrenberg (1981) type 5a. Sides
fairly straight, curving gently at the blade end to
a slightly expanded cutting edge. All surfaces
pitted and scarred with corrosion, entire cutting
edge missing, traces of casting flash survive, there
is a single pellet moulding surviving on one face.
Needham (1980) class A2. Schmidt and Burgess
(1981) ?Variant Bilton. Wt. 168g.

Socketed Axe. Prominent mouth moulding with
second moulding below from which springs the
remains of a side loop. Sub-rectangular socket
section, with internal ribs of Ehrenberg (1981)
type Sa. Sides slightly flared widening more
rapidly towards the expanded cutting edge. All
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Fig.4 Vange hoard. Miscellaneous items, spear and sword fragments
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surfaces pitted and scarred with corrosion. Traces
of casting flash survive. The less damaged face
has three quite slight ribs descending from the
lower mouth moulding. Needham (1986) class B.
Wt. 198g.

Socketed Axe. Mouth moulding with second
moulding below from which springs a side loop.
Ribbed wing ornament on both faces springing
from lower moulding. Sub-rectangular socket
section’s internal rib of Ehrenburg (1981) type
5b. Sides gently flared to slightly expanded blade.
Surfaces pitted with corrosion; lumpy corrosion
also badly affects one side and one face. Where
patina is preserved, on the other face, slight
dimpling resulting from hammering can be
discerned around the blade bevel. Needham
(1986) class A. Wt. 183g.

Socketed Axe. Blade and lower body only, sub
rectangular socket sections. Sides quite straight,
flaring towards expanded cutting edge. All
surfaces affected by lumpy corrosion. Casting
flash and stump of side loop survive. Needham
(1986) class A. Wt. 135g.

Socketed Axe. Blade and lower body only,
out-rectangular socket sections. Sides flare to
expanded cutting edge. One face very badly
affected by lumpy corrosion, patina on other
faces shows slight traces of hammering. Casting
flash has been thoroughly and smoothly
removed. ? Needham (1986) class A. Wt. 99g.
Socketed Axe. Blade and lower body only. Badly
affected by lumpy erosion, one face preserves
large areas of smooth patina, expanded cutting
edge with very slight blade bevel. ?Needham
(1986) class A. Wt. S56g.

Socketed Axe. Mouth only. Prominent rather
bulbous mouth moulding, with second, thin
moulding immediately below from which springs
the stump of a side loop. Pairs of very slight pellet
mouldings survive on both faces. Needham
(1986) class A2. Wt. 57g.

Faceted axe, three non-joining fragments
probably from the same axe. Flat topped trumpet
shaped mouth moulding, lower part of side loop
survives. Blade and faces badly damaged by
corrosion. Needham (1986) Class D1. Schmidt
and Burgess (1981) Type Meldreth. Wt. 83g.
Winged adze, butt missing, wings on one
face almost completely removed, stump of
loop survives. Heavily pitted with corrosion. Wt.
80g.

Head of socketed hammer, each side has a curved
shoulder where the socket narrows, upper part
of socket missing. Working face is heavily worn
on one side, with some corrosion damage. Both
faces are bent out and cracked, at the point where
the upper part of the socket has been broken off
in antiquity. There is heavy corrosion damage to
one face and one side.Wt. 69g.

73,

74.

75

76

75

78
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80.
81.
82.
83.

*84.

*85.

*86.

*87:

*88.

*89.

90.

Fragment of square sectioned ? hammer socket.
Interior and exterior of one face heavily pitted
with corrosion. Wt. 14g.

Two joining fragments of socketed gouge, blade
end broken off probably in antiquity, heavily
cracked and pitted with corrosion. Wt. 8g.
Fragment of curved socket, possibly from
socketed gouge, heavily cracked and pitted with
corrosion. Wt. 8g.

Fragment of mouth of curved socket, with slight
moulding, possibly from gouge. Wt. 3g.

Two joining fragments of socketed gouge, heavily
pitted with corrosion. Wt. 10g.

Socketed gouge. Slender with slightly expanded,
probably plain circular mouth although the
extent of corrosion makes this uncertain.
Extensive corrosion damage, upper part of socket
filled with corrosion. This form of gouge is the
most common form frequently occurring in
Ewart Park phase hoards (Needham 1986; Sealey
1987) Wt. 44g.

Fragment of curved socket possibly from gouge.
Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.

Fragment of socket heavily pitted with corrosion.
Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.

Fragment of socket heavily pitted with corrosion.
Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.

Fragment of socket heavily pitted with corrosion.
Not illustrated. Wt. 3g.

Curved backed fragment, one edge completely
missing surface survives on one side only, other
side deeply pitted with corrosion ? Sickle. Wt. 7g.
Sickle. Fragment from the tip of a sickle some
corrosion damage traces of the edge level survive
at the tip and cutting edge. There is a prominent
rounded ridge towards the back of the blade
which is snapped off immediately above the
ridge. Wt. 17g.

Tubular object much cracked and pitted with
corrosion. Circular/oval cross section, casting
seems intended to be hollow but is filled with
grey, hard- packed substance which can be
scratched with finger nail producing very fine
dust. ? Loop of bugle shaped object. Wt. 9g.
Spearhead. Fragment of blade with prominent
round midrib, badly affected by corrosion. Wt.
9g.

Spearhead. Tip of spearhead bent in antiquity
and with recent break, badly affected by
corrosion. Round midrib defined by slight
grooved lines. Wt. 49g.

Spearhead. Fragment of blade with round
midrib, some corrosion damage, clear edge bevel.
Wt. 9g.

Socket fragment from ? spear socket with single
slight moulding below mouth, casting flash
present, part of one peg hole survives. Heavily
pitted with corrosion, particularly on interior. Wt.

8g.
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Fig. 5 Vange hoard. Sword fragments, knife fragments and casting waste

Fragment of spear socket part of one peg-hole
survives, surfaces deeply pitted and cracked with
corrosion. Wt. 10g.

Fragment of circular sectioned ? spear socket.
Wt. 3g.

Fragment of circular sectioned ? spear socket.
Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.

Fragment of circular sectioned ? spear socket
exterior heavily pitted and cracked with
corrosion. Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.

Sword blade fragment. Full width of blade only
survives in one small area here there is a
prominent rounded midrib and slight edge bevels

96.

survive. The blade is double edged; the back edge
although heavily corroded appears to be slightly
curved, giving a sickle like appearance, but this
seems entirely the result of corrosion. The other
edge is mostly corroded back to the centre of the
blade. The tip is missing and the end is rounded
by corrosion. The whole object is heavily pitted
with corrosion. Needham (1986) Class A. Wt.
60g.

Sword blade fragment. Most of the cutting edges
missing, heavily pitted and damaged by
corrosion. The broad flat mid-rib appears to
slope evenly to the edge bevels. The blade has
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Fig. 6 Vange hoard. Copper ingot fragments

been bent at the top in antiquity. Ewart Park type,
Needham (1986) Class A. Wt. 97g.

Sword blade fragment. Broad flat midrib, cutting
edges missing, heavily damaged by corrosion
only a small part of original surface survives on
one face. ? Ewart Park type, Needham (1986)
Class A. Wt. 14g.

10

Sword blade fragment. Some corrosion damage
to both faces, however large areas of original
surface survive. Broad flat midrib separate from
the edge levels by shallow hollows. Linear
striations present on both faces particularly near
the edge bevels. Ewart Park Type, Needham
(1986) Class A. Wt. 53g.
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Fig.7 Vange hoard. Copper ingot fragments
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Sword blade fragment, very heavily corroded
both cutting edge missing, tip broken off and
rounded by corrosion, broad flat midrib. Wt. 48g.
Sword blade fragment, so heavily pitted with
corrosion that the blade edges and all surface
detail has been removed. Not illustrated. Wt. 17g.
? Sword. Blade fragment with rounded midrib
very badly affected by lumpy corrosion bent in
antiquity. ? Ewart Park type Needham (1986)
Class A. Wt. 37g.

Sword. Blade fragment with broad rounded
midrib, much corrosion damages, one edge
completely destroyed, bent in antiquity. One
blade face has area of smooth patina showing
edge level separated from mid-rib by slight
hollowing. Ewart Park type. Needham (1986)
Class A. Wt. 43g.

Sword. Blade fragment, broad rounded midrib,
much affected by lumpy corrosion. Ewart Park
type Needham (1986) Class A. Wt. 30g.

Sword hilt fragment. One side missing the other
side concave, curving to a sharp shoulder above
deep square ricasso notch. The ricassi are backed
by mouldings. A single groove curves from either
shoulder to meet and flank the midrib. One
complete rivet hole survives with part of another
on the damaged side. A notch at the top of the
fragment may be the bottom of a slot in the hilt,
both sides pitted by corrosion. Carp’s Tongue
type. Needham (1986) Class B. The midrib
appears to be of Needham’s (1986) variant 1,
rounded and emphasised by steep sides rising
from the flanking grooves. Wt. 102g.

Sword blade fragment. Both cutting edges
missing, surfaces deeply pitted with corrosion,
smoothly curved midrib with part of flanking
groove surviving. Carp’s Tongue type. Needham
(1986) Class B, blade variant 2. Wt. 21g.

Sword blade fragment. Both cutting edges
missing much affected by lumpy corrosion.
Broad rounded midrib defined by two grooved
lines. Carp’s Tongue sword Needham (1986)
class C, blade variant 2. Wt. 32g.

Sword. Fragment of hilt of socketed sword, blade
snapped off at junction with hilt, one side and
much of socket badly affected by corrosion, part
of a single rivet hole survives. Wt. 25g.

Knife. Fragment of socket and blade from
Thorndon type knife, very badly affected by
corrosion. Part of a rivet hole survives on one side
of the socket. Wt. 32g.

Blade. Fragment of blade with recent break, all
form and detail removed by corrosion. Width and
thinness of the blade would suggest a knife rather
than a sword blade. Not illustrated. Wt. 10g.
Unidentified fragment, extensively damaged by
corrosion, one face ? flat the other concave there
is an edge bevel on one side, part of a hole
survives. Wt. 5g.
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111.

112,

113.

114.

115,

116.

117.

118.

119.

120.

121.

122,

123.

124.

Unidentified fragment, extensive corrosion
damage no edges survive, single hole Wt. 2g.
Unidentified fragment, no original edges or
surfaces survive, cross section flat tapering to
rounded edges and blunted point. May be a
heavily corroded sword blade fragment. Not
illustrated. Wt. 17g.

Casting jet with conical reservoir and single
feeder. The feeder appears to have a bifurcated
end, however, the curved indentation between the
two ends appears to be damage, rather than a
direct result of the casting. There is a large casting
flash around two sides of the feeder, presumably
the result of seepage of metal into a gap between
gate and mould. The flash along the long side of
the feeder has been bent inward. Sample point
not indicated as it is on reverse of view shown.
Wt. 37g.

Casting jet with conical reservoir and stumps of
two feeders and scar where third (? 115) has
broken off. Wt. 58g.

Small conical object possibly the stump of a
feeder, rather like those on 114, broken from a
casting jet. Not illustrated. Wt. 1g.

Small rod of triangular section with concave
sides, both ends are recent breaks. Probably some
kind of sprue, flash or other trimmed off casting
waste. Wt. 2g.

Small rod of triangular section with concave
sides, and one flat and the other end is a recent
break. Probably some kind of sprue, flash or
other trimmed off casting waste, perhaps same as
116 but does not join. Wt. 1g.

Small rod of triangular section with two concave
sides the other flat. One end is a recent break.
Probably some kind of sprue, flash or other
trimmed off casting waste, similar to, but more
substantial than, 116 and 117.Wt. 3g.

Casting waste, thin curved irregular fragment.
Not illustrated. Wt. 2g.

Casting waste, thin sub-circular, curved section
one surface has irregular concentric grooves..
Not illustrated. Wt. 1g.

Large piece from centre of ingot; columnar
growth from base; horizontal shrinkage cavities
between growth from top and bottom surfaces;
sample cut from base (towards edge of ingot).
Wt. 593g.

Section from edge towards centre of shallow
ingot; ? some columnar growth from base; top
surface porous; horizontal shrinkage cavities
below limited growth from surface; sample cut
from base towards centre of ingot. Wt. 272g.
Similar to 122 but ingot has steep sides with
thickness maintained across whole section; more
numerous cavities; sample from top, near outer
side of ingot. Wt. 256g.

Section from outer part, including edge, of
definitely plano-convex ingot; columnar growth
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134.

135:
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from base; horizontal shrinkage cavities, in places
very close to top surface; sample taken from base,
centre. Wt. 155g.

Shallow, flat ingot (cf. 2, 3); vertical edges; well-
defined meniscus; columnar growth from base;
shrinkage cavities near top; some enlarge
downwards; sample from base, centre. Wt. 206g.
Flat, shallow circular plano-convex ingot; large
section of edge survives; surface has partially
flowed back over setting surface from edge of
ingot; very large shrinkage cavities, enlarged
downwards in part; some columnar growth but
by no means clear; sample from top about 25 mm
from edge. Wt. 452g.

Section from outer part of plano-convex ingot
(but not including edge); columnar growth from
base and top; growth down from top surface
rather greater than in other examples; well-
defined, very flat shrinkage cavities; ? some marks
of hot chiselling and hammering; sample from
base near outer part. Wt. 457g.

? Probable section from edge to near centre of
shallow ingot with marked meniscus; edges
sloped, making clear angle with base; columnar
growth from base; horizontal shrinkage cavities
very near surface; some edges possibly distorted
by chiselling; sample from base about 20 mm in
from edge. Wt. 357g.

Section including edge of plano-convex ingot;
heavily gassed with many large and irregular
cavities; no clear pattern to growth; sample from
base about 20 mm in from edge. Wt. 412g.
Sector of small, very shallow plano-convex ingot;
porous surface and smooth base; a few small
cavities; no clear growth pattern; sample taken
from outer edge. Wt. 106g.

Section from outer part of plano-convex ingot,
not including edge; columnar growth from base;
some shrinkage cavities close to top; rough
surface. Wt. 413g.

Piece of shallow plano-convex ingot, including
edge; meniscus; many cavities; no clear growth
pattern; sample from top about 25 mm from
edge. Not illustrated. Wt. 34g.

Piece from outer part of shallow plano-convex
ingot; columnar growth sloped to edge; some
cavities; sample from a little below top surface,
towards centre. Not illustrated. Wt. 74g

Section from centre of moderately thick ingot;
clear columnar growth; horizontal shrinkage with
one large cavity, otherwise dense; sample from
base. Not illustrated. Wt. 98g

Section from shallow ingot/cake; growth pattern
unclear; very porous (and dirty?); sample from
one surface. Wt. 73g.

Small piece from edge of shallow plano-convex
ingot; many cavities; some columnar growth;
sample from top surface near edge. Not
illustrated. Wt. 20g
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137.

138.

139.

140.

141.

142.

143.

144.

145.

146.

147.

148.

149.

150.

151.

Piece from outer part of ingot of moderate
thickness; clear columnar growth from both
surfaces; shrinkage line at about 1/3 thickness
from top; sample from top towards centre. Not
illustrated. Wt. 155g.

Small section towards centre of shallow ingot;
columnar growth but orientation not clear; dense;
sample from one surface. Not illustrated. Wt. 17g.
Section towards edge of plano-convex ingot; clear
columnar growth; few cavities; no clear shrinkage
horizon or joint line; sample from bottom
towards centre. Not illustrated.

Section from edge of ingot with many large
cavities; meniscus; no clear growth pattern;
sample from near top surface towards the edge.
Not illustrated. Wt. 26g.

Section from edge of shallow ingot with vertical
side; columnar growth; large horizontal shrinkage
cavity; sample from top near edge. Not
illustrated. Wt. 53g.

Section near edge of shallow ingot; cavities; no
clear growth pattern; shrinkage horizon close to
upper surface; sample from mid-thickness
towards edge. Not illustrated. Wt. 26g.

Section from edge of shallow ingot; rough
columnar growth; shrinkage horizon close to top
surface; sample from edge. Not illustrated. Wt.
39g.

Section from centre of shallow ingot; growth
pattern uncertain; sample from one surface. Not
illustrated. Wt. 32g.

Fragment of shallow ingot; sample from one
surface. Not illustrated. Wt. 4g.

Section from centre of shallow/medium thickness
ingot; columnar growth; shrinkage horizon close
to top surface; equiaxed growth from top ?;
sample from top. Not illustrated. Wt. 34g.
Sections from edge of shallow ingot; shrinkage
horizon close to top surface sample from top
thickness towards centre. Not illustrated. Wt. 20g.
Section from centre of shallow ingot; smooth
surface; some horizontal shrinkage below top
surface but growth is not clearly columnar;
sample from base. Not illustrated. Wt. 122g.
Section from near edge towards centre of shallow
ingot; some irregular cavities; columnar growth,
especially close to edge where it is directed from
edge; sample taken from top near edge. Not
illustrated. Wt. 120g.

Section from edge of thick plano-convex ingot;
many cavities, especially in lower surface close to
edge (wet mould?); meniscus; rough surface;
clear columnar growth; sample from lower
surface, near edge. Wt. 150g.

Section from outer part of plano-convex ingot of
moderate thickness; columnar growth; clear
horizontal section below shallow growth from top
surface; large cavities close to edge; sample from
base towards edge. Wt. 181g.
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Fig. 8 Vange hoard. Copper ingot fragments

Section from near ? centre of plano-convex ingot;
growth pattern unclear but it is possible that
growth from upper and lower surfaces is nearly
equal; ingot dense with few if any large cavities;
sample from base. Wt. 164g.

Probably small piece of very shallow ingot with
meniscus on upper surface, columnar growth and
very prominent horizontal shrinkage; sample
from top surface towards centre. Not illustrated.
Wt. 23g.

Section from edge of shallow plano-convex ingot;
many cavities; growth pattern not clear; sample
from top towards centre. Not illustrated. Wt. 75g.
Section from shallow ingot; location uncertain;
cavities; some columnar growth pattern; sample
from ? top towards centre. Not illustrated. Wt.
148g.

Small section from edge of shallow plano-convex
ingot; rough lower surface; columnar growth;
cavities; horizontal shrinkage at about 1/3
thickness from top; sample from edge. Not
illustrated. Wt. 61g.

Section from edge of plano-convex ingot;
meniscus; horizontal shrinkage; blistered surface;
sample from mid-thickness towards edge (cut
from horizontal shrinkage cavity). Wt. 208g.
Section from near edge of plano-convex ingot of
medium thickness; dense; clear columnar growth
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159.

160.

161.

162.

163.

164.

165.

but no clear horizontal shrinkage; columnar
growth sloped towards edge; sample from top
about 25 mm from edge. Not illustrated. Wt.
124g.

Section from edge of shallow plano-convex ingot;
meniscus; large cavities; columnar growth sloped
to edge; horizontal shrinkage; sample from edge.
Not illustrated. Wt. 125g.

Piece of shallow ingot with parallel top and
bottom surfaces; some columnar growth visible;
no horizontal shrinkage; small cavities Not
illustrated. Wt. 45g.

Small elliptical plano-convex cake of bronze with
smooth surface with meniscus; probably set in
bottom of crucible; parts broken (?hammered)
away; sample from edge. Wt. 200g

Very small shallow cake of ?copper; rough
bottom surface; top smooth, hammered with
some cracking; sample from edge. Wt. 54¢g

Piece from plano-convex ingot, including edge;
many cavities and no clear growth pattern;
sample from edge. Not illustrated. Wt. 58g.
Irregular piece of bronze; possible piece of
casting jet or partially remelted scrap; sample
from one corner. Wt. 40g.

Possible edge of small, shallow ingot; dense;
smooth upper and lower surfaces (set in
crucible?); sample from one corner. Wt. 32g.
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166. Section from edge of plano-convex ingot; many
large cavities; columnar growth directed from
edge rather than base?; very shallow growth from
surface with line of cavities below; surface shows
small blisters; sample from top towards centre.
Not illustrated. Wt. 114g.

Large section from edge of shallow plano-convex
ingot with meniscus at edge; columnar growth
from base; some very large cavities; sample from
edge. Wt. 211g.

Small piece from edge of small copper cake;
smooth surface with meniscus; possibly set in
crucible; sample from edge. Wt. 13g.

Section from outer part of plano-convex ingot
but not including edge; large cavities; some
columnar growth; rough surface; sample from
outer part at mid-thickness. Not illustrated. Wt.
107g.

Section of shallow to medium thickness plano-
convex ingot, not including edge; well defined
columnar growth from both surfaces; horizontal
shrinkage cavities; surface at one edge deeply
curved; this does not appear to be the meniscus
at the edge of the ingot but may relate to the
breaking up of the ingot; sample from top. Wt.
151g.

Section of plano-convex ingot with vortex close
to edge; columnar growth; clear horizontal
shrinkage cavities below surface; also other very
large, irregular cavities; sample from base
towards centre. Wt. 231g.

Section of plano-convex ingot including edge;
very clear columnar growth from base; shallow
growth from surface; very clear horizontal
shrinkage cavities; blistered top surface, rough
base; sample from top about 50 mm from edge.
Wt. 393g.

Section including edge of sub-plano-convex
ingot with steeply sloped side; good columnar
growth; rather irregular cavities; no clear
horizontal shrinkage; blistered and crack surface,
one crack running deep into ingot; sample taken
from middle. Wt. 151g.

Section including edge of plano - convex ingot,
horizontal shrinkage cavities, other large cavities.
Some blistering of top surface rough base. Not
sampled or illustrated. Wt. 151g.

167.

168.

169.

170.

171.

172.

173.

174.

+ Object originally at Southend Museum
x Object from Swan Mead School
A On the illustrations indicates the metrological sample

Discussion

The Vange hoard appears to be a typical example of the
hoards of the Ewart Park phase in south-east England
and is comparable to many such hoards from around
the Thames Estuary. The range of objects present in the
Vange hoard includes objects of wide distribution and
typical of the Ewart Park phase (Needham 1986)
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together with south-eastern axes, southern English
ribbed axes and objects from the loosely defined Carp’s
Tongue Complex (Needham 1986). A number of types
amongst those listed by Burgess (1968 appendix V) as
typical of Carp’s Tongue Complex hoards are present in
the Vange Hoard. The sickle fragments (Nos 84 and 85)
are additional to those listed by O’Connor (1980, 177,
List 136 map 52). Of particular interest is the Winged
Adze (No. 71); only three other such objects are
recorded from this country (O’Connor 1980). Two are
from separate hoards, found in Shoebury and one is
from North Kent (O’Connor 1980, 160, List 121, Map
47); the Vange example with its broad squat profile and
side loop is probably of French origin (O’Connor 1980,
160), and complements the tight cluster of Winged Adze
findspots around the Thames Estuary. This clustering
around the Thames Estuary is further emphasised by
the fragment of socketed sword. These items, more
common than winged adzes, have a wide distribution in
Britain with a clear eastern bias (O’Connor 1980, list
160). The Vange piece joins examples from Ieigh,
Essex, Dartford (Brailsford 1947) and Minnis Bay
(Worsfold 1943) both in Kent, forming a concentration
on both sides of the estuary. The presence of large
quantities of copper ingots is characteristic of many of
the local hoards (Buckley et al. 1986, Brown et al
forthcoming) and typical of many Ewart Park phase
hoards in south east England. However, there is an
interesting range of variation, with some hoards entirely
or almost entirely composed of ingot fragments, other
hoards, like Vange, have numerous ingot fragments and
many other items. There are also hoards with a few ingot
fragments and hoards with none.

The catalogue presented above is far longer than the
list of material in the original account of the discovery, a
discrepancy noted by Colchester Museum in 1977
(above). It seems likely that the original account did not
present a complete list and there is certainly some
confusion in identification e.g. gouges thought to be
spearheads, no mention of the adze etc. In addition it is
likely that fragmentation of objects due to corrosion
since 1953 has increased the number of items. More
worrying is the spearhead which the original list
described as ‘Broad type with two holes (ornamental
only) and engraved ornamental lines’. Taken at face
value, this sounds like a description of a large basal
looped spearhead, and nothing like a basal looped spear
appears to be present in the Vange Hoard. Such an
object would pre-date the Vange hoard and none is
known from the other Ewart Park phase hoards of
south-east Essex, although this need not preclude the
presence of such a piece, as earlier objects sometimes
occur in later hoards. However, this problem may be
illusory, given the confusion of the original list with even
gouges regarded as possibly spearheads. An object like
No. 88 could easily be described as ‘broad’ and it does
have engraved ornament, albeit just a single line. If, say
object No. 91 had originally been part of the same
spearhead the peg-holes might have been thought
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ornamental. It is interesting that the original description
speaks of ‘holes’ rather than loops. Finally if an object as
relatively unusual as a basal looped spearhead had
actually been present, it seems likely that the more
archaeologically informed description of 27 October
1953 would have specifically mentioned it. This account
does note the presence of two types of spearhead but
this may be accounted for by the difference between No.
88, from a spearhead with a fairly tall flame shaped
blade and No. 89 from a rather more stumpy form.

The account of the discovery of the Vange hoard
states that the objects ‘lay in one compact group’. This
sounds similar to the manner in which the recently
recovered Great Wasketts II hoard was deposited
(Abbott pers. comm.). The careful observation of the
disposition of the objects during recovery of the Great
Wasketts II hoard (about 3 km north of Vange), may
indicate that it had been packed into a bag or other
perishable container. It seems likely that the Vange hoard
had also been buried in a bag. The presence of casting
jets, small fragments of sprue and runners indicate a
fairly direct connection between the Vange hoard and
production of metal objects. The reason behind the
deposition of bronzes either as single objects or as
hoards is clearly complex (e.g. Needham 1990; Bradley
1990). At one extreme, we might see deposition as
serving ritual or symbolic purposes, at another
utilitarian ends. That neat distinctions between the
functional and the ritual do not apply in prehistory is
almost a platitude, but one surprisingly often ignored.
The Vange hoard clearly relates to the practice of
metalworking, but, in common with other hoards, place
of deposition, choice of object included, arrangement of
the objects and many other factors, may have carried
symbolic significance. The striking manner in which the
ingot fragments and other items of the recently
recovered hoard from Withersfield, Suffolk (Anon
1996) were arranged in the ground is a graphic
reminder of this possibility. Unfortunately, information
regarding the original disposition of the Vange hoard
objects is not available. However, comments made by
the finder of Gt Wasketts II indicate that the objects of
that hoard were arranged with some formality.

Both the Vange and Great Wasketts II hoards were
recovered from heavy London clay subsoils and
emphasise once again the range of evidence for Late
Bronze Age exploitation of claylands in Essex (Brown
1988a; 1996). It is instructive to consider this further,
whilst late Bronze Age settlement in the Boulder Clay
areas is now quite well understood, occupation on the
London Clay is only tentatively suggested (Brown 1996,
32), and the London Clay is commonly regarded as a
barrier to prehistoric settlement and communication
(e.g. Sealey 1996, 50). In fact, the range of metal finds
from the Basildon area; single finds (SMR 7063), small
hoards (Great Wasketts I) and large hoards (Vange, Gt
Wasketts II), and the kinds of objects they contain, are
comparable to those from the gravel and brickearth
covered terraces further east (Couchman 1980; Wymer
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and Brown 1995). Furthermore, as the discussion above
indicates, they are an integral part of a general
distribution around the Thames estuary. North of
Basildon, also on London Clay, the concentration of
Late Bronze Age finds around Wickford, which includes
actual settlement evidence, is considerable (Couchman
1980, Brown 1986). This evidence indicates that
the London Clay Zone between the Thames marshes
and the upper Crouch basin around Wickford was
occupied in much the same way as the Southend
peninsula to the east.

However, it is true that the findspots in this L.ondon
Clay area are not so numerous as those from the
terraces to the east. A number of factors may explain
this; there is a long history of archaeological recording
in the Southend area (Wymer and Brown 1995), but no
similar tradition exists in the Basildon area. The nature
of development around Basildon has not been
conducive to archaeological discovery. The widespread
inter-war plotland development was piecemeal, largely
lacking infrastructure and involved little large-scale
earth movement. The creation of Basildon New Town in
the 1950s and early 60s took place before effective
mechanisms for archaeological recording prior to
development existed. When an archaeological service
was established as part of the County Council in the
mid 1970s, the Sites and Monuments Record, the core
tool for all its functions (Gilman 1996) was initially
created from existing records, the Basildon area thus
appeared as largely devoid of prehistoric finds. This was
compounded by the fact that LLondon Clay does not
produce good cropmarks, and one of the primary means
of discovering new archaeological sites has been aerial
photography. The absence of evidence could be neatly
explained by the geographically determinist view that
London Clay was not conducive to prehistoric
settlement, supported by the extraordinarily persistent
notion that bronzes can be regarded as ‘isolated’ or stray
finds somehow unconnected to settlement patterns
(Bradley 1996, 44). Thus a self perpetuating cycle
existed; the absence of finds demonstrated that the
London Clay was largely unoccupied during the Bronze
Age, and since the L.ondon Clay was largely unoccupied
there would be little point in seeking further sites or
finds. Having broken away from this cycle, the challenge
for the future must be to seek ways to explore the extent
and character of prehistoric settlement in the area.

The extraordinary history of the Vange hoard
demonstrates the difficulties in dealing with such finds
and the importance of an adequate record made soon
after discovery. The accompanying chart (Fig.9) shows
the number of recorded hoards in Essex by decade,
apart from the first hundred years when finds were so
few as to make such plotting pointless. Prior to 1840
finds were very few, these finds and those of the 1840s
are probably linked to the antiquarian interests of
particular individuals. When these people moved, died,
or changed their interests, recording stopped, hence the
dearth of finds in the 1850s and 1860s. From the late
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Fig. 9 Recovery of Bronze Age Hoards in Essex

19th century through to the 2nd World War, growth in
mineral extraction and building work, coupled with a
rather more organised recording of finds based largely
(but not entirely) at Colchester and Southend
Museums, led to a fairly consistent pattern of discovery
and recording. The sudden increase in hoard finds in the
1940s reflects discoveries made during wartime airfield
construction etc., and reconstruction/development in
the immediate post-war period. The decline thereafter is
probably the result of the almost complete
mechanisation of mineral extraction and construction
work, which made recognition of hoards and other finds
far less likely. The almost exponential growth through
the 1970s, 1980s and early 1990s is the result of metal
detector use (e.g. the finds reported on by H. Major in
a shorter note in this volume, also from Vange). About
one third of all the finds of Bronze Age hoards made in
the last 250 years have occurred in less than 25 years
since 1970, and more hoards have been recorded in the
first half of the 1990s than in any previous decade;
furthermore, this only relates to recorded finds; many
go unrecorded. It is salutary to recall that, of all the
hoards noted in Fig.9 prior to 1970, only those housed
in museums survive for study, those in private
ownership can no longer be traced. Acquisition of this
material by the relevant museum is the best means of
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ensuring survival. Given that many recent finds are
retained in private possession, the importance of making
a full record when such finds are reported is further
emphasised (in effect ‘preservation by record’). The
numerous hoards and single items published in this
journal over the last fifteen years or so are a tribute to
the efforts made to achieve this. However, the burden on
the resources of the various archaeological bodies within
the county is very great and likely to grow.
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Prehistoric and Romano-British Activity at the William Edwards
School, Stifford Clay Road, Grays; excavations 1997

by N. J. Lavender

with contributions by N. Brown, R. Tyrrell, T.S. Martin, H. Martingell, P. McMichael and H. Walker

Archaeological investigation to the east of the Assembly Hall
at the William Edwards School identified a number of
Jeatures and finds indicating prehistoric and Romano-
Briush activity. The features included ditches, pits, postholes
and a possible well. Residual flint artefacts including
Mesolithic microliths and a Neolithic arrowhead were
recovered. A single medieval feature was identified.

Introduction

The proposed construction of a new assembly hall, six
classrooms and three garages at the William Edwards
School, Grays threatened an area of known Bronze Age,
Iron Age and Romano-British archaeological activity.
Because of this an archaeological evaluation was
recommended by Essex County Council Planning
Department’s Archaeological Advisory Group and
conducted during March 1997 by Philip Clarke of the
Essex County Council Field Archaeology Group.

The evaluation located several features of
prehistoric and Roman date. It was therefore decided
that the whole of the development area should be
investigated. The northern part of this area, covered in
tarmac with sheds and containers, would be subject to
a watching brief during construction work. The second
stage of work, excavation of the area under grass and
flower beds, took place during April 1997 under the
directorship of the author.

The site and its environs

The site lies on relatively flat land at the eastern edge of
the school property, at a height of 22m OD (Fig. 1).
Approximately 140m to the south lies a shallow dry
valley, running from east to west towards a large,
apparently natural, pond surrounding Primrose Island.
To the north, beyond the A13 cutting, the ground falls
away gradually towards the Mar Dyke.

The natural geology consists of Upper Chalk,
overlain by Woolwich Beds (clays, sands and gravels). In
the immediate area of the site the sand is relatively
coarse with common pebbles.

The William Edwards School was constructed on the
site of a Middle Iron Age to Romano-British farmstead
(Essex Sites and Monuments Record (ESMR) 5167 -
5170). The site was identified from aerial photographs
(Fig. 2) and during building work in 1960-62, rescue
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excavations were conducted (Bannister 1962; Turner
1988; Godfrey 1995). The main ditches of the
settlement were examined, along with three circular
structures. The site appears to have gone out of use
around 400AD, with no evidence of later activity.

During the 1970s, a large part of a Roman storage
jar was recovered from the silts of the Primrose Island
pond. Turner (1988) comments that the condition of
this vessel suggests that it had not been disturbed since
its deposition, and that the pond was probably extant in
Roman times.

In addition to the school site, there is a great deal of
cropmark information for the area adjacent to that of the
farmstead. A possible ring ditch and linear features
(ESMR 14639) lie to the south and south-west of the
development area. To the east is a Scheduled Ancient
Monument (SAM 174) comprising cropmarks
indicative of settlement, field systems and burials of
prehistoric, Romano-British, Saxon and medieval date
(ESMR 5237 - 5346).

The photograph showing the cropmarks upon
which the plot was based has not been traced in the
collections of the ESMR, the Royal Commission on the
Historic Monuments of England or Cambridge
University Committee for Aerial Photography. The
photograph was probably, therefore, taken by a local
flyer and never accessioned to an established collection
(Strachan 1997).

Evaluation

A single trench, 20m long and 1.5m wide, was excavated
obliquely across the development area, from north-west
to south-east. Topsoil was removed using a small
mechanical excavator with a toothless bucket. The
exposed surface was then cleaned by hand and all
features sampled and recorded.

A layer of dark material (23) below the topsoil
appears to have been a dumped deposit of modern date,
containing modern concrete, tarmac and a fragment of
Roman tile. This material could be discerned as lying in
a square-sided cut running north-south across the area
and is almost certainly Bannister’s trench. There was no
indication that any features exposed by Bannister had
been excavated, but several features had been damaged
and apparently not recognised. In particular, features F5
and F13 (below) had been severely truncated. The east-
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Fig. 2 William Edwards School, Grays. Position of excavation relative to school building and cropmarks

west ditch identified by Bannister was almost certainly
one of these two gullies, but there is no evidence to
indicate which.

Few of the features identified in the evaluation
trench could be dated with any confidence. A pit (F1)
towards the north-western end of the trench, however,
produced a large quantity of Late Bronze Age pottery.
This feature was roughly circular, c.1m in diameter,
0.44m deep and slightly irregular in profile. A fragment
of saddle quern and a possible quern rubber were also
recovered from its fills.

Two gullies crossed the evaluation trench to the
south of F1. The more northerly, F13, contained sparse
Late Bronze Age or Early Iron Age pottery. Its upper
fills had been truncated by Bannister’s trench. F5, 3.5m
to the south had been similarly damaged. No pottery
was recovered from its fill, but during the subsequent
excavation (F115, below) an early Roman date was
obtained for this feature

At the south-eastern end of the trench a gully or
small ditch (F18) was recorded on a north-south
alignment. It had a broad V-shaped profile, 0.73m wide
at the top, and a narrow, flat base. A few sherds of
possibly Early Iron Age pottery came from this feature.

A small pit (F6) cut by F13, 0.45m in diameter, and
a stakehole (F8) also lay within the evaluation trench.
Neither feature produced any finds. Two further linear
features (F20 and F22) on a north-south alignment, also
crossed the trench. The relationship between these
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ditches was obscured by Bannister’s trench (which had
failed to recognise them), but was identified during the
later excavation.

Excavation
Prehistoric features
One of the earliest features on the site was probably the
large pit (F78) in the south-western corner. This pit had
a diameter of between 2 and 2.50m and was around
1.20m deep. The sides were vertical, and there appears
to have been a timber revetment. The rotted remains of
three small stakes and stains suggestive of further
timbers were recorded in the base of the feature. An
orange gravel with abundant small stones (96), had a
vertical inner edge, which would be consistent with
being contained behind a wattle lining (Fig. 6.2). It
seems possible that F78 was a well, although the exact
positions of the surviving timbers (Fig. 5) are not
entirely consistent with that of the uprights for a
revetment. Furthermore, the fills of the feature show
signs of shallow recutting. If F78 was a well, apparently
it was not used as such throughout its life, but was
probably backfilled and later reused as a pit. Finally, the
entire feature was levelled by a layer of orange sand
(79). The only artefact recovered from this feature was
a large, undiagnostic flint flake from context 104.

No dating evidence was recovered from the fills of
F78, but the levelling layer, 79, was cut by an oval pit
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(56). This shallow pit, 1.9m by 0.66m and 0.22m
deep, contained c. 1700 g of burnt flint and 42 pieces
of worked flint. No other finds came from
this feature, but the lithics suggest a Bronze Age date.
Thus the earlier feature, F78, must have been Bronze
Age or earlier.
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Several other features contained flint but no other
artefacts, and two are certainly early on stratigraphic
grounds. Ditch F53, the terminal of which was recorded
towards the eastern limit of excavation, was 1m wide
and 0.20m deep. The excavated segment contained only
eight pieces of worked flint. Ditch F53 was cut by ditch
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Fig. 4 William Edwards School, Grays. Plan of prehistoric features

F44, which curved slightly from the north-east to the
west. It was 1.7m wide, 0.44m deep and produced 86
pieces of worked flint and 485 g of burnt flint. The
worked flint from these features was very mixed, and the
Mesolithic and Neolithic material is assumed to be
residual because of the inclusion of Bronze Age pieces.
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Feature F68, at the eastern edge of the excavation,
appears to have been a pit. However, very little of this
feature lay within the excavated area. Eleven pieces of
worked flint, and an impressive ¢. 2.9 kg of burnt flint
were recovered from what was possibly a very small part
of this feature. The top of F68 was cut by F70, a shallow,
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Fig. 5 William Edwards School, Grays. Plan of possible prehistoric well, F78

narrow gully on the same alignment as F18, the gully that
had produced a few sherds of possibly Early Iron Age
pottery during the evaluation. The edges of this gully
were very hard to determine against the fill of F68, but it
appeared to turn through a right angle towards the east.

Approximately 3.50m to the north of the corner of
F18/70 lay the right-angled corner of gully F27
(segment 59).This feature ran northwards on the same
north, south alignment as F18/70 for at least 11m
before passing beyond the limit of excavation. These
two gullies probably represent the western sides of a
pair of rectangular enclosures most of which lie within
the fields of Bloomfields Farm. The fills of F27 yielded
3 pieces of undiagnostic worked flint and no other
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finds. Its size and orientation suggest that it may be
contemporary with F18.

The relationship between gully F13 and pit F1 was
unclear. As excavated, the gully seemed to curl around
the south and west sides of the pit, apparently
deliberately respecting it. This appears to be the result of
truncation and root disturbance from a flower bed that
overlay the site at this point. Projecting the edges up to
ground level, it is clear that one feature would have cut
the other. The pottery from pit F1 was clearly of Late
Bronze Age date, whilst that from F13 was less
diagnostic and may have been Early Iron Age. It seems
probable, therefore, that the gully originally cut the
upper fill of the pit.
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The eastern terminal of gully F13 had been
completely eradicated by the Roman ditches F20 and
F22. Gully F53, was of suitable profile and size to be a
continuation of the alignment.

A further feature, the large shallow pit F47, cut by
Roman ditch F22, may also be prehistoric. It produced
Bronze Age flintwork, but no other finds.

Roman features

The two north-south aligned Roman ditches recorded
during the evaluation were excavated in four additional
segments. The relationship between the two features was
now clarified and F20 shown to be the earlier on both
stratigraphic and ceramic evidence. F20 ran for 11m
from the northern Ilimit of excavation, before
terminating in segment 75. Its eastern edge was
truncated by F22, but it was probably between 1.3 and
1.5m wide and 0.25m deep. It was, however, rather
irregular, with gentle unevenly sloping sides and a
rounded base. Residual Early Iron Age pottery was
recovered from its fill.

Ditch F22, which truncated the eastern edge of F20
along its whole recorded length, appears to have been an
Antonine recutting or replacement of the earlier,
probably Flavian, feature. It continued south beyond
segment 71/75 up to the southern limit of the site. This
later ditch was generally narrower than F20 (varying
between 0.65m and 1.1m), deeper (0.35m) and with a
sharper profile. In segment 45 the profile was a very
sharp V-shape.

Further excavation of F5 (as F115) produced
Roman pottery of later 1st- to early 2nd-century date.
The gully was shown to extend roughly 6m west from
F20, the relationship with which could not be
established because of the truncation. It had a bowl-
shaped profile ¢. 1.1m wide and 0.18m deep. There was
no indication that it continued to the east of F22.

One further feature of confirmed Roman date,
F114, lay at the south end of the trench. This
comprised the terminal of a narrow ditch or gully on a
north-south alignment. A narrow slot, probably for an
electric cable, ran through it on the same axis. Early
Roman pottery was recovered from both the feature
and residually from the cable trench. The sides were
steep, and the shape of the base destroyed by truncation
from the cable trench. It was 0.68m wide and ¢. 0.25m
deep. It is conceivable that this feature represents a
continuation of F20 following a gap of 4m, although it
is slightly offset to the west, and appears to be
narrower.

F103, a small irregular pit to the south of F115,
contained early Roman pottery. This feature was very
heavily disturbed by animal burrows, and by root
activity from the former flower bed.

Medieval Features

Only one feature, F65, a small posthole 0.5m in
diameter and 0.12m deep, produced medieval pottery,
suggesting a date in the mid 13th century.
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Undated Features

A scatter of small pits and postholes produced no dating
evidence. Few of these could be assigned dates on
stratigraphic evidence. Only F76 is assumed to be pre-
Roman on the grounds that it was heavily truncated on
its eastern side by F21.

The excavated material

Prehistoric pottery

N. Brown

A small quantity (165 sherds weighing 1.573kg) of pottery was
recovered from the excavations. The pottery has been recorded using
a system (details in archive) devised for prehistoric pottery in Essex
(Brown 1988a, 263). The majority of the material (70% by sherd
count and 74% by weight) derived from pit 1. The pottery from
context 2 (pit 1) includes part of the lower walls and base of a small
coarse jar, a large part of the walls of a coarse jar with heavy finger
wiping on the exterior, part of a hook rim jar (Fig. 8.1), two rims,
possibly from ‘form A’(Brown 1988a and b) jars, (Fig. 8. 2,3) and a
rim sherd of a fine bowl (Fig. 8.4). A Late Bronze Age, ¢. 9th century
BC, date would be appropriate. Part of a small coarse bowl and a
fineware sherd from context 3 are probably contemporary. An
unstratified rim of an angular fineware bowl (Fig. 8.5) may be
contemporary or rather later. A few sherds from contexts 14, 17 and
21 in a flint-and-sand-tempered fabric, might be somewhat later,
perhaps Early Iron Age.

Catalogue of illustrated sherds

Hook rim jar, rough exterior, smoothed interior.

Rim of jar, concretion on exterior, cable pattern on top of rim.
Rim of jar.

Everted rim of bowl, smoother interior, concretion on exterior.
Rim and shoulder of carinated bowl, smoothed surfaces.

S s G0 b i

Late Iron Age and Roman pottery

T.S. Martin

Summary

Excavation yielded 161 sherds (1,657 g) of Late Iron Age and Roman
pottery from eleven contexts. A total of eight feature-fills contained
material of this period, the bulk of which comprised ditches and
gullies. These feature-fills accounted for 72.4% of all pottery by
weight. The volume of pottery from the site is, however, not
commensurate with intensive domestic activity. Although much of the
pottery consisted of undiagnostic bodysherds, there was sufficient
datable material to suggest a mainly pre-Flavian to Trajanic date-range
for the period of occupation. Antonine pottery was present, but later
Roman pottery was completely absent.

The pottery by context

The pottery was classified using the Chelmsford typology published
Going (1987; 2-54) which is now standard for all Essex County
Council sites. The analysis was concerned with identifying the variety
of fabrics and forms, and providing dating evidence for feature-fills.
All pottery was quantified by sherd count and weight by fabric.
Quantification of forms was not thought worthwhile. The following
ten fabrics were identified (numbers in bold after Going 1987):-

BSW Misc. ‘Black-surfaced” wares -

CLB Colchester buff ware 27
ESH Early shell-tempered ware 50
GROG Grog-tempered fabrics 53
GRS Sandy grey ware 47
’NKG ?North Kent grey wares 32
RED Misc. Oxidised red wares 21
STOR Storage jar fabrics 44
CGSW Central Gaulish samian 60
WCS Misc. white- or cream-slipped sandy red wares 15
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Fig. 7 William Edwards School, Grays. Plan of Roman, medieval and undated features

The dating evidence

Apart from context 116 (the top fill of gully F115), no other context
produced anything like a large- or medium-sized assemblage;
consequently, the dating of many of the features is not firmly
established. However, several feature-fills did contain some
diagnostic sherds which provide a reasonable indication of dating.
Having said this, only two features, gully F115 and F103, are
dated by vessel form out of a total of seven. A further feature
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contained residual Roman pottery in association with later material.
There was also a marked absence of residual Prehistoric pottery
in contexts with Late Iron Age and early Roman material. Where
dating is possible, most of the excavated contexts fall within a
broad mid Ist to early 2nd century AD date band, only ditch F31 is
later. This feature appears to have been infilled sometime in the
second half of the 2nd century. The dating evidence is summarised
inTable 1.
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Fig. 8 William Edwards School, Grays. Prehistoric pottery

Table 1: Summary of the Roman pottery dating evidence.
*This feature also contained post-Roman pottery. Late Iron
Age and Roman pottery was also recovered from context 9

(layer), 24 (unstratified) & 111 (fill of modern cable trench).

Feature | Context Pottery Comments & dating
F31 29 (top fill) | Fine ware: ?f31 The Samian evidence
(CGSW). Coarse | suggests a possible
wares: Fabrics possible Antonine
STOR & GRS. date.
34 ditch | 33 (primary | Coarse wares: The range of fabrics
fill) Fabrics CLB, present are typical of
RED, GRS & ‘early Roman’
ESH. horizon.
F45 ditch | 46 (single Coarse ware: Not closely datable.
fill) Fabric GRS. Roman.
F65* p/h | 64 (single Coarse wares: Not closely datable.
fill) jar G (GRS); Roman.
Fabric GROG.
F74 ditch | 75 (single Coarse wares: Not closely datable.
fill) Fabrics GRS. Roman.
F103 102 (single | Coarse ware: This feature contained
gully fill) jar G5.2 (ESH). | a pre-Flavian to
Flavian jar form.
F114 113 (single | Coarse wares: The range of fabrics
gully fill) Fabrics RED, present are typical of
GRS & ESH. ‘early Roman’
horizon.
F115 116 (top Coarse wares: This feature contained
gully fill) jars G5.2 (ESH), | a pre-Flavian to
G19.2 (BSW), Flavian jar form as
G (BSW); Fabrics | well as material which
’NKG & GRS. could stretch the date
range into the early
2nd century.

Pottery of intrinsic interest

Two pieces fall into this category and are illustrated below (Fig.9, nos.

1 and 2).

1. Lid-seated jar type G5.2 with graffito. A common Early shell-
tempered ware form. Context 102, fill of Gully F103.

2. Unusual rim form variant of a ring-necked flagon. The frilling is
more common to tazze than flagons. Miscellaneous cream-slipped
sandy red ware. This example was recovered from the fill of a
modern cable trench. Context 111.
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Fig. 9 William Edwards School, Grays. Roman pottery

Discussion

The bulk of the pottery is almost certainly associated with a post-
conquest occupation phase with ‘Belgic’ Grog-tempered pottery
largely absent even though Romanised Black-surfaced wares
tempered with a mixture of sand and grog are well represented (this is
essentially Going’s fabric 45). This is perhaps what would be expected
from a site that falls within Thompson’s Zone 2 which marks the Essex
side of the Thames estuary from Kent and Central and North Essex
(Thompson 1982, 9). Here, Grog-tempered wares are principally
associated with cemeteries, while the pottery from settlements is
usually made with shell and sand temper. Indeed, Shell-tempered
wares datable to the Ist and early 2nd century AD appear to be
present in some quantity at this site. The situation at William Edwards
School, however, is in marked contrast to that at Ship Lane Aveley,
where Grog-tempered wares are well represented on a site where
burials are presently unknown (Martin forthcoming).

Forms typical of the early Roman period present at the William
Edwards School site include several Early shell-tempered lid-seated
jars (Going 1987, G5.2; Thompson 1982, C5-1) and a Black-surfaced
ware jar with a recurved profile and narrow cordon (G19.2). The
latter form had a mid 1st to early 2nd century floruit. An example of
a Early shell-tempered ware lid-seated jar has an incised graffito cut
on the shoulder prior to firing (Fig. 9.1). It has been suggested that
these may represent pseudo-Roman numerals or perhaps tally marks
as not all vessels were provided with them (Jones 1972). Vessels of this
type are common to South Essex, contra Thompson’s assertion that
this is chiefly a Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire and Buckinghamshire
form (Thompson 1982, 245), as Leary has pointed out that these are
the principle jar form on Thames-side sites in the 1st and 2nd
centuries AD (Leary 1995, 97 and Fig. 72.1). The form was produced
at Mucking (Jones and Rodwell 1973, Type F) and Gun Hill, West
Tilbury (Drury and Rodwell 1973, Fig. 17.103) and is also known at
North Shoebury (Leary 1995, 97 and Fig. 72.1), Ardale School
(Thompson 1988, 88) and Orsett (Rodwell 1974, Fig. 6. 13) in
Thames-side Essex for example. Outside Thames-side Essex their
distribution is sparse but have been recorded at Woodham Walter in a
fabric tempered with a mixture of shell and grog (Rodwell 1987, Fig.
16.29-30), Coggeshall (Gurney 1988, Fig. 8.3), Chelmsford (Going
1987, 23) and Great Dunmow (Going and Ford 1988, 65), for
example.

A Central Gaulish samian ware 31 bowl recovered from the top
fill of Ditch 31 suggests that this feature was probably infilled
sometime in the Antonine. This is the latest datable piece from the site.
A Miscellaneous. white- or cream-slipped sandy red ware ring-necked
flagon top was recovered from the filling of a modern cable trench
(Fig. 9.2). This unusual vessel was decorated with a band of tazza-like
frilling and may be dated to the early Roman period. It is possible that
this may be a Hadham product, although the fabric is not sufficiently
diagnostic to identify its production site. The remaining pottery was
not particularly diagnostic, comprising small quantities Sandy grey
ware, Colchester buff ware, ?North Kent grey ware, Misc. Oxidised
red ware and Storage jar fabric bodysherds.
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Medieval pottery

H. Walker

Two sherds of pottery, weighing 6g, were excavated from context 64
(post-hole F65) comprising one abraded sherd of early medieval ware,
dating from the 10th to 13th centuries, and one sherd of plain,
unglazed Mill Green fine ware, dating from the mid-13th to mid-14th
centuries.

Flint
H. Martingell

Summary

A total of 297 worked flint artefacts was recovered from the areas of
evaluation and excavation. In this report both groups of material are
considered together.

Area A (Figs 3-4)

This is the most significant area. It consists of a group of features on
the east of the site from which came 39% (116 pieces) of the total
number of flint artefacts. Most are from a curving east-west ditch
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segment, F44 (86 pieces), which is cut by a Late Bronze Age gully,
F124/F18 and also from a ditch terminal F53 (8 pieces); a pit F68 (11
pieces), a medieval post-hole F65 (8 pieces) and a gully corner, F27,
segment 59 (3 pieces).

Only Area A produced early prehistoric tools and could be the western
edge of an early prehistoric working floor. This was superceded by
later prehistoric, mainly Bronze Age, knapping areas.

Mesolithic c¢. 8000 - 3500BC

The earliest diagnostic tools are three microliths. All were recovered as
residual finds in later contexts. Two are obliquely blunted microliths
and are projectile points of the Early Mesolithic. The first microlith
(Fig. 10.1, context 52) came from Area A F53 and the second (Fig.
10.2, context 24) from surface cleaning. The third is a Later
Mesolithic geometric microlith, a triangle (Fig. 10.3, context 43) and
is also from Area A, F44.

Neolithic ¢. 3600 - 1500BC
The petit tranchet arrowhead (Fig. 10.4, context 43) is a form of
transverse arrowhead and can be found in Neolithic contexts from
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about 3600 - 2400BC. This arrowhead was also found in Area A F44
and was the only complete Neolithic tool from the site. A small, rough
and broken disc/’tortoise’ core was another Neolithic artefact
recovered, this time from the centre of the site (evaluation context
F22). Part of a bifacial tool, probably a single piece sickle roughout,
came from unstratified context 24, surface cleaning. As with the
Mesolithic flint, all were residual in later contexts.

Blades: About 40 blades and bladelets were collected; some punch
struck. Twelve were from Area A and the remainder from other parts
of the site. There is one complete broad blade 82mm in length from
gully F102. Some of the blades will be Mesolithic and the rest are
Neolithic.

Cores: Twelve cores have either single platforms, two opposing or two
adjacent platforms and should represent the remains of the blade
cores. Five of these are from Area A F44. Again, these could be
Mesolithic or Neolithic in date and are residual.

Bronze Age - MBA and LBA/[IA ¢c. 1500 - 800BC

The Middle and Late Bronze Age artefacts have been called ‘tools of
convenience’. These industries, on the whole, consist of suitably sharp
pieces of flint that were picked up and used without modification in
preference to making specific tools. This description fits the remaining
artefacts, cores, flakes and 4 tools from all features within the site. The
clustering effect of the Bronze Age flint material within and around
Area A; the pit F1 towards the west of the excavated area; pits F56 and
F47 in the south; and the group of features in the centre, which
include pit F60 and post hole F76, is probably due to human activity
other than knapping. The material is very varied, there are no conjoins
and only 5 cores are recognisable. Most of these finds were recovered
from Bronze Age contexts.

Scrapers: The 2 Bronze Age scrapers came from the evaluation trench
feature F22. One scraper (Fig. 10.5, context 21) is a ‘thumbnail’ and
has some damage. The second, from context 23 (Fig. 10.6), is a very
fine end scraper and is made on a large, mainly cortex covered, flake.

Prercers: A fine Late Bronze Age piercer on a flake (Fig. 10.7, context
3) comes from pit F1. A small triangular sectioned, pointed piece,
which has a much smoothed and worn appearance, was probably part
of another Late Bronze Age piercer and is from Area A F44.

Retouched Pieces: Only 4 artefacts could be described as retouched.
The Late Bronze Age truncated blade (Fig. 10.8, context 9), residual
in F22 is rather worn. The three remaining have minimal amounts of
fine, continuous edge retouch. They could be from any period.

Denticulate: 'This is a large, flaked, converging irregular blade from
context 48 in pit F47. It is slightly patinated. It may be waste from an
earlier period that has been reutilised.

‘Naturally Backed Knife’: This is a straight blade, 80mm in length, with
cortex along one long edge opposing the sharp edge. It is from fill 48
of pit 47. Blades like this occur in many mixed assemblage groups of
material.

Utilised Waste: A few waste pieces have traces of wear. For example a
‘Clactonian’ type notched block, residual in post-hole F65 has
crushing along the notched edge, and from post hole F76 there is a
large thick flake with a blade like edge which has scalar damage. These
are typically Late Bronze Age convenience tools.

Cores: From Area A, F44 came the largest artefact from the entire
assemblage. It is a core much like a chopper chopping tool in
appearance. Originally a large oval flint cobble, approximately
170mm long; it has had flakes removed along its length leaving a
zigzag sharp edge along one side with cortex covering the remaining
surface. The flakes removed were large, on average 80mm long. The
remaining 4 cores and fragments of others belong to the bashed lump
category.
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Flakes: A feature of this assemblage is the greater number than usual
of large flakes. They are mostly secondary, that is with small amounts
of cortex remaining on the dorsal surface. Some are thinning flakes.
This suggests the manufacture of tools as well as the removal of flakes
for casual use.

Conclusions

The lithic artefacts support the dating for the prehistoric features
without being able to contribute any further information about the
prehistoric occupation or mineral utilisation of the area. However,
there is remarkably little natural damage on these flints, which
suggests that despite the Roman and later activity they may not have
been greatly disturbed and are not far from their original place of
deposition.

Miscellaneous finds
R. Tyrrell

Perforated clay slabs

An unstratified cleaning layer produced a fragment of flint-tempered
perforated clay slab. These artefacts, whose function is unknown, are
late Bronze Age, and have been found at a number of Essex sites.
Mucking North Ring (Bond 1988, 49-50), Springfield Lyons (Major,
in prep.) and North Shoebury (Barford 1995, 126) all produced slabs.

‘Belgic bricks’ (Fig. 11)
Two corner fragments were found. The function of these objects is not
fully understood. They were first identified by Wheeler and Wheeler
(1936, 178), among the Belgic finds from Verulamium, and were
regarded as early bricks. No evidence for such a use has ever been
found and they probably had a variety of uses as oven furniture, pot
stands and the like. A complete ‘brick” was found at Ardale, Area B
(Major 1988, 94, fig. 82,3) in a similar fabric to the ones from this site.
1. A rectangular corner fragment with well defined edges, and three
flat surfaces, with a wiped finish. The fabric has sparse fine sand
and a little vegetable tempering. 160g (102) Fill of gully 103
[Flavian pottery]
2. A rectangular corner fragment with rounded edges in a light
orange, vegetable-tempered fabric. 134g (29) Fill of ditch F31
[Antonine pottery]

Fired clay object (Fig. 11)

A fragment of a disc-shaped spindle whorl was found in a post hole.

This very small, lightweight spindle whorl may be Late Iron Age.

3. Part of an abraded, disc-shaped spindle whorl in a buff clay with
coarse brown sandy inclusions. 6g (98) Fill of post hole F99.

Fired clay

Ten small fragments of fired clay were found, 124g from two
prehistoric ditches, and 232¢g from a gully and a post hole with Roman
pottery. None of the pieces showed any signs of wattling, although
they are probably structural. The early material is sandy and very
friable with only one surface, whereas the Roman fragments are better
preserved, particularly the two vegetable-tempered fragments.

Tile

Two fragments (100g) of Roman tile were recovered, both in an
abraded, soft, orange-red fabric. One came from a disturbed layer, the
other from Roman ditch F31.

Stone (Fig. 12)

Not illustrated . A fragment of a well cemented, ferruginous sandstone

saddle quern with a well worn grinding surface. The original shape

was probably oval and the side has been pecked vertical. The

underside, though unworked, has smooth patches where it sat on a

hard surface. L.230mm, W108mm, Th72mm (2) Pit F1 [Late Bronze

Age pottery]

4 A rectangular rubbing stone in decayed sandstone, possibly
Kentish. There are few signs of wear on the grinding surface but
the original surface is not present. (2) Pit F1 [Late Bronze Age
pottery]
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Fig. 11 William Edwards School, Grays. ‘Belgic bricks’ (1, 2) and spindle whorl (3)

Not illustrated. A small irregular fragment of a lava quern. (9)
Unstratified.

The coins

P. McMichael

Two coins were recovered from the spoil-heap during metal-detector

scanning. The soil matrix in which they were found suggests that they

came from the top of either ditch 20 or 22 during topsoil removal.

This is, however, by no means certain.

1. Roman Coin: ‘Gloria Exercitus’ [2 Figures & 2 Standards];
damaged and worn. Date: 330s, Constantine. Copper alloy.

2. Roman Coin: ‘Gloria Exercitus’ [2 Figures & 1 Standard]; copy,
damaged and worn. Date: 341-346, Constantius II. Copper alloy.

Conclusions

The principal result of this small excavation has been to
illustrate the archaeological potential of the area. The
early prehistoric flint-knapping area was probably only
the edge of a much larger spread. Equally, the
prehistoric and Romano-British features are likely to be
peripheral to a main focus to the east, within the area of
cropmarks.

Prior to the excavation no activity earlier than the
Late Bronze Age was observed at the school. To a large
extent, this is reflected by the absence of any Mesolithic
or Neolithic features from the 1997 trench, in spite of the
considerable number of flint artefacts of those periods.
The nucleus of the earlier prehistoric activity, possibly
including settlement, almost certainly lies to the east,
within the grounds of Bloomfields Farm. The presence
of the possible flint-working floor is of particular
interest, especially since it appears to have been used
during both the Mesolithic and Neolithic periods. Too
little of Area A, however, lay within the trench for any
detailed conclusions to be drawn. The disturbance of the
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working floor during the Bronze Age has also destroyed
any possibility of spatial analysis that might have been
undertaken.

Late Bronze Age and Early Iron Age features
complement Bannister’s finds of pottery and
loomweights from the 1960-62 excavations. Once again,
however, the true focus of activity appears to be beyond
the eastern limits of the site, associated with the
apparent enclosures on that side.

Bannister located evidence of both Late Iron Age

0 ’ 190mm

Fig. 12 William Edwards School, Grays. Worked stone
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and late Roman occupation. The north-south Roman
ditch alignment appears to be a long-lived boundary,
established during the later part of the 1st century AD
and surviving at least into the middle or late 2nd
century. Probably it is related to the Late Iron Age and
Roman farmstead identified during the construction of
the school. Evidence of late Roman occupation of the
site was present in the form of the two 4th century
coins. Although no pottery or features of late date was
recovered from the excavation, Bannister had found 3rd
and 4th-century pottery during his investigations.

There is no obvious correlation between the
cropmarks and the features excavated. The east-west
gullies 5 and 13 appear to be aligned with one of the
ditches shown in aerial photographs. Bannister’s
observations indicate this was a single ditch that he
observed during construction works. It is likely that he
saw one or other of these features (his trench truncated
both), but it is impossible to tell which one.
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A Late Iron Age and Roman site at Shillingstone Field, Great Sampford

by A. Garwood

with contributions by PJ. Cott, T.S. Martin, H. Major, . McMichael and H. Walker

A resistivity survey of a suspected Roman site at
Shillingstone Field, Great Sampford identified a magnetic
anomaly which covered a wide area and was thought to
represent a building. Subsequent trial evaluation uncovered
a single prehistoric ditch, Late Iron Age field boundaries and
rubbish pits, and two parallel ditches which represent part of
a Roman field system in use up to the late 4th century AD.
Pottery evidence suggests that the main period of activity
occurred in the 4th century. An unusual late 4th-century
pottery assemblage has been analysed in detail.

The magnetic anomaly identified by the resistivity
survey was caused by a change in the natural surface geology
and was not due to archaeological activity. Although the
trial trenching did not uncover any structural evidence, the
presence of roof-tile and box-flue tile, combined with the
wealth of ceramic evidence and coins recovered over the
years by both the Sampford Society and metal detectorists,
suggests that a villa or substantial farmstead existed at the
southern end of Shillingstone Field.

Introduction (Fig. 1)

This report describes the results of an archaeological
evaluation undertaken by Essex County Council Field
Archaeology Unit at the request of the Sampford
Society, to investigate a geophysical anomaly and finds
concentrations associated with a possible Roman
settlement site at Shillingstone Field, Great Sampford.

Situated in north-west Essex, Great Sampford lies
Skm north-east of Thaxted, and to the east of the
Roman road between Great Dunmow and Radwinter.
The site is located to the north-west of the village
nucleus and to the west of Howe Lane. At a height of
87m OD, Shillingstone Field comprises c¢. 12 hectares of
arable land which slopes progressively south and south-
east to the bottom of the Pant valley. The natural surface
geology of this area is a diverse mixture of Boulder
Clays, Brickearth and Sands and Gravels laid down
during the Anglian glaciation.

The area at the southern end of Shillingstone Field
has produced over many years large quantities of
Roman metalwork, including coins, brooches and other
finds. For two years it had been the focus of metal-
detector rallies to raise funds in aid of the restoration of
the parish church. Over 100 coins are known to have
been recovered during these rallies, of which some were
recorded by members of the Sampford Society.
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However, it seems probable that these artefacts
represent only a small percentage of the overall finds
recovered as all finds were retained by the metal-
detectorists. Finds recovered from the surface of
Shillingstone Field and recent fieldwalking carried out
in late 1997 by the Sampford Society has yielded
significant quantities of Roman and prehistoric pottery
and Roman tile, including tegulae, imbrex, box-flue tile
and ftesserae.

In April 1996, a geophysical survey by resistivity was
conducted by PJ.Cott in the area that yielded the
greatest concentrations of finds. This failed to produce
good results. A second phase of survey, undertaken
further up the field to the north-west, uncovered a high-
resistance anomaly running approximately north-west
to south-east for a minimum of 70 metres. It was
thought by the angular nature of parts of the anomaly
that structures and possibly iz situ collapsed roofing
might be present.

Resistivity survey (Fig. 2)
PJ. Cott

Survey method

The survey area was marked out and then aligned using
an electricity pole and a pylon in the middle distance for
reference points. The survey was carried out using a
Geoscan Research Resistivity Meter RM4 with a
Geoscan Data Logger DIL10. 20m survey squares were
set out and readings were taken at 1m intervals using the
zig-zag method of survey. In total, six 20m squares were
surveyed, taking 400 individual readings per 20m
square.

The range of readings from the raw data varied from
a low of 20 ohms to a high of 65 ohms. These readings
represent a damp and well-coagulated soil, which
displayed none of the usual problems caused by the
presence of stones and flints as has been encountered on
other sites in East Anglia.

The survey plots are presented using the grey-scale
method, in which the computer programme allocates a
shade of grey to of the 400 readings per square. High
readings, representing a probable presence of building
materials appear in black, while low readings, which
indicate an absence of these materials or possibly a
ditch, appear in white. No contrast factor was used, so
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Fig. 2 Shillingstone. Plan of resistivity anomaly

the plot shade scale varies linearly from the maximum to
the minimum value.

Results

The resistivity plot shows a wide linear anomaly
running roughly north-south, with other lesser
anomalies to either side. The width of the main feature
is approximately 10m at its narrowest point. This
response is much wider than would be expected from a
buried wall, even if there were rubble lying adjacent to
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it. The length of the feature is 55m as plotted, although
it is evident that the southern end was not reached. It is
also possible that the feature extends further north-east.

The anomaly could represent a building although
there is no evidence of wall foundations to give a
definition to the response. Alternatively, the feature
could be purely geological. At the time of the survey,
however, the suggestion of a linear geological feature
was considered the less likely interpretation, given the
probable association of the feature with the quantity of
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Roman finds recovered from the field. A low resistance
linear anomaly running north and cutting the main
anomaly on its eastern side, is present at point A. This
may be a field drain, ditch or the result of deep
ploughing.

The survey was successful in that a large run of
positive anomalies was revealed in part of the field
identified from earlier investigations. The results show
that there is an area of high resistance running across
the field, which may represent the presence of a
building. As a result a programme of trial trenching was
carried out to test the survey results in detail.

Trial trenches (Fig. 3)

Six trial trenches (A-F) were excavated across and in the
area of the geophysical anomaly, under the direction of
the main author. A further trench (G, Fig. 1) was
excavated to the south-west of the main group and in
the area of the artefact concentrations uncovered by
metal-detectorists. Specifically trench G was cut to
determine whether these artefacts represent the site of
genuine archaeological activity or that their location is
purely the result of colluvial action. Furthermore it was
thought that the possible route of a Roman road
extending north-west from Thaxted and running to the
west of the village may be present in this area of
Shillingstone Field.

A distinct change in the natural surface geology from
boulder clay to a band of sand/gravel was encountered
in both trenches E and E This geological change is
interesting as its limits correspond closely to the
anomaly revealed in the resistivity survey. From this
evidence it seems very likely that the anomaly was in fact
geological and not due to concentrations of activity of
an archaeological nature.

Prehistoric (Figs 3 and 5)

A small shallow ditch (42) in trench E was the only
feature on site that could be dated to the prehistoric
period. Measuring 0.75m wide and 0.18m deep, the
ditch contained a single silty fill which produced two
joining body sherds of undatable prehistoric pottery and
pieces of worked flint. No other features that produced
evidence pre-dating the Late Iron Age were present on
site. The small amount of worked flint recovered
suggests slight Neolithic activity in the vicinity.

Late Iron Age (Figs 3, 4 and 6)

A large ditch (7), aligned north-east to south-west was
recorded in trench C. It was 0.47m deep and 1.48m wide
with moderately steep edges and a flat base. Its fills (5
and 6) produced sherds of Late Iron Age pottery. Ditch
7 extended to the north-east into trench B, where it was
recorded as ditch 15. Here the ditch was considerably
shallower and produced no diagnostic dating evidence,
although given the absence of Romanised fabrics, the
ditch can be dated to the Late Iron Age. Along the
northern side of ditch 7, and cut by it, was a series of
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intercutting rubbish pits (34, 36, 38 and 40). Excavation
of the pits recovered no diagnostic dating evidence
although the fill of pit 36 (35), did produce fragments of
bone and worked flint. Although no conclusive date can
be attributed to the pits, their stratigraphic relationships
suggest that they must have predated the final infilling of
ditch 7 in the Late Iron Age.

Early Roman (Figs 3, 4)

Two features are tentatively dated to the early Roman
period. A ditch (11) aligned north-west to south-east
across trench C continued to the south-east, appearing
in trench D as ditch 30. Excavation of the ditch in both
trenches revealed a similar profile and fills. The ditch
was moderately steep-sided with a relatively flat base.
The fill of ditch 11 (10) produced a small amount of
early Roman pottery, while the secondary fill of ditch 30
(28) yielded a small largely undiagnostic group to which
a tentative early Roman date may be assigned.

A single small pit (18) uncovered in trench F can
also be dated to this period. Moderately steep-sided with
a concave base, the pit contained two fills (16 and 17).
A small assemblage of early Roman pottery was
recovered from context 16. To the south-west of pit 18
was a further pit (20) from which undiagnostic Roman
pottery was recovered. The proximity of these pits
suggests that they may be contemporary.

Late Roman - late 3rd to 4th century (Figs 3, 5 and 6)
This period is represented by two features, a large
boundary ditch (9) and a sizable but shallow rubbish pit
(32). Ditch 9 was present within the extended eastern
end of trench E and appeared to the south in trench F
as ditch 3. The ditch, which was aligned north-west to
south-east, had steeply cut regular edges and a concave
base, and measured 2.41m wide and 0.82m deep. Ditch
9 contained four fills (22, 23, 24 and 25), of which
context 23 produced a small assemblage of late 3rd to
4th-century pottery. In trench E rubbish pit 32 was
situated immediately north-east of the ditch. The pit,
which measured 3.44m in length and 0.48m in depth,
was shallow-sided with a flat base, and its fill (31)
produced pottery of the late 3rd century.

Late Roman - late 4th century (Figs 3, 5 and 6)

The latest feature recorded on site was the re-cutting
of ditch 9. This latest ditch cut (21) contained a single
silty fill (8) which produced large amounts of late 4th-
century pottery dated to after c. AD 370. The presence
of this material in the re-cut suggests that the ditch was
maintained and in use right up to the late 4th century.
Also recovered from fill 8 was a wide range of finds,
including butchered animal bone, roof and box-flue tile,
daub, flint, oyster shell, iron nails and a spindle whorl
made of Roman tile. The character of the finds and the
presence of building materials such as roof tile, box-flue
tile and daub from the re-cut also suggests that at a
point during the latter part of the 4th century, a building
or other structure from which these materials derived
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Fig. 6 Shillingstone. Section through ditches 7 and 9

was demolished. Layer 4 in trench F, which sealed the
fills of both pit 32 and ditch 3, also produced a
comparable range of forms and fabrics as those
recovered from re-cut 21 of ditch 9.

Modern (Figs 5 and 6)
The presence of the site in isolated farmland away from
the village or any substantial development meant that
little evidence of modern activity, other than that
connected with modern farming practices was
encountered on site. A mole-drain (27) aligned on a
slightly different orientation to that of ditch (9) and
which cut both the north-eastern facing slope of ditch
(9) and the fill of re-cut (21) was present in trench E.
Two features from the evaluation did not produce
finds and therefore could not be dated. These comprised
a shallow ditch (13) in trench A and a small pit (44) in
trench E. As ditch (13) does not align with present field
boundaries, it may be tentatively suggested that it is
archaeologically significant. However, the stratigraphic
relationship between pit (44) and the subsoil, which it
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cut and which sealed all other features on site, suggests
that this pit certainly post-dates the Roman period.

Medieval and post-medieval pottery was present on
site, although it mainly occurred in unstratified deposits
or as an intrusive element in earlier features.

Late Iron Age and Roman pottery
T.S. Martin

Introduction

A total of 660 sherds (7,796 g) of Late Iron Age and Roman pottery
was recovered. Of this, only 277 sherds (but weighing 5,199 g) were
found in feature fills. The pottery was classified using the
Chelmsford typology published by Going (1987, 2-54) which is
standard for all Essex County Council sites. Analysis was primarily
concerned with identifying the variety of fabrics and forms, and
providing dating evidence for features. All pottery was quantified by
sherd count and weight by fabric, with the material from ditch 21
also being recorded using Eves. This provides the data from which
useful comments concerning assemblage characteristics, the
changing patterns in pottery supply and the overall quality of the
evidence can be made. The following fabrics were identified
(numbers after Going 1987 in parentheses):
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Table 1. Summary of the dating evidence from all features and layers with Roman pottery (residual pieces excluded)

(recut of 9)

Feature Fill/Status Pottery Dating

Ditch 7 S (primary) Misc. pottery: Fabrics ESH and GROG. LIA

Ditch 7 6 (top) Misc. pottery: jar G18 type (GROG). LIA

Ditch 9 23 (tertiary) Misc. pottery: bowl-jar E6.2 (GRS); G21 - b/s (GRS); Fabric HAR. 1.3-4th century
Ditch 21 8 (single)Misc. pottery: dishes B6.2 (NVC, GRS, HAB & BSW), B1.2 L4th century

(NVC), B1 (GRS, HAB, BB1 & GRF); bowl C8 (NVC); mortaria
D - b/s (OXRC), D6 (OXWS); bowl-jars E4 (RED), E6.2 (GRS),
?E6 (HAX); jars G27.2 (LSH), G24.2 (GRS), G44 (STOR), G9
(GRF), G34 (GRS), G36.2 (BSW).

Ditch 11 10 (single) Misc. pottery: jar G44 type (STOR); Fabrics BUF & BSW. ‘?Early Roman’
Pit 18 16 (top) Samian: ?f18 (TSG - ?SGSW); Misc. pottery: Fabrics COLB & VRW. ‘Early Roman’
Pit 20 19 (single) Misc. pottery: Fabric STOR. Undated
Ditch 30 28 (top) Misc. pottery: beaker H1 - b/s with barbotine dots (RED); Fabrics ‘Early Roman’
COLB, BSW & GRS.
Pit 32 31 (single) Misc. pottery: dish B6.2 (GRS); bowl-jar E (HAX); Fabrics BSW 1L.3-4th century
Layer 4 - Misc. pottery: dishes B6.2 (GRS, HAB & BSW), B1.3 (BSW), B1.2 L4th century
(NVC), B1 (GRS); bowl-jars E6.2 (BSW), E6 (HAX); jars G21
(GRS), G26 (HAX), G27.1 (LSH), G27.2 (ILSH); Fabric OXRC.
BB1 Black-burnished ware 1 40 pit 18 produced small quantities of mainly undiagnostic sherds whose
BSW Misc. black-surfaced wares overall character suggests that they would not be out of place early
BUF Unspecified buff wares 31 Roman horizons. These dates, largely based on the presence of fabrics
COLB Colchester buff wares 27 rather than forms, may be applied to the infilling or disuse of these
ESH Early shell-tempered ware 50 features. The bulk of the pottery reaching the site at this time appears
GRF Fine grey wares 39 to have been derived from mainly local sources (e.g. sandy grey wares
GROG Grog-tempered wares 53 and black-surfaced wares), supplemented by small quantities of
GRS Sandy grey wares 47 ?South Gaulish samian, Colchester buff ware and Verulamium region
HAB Hadham black-surfaced ware 35 white ware.
HAR Hadham grey wares 36 Judging by the absence of B2 and B4 type dishes and G5.4 and
HAX Hadham oxidised red wares 4 (5.5 jars in sandy grey wares and black-surfaced wares, for example,
LSH Late shell-tempered ware 51 there would appear to have been something of a hiatus on site within
MICW Misc. Iron Age coarse wares the period spanning the early/mid 2nd to early/mid 3rd century. These
NKG North Kent grey wares 32 forms are ubiquitous in Essex in the Hadrianic/Antonine period and
NVC Nene Valley colour-coat 2 one would expect to find them in significant quantities on sites
OXRC Oxfordshire red colour-coat 3 occupied in this period. The absence of B5 dishes also indicates a lack
OXW Oxfordshire white wares 25 of activity well into the mid 3rd century. The reasons for this may be
OXWS Oxfordshire white-slipped wares 13 because of the small-scale nature of the excavations or a genuine
RED Misc. oxidised red ware 21 reflection of the absence of Hadrianic to mid 3rd-century pottery
RET Rettendon ware 48 being discarded in the area excavated. This general absence of
STOR Storage jar fabrics 44 Hadrianic/Antonine period pottery is just as much a feature of the
TSG Samian (all) 60 unstratified pottery as it is of the material recovered from feature-fills.
VRW Verulamium region white ware 26 A single East Gaulish samian mortarium body sherd in layer 4 is the

Summanry of the pottery dating evidence

Overall, the dating evidence is not of the finest quality, with only one
well-dated stratified context (Table 1). Although most of the feature-
fills contained largely undiagnostic sherds, there was sufficient dating
evidence to place all but one of the stratified contexts with pottery into
one of four date-bands. These were as follows:

¢ Late Iron Age

*  Early Roman

* Late 3rd to 4th century

¢ Late 4th century+

Ditch 7 appears to be the earliest feature. It contained small amounts
of early shell-tempered ware and grog-tempered ware which points to
a Late Iron Age date. A further three features, ditches 11 and 30 and
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only sherd from the site that requires dating to this period and this is
in association with material which shows that it is unequivocally
residual.

The next period of occupation commenced in the late 3rd century
at the earliest and is represented by the silting up and probable disuse
of ditch 9 and the fill of pit 32. Supply appears to have remained
principally from local sources, but by now no new samian or
Verulamium region white wares were reaching the site. At this time
Hadham oxidised red ware makes an appearance as would be
expected on sites of this date, although the only identifiable forms
were small numbers of bowl-jars. The most readily datable forms
which belong to this period are the E6.2 bowl-jar (ditch 9) and B6.2
the dish (pit 32) in sandy grey ware.

Towards the end of the 4th century, ditch 9 was recut by ditch 21;
this is the best dated episode on site. Overall, ditch 21 contained very
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little that is obviously residual except for a sherd of Late Iron Age
grog-tempered ware. The absence of anything that has to be 2nd or
3rd century reinforces the view that there was something of a hiatus
on site in this period. Pottery supply in this period includes a variety
of Nene Valley colour-coat dishes which first appear in the 4th
century, late shell-tempered ware G27 jars, and Oxfordshire red
colour-coat and white-slipped ware, none of which are securely
attested in Essex prior to c. AD 360/70. These fabrics, however, are
relatively unimportant compared with the volume of local grey wares.
Also of this general period is layer 4. It contained a comparable range
of forms and fabrics to those recovered from ditch 21. The amount of
pottery from these two contexts accounts for a total of 565 sherds
(85.6%) or 6714 g (86.1%). It would seem then that there is ample
evidence for continued activity right to the very end of the Roman
period and that the main period of occupation was also in this period.

The late 4th-century group from ditch recut 21

A fairly substantial group of sherds (4.5 kg; 6.31 Eve) found in the
filling of the recut of ditch F9 are remarkable because of the virtual
absence of residual material (nothing apart from a single abraded
grog-tempered ware body sherd which is excluded from the following
discussion and quantification tables). Because of this, the group has
strong potential to provide an important insight into late Roman
ceramics. This group may be dated securely to the period around c.
AD 360/70 on analogy with Chelmsford (Going 1987, Ceramic Phase
8) on the evidence of both forms and fabrics.

The high ratio between weight and Eve figures in favour of the
latter suggests that the group is also particularly well-preserved (Table
2) and compares well with the Late Shrine group at Great Dunmow
(Going and Ford 1988, Table 2), the late 4th-century pit group F421
at Buildings Farm, Great Dunmow (Wallace 1997), and groups from
ditch T'71/80 and gully S35 at Chelmsford (Going 1987, Table 8) in
this respect. All the evidence thus points to deposit which accumulated
over a relatively short period of time. This is unusual in latest Roman
groups which are highly prone to contamination from pottery of
earlier phases where, more often than not, they come at the end of long
sequences of occupation. Shillingstone Field is unusual in this respect
in that the main period represented ceramically is the later 4th century.
For this reason this group is highlighted as being of regional
significance and reported on in detail here.

Although this assemblage is smaller than the two late groups from
Great Dunmow (Table 2), it does appear to be less fragmented. This,
coupled with the virtual absence of heavy-walled vessels like amphorae
and storage jars, suggests that any statistical bias in favour of any
particular ceramic type will be minimal and the validity of any
conclusions drawn will not be compromised. Moreover, Willis (1996)
has shown that quite consistent results can be obtained from even
smaller groups. Analysis of the range of forms and the variety of
fabrics allows several significant observations to be made regarding
fabrics and trade, and assemblage composition.

Table 2. Comparison of latest Roman group sizes from Essex

Site Date-range Wt (kg) |Eve
Shillingstone Field late 4th century 4.5 6.31
(ditch F21)

Great Dunmow ¢. 350-390+ 9.8 7.83
(Late Shrine group 272)

Great Dunmow ¢. 360/70 6.1 6.88
(Buildings Farm pit 421)

Chelmsford 360-400+ 11.3 7.03
(ditch T'71/80)

Chelmsford 388-400+ 8.1 6.75
(gully S35)

The fabrics

Black-burnished ware 1 (BB1) (Fig. 8, No.4)

9g; 0.06 Eve (0.95% Eve)

This fabric is not well represented at Shillingstone Field; a single
sherd, belonging to a plain rimmed B1 dish. Its presence in groups of
this period is to be expected judging by its prevalence in Ceramic
Phase 8 contexts at Chelmsford (Going 1987, Table 9).

Misc. black-surfaced wares (BSW) (Fig. 8, No.5)

630g; 0.86 Eve (13.62% Eve)

Of the black-surfaced wares, a number of fine pieces could, with some
confidence be assigned to the Hadham industry. Other vessels, often
much coarser by comparison, could not. Essentially, these sherds form
the late continuation of Going’s fabric 45 with their sparse, almost
incidental grog-tempering. The forms present included B6.2 dishes
and a G35 type jar. There was also a further jar rim that was
unclassifiable.

Fine grey wares (GRF) (Fig. 8, Nos. 3 & 20)

259¢g; 0.68 Eve (10.77% Eve)

Bowl-jars (E6.1) comprise the main fine grey ware form, though some
dishes (B1.3) and jars (G9.3) were also recognised. These fabrics
appear to be much less important compared to the sandy grey ware
fabrics.

Sandy grey wares (GRS) (Fig. 8, Nos. 6,7, 9-11, 13-15, 17 & 21-4)
2,305g; 3.16 Eve (50.07% Eve)

Sandy grey wares comprised the main fabric group and included a
wide range of forms. This is in marked contrast with the Late Shrine
group and Buildings Farm at Great Dunmow, where grey wares
formed relatively minor assemblage components (Going and Ford
1988, 70; Wallace 1997, Table 2). A striking feature of the group is the
large number of bead and flange-rimmed (B6.2) dishes. Jars, however,
are poorly represented by comparison, but include the ubiquitous G24
and G21 (with shorter than usual neck) types where form is
identifiable.

Hadham black-surfaced ware (HAB) (Fig. 8, Nos. 1, 2,8 & 16)
380g; 0.71 Eve (11.25% Eve)

A number of sherds, mostly open forms, are assigned to this fabric,
which is probably from the Hadham kilns. The range of forms
represented includes plain (B1) and bead and flange-rimmed (B6.2)
dishes. There were no bowl-jar or jar forms recognised. At
Shillingstone this fabric is more prevalent compared to either the Late
Shrine group or Buildings Farm, Great Dunmow.

Hadham grey wares (HAR) (not illustrated)

132g; 0.23 Eve (3.64% Eve)

A number of fine grey ware sherds can be attributed to the Hadham
industry. Forms are not readily identifiable, however. Compared with
the late Great Dunmow and Chelmsford groups this fabric is under-
represented.

Hadham oxidised red wares (HAX) (not illustrated)

169g; 0.08 Eve (1.26% Eve)

Both open and closed forms were present, but the sherds were
generally in too fragmentary state to identify form with any certainty
apart from the rim of a B6.2 dish and a bowl-jar type rim. Compared
with the late Great Dunmow and Chelmsford groups this fabric is
poorly represented.

Late shell-tempered ware (LSH) (Fig. 8, No.25)

36g; 0.16 Eve (2.53% Eve)

Unusually for assemblages of this period, late shell-tempered fabrics
formed an insubstantial group of wares. The only form represented
comprised a (G27.2 jar. This is in marked contrast to the Late Shrine
group at Great Dunmow where a greater volume of this ware and with
it, a much wider range of forms were identified (Going and Ford
1988, 70). The volume of late shell-tempered ware at Shillingstone
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Fig. 7 Shillingstone. The correlation between the diameters of dish types B1 and B6.2 in ditch 21.
(Left hand scale diameter of vessels in mm; bottom scale, number of vessels

Field is, however on a par the Buildings Farm, Great Dunmow
(Wallace 1997, 76).

Nene Valley colour-coat (NVC) (Fig. 8, Nos.12 & 18)

95g;0.19 Eve (3.01% Eve)

Surprisingly, this fabric appears to be under-represented. The only
forms noted were exclusively open forms, Bland B6 dishes, and a C8
bowl, in marked contrast to the with the Late Shrine group at Great
Dunmow (Going and Ford 1988, 66). Perhaps surprisingly, no ‘castor
box’ fragments were found as was also the case with the Late Shrine
group at Great Dunmow. Apart from the lower body sherd of a
beaker, this vessel class was also absent, again surprisingly so
considering that this is one of the main suppliers of beakers into Essex
in the 4th century. However, while Going and Ford note that the
assemblage of Nene Valley products was substantial at Great
Dunmow, most of it was pulverised (Going and Ford 1988, 66). These
differences may be chronological and, or more likely, functional.

Oxfordshire red colour-coat (OXRC) (not illustrated)
6g
Single abraded sherd only, from a mortarium of uncertain form.

Oxfordshire white wares (OXW) (not illustrated)
l4g
Single sherd only, from a mortarium of uncertain form.

Oxfordshire white-slipped wares (OXWS) (Fig. 8, No.19)

86g;0.16 Eve (2.53% Eve)

A single vessel was represented by the upper half of a D6 mortarium
(Young 1977, type WC5). Although most of flange was missing, the
vessel was in reasonably good condition. At Chelmsford, Going (1987,
5) noted that this fabric only occurs in mid to late 4th-century
contexts.

Misc. oxidised red wares (RED) (not illustrated)

11g;0.01 Eve (0.15% Eve)

These are barely represented at Shillingstone Field and may be
residual. However, the only form present is a bowl-jar (type E4) which
is more common to later contexts.

Storage jar fabrics (STOR) (not illustrated)

426g;0.01 Eve (0.15% Eve)

A number of body sherds and the fragment of a rim were found. The
rim, however, was not sufficiently diagnostic to identify the vessel
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form. At Chelmsford, Going noted a recovery in the quantities of
storage jar fabrics in the late 4th after something of an early 4th-
century trough (Going 1987, 9). This does not appear to be the case
at Shillingstone Field.

Discussion: pottery supply to Shillingstone Field, c. AD 360/70

Fabrics and trade

Compared to both Great Dunmow groups, the assemblage from
Shillingstone Field ditch 21 comprises a relatively limited range of
fabrics; there are 15 compared with 21 at the Late Shrine, Great
Dunmow, and 23 at Buildings Farm. To a large extent this may be due
to the presence of obviously residual material in the Great Dunmow
groups. Compared to Ceramic Phase 8 contexts at Chelmsford there
does seem to be a much narrower range of fabrics even among the
latest Roman types (Going 1987, table 9) which may reflect either site
status, geographical location, or a combination of both.

The Shillingstone Field assemblage contains no imported pottery
at all; there is a complete absence of amphorae and residual samian,
for example. This is almost certainly the result of the absence of any
evidence for intensive occupation at an earlier period. Regional
Romano-British wares are also scarce, being confined to small
amounts of BB1, Oxfordshire, Hadham, ?South Midlands shell-
tempered and Nene Valley colour-coated wares. Colchester kiln
products (both colour-coats and buff wares) are notable absences. On
the other hand, although Oxfordshire products are not well-
represented there is a wide range of fabrics present. Another
interesting assemblage characteristic in terms of the range and
quantities of fabrics are the low amounts of late shell-tempered wares
and Hadham wares in marked contrast to the Late Shrine group.
There is also an absence of pottery with Romano-Saxon decoration.
Vessels with this type of decoration were produced by the Hadham
manufactory and are often present in late assemblages as at Buildings
Farm, for example (Wallace 1997, fig. 22.6). This may in part be a
reflection of the unusually small quantities of Hadham products
recovered from ditch 21. Colour-coats of all types are poorly
represented.

Although grey wares dominate the assemblage, there is no
Rettendon ware. A low showing for this fabric, which generally has a
central Essex distribution, is to be expected given the geographical
location of Shillingstone Field. There may be some chronological
implications here as this fabric has been identified on the site, albeit
unstratified, given Going’s suggestion that this fabric generally had a
early to mid 4th-century floruit (Going 1987, 10). The low incidence
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of Late shell-tempered ware is perhaps more likely to be a
chronological feature. Wallace (1997, 76) has cited this possibility in
relation to the Buildings Farm group. On balance, this perhaps points
to a period of deposition very late in Chelmsford Ceramic Phase 7 or
very early in Ceramic Phase 8 for the Shillingstone Field material.

Assemblage composition

The assemblage has two outstanding features: an absence of flagons
and platters, and a significant bias towards dishes rather than jars and
bowl-jars as demonstrated in Table 3. Beakers and bowls are also
barely represented, while the sole supplier of mortaria is the
Oxfordshire industry. The bias in dishes is not affected by the
apparent absence of B2 and B4 types given that the production of
none of these vessels is thought to have extended beyond the early/mid
3rd century. The overall impression of a virtually total absence of
residual material in ditch 21 is further enhanced by the presence of a
B2 dish in Hadham oxidised red ware (cf. Wallace 1997, fig. 22.3) and
a Hadham black-surfaced ware B4 type dish in the Buildings Farm pit
group (Wallace 1997, 76). The plain-rimmed dish type B3.2 which
was the most common open form at Chelmsford in this period is also
absent, while the fully flanged B6.2 types in a minority at Chelmsford
are by far the most common of the two types represented at
Shillingstone field. It is possible that this bias towards dishes has
something to do with the site function, but to explain this
phenomenon along the lines of a table (dishes) versus cooking (jars
and bowl-jars) dichotomy seems improbable because of the lack of
beakers. Perhaps this deposit, given the presence of mortaria, may be
associated with initial food preparation rather than either cooking or
consumption.

It has been suggested that plain-rimmed dishes and their flanged
counterparts may have been used as casseroles. Gillam noted, with
reference to BB1 vessels, that although the range of diameters between
the two types was not precisely the same, there was nonetheless a
considerable degree of overlap (Gillam 1976, 70). At Shillingstone the

flanged B6.2 type was far more common (3.39 Eve) compared with
the plain-rimmed B1 type (0.54 Eve). Moreover, while there was some
overlap between the diameters of these types, particularly at the lower
end of the scale, the overall correlation was poor (Fig. 7). This may
imply that vessels of these types that were reaching the site in the later
4th century were not necessarily intended to be used as casseroles.
Whether this has anything to do with the size of the sample is
something which requires further research.

Catalogue (Fig. 8)

Dishes

No. 1 HAB B1.3 with all over horizontal burnishing. Slightly
abraded.

No. 2 HAB B1.3 with all over horizontal burnishing. Unabraded.

No. 3 GRF B1.3 with all over horizontal burnishing. Unabraded.

No. 4 BB1 B1.3 with internal horizontal burnishing and exterior
reserved zone. Fragmentary but unabraded.

No. 5 BSW B6.2 with all over horizontal burnishing. Unabraded

No. 6 GRS B6.2, burnt but unabraded.

No. 7 GRS B6.2 with faint horizontal riling under flange.
Unabraded.

No. 8 HAB B6.2 with all over horizontal burnishing. Unabraded.

No. 9 GRS B6.2, burnt and slightly abraded.

No. 10 GRS B6.2, unabraded.

No. 11 GRS B6.2 with light horizontal burnishing. Unabraded.

No. 12 NVC B6.2, burnt and very fragmentary.

No. 13 GRS B6.2, unabraded.

No. 14 GRS B6.2, fragmentary but unabraded.

No. 15 GRS B6.2, fragmentary but unabraded.

No. 16 HAB B6.2, with all-over horizontal burnishing. In relatively
poor condition but unabraded.

No. 17 GRS B6.2, fragmentary but unabraded.

Table 3. The pottery from ditch 21, context 8 quantified by Eves (X = form present but not represented by a rim)

Fabric Form Totals|% Eve
B1.2 | B1.3 | B6.2| C8 D6 D E4 | E6.1 E G9.3 | G21 |G24.1|G27.2| G35 G *H

BB1 = |ooe| = = . = 2 = = s . . g 5 . - | 0.06] 095
BSW - - 0.20 - - - - - - - - - - 0.65 | 0.01 - 0.86 | 13.62
GRF - 0.29 - - - - - 0.28 - 0.11 - - - - - - 0.68 | 10.77
GRS - 0.01 | 2.63 - - - - 0.05 - - 0.26 | 0.70 - - 0.28 - 3.16 | 50.07
HAB - 0.17 | 0.47 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 0.71 | 11.25
HAR - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 0.23 - 0.23 | 3.64
HAX - - 0.01 - - - - - 0.07 - - - - - - - 0.08 | 1.26
LSH - - - - - - - - - - - - 0.16 - - - 0.16 | 2.53
NvVC 0.01 - 0.08 | 0.10 - - - - - - - - - - - X | 0.19 ] 3.01
OXRC - - - - - X - - - - - - - - - - X -
OXwW - - - - - X - - - - - - - - - - X -
OXWS - - - - 0.16 - - - - - - - - - - - 0:16 | 2:53
RED - - - - - - 0.01 - - - - - - - - - 0.01 | 0.15
STOR - -l - - - - - - - - - - - - 0.01 - 0.01 | 0.15
Totals 0.01 | 0.53 | 3.39 | 0.10 | 0.16 X 0.01 | 0.25 | 0.07 | 0.11 | 0.26 | 0.70 | 0.16 | 0.65 | 0.53 X 6.31 -
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Fig. 8 Shillingstone. LLate Roman pottery group

Not illustrated. B1.2, NVC, fragmentary - rim only; B1.3, GRS, Mortarium

fragmentary and abraded; B1.3, HAB, with all over horizontal No. 19 OXWS D6, fragmentary - flange broken.

burnishing. Fragmentary but unabraded; B6.2, HAB, with all over

horizontal burnishing. Fragmentary but unabraded; B6.2, HAX, Bowl-jars

fragmentary - rim only, flange missing. No. 20 GRF E6.1 with horizontal exterior burnishing. Unabraded.
No. 21 GRS E6.1, fragmentary - rim only, but unabraded.

Bowls Not illustrated. E4, RED, fragmentary and abraded; E6.1, GRE frag-

No. 18 NVC C8, abraded - rim only. mentary - rim only, but unabraded; E, HAX, fragmentary - rim only.
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Jars

No.22 GRS G21.1 with band of external horizontal rilling.
Unabraded.

No. 23 GRS G24.1, fragmentary but unabraded.

No. 24 GRS G24.1, unabraded with 3 notches on rim

No. 25 LSH G27.2, fragmentary but unabraded.

Not illustrated. G35, BSW, fragmentary - rim and non-joining body
sherds; G9.3, GRE fragmentary - rim only; G (misc. unclassifiable jar
rims), GRS (x6), HAR (x2), BSW, STOR.

Conclusions

The pottery evidence indicates some Late Iron Age and early Roman
activity, albeit on a small scale judging from the quantities of material
being deposited. It may mean, however, that the focus of the early
settlement lies elsewhere. This may be also true of the Hadrianic and
Antonine periods which are barely represented, if at all, ceramically.
Pottery was again being discarded in recognisable quantities from the
late 3rd century onwards followed by a substantial increase towards
the end of the century. By far the largest amount of material came
from contexts which may be securely dated to the late 4th century.
This appears to have been the optimum period of pottery discard.
Both the late 4th-century groups (ditch 21 and layer 4) are of regional
importance because of the virtual absence of contamination from
earlier pottery. The evidence for pottery usage and supply in this
period showed a number of significant departures from other broadly
contemporary groups which cannot be explained fully in terms of
chronology or geographical location. There is, however, clearly,
excellent potential for future research which might help explain these
differences in a far more cogent manner.

Medieval and later pottery

H. Walker

A very small amount of medieval and post-medieval pottery totalling
98g was recovered from surface contexts in trenches E and E The
earliest material is a beaded rim from an early medieval ware cooking
pot, perhaps dating to the 12th century. Some of the sandy orange
ware sherds may be medieval, and featured sherds include a cavetto,
or turned over rim from a cooking pot/jar which may belong to the
first half of the 13th century. Also of interest is a sherd of ?14th-
century buff ware which may have a Suffolk origin and reflects Great
Sampford’s proximity to Suffolk. Post-medieval pottery comprises
sherds of post-medieval red earthenware, none of which is closely
datable, and a possible flowerpot fragment. The presence of this
pottery may indicate activity during the medieval and post-medieval
periods but could just as easily be the result of spreading midden
material on to the fields.

Miscellaneous finds
H. Major

Stone

The only definitely worked stone was a fragment of a millstone grit
quern (probably reused), a type of stone most likely to occur in later
2nd-century or later contexts, recovered from ditch recut 21 (context
8), dated to the late 4th century. In addition there were three dubiously
identified worked pieces, all from Late Iron Age or early Roman
contexts: a possible whetstone made from a natural pebble from pit 20
(context 19), and two pieces of stone which appear to have been
deliberately shaped, but are of unknown purpose from ditch 7
(contexts 5 and 6). One may have been used as a post-pad.

Brick and tile

177 fragments of brick and tile were recovered, weighing a total of
13,548g. All was Roman bar a single small fragment of post-medieval
tile from context 4 (surface cleaning). Roman tile was recovered from
seven contexts, two of which were unstratified. The other contexts
represented material from two late Roman features, pit 32 and ditch
3/9. The largest group of material came from deposits above pit 32
and ditch 3 (contexts 2 and 4, a total of 104 sherds), but only two
fragments of tile actually came from the fill of the pit. The largest
amount from a stratified context came from the recut 21 in the top of
ditch 9 (context 8), with a single fragment from the third fill of ditch
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9 (context 23).

The fabrics present were mostly hard, and fine textured with few
inclusions, although there was also a sandy fabric present, and a small
amount of a fabric with sparse chalk inclusions. The sparsity of chalky
tile is perhaps surprising, given the location of the site, and that all the
baked clay from the site contained chalk fragments.

The material consisted mainly of roof tile (89% of identifiable
sherds), with eight fragments of brick, and three fragments of box flue
tile, one dubious. Some of the brick, which came mainly from context
8, had mortar on the broken edges, and had evidently derived from a
masonry structure. The amount of box flue tile present was
insufficient to suggest the presence of a bath-house close by.

Context 8 included a piece of zegula chipped into a rough disc,
60-68mm in diameter, and 20mm thick. Another possible disc (but
very abraded) came from context 4. Such discs are not uncommon,
but it is their function is uncertain. Suggested uses include pot-lids,
crude weights, or large counters; however, following a recent find of
a set of similar discs, made from storage jar, at Colchester, an
alternative interpretation is that they are possibly components of a
child’s stacking toy.

Other finds

No identifiable metal objects were found, apart from iron nails. The
remainder of the material mostly comprised iron strip and sheet
fragments, but included one small fragment of copper-alloy moulding
waste.

A small amount of baked clay was recovered, all in the chalky fabric
typical of daub from the north of the county, and probably derived
from the walls of a building. Three contexts contained minor
quantities of oyster shell, in poor condition.

Worked flint

Owen Bedwin

A total of eleven pieces of worked flint were found, but offered little
scope for dating. Two blades and a flake with retouch, struck from
prepared cores, suggest Neolithic activity, but all were unstratified.

Animal Bone

P. McMichael

A total of 283 pieces of animal bone, from 12 contexts and weighing
3,617 g, was examined. The bone was in good condition, although a
large proportion was fragmentary. Five species were positively
identified: Equus, Bos, Cervus, Ovis and Canis. There was also a goose-
sized bird. Much of the bone in context 8 showed signs of butchery.
Five pieces of worked bone including one small piece of bone and four
pieces of worked antler were also present in this context.

Note on two sherds from fieldwalking

C.J.Going has noted the following two sherds recovered, not from the
excavation, but from fieldwalking at Shillingstone (Fig. 9);

1. Rim decorated with face mask. Hadham ware, 4th century.

2. Rim sherd, Saxon.

Conclusions

The archaeological evaluation uncovered evidence of
Late Iron Age and Roman activity, including field
boundaries and pits dating from the Late Iron Age, plus
two parallel ditches which represent a Roman field
system still in use up to the late 4th century. A single
prehistoric ditch was also found. These boundaries
imply that this area has been farmed since the
prehistoric period and that activity on site extended to
the late Roman period and beyond. Its topographical
location, on a south-facing slope of a river valley, its
good drainage and fertile soils, and supply of local water
emanating from a natural spring to the north of the
evaluated area all suggest this site would have provided
an ideal environment for early settlers. The pottery
suggests limited activity during the early Roman period
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Fig. 9 Shillingstone. Two sherds from fieldwalking. 1: Hadham ware sherd with face mask. 2: Saxon rim sherd

and at its nadir during the early/mid 2nd to early/mid
3rd century AD, with the most intense period of
occupation occurring during the 4th century AD.

Although the evidence recorded in the trial trenches
does not in itself conclusively show that there was a
settlement, the character of the materials recovered,
including box-flue tile, roof tile, nails and daub, imply
that there was a settlement, such as a farmstead, nearby.
Furthermore, the considerable size of the pottery
assemblage from the evaluation and the wealth of
ceramic material and coins recovered over the years by
both the Sampford Society and metal-detectorists,
further supports this suggestion.

However, only small quantities of building materials,
such as Roman brick and tile were present in the topsoil
and subsoil layers. This is unusual as one would expect
large concentrations of tile from a site such as a
farmstead or villa to be brought to the surface by
ploughing. It may therefore be suggested that the
building materials, which were a precious commodity in
an area devoid of local building materials, were as with
many Roman sites, robbed out and re-used locally.

The location of this postulated settlement remains
unknown, but further systematic field-walking,
geophysical survey and aerial photography should be
able to identify it.
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A Saxon building at Chadwell St. Mary:
excavations at Chadwell St. Mary County Primary School 1996

by N. J. Lavender

with contributions by V. Fryer and P. Murphy, P. MMichael, S. Tyler and PE.]J. Wiltshire

Archaeological investigation at Chadwell St. Mary
County Primary School revealed a sunken-featured
building dating to the 6th century. Other features included

two pits to the north of the building and a series of

ntercutting pits at its south-west corner. Environmental
evidence from the building has provided information about
the natural environment and agricultural economy during
the sixth century.

Introduction

The site (NGR TQ 6450 7854; Fig. 1) lies within an
area of known Palaeolithic and Romano-British activity
on the third terrace (Corbets Tey formation) of the
River Thames. Numerous finds of Palaeolithic flint
artefacts including hand-axes have been located in the
area (Essex Sites and Monuments Record [ESMR]
number 1776). To the south there is a record of 115
Palaeolithic hand-axes and flints, reputed to have been
recovered from gravel workings (ESMR 1719). There
is, however, some doubt regarding their true
provenance, and it is possible that they came from
Chadwell Heath, near Romford.

"To the south of the site an area of tessellated flooring
was located, probably indicating a Romano-British villa
(ESMR 1717) and an associated scatter of Romano-
British pottery (ESMR 1718). A Roman coin was also
recovered from nearby (ESMR 1777).

Whilst no Saxon activity has previously been
recorded at Chadwell St. Mary, settlement, including
sunken-featured buildings, is known at Orsett (Hedges
and Buckley 1985), Orsett Cock (Milton 1987; Carter
forthcoming), Mucking (Hamerow 1993) and Gun
Hill, West Tilbury (Drury and Rodwell 1973). Saxon
cemeteries have been recorded at Orsett, North Stifford
(Wilkinson 1988) and Mucking (Hamerow 1993).

The site was originally evaluated in July 1996,
according to a brief prepared by Essex County Council
Archaeological Advisory Group. The aims of the project
at that stage were to establish the extent, character and
date of any archaeological deposits and to provide
information as the basis of any future mitigation
strategy. In particular, it was expected that the
evaluation would identify elements of Romano-British
settlement; in the event only a few residual Roman
artefacts were located. Trenches were cut within the
footprint of the proposed new school hall and the area
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of the resited car park, then respectively a tarmac
playground and a grassed area (Fig. 2).

The identification of a Saxon sunken-featured
building during the evaluation necessitated further work
during the first half of August 1996. Both evaluation
and the follow-on work were carried out under the
direction of the author.

Evaluation

Five trenches (Fig. 2, A-E), covering an area of c.
104m2, were excavated. All of the trenches were
stripped of topsoil and recent overburden onto the top
of the natural subsoil, using a mechanical excavator with
a toothless bucket. The overlying layers were on average
a total of 0.45m deep. The trenches were then cleaned,
and the archaeological features excavated, by hand.
Archaeological features were identified only in trenches
B and C; trenches A, D and E were found to be sterile.

Only one feature was recorded in Trench B; a pit or
posthole (F5) against the southern limit of excavation. It
was oval in plan at the top, oriented north-west/south-
east and measured 0.8m by at least 0.4m. The deepest
part of the feature (the north-west end) was 0.27m
deep, circular and resembled a posthole. It is possible
that the shallower part represents the digging out of a
post. No further features were located.

Trench C measured 11m by 1.6m (Fig. 2); a single
feature (F9) was encountered and excavated by means
of a sondage, 1m wide, parallel with the trench edges.
Initially it was believed that this feature was a ditch
which terminated within the six metres between
Trenches C and D. The sides, however, proved to be
very steep and the base almost flat. The presence of two
post-holes, cutting the edges and base on opposite sides
of the feature, together with the presence of Early Saxon
pottery and a spindle whorl, suggested that it might be a
sunken-featured building.

Excavation of the sunken-featured building
Trench C was subsequently expanded to encompass an
area ¢. 60m2 in order to examine F9 and its immediate
surroundings more completely (becoming Area C in
Fig. 3). Following this it was clear that the section drawn
across the building was almost exactly central to its long
axis (Fig. 4.1)



SAXON BUILDING AT CHADWELL ST MARY

(I i T

P

IQMucking

Chadwel

—_—— - -

Chadwell St. Mary
County Primary

County Primary School. Site location. © Crown copyright 87584M.

Fig. 1 Chadwell St. Mary

49



ESSEX ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

T )

| I Trench A

E—

Horsa Building

Trench B

Riverview

W

ﬁ Main School Building

=] —

Trench C (evaluation)

e |

Trench D \

Fig. 2 Chadwell St. Mary County Primary School. Trench lay-out

The rest of the building was then divided into
quadrants, three of which were fully excavated (north-
east, south-east and south-west). Soil samples were
taken from all fills substantial enough to do so without
fear of contamination from other contexts. One layer of
fill (17) within the building was composed of a sandy silt
with large quantities of charcoal. This was sampled in its
entirety and examined for organic remains. The results
indicate that cereal processing was conducted at the site,
and that the area comprised a certain amount of
heathland during the Saxon period (see Charred plant
macrofossils, below). In addition to the transverse
section already drawn (Fig. 4.1), the longitudinal section
of the building, apart from a central gap of 1m, could
now be recorded (Fig. 4.2).

The building was 4.6m long, with an average width
of 3.5m, although this varied slightly along its length. Its
depth at the intersection of the two sections was 0.85m.
The sides were very steep, nearly vertical on the north
side. Three post-holes were located, one at the east end
(F36) with a base 1.40m below the top of natural, and
one approximately central to each side. That on the
north (F22) was 1.1m deep, and that on the south (F23)
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1.25m deep. No posthole was located at the west end to
complement F36, but would probably have been located
in the unexcavated quadrant. An indentation in the
southern edge of the building, east of F23, may have
been a further posthole. This contained only fill 16, and
did not penetrate the natural below the base of F9; it is
possible that secondary posts may have existed without
penetrating the natural, and that this indentation
represents the remains of one.

Apart from context 21, a very silty and uneven
deposit at the base of the feature, the fills within F9 show
signs of having been deliberately backfilled rather than
being allowed to accumulate naturally. The postholes of
the sunken-featured building were sealed by contexts 16
and 20. This indicates that, following the use of the
building, any reusable timbers were removed before the
commencement of backfilling.

Few artefacts were recovered, and apart from a
residual Roman coin, tile, and prehistoric flint from 12
and 17, comprised almost entirely pottery. The spindle
whorl and loomweight were both recovered from
context 21, which may have accumulated either during
the use of the building, or very quickly afterwards.
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Fig. 3 Chadwell St. Mary County Primary School. Detailed plan of Area C

The edges of the south-western quadrant of feature
F9 were very unclear because of a series of earlier
features (F39, 41 and 43), almost certainly pits. F9 cut
through the fills of these features. To the south of F9 it
was possible to discern the latest pit running into the
limit of excavation, but it was not observed in Trench E,
¢. 2m to the south. Three sherds of Early Saxon pottery

were recovered from the surface of F39, but no finds
were produced by any of these features when excavated.

Two further features were recorded in Area C. F27
was a shallow pit, 1.8m long, 1m wide and 0.18m deep
whose fill contained Saxon pottery. To the north of F27,
running under the limit of excavation, was another small
pit, F31, ¢.0.75m in diameter. No finds were recovered



ESSEX ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

S2

Previously
Excavated

2m

Fig. 4 Chadwell St. Mary County Primary School. Sections through the Saxon sunken-featured building.
For location of these sections see Fig 3

from either of the fills of this feature, but soil samples
taken from it yielded cereal and wild plant remains, as
well as some evidence of industrial activity (see Charred
plant macrofossils, below).

The Finds

The Anglo-Saxon pottery
S. Tyler

Swmmary

A total of 1.04 kg of Early Saxon pottery came from contexts
comprising the fills of sunken-featured building F9, pit F27 and from
the surface of pit F39. The pot fell into three fabric groups: (1)
vegetable-tempered; (2) sand-tempered and (3) tempered with
roughly equal amounts of sand and vegetable matter. The vegetable-
tempered pot (i.e. tempered with chopped dried grass, straw or animal
dung) formed by far the largest group, indicating a 6th-century or
later date for the assemblage.

Fabrics

Three fabrics are present:

52

1. Vegetable tempered: this accounts for 940g (77 sherds) out of the
total weight of 1044g of pot. The particles are mostly large
(greater than 2mm in length) and density is mostly abundant. The
tempering agent is most likely to have been coarsely chopped
grass or straw and the potter seems to have used a handful of the
straw to wipe the inner surface of the pot in several instances, e.g.
Cat. no. 5. There is a very small amount of sand present in this
fabric, but it should be seen as a natural occurrence in the clay
rather than an added temper.

2. Vegetable and sand-tempered: this accounts for only 58g (11
sherds) of pot. In this fabric the amount of sand is judged to be
significantly greater than in fabric 1 and therefore can be viewed
as an added tempering agent along with the vegetable matter; this
is, of course, subjective.

3. Sand-tempered: this accounts for 46g (10 sherds) of pot.

Catalogue of pottery (Fig. 5)
Figure ContextDescription
Sunken-featured building FF9

5ol 6 Two joining rim sherds. Upright rounded rim from a
small cup or bowl. Medium soft, black fabric with
common vegetable temper and common small
quartz-sand. Wt. 8g.

5.2 12 Rim sherd. Everted, flaring, slightly flattened rim,
probably from a hollow-necked globular jar. Medium
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soft, black fabric with common vegetable temper. Wt.
13g.

Rim sherd. Flaring, rounded rim, probably from a
globular or sub-conical jar. Medium hard dark grey
fabric with common vegetable temper and sparse
small quartz sand. Surfaces grass-wiped. Wt. 4g.

23 sherds (including one neck sherd and one base
sherd) probably from two or three vessels in a soft,
black fabric with abundant vegetable temper. The
outer surface colour varies considerably from black to
orange-buff, therefore suggesting more than one
vessel is present; however the fabric is consistently
heavily vegetable-tempered with sparse quartz-sand
(the latter probably occurring naturally in the clay
source). Wt. 211g.

Two body sherds of medium hard fabric with
abundant vegetable temper and a burnished outer
surface. Interior is grass-wiped. Wt. 38g.

Nine body sherds of medium quartz-sand-tempered
fabric. Variations in colour suggest that at least three
vessels are present. Wt. 44g.

Neck/body sherd from a small slightly carinated
bowl. Hollow neck coming up to an everted(?) rim
(missing). Medium soft fabric with abundant
vegetable temper. Surfaces patchy buff/brown. Core
black. Wt. 12g.

Two body sherds from a large ?jar or ?bowl. Hard
fabric with abundant vegetable temper. Outer surface
burnished dark reddish-brown. Interior has very
pronounced grass-wiping. Wt. 60g.

Five sherds (including one large flat base, abraded)
from at least three vessels with abundant vegetable
temper. Wt. 101g.

One body sherd. Medium hard fabric with abundant
small to medium quartz-sand temper. Wt. 2g.

Two body sherds. Burnished outer surfaces. Hard
black fabric with common vegetable and common
small to medium quartz-sand temper. Wt. 14g.

Four body sherds in abundant vegetable-tempered
medium hard fabric. Three sherds are reddish-brown
to black throughout; one sherd has a more distinctive
buff surface and black inner core; therefore there are
possibly two vessels present. Wt. 62g.

A single body sherd in a medium hard, black fabric
with abundant vegetable temper. Exterior burnished.
Wt. 4g.

Rim sherd. Rather uneven, abraded, slightly everted,
rounded rim. Hard fabric with sparse vegetable
temper. Surfaces buff. Core dark grey. Wt. 8g..

Rim sherd. Upright rim, flattened on top, from a
small bowl or jar. Medium hard, black fabric with
common vegetable temper and common quartz-
sand; sparse large quartz sand inclusions. Wt. 4g.

Six sherds (including two neck sherds) of a medium
hard vegetable-tempered pot. Surfaces brown; core
black. Abundant vegetable temper. Wt. 52g.

Two body sherds from a ?globular cooking pot.
Interior has carbonised residue. Hard fabric with
common vegetable temper. Exterior buff-brown.
Interior and core black. Wt. 20g.

Sixteen lower body/base sherds from a large thin-
walled ?jar. Much of the interior surface abraded
away. Medium hard fabric with abundant vegetable
temper. Exterior part-burnished. Two sherds join. Wt.
131g.

Six body sherds in a medium hard fabric with
abundant vegetable temper; probably from at least
three vessels. Some sherds have grass-wiped interiors.
Exterior colours vary from orange-buff to dark grey.
Cores and interiors vary from black to grey (with one
exception where the interior is orange-brown). Wt.
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103g.

21 Three body sherds from two vessels. Hard fabrics
with abundant vegetable temper. Two sherds are
black throughout; the other has grass-wiped reddish-
orange to reddish-grey exterior, black interior and
core. Wt. 54g.

Pit F29

28 Five body sherds (joining). Hard fabric with common
vegetable and common small to medium quartz-
sand. Exterior surfaces reddish-brown, interior and
core black. Wt. 28g.

28 Body sherd from a large vessel. Hard fabric with
abundant vegetable temper. Exterior reddish brown.
Core black. Interior grey and grass-wiped. Wt. 6g.

Pit 39, Surface cleaning

37 Three body sherds (joining) in a hard dark grey
fabric with abundant vegetable temper. Exterior
smoothed and part-burnished black over reddish-
brown margin. Wt. 65g.

Table 1 Statistical analysis by weight and sherd count per context

Context Number of sherds Weight (g)

6 2 8

12 36 310
13 11 189
15 4 62
16 1 4
17 26 215
18 6 103
21 3 54
28 6 34
37 3 65
Totals 98 1044

Discussion
This assemblage is significant in that the overwhelmingly dominant
fabric is heavily vegetable tempered; other fabrics occur in
insignificant quantities. This fact is highly suggestive of a date in the
sixth century or later (Hamerow 1993, 22-59). Little of the pot is
diagnostic, the few distinguishable forms do not help with dating:
globular pots and jars (nos 2; 3; 5; ?6) with everted, rounded rims are
not closely datable within the Early Saxon period; nor are small cups
and bowls with more upright rims (nos 1 and 7). Only no. 4 gives
some indication of a sixth-century rather than later date with its
carinated shoulder; a feature found in earlier contexts at nearby
Mucking (Hamerow 1993).

It is worth noting that despite the abundance of coarse vegetable
tempering, several of the pots have highly burnished outer surfaces
(e.g. no. 5); a feature also noted at Mucking (Hamerow 1993).

Conclusions

This is a pottery assemblage of a fundamentally domestic nature,
typifying the range one would expect from a sixth-century sunken-
featured building.
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Fig. 6 Chadwell St. Mary County Primary School. Saxon
spindle whorl (1) and loomweight (2)

The coin

P. McMichael

A single coin was recovered from the excavation . This was of Roman
date and residual in context 12 (upper fill of F9):

‘Follis” of the Tetrarchy (288-312 AD). 9 g; copper alloy, 25mm
diameter.

Obverse: Head facing right.
worn/obscured.

Legend: “...AUGG”; Reverse:

Textile processing objects

S. Tyler

A small ceramic spindle-whorl (Fig. 6.1) and half of a fired clay
“American doughnut-shaped” loomweight (Fig. 6.2) were recovered
from the lowest fill of F9. Neither of these objects is particularly
distinctive, but they are both consistent with the 5th-7th century date
of the pottery.

Charred plant macrofossils and other remains
V. Fryer and P. Murphy

Introduction
Thirteen samples were submitted for quantitative analysis: eleven
from the fills of the sunken-featured building (F9:samples 1 - 3 and 6
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- 13) and two from the fills of a pit to the north of the building (F31;
samples 4 and 5).

Methods

The samples (all approximately 15 litres in volume) were processed by
machine flotation and the flots were collected in a S00 micron mesh
sieve. The dried flots were sorted under a binocular microscope at low
power. Plant macrofossils were preserved exclusively by charring.
Identifications were made by comparison with modern reference
material.

Results

Charred plant macrofossils and other materials from the samples are
listed in Table 2. Modern contaminants (fibrous and woody roots,
seeds/fruits and arthropods) were present in all samples. Preservation
was in general poor: grains and seeds were often ‘puffed’ and
distorted, chaff remains were fragmentary and many specimens were
coated with fine sediment. Some well-preserved material was,
however, present in Sample 1 (Context 17) from F9. The Hordeum
(barley) grains from this context included at least one specimen with
an angular cross-section, clearly a hulled grain and one twisted
asymmetrical grain from a lateral spikelet. Some of the rachis nodes
from this context retained their glume bases, the lateral ones diverging
markedly from the rachis axis. The presence of six-row hulled barley
(Hordeum vulgare) may thus be established.

Samples 4 and 5 (F31) were very charcoal-rich. Most samples
from both F9 and F31 included some possible industrial residues:
solidified globules of fused vitreous/siliceous material, possible slag
and some small fragments of coal (the latter presumed intrusive).
Solidified droplets of tarry material and porous ‘cokey’ material,
probably derived from the partial combustion of plant residues at high
temperatures were also present.

Discussion

Samples 2, 3 and 6-13, fills of the sunken-featured building F9,
contained low densities of poorly preserved charred plant remains.
Most of the cereal remains were unidentifiable, but crops present
included Hordeum sp (barley), Secale cereale (rye), Triticum dicoccum
(emmer), Triticum aestivum (bread wheat), Avena sp. (wild or
cultivated oats) and a cotyledon of a pulse crop (pea, bean, vetch).
Charred weed seeds and culm fragments occurred sporadically.
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Table 2. Plant macrofossils and other remains

Sample no 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 it 12 13
Context no 17 17 17 32 33 12 12 13 13 19 19 21 34
Cereals and other crop plants
Cereal indet. (grains) 21 7 1 16 8 1 3 4 11
Cereal indet. (rachis internodes) 6 2
Cereal indet. (basal rachis internodes)
Avena sp. (grains) 26 1 2 1cf 1 1+1cf
Avena sp. (floret bases) 2
A. fatua L. (floret base) i
Hordeum sp. (grains) 11 2 1cf 3 1 2 3 1cf 1 1 2 4
Hordeum sp. (rachis nodes) 46 7 1cf 1cf
Hordeum sp. (basal rachis internodes) 4
Hordeum sp./Secale cereale L.(rachis nodes) 23 3 1 1cf
Secale cereale L. (grains) 7+2cf 2 2cf 1cf 2cf
Secale cereale L. (rachis nodes) 8
Triticum sp. (grains) 7 2 2 1cf 1 4
Triticum sp. (rachis nodes) 4
T. dicoccum Schubl. (glume bases) 1
T. aestivum type (rachis nodes) 2 1 1
Large Fabaceae indet 1coty
Dryland herbs
Anthemis cotula L. 10 1
Asteraceae indet. 1 1
Atriplex sp. 4 2 | 1 2 1cf
Brassicaceae indet. 2cf
Bromus sp. 9 B
Chenopodium album L. 28 1 2
C. ficifolium Sm. 1ct
Chenopodiaceae indet 25 3 1 1 1 1
Small Fabaceae indet 1cf 1 1cf
Fallopia convolvulus (L.) A.Love 2ct 1cf
Malva sp. 10 3 3 1
Medicago/Trifolium/Lotus sp. 1 icf 3cf 1
Mentha sp. 1cf
Persicaria maculosa Gray/Plapathifolia (L.)Gray 3
Plantago lanceolata L. 8 1
Small Poaceae indet. 3 3 1 2
Large Poaceae indet. 5 2 1 1 2
Polygonum aviculare L. 3 2 1
Polygonaceae indet. ' 1
Ranunculus acris/repens/bulbosus 5
Rubiaceae indet. 1
Rumex sp. 4 1 1 1
R. acetosella L. 4cf 1
Sherardia arvensis L. 2
Spergula arvensis L. 1 |
Stellaria graminea L. 6 |
S. media (L.) Vill. 1 |
Urtica dioica L. 1
Vicia/Lathyrus sp. 1cf
Trees/shrubs
Corylus avellana L. 1
Malus sylvestris (L.) Miller 1 |
Rubus sp. 1
|
Plants of wet soils |
Carex sp. 20 1 1cf |
Eleocharis sp. 3cf )
Scirpus sp. 1cf
Other plant macrofossils
Calluna vulgaris (L.)Hull (capsules) 11
Charcoal XXX XXX XX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XX XX XX XXX XXX
Charred root/rhizome/stem X X X X X X
Ericaceae indet.(stem) X X X
Indet. culm nodes 2
Indet. inflorescence frags. X
Indet. seeds 36 7 2 4 2 2 1 2 1
Indet. thorns 5 T 2
Pteridium aquilinum (L.) Kuhn (pinnule frags) 1
Other
Black porous cokey material X X X X X X
Black tarry droplets i X - N X
Ferrimanganiferrous concretions XX B - - B
Siliceous/vitreous material X X X X X X
?Slag X X X X X X X
Small coal frags. X X X X X %
Volume of flot (litres). 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.1 <0.1 0.1 <0.1 <0.1 0.1 0.2
% of flot sorted 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Interpretation of such a ‘background scatter’ is problematic,
particularly since Early Anglo-Saxon deposits at this site included
abraded Roman pottery sherds and a coin (above). The possibility of
some residual charred material being present, relating to nearby
Roman activity, has to be considered. The emmer glume base from
sample 13 (context 34) could represent a late record of this crop or
could be residual. Hitherto the only post-Roman record from Essex is

from an Early Anglo-Saxon cremation at Springfield Lyons,
Chelmsford (Murphy 1994), where residuality could be discounted.
Context 17 (sample 1) was a discrete layer rich in charred plant
material within the fill of the building (F9), apparently representing a
single depositional event. The two main cereals represented were
barley and rye, with some indeterminate wheat and oats, which
definitely included wild oat (Avena fatua). Both grains and chaff



ESSEX ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

fragments (rachis nodes and floret bases) were present. Both included
a proportion of poorly preserved unidentifiable material, which
precludes precise determination of chaff: grain ratios. Nevertheless,
there was clearly an excess of barley and rye chaff over grains, and
wheat was represented only by rachis nodes. Oat grains were more
abundant than floret bases, but this could have resulted from
differential combustion during charring. The overall proportions of
the cereal remains imply that the samples represent processing waste,
which still included a proportion of grain.

The relative abundance of charred ‘weed seeds’ supports this
interpretation. The list of dryland herb taxa included species
characteristic of more than one habitat. Anthemis cotula (stinking
mayweed) is an arable weed particularly prevalent on heavy clay soils
(Kay 1971), whilst Rumex acetosella (sheep’s sorrel) and Spergula
arvensis (corn-spurrey) are weeds typical of acid sandy soils. Some of
the herb species present are nowadays more typical of grassland than
arable, including Ranunculus sp(p) (buttercups) and Plantago
lanceolata (ribwort plantain), though inefficient tillage may in the past
have permitted persistence of grassland species in arable fields
(Hillman 1981, 145-6). The sample also included some taxa generally
found on wet soils: Carex sp(p) (sedges), Eleocharis sp (spike-rush)
and Scirpus sp (club-rushes etc). The presence of charred capsules of
Calluna wvulgaris (ling), indeterminate Ericaceae stems (heather
family) and pinnule fragments of Preridium aquilinum (bracken)
indicates an input of material from heathland vegetation, presumably
in the vicinity of the site.

Other charred plant macrofossils from the samples included a
fragmentary seed of apple (Malus sylvestris) and fruitstone of Rubus
(probably bramble), which plainly are likely to represent human food
wastes, and some charred thorns. Wood charcoal was not notably
common in this sample.

In summary, this is a very mixed assemblage, including cereal
processing waste, heather and bracken, material derived from wetland
vegetation and probable food waste. Interpretation is difficult, but it
could represent a mixture of flooring material and/or thatch from a
nearby building which had been partly burnt before disposal in the fill
of F9.

The flots from samples 4 and 5 from the pit F31 were composed
almost entirely of wood charcoal, together with sparse cereal remains
and seeds of dryland and wetland herbs. Solidified tarry droplets,
possible small slag fragments and coal fragments were present in
sample 4 (32, the upper fill), but not more commonly than in many
other contexts at the site. In the basal fill, 33 (Sample 5), such material
was not noted. There is therefore no reason to suppose that this feature
was related to industrial activity, and the significance of the charcoal
from it remains uncertain.

Information on Early Anglo-Saxon agriculture and environmental
conditions is still very poor in Essex and, indeed, eastern England
generally, so the results from Chadwell St Mary make a useful
addition to a sparse data-set. This is mainly because most large-scale
excavations at settlement sites of this period were undertaken before
extensive sampling for retrieval of charred plant material became
routine, and subsequently excavation has been focused on cemeteries
or, at settlement sites, has been on a restricted scale. Studies of plant
impressions on pottery have provided some information (e.g. at
Mucking (Van der Veen 1993 and references to other sites, therein),
West Stow (Murphy 1985) and Spong Hill (Murphy 1995b)). The
latter two sites also produced a few samples of charred material, as did
more recent excavations at Redcastle Furze, Thetford (Murphy
1995a) and a cemetery at Springfield Lyons (Murphy 1994). In
summary, the results suggest that impressions, overwhelmingly
dominated by impressions of barley, probably do not give a reliable
impression of crop production. Crops represented by charred remains
from these sites, taken together, comprise emmer, spelt, bread wheat,
six-row hulled barley, rye, oats, pea, horsebean and possibly flax. A
point of critical interest is the presence of emmer (reported from
Springfield) and spelt (at Springfield, West Stow and Mucking). Spelt
was the main Roman wheat crop in Eastern England, and emmer
commonly occurs at low frequencies in samples from Roman sites.
The presence of these wheats in Early Anglo-Saxon contexts suggests
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continuity of production, though it remains to be seen how
widespread this was. The single glume base of emmer from F31
(context 34) at Chadwell St Mary is unfortunately not reliably of
Anglo-Saxon date (see above). There is clearly a need for large-scale
sampling at a site of this period in Essex.

Samples of this type are unlikely to produce much information on
the surrounding landscape, though the presence of charred remains of
ling and bracken imply the proximity of heathland. Heathland,
growing on poor, shallow, acid soils developed on sands and gravels of
the Thames terraces was formerly widespread in south Essex as, for
example, at Orsett and Mucking Heaths, and some areas still survive
(Jermyn 1974, 40). The extent of heaths in the Anglo-Saxon landscape
of the area is unclear. The only pertinent pollen diagram is that from
the Mar Dyke (Scaife 1988), which shows slight rises in percentages
of Calluna (to well under 5% of total arboreal pollen (excluding alder)
+ herbs) probably of later prehistoric and Roman date, with a decline
thereafter. Sediments post-dating 1540 + 80 BP (HAR-4525) were
unfortunately not analysed.

Palynological evidence

PE.]J. Wiltshire

Standard methods were used and twenty transects of each sample
slide were scanned. Relative abundance is shown by ‘+’ with ‘+++’
being the most abundant and ‘+’ relative low or just present. The
figures for overall abundance are on a five point scale with 5=
abundant and 1 = very sparse. The same scheme is used for
preservation, with 5 = well preserved and 1 = very poorly preserved.

Palynomorphs were not abundant in any of the samples and most
were corroded and crumpled so that it was impossible to identify
them. The taxa in the above schedule comprise only those which could
be positively identified.

The preservation was rather inconsistent within the upper two
samples, with individual grains of the same taxa being both

Table 3. Summary of palynological evidence

Depth (cm) 70 75 80
Microscopic + + +
Charcoal

Trees/Shrubs

Alnus +

Corylus-type + 3
Herbs

Aster-type + + +
Cyperaceae 4

Lactuceae + + +
Lamium-type +

Plantago lanceolata ++ + +
Poaceae +++ ++ ++
Ranunculus-type +

Sinapis-type +

Relative abundance 3 2 1
Preservation 2 2 1
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moderately well and very poorly preserved. This might indicate that
there had been mixing of the sediment. The palynomorphs in the
lower sample were consistently poorly preserved which suggests that
even if the sediment had been mixed originally, it might have been n
situ for a longer period than the upper ones.

There has obviously been a massive loss of pollen and spores and
this is common in well aerated sediments and/or where microbial
activity is high. There was little evidence of microbial pitting in the
remaining palynomorphs and the samples were remarkable in that
virtually no microbial remains were found. It is possible, therefore,
that oxidation might have been the dominant agent in pollen decay.
Pollen and spores are often badly preserved when there is alternate
wetting and drying of sediments, possibly because redox potentials
and other aspects of sediment chemistry fluctuate with variations in
hydrology.

Although the palynomorph assemblages are relatively poor and
little is known about the taphonomy of the sediment, it can be seen
that the spectra reflect open conditions. The dominant taxon was
Poaceae  (grasses) and other herbs characteristic of
grassland/pasture/field edges and possibly open, disturbed soils.

The only woody taxa found were Corylus-type (hazel) and Alnus
(alder). Both plants are prolific producers of well-dispersed pollen,
and might, therefore, have been growing some distance away from the
site of accumulation. Both fare better on relatively nutrient-rich, moist
soils and might have been growing in the marshy area of the Thames
floodplain. The presence of Cypercaceae (sedges) might also indicate
wetter soils although there are also species which grow well on drier
ones, so care must be taken in assigning them to specific habitats and
soils without further evidence.

There is no indication whatsoever of arable cultivation or
heathland from these samples. Pollen of Ericaceae (heathers) is very
distinctive and relatively resistant to decay. The overall impression is of
a very open landscape with, perhaps, the occasional shrub or tree. The
source of pollen from herbaceous plants would be consistent with this
type of habitat.

Conclusion

The investigation at Chadwell St. Mary County
Primary School has demonstrated the existence of an
early Anglo-Saxon settlement on the edge of the scarp
overlooking the Thames floodplain. The extent and
character of this settlement are unknown, since only one
structure was located. There is, however, environmental
evidence (charred plant macrofossils, above) that
cereal-processing was taking place on site.

The sunken-featured building is a common element
in early medieval English rural (and to a lesser extent
urban) settlement. Whilst larger, post-built surface
structures or ‘halls’ occur on most sites, sunken-featured
buildings appear to dominate, numerically if not
physically, the rural settlements. There were 69 at West
Stow, Suffolk (West 1985) and 210 at Mucking
(Hamerow 1993), although in both cases they represent
more than one phase of settlement.

First occurring during the late fourth or early fifth
century, the English sunken-featured building is derived
from continental examples. From the middle and late
Saxon periods they become less common, and
disappear from the archaeological record altogether
during the thirteenth to fourteenth century, except in
Somerset and Ireland, where more recent examples are
known (LLaver, and Danachair, both cited in Rahtz
1976). On the continent they also appear to have gone
out of use during the thirteenth century (Grimm, cited
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in Beresford and Hurst 1971).

The function of sunken-featured buildings remains
unclear, and the evidence suggests that they had many
uses. Some may be cellars, possibly belonging to
buildings of greater size; others, however, actually had
hearths in or on their bases, which suggests that they
were open to the roof. There is evidence that some
examples had wooden floors at, or near, ground level.
Many examples are associated with textile manufacture.
Hut 15 at West Stow had nearly 100 loomweights on the
floor; at Upton, Northants, loomweights were found in
the base which were threaded on sticks, having fallen
from racks or cupboards. Ahrens, cited by Rahtz
(1976), considers that the humidity of a semi-
underground environment may have been deliberately
sought for weaving. Other examples were clearly
houses (the reconstructions at West Stow indicate how
spacious and pleasant such structures could be). Other
suggested functions range from barns to apiaries.

The recovery of a spindle-whorl and a loom-weight
from Chadwell St. Mary would suggest that the building
may have been used for weaving, but the quantity of the
material is too small to draw any firm conclusions.

Early Saxon sites in Essex are not common,
amounting to less than 20 settlements and a similar
number of cemeteries. Mucking with its large number of
buildings is unusual both locally and nationally, since
few sites have produced more than 10 sunken-featured
buildings, and the majority only single examples. Most
Essex examples are in the south of the county: Mucking
(Hamerow 1993), West Tilbury (Drury and Rodwell
1973), Orsett Cock (Milton 1987), Barling (Buckley
1977) and Temple Farm, Southend (Brown and Arscott
1986) all of which possess a varying number of sunken-
featured buildings. The closest to Chadwell St. Mary
was that at West Tilbury (Gun Hill Farm) ¢. 1.5
kilometres to the south-east. Orsett Cock lies c¢. 3
kilometres to the north of Chadwell St. Mary and
Mucking c. 4 kilometres to the north east. Two seventh-
century barrows belonging to a seventh-century
inhumation cemetery were recorded during excavations
at the Orsett Causewayed Enclosure, 2km to the north
(Hedges and Buckley 1985; Tyler 1996).

Taken with the settlement and cemetery evidence
from further east, in the Southend peninsula, it is
apparent that much of the Early Saxon settlement of
Essex was concentrated along the edge of the Thames
estuary. Contact with similar settlements in North Kent,
has been demonstrated by the swords and jewellery
from Prittlewell (Tyler 1988; 1996), and the jewellery
from Springfield Lyons (Tyler 1987 and in prep).

The location of the site would offer a variety of
landscape types conducive to settlement. The well-
drained acidic sandy soils would provide good arable
land, as well as heathland (attested by ling and heather)
suitable for grazing. The wetlands of the Thames flood
plain would be exploited as summer pasture, as well as
providing rushes and sedge for thatch and flooring. Wild
fowl would also be available in these wetlands.
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No significant conclusions are possible from the
limited evidence that was recovered from the
excavation. However, the site draws attention to an
important area of evidence. As noted above, most of the
major excavations at Saxon settlements in eastern
England took place before environmental sampling
became routine. The charred plant material from
Chadwell St. Mary demonstrates the need for the
controlled excavation and environmental sampling of
Early Saxon settlement deposits.
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Holy Trinity Church, Bradwell-juxta-Coggeshall:
A Survey of the Fabric and Appraisal of the Norman Brickwork

by Warwick Rodwell

with contributions by Paul Drury, Sharon Cather and David Park

A detailed archaeological survey of the fabric of Bradwell
church was carried out in 1995, followed by an analysis
and reconstruction of the architectural development of
the building. Owing to its remarkable state of preservation,
the church retains much evidence bearing on construction
techniques in the mid-12th century: particularly notable
are the surviving oak caps to numerous putlog holes
(reused roof shingles?). The church is also remarkable
in having all its primary dressings executed
i contemporary brick, which is of the type generally
supposed to have been made at Coggeshall abbey. The
brickwork, its date of manufacture, and historical context
are re-assessed. The architectural history of the church
in the 13th to 15th centuries is also of interest and is
briefly discussed.

INTRODUCTION

‘Here is a mine of information as to what a village
church in a remote rural district anciently was.
(Hamilton 1884, 86)

Setting and previous study

Bradwell is a little-known parish in eastern central
Essex, on the south bank of the river Blackwater,
midway between Coggeshall and Braintree. In order to
distinguish it from the more notable Bradwell-on-Sea,
the descriptive ‘-iuxta-Coggeshall’ or, occasionally, ‘-by-
Braintree’ has long been applied. The placename is
derived from a copious spring, or ‘broad well’, which
rises just north of Bradwell Hall (Fig. 1). Holy Trinity
church lies at a road junction 100 m south of the hall,
which is the seat of the only manor in the parish. There
is no other habitation within 1 km, and no evidence to
suggest that there has ever been a nucleated village at
Bradwell: this is a classic example of the isolated hall-
church complex, a settlement form for which Essex is
especially noted.'

Bradwell was not individually identified in the
Domesday Survey, and it is generally supposed that in
1086 the manor was subsumed under one of the
complex entries for Kelvedon. The earliest mention of
the place by name is in a Subsidy Roll of 1238, and an
entry for a priest here is recorded in the Feet of Fines for
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the following year (Reaney 1935, 282).The living of the
church is a rectory, appendant to the manor.
Unfortunately, none of this is of assistance in studying
the origins and early history of the manor or of the
church: on architectural-stylistic grounds, Holy Trinity
has generally been assigned to the first half of the 12th
century. It can hardly be doubted that the church in the
Middle Ages was a proprietary adjunct of the manor.

The church is a small Norman structure of simple
rectangular form, built of mixed rubble and having clay-
tiled roofs (Figs 2 and 3). Since the church has always
served a small and scattered population there has
neither been a need, nor probably the finance available,
to enlarge the basic structure or to rebuild it lavishly.
Such improvements as were made over the centuries
were low-key: a timber belfry and a timber-framed
porch were added, the roof was reconstructed, and
several new windows were provided in the later Middle
Ages. However, the Norman masonry shell, complete
with both its doorways and several windows, remained
intact. The original fabric was almost devoid of
architectural embellishment, and the walls were fully
plastered, both internally and externally.

No less remarkable than the very survival of the
church in its primary form, is the fact that it was not
subjected to a vigorous campaign of restoration in the
19th century. Bradwell is truly one of those ‘churches
the Victorians forgot’ (Chatfield 1979). It is the only
good example in Essex. A small amount of restoration
was undertaken in 1905 by the rector, the Revd T.H.
Curling (Curling 1906), and a contemporary painting
shows the survival of a fine, box-pewed interior.?
Thomas Curling was an antiquary-cleric, and his
restoration was conservative.” Regrettably, the internal
furnishings were considerably depleted by mid-20th-
century alterations.

When the surveyors for the Royal Commission on
Historical Monuments visited Bradwell in 1913, the
church was still comprehensively rendered, so much so
that in the published inventory the walls were simply
described as ‘probably of flint-rubble’ (RCHM 1922,
12). The presence of recycled Roman brick and tile in
Essex churches was invariably noted by the RCHM, but
no mention of it was made in the case of Bradwell, and
therefore presumably none was observed. The round-
headed north doorway was described as ‘early twelfth
century’, and the south doorway was noted as being of
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250 m
1

Fig. 1 Dispersed settlement at Bradwell-juxta-Coggeshall, with the hall and church complex on the
100-ft terrace above the river Blackwater. From the 1924 edition of the 1:10,560 Ordnance Survey map

similar form, ‘but of brick’. Presumably part of the
brick-built outer arch was visible within the porch,
where the rendering was defective. The wording
suggests that the RCHM investigator probably thought
the brickwork to be of late or post-medieval date; in any
event, its true significance as a Norman product was
clearly not recognized.

A partial restoration of the fabric occurred in the
1950s, and it is understood that the external rendering
was stripped in ¢. 1951, leaving only a triangular patch
within the roof space of the porch. A small amount of
cement pointing was then crudely inserted into cracks
and other defective areas but, mercifully, no
comprehensive treatment of the wall surfaces was
attempted. The removal of the rendering revealed that
the dressings of all the Norman windows, doorways and
quoins were of red brick. At the time, this was locally
supposed to be Roman, and entered the literature as
such. Pevsner (1954, 85) described the primary features
of the building as ‘all Norman with Roman brick trim’.
However, the late M.R. Hull, a distinguished Romanist,
visited the church in ¢. 1960, and discovered that the
bricks were medieval. He wrote in the Victoria County
History, “The alleged Roman tiles in this building are
medieval, of the distinctive type made and used at
Coggeshall Abbey’ (VCH 1963, 52).
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But still the ‘Roman’ tradition lingered (¢f. Pevsner
1965, 97). In 1971, whilst carrying out archaeological
investigations on nearby Rivenhall church, where the
primary dressings are all of Roman brick, the present
writer was informed by the rector that Bradwell church
was also well endowed with Roman brick dressings.
However, upon visiting Bradwell it was immediately
apparent that Hull’s identification of the bricks was
correct, although there were some scattered pieces of
genuine Roman brick and tile in the fabric which he had
evidently overlooked.

In 1972, in an attempt to relieve rising dampness in
the fabric of Bradwell church, a drainage trench was dug
around the entire building, exposing the bases of the
walls and much foundation work. The upcast from this
trench yielded innumerable scraps of medieval brick
and roof tile, as well as the occasional sherd of medieval
pottery. The work was carelessly executed, and left
incomplete for many years. Consequently, the
foundations and lower parts of the walls deteriorated
significantly, and much repair and repointing have
subsequently been carried out.

There were less than thirty names on the parish
electoral roll in the mid-1970s, and the future of
Bradwell church was uncertain. Redundancy appeared
to be looming. Attention was drawn to Bradwell’s
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Fig. 2 Holy Trinity Church, Bradwell-juxta-Coggeshall, from the north-west in 1996

outstanding archaeological interest, and it was suggested
that the church may be ‘the only substantial example of

Fig. 3 The church from the south-west
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Norman brick-building in England’ (Rodwell and
Rodwell 1977, 98). At the same time, the late Cecil
Hewett (1974, 80) recognized that the bell-turret was in
part also Norman, it having previously been dismissed
as ‘late sixteenth or early seventeenth century’ (RCHM
1922, 13).

Local interest in Bradwell church was rekindled in
the late 1980s, leading to the inception of a long-term,
gentle repair programme. In 1992, the head of the
north-east chancel window, which was collapsing, was
dismantled and rebuilt. This provided an opportunity to
examine the masonry core, and to confirm the sequence
of structural features hereabouts; recording was
undertaken by Dr David Andrews. In order to facilitate
the repair it was necessary to remove and refix part of
the medieval wallpainting on the window splay, which
was carried out by the Courtauld Institute of Art, under
the direction of Dr David Park. Subsequently, a detailed
archaeological survey of the church fabric, which forms
the subject of the present report, was put in hand.

The structure of Bradwell church is now in
moderately good condition, and is well cared for. For a
recent restatement of the overall significance of the
church, see Rodwell and Park 1993. Considering its
intrinsic interest, Bradwell church has been the subject of
remarkably little research, or scholarly writing. Its first
guidebook was only published in 1991 (Guthrie 1991).
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Fig. 4 Plan of Bradwell church in 1996. The primary fabric is hatched, and later medieval work is s
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Fig. 7 Elevation drawing of the west wall, emphasizing structural breaks and putlog holes.
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Archaeological survey

The survey was carried out in May 1995, and was
funded by English Heritage. Its purpose was to record
and interpret the existing fabric before any further
repairs or repointing took place. The project involved
the preparation of a ground plan of the church at 1:50
scale (Fig. 4), and elevations of the four external wall
faces at 1:20 scale (Figs 5-7). The elevations were
largely drawn from rectified photographs taken by
David Guthrie, supplemented by hand measurement.

Owing to the small size of the rubble used to build
the church, and the variable amounts of mortar still
adhering to the masonry (mostly the residue of
rendering) the outlines of the individual stones are often
blurred, and many are effectively concealed to such an
extent that they cannot be meaningfully illustrated. This
applies most especially to the rounded flints, which
comprise the bulk of the rubble. Bricks and tiles, with
their crisper edges, are better defined. The same applies
to the numerous nodules of ferricrete (a ferruginous
conglomerate), but for a different reason: this material is
so friable that weathering tends to release mortar from
the stone.

It was therefore decided that flints would not be
individually drawn in the survey, except where they
crucially define a feature or filling. This selectivity has a
beneficial effect upon the illustrations by highlighting all
the non-flint material, and presenting a clear picture of
the building-lifts in the structure. While the form of the
later medieval windows is shown in the elevations, no
attempt has been made to depict fine detail. The window
frames and tracery are both distorted and heavily
eroded, and their features have been substantially
restored in Portland cement.

While the initial aim of the survey was to record and
analyze the exposed Norman fabric, in order to establish
its precise extent, physical condition and archaeological
significance, the later medieval work was accorded a
similar level of scrutiny. The history of the building is
more complex than at first appears, and a proper
understanding of its development can only be achieved
through a holistic approach. Thus, a visual analysis of all
the materials and mortars visible in the exterior wall
faces was undertaken, irrespective of date. The results
are presented as a series of colour-coded elevations
(Figs 8-10).

Internally, both the fabric of the church and its
furnishings are of considerable interest, but were not
included in the original survey brief. They are however
noted, where relevant, in this report. The fittings and
furnishings deserve a detailed study of their own, as
does the timber belfry.

General description of the church

Externally, the church is a plain rectangle of coursed
rubble construction, with the quoins formed entirely in
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medieval brick and tile. There are no projections, except
for a low, brick buttress which was added to the south-
east angle in the late 18th century. Nor is there any
structural demarcation between nave and chancel,
although the division is expressed by a slight step
between their roofs.

The roofs are medieval and are covered with plain
clay tiles; a squat, timber-framed belfry and brooch spire,
all weatherboarded, rise from the west end. A 14th-
century timber-framed porch, founded on dwarf walls,
stands in front of the main (south) entrance (Fig. 41).

The Norman north and south doorways to the nave
are dressed with brick, as are the original windows, of
which there are several complete and fragmentary
examples. Later window openings (14th and 15th
century), together with a priest’s door in the south side
of the chancel, are variously dressed with Caen stone,
clunch and Upper Greensand. A small quantity of
medieval glass remains in the tracery lights (Hamilton
1884, 86-8).

Internally, the walls retain much of their medieval
plaster, and the church possesses some noteworthy
wallpaintings. There is 13th-century polychromy on the
upper part of the east wall, and several of the window
splays in the north and south walls retain 14th-century
decoration. The paintings, which were uncovered in
1905 by Curling (1906, 36-8), were commended both
by the RCHM (1922, 12) and by Pevsner (1965, 97).
Other traces of colour, as well as a nimbed head near the
north door, confirm that there are more paintings
waiting to be uncovered.

The north doorway was infilled in the 18th century
with a skin of brick, up to arch-springing level. Above is
a semicircular window containing leaded glazing set
within a framework of Georgian glazing bars. There is
an externally hinged shutter (Fig. 22).

A photograph of ¢. 1900, hanging in the vestry,
shows the nave filled with pine box pews, the screen in
a more fragmentary condition than now, and the royal
arms of Charles II suspended over the entrance to the
chancel. There was also a fine pulpit with an inlaid tester
in the south-east corner of the nave (¢ Curling 1906,
frontis.). The pulpit has been superseded, the screen
restored, and the pews replaced by oak benches. These
have been partly reconstituted from surviving late
medieval fragments.

The floor throughout the church is at one level, and
is mostly paved with yellow and pink stock bricks of
19th-century date. The central alley is in herringbone
pattern, while the chancel floor bricks are laid in straight
rows, half-bonded. The pews are set on areas of pine-
block flooring, laid herringbone fashion. Two areas are
separately treated, being paved with glazed medieval
tiles. These all appear to have been salvaged and relaid.
One area is in the south-west corner of the chancel,
beneath the rector’s stall. A few tiles have also been set
on the window sill behind the stall. The other area is a
rectangle, centrally at the west end of the church,
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adjoining the font.* Most tiles are now worn smooth, but
both patterned and plain glazed types are represented,
and all are likely to date from the 14th century. For
further details of the tile types, see below.

Also set into the floor are two brass indents, and a
few ledger slabs in poor condition. One of the latter, of
which only the lower half remains, is of especial
significance. It is a coffin lid with an incised effigy and
marginal inscription (Christy and Smith 1903, 5-7).°
The figure is identifiable as a priest, and the
fragmentary inscription includes the date 1349.
Unfortunately, there is no record of the name of the
rector of Bradwell at the time of the Black Death. The
chancel contains some splendid monuments, the most
notable being the large altar tomb which stands in front
of the east window. This double monument was erected
by the Maxey family, ¢. 1624 (Chancellor 1890, 301-3).

The altar stands in front of the Maxey monument
and is raised on a large timber dais, edged on three sides
with a gated communion rail. The rail is of oak and has
turned balusters; it is late 17th century. In the south-east
corner of the chancel is a 15th-century piscina; next to
it were the sedilia, built into the window reveal.’

The font is a curious and somewhat inelegant
concoction, but of considerable interest nonetheless.® It
lies off-axis, at the west end of the church. The bowl is
of Barnack-type limestone, 12th century in date, and
originally square in plan. The corners were subsequently
cut off, somewhat roughly, to produce a regular octagon
(Guthrie 1991, pl. opp. 13). Immediately below the rim
is a discrete band of chevron ornament between two
parallel lines. This is not quite the same on all four faces:
for example, on the west the ornament looks more like
nailhead, and on the east there is an additional rope-
moulding below. These differences may suggest that the
decoration on the rim-band was discontinuous, and that
there was an emphatic break at each corner, perhaps
associated with a carved head.

The bowl is mounted on an octagonal base of red
brick, constructed i situ. This has a bold, bolection-
moulded plinth; the short stem has a single blind
quatrefoil cut into each of the faces; and there is a
moulded upper section which supports the bowl. This
base dates from the early 16th century; the mutilation of
the Norman bowl is contemporaneous. The oak font
cover is Jacobean. The only other example of a brick-
built font in Essex is at Chignal Smealey, but that is
plainer (Paul 1986, 56). While many Perpendicular
fonts have sunk quatrefoils in the faces of octagonal
bowls, it is rare to find them on the stem: locally, this is
seen only at Thorpe-le-Soken (Paul 1986, 194).

The undamaged faces of the bowl retain traces of
limewash and pink paint; these decorative materials are
not found on the truncated corners. It would not have
been intended for the brick base to be visible in its
present naked form. A thin skim of lime plaster would
have concealed the brickwork, and doubtless also the
exterior of the hacked bowl.

THE NORMAN CHURCH

Ground plan and foundations

The original plan comprised a simple unbuttressed
rectangle of masonry, without structural subdivisions
or excrescences (Fig. 11). Any partition between nave
and chancel must have been of a less substantial
material, presumably timber. The only openings at
ground level were a pair of opposed doorways in the
north and south walls.

Owing to a setting-out error, the plan is not a perfect
rectangle. Externally, the north wall is 19.0 m (62’ 37)
long, while the south wall is 19.3 m (63’ 4”). The
discrepancy of one foot points to a simple error of
measurement. The west wall is 8.42 m (27’ 8”) long,
and the east wall was probably the same, although it has
now spread slightly as a result of ground movement at
the south-east angle.

The north and south walls are 0.94 m (3° 1) thick,
while those to east and west are only 0.88 m (2’ 10'/2”)
thick. The walls rise directly from a simple rubble
foundation which has an offset of ¢. 15 cm all round the
building; this coincided with contemporary ground
level. There is probably a similar offset internally, which
has not been seen. The foundation is of the usual mid-
Essex type, being a trench, some 1.2 m (4 ft) wide, filled
with mixed rubble, laid roughly in bands, in an
aggregate of sand and clay with some lime-mortar used
in the uppermost layer.

The foundation was not laid level, and its top
followed the lie of the land: hence there is a fall in the
offset of ¢. 0.5 m from west to east.’ It is likely that all or
most of this fall was reflected in the surface of the floor
internally. Sloping floors were common in churches in
the early Middle Ages.

Materials observed in the foundation are mostly flint
nodules, but include some pieces of sarsen boulder,
Roman brick and tile, and a single lump of
Hertfordshire Puddingstone, evidently part of a
Romano-British quern.

Walls and their constructional features

The walls rise directly from Norman ground level; there
are no plinths, string-courses or offsets in the
superstructure. The difference in thickness between the
side and gable walls reflects the need to contain the
lateral thrust exerted by the roof, which may have been
of collared or scissor-braced construction, and without
tie-beams. At the western corners the walls stand to a
height of 3.7 m (12 ft) above the foundation offset,
whereas the eastern corners rise to 4.1-4.2 m (13'/--14
ft) (Fig. 12). This increase in height had the effect of
bringing the wall-tops nearer to the horizontal. In the
event, there was still a slope of ¢. 10 cm along the length
of the church roof from west to east (Fig. 13). Also the
top of the north wall stood 8-10 cm higher than the
south wall. Neither discrepancy would have been
structurally significant, or noticeable, in practice.

66



HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, BRADWELL-JUXTA-COGGESHALL

South Elevation

77 7/ M 77/ S 7/ B/ W 7/ M 7/ W 7/ W /S 7/ W /// M
gﬁgbcmnend

i
!
1

Yorkstone threshold

fdn offset
N porch foundation

Holy Trinity Church B Roma
=3 Medie
Bradwell-juxta-Coggeshall S
B3 Conglc

North Elevation Chancel H Nave

A wA wA wh WA A wh WA A WA A T4

m@ 4 masonry rebuilt 1992

fdn offset

Fig. 8 Elevations of the north and south walls, colo

67



rafter ends

a2

- —— —

2. diagonal
: buttress
@
SD
East
- brick & tile 3 Oolitic limestone Lime mortar G  Millstone grit
val brick & tile Upper greensand Modern cement L Rhenish lava
edieval brick Clunch -—-  Building lift visible P Puddingstone
merate o Flint —  Oak putlog cap S Sarsen

77/ 7/ 7/ R/ 7/ B /N 7/ N /N 7 R 77/ M /7 N 7/// MR /.

WIR 95

ur-coded to illustrate the use of different materials.



FEast Elevation

Holy Trinity Church

Bradwell-juxta-

concrele

refaced

ey @ Coggeshall

rendered

[]] brickwork

¥ infilled crack

buttress

®a 8 =
I d

__ s = &3 8 a@ =@
A NPT 1. e

—— —
P SB_ gf —— e — i

153 o
i) .
(=] 14
- fdn offset
South 1 0 5m North
O e e s ol

SD

WIR 85

Fig. 9 Elevation of the east wall, colour-coded to illustrate the use of different materials.




ESSEX ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY

L J
[L timber apron Holy Trinity

concrele

West Elevation

P P Bradwell-juxta-

‘b; “ag’. “‘o_f 6.

o

Coggeshall

infilled timber housing tiles in cement

rebuilt in rebuilt in

cement cement

I\ infilled

timber
housing

o
." s

SD

cut-out r‘/‘ﬁ‘r’_"\————/\‘—*
+ for post 1 !I:"'l_f" fdn offset “.:uf(;:m:
North it Seith
1 0 5m
O o e e e ol

WIR 95

Fig. 10 Elevation of the west wall, colour-coded to illustrate the use of different materials.

68




HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, BRADWELL-JUXTA-COGGESHALL

10 m

Fig. 11 Ground plan of the Norman church, with reconstructed fenestration.
A possible arrangement for the added timber belfry outside the west end is indicated

The Norman wall-top has been preserved with
exceptional clarity throughout the length of the church
as a consequence of later heightening. There was no step
at eaves level between the nave and chancel roofs, and
no tie-beam housings or other disruptions in the eaves
line. Both gable ends indicate a roof pitch of 50 degrees
(Fig. 12). At the two western corners there is clear
evidence that the gable projected above the general roof-
line. This demonstrates that the original roof covering
abutted a parapet and did not oversail the gable-top as
it does today. At the east end there is no comparable
evidence for a gable parapet, and it must be doubted
whether there was one. It may be that the upstanding
masonry of the west gable was intended to support a
small bell-cote.

Building lifts
Since the walls of the church have not, for the most part,
been raked out or repointed, a large area of the original
Norman rubble-work and its bonding mortar is openly
displayed. Two important constructional features are
immediately apparent. First, there is a strong element of
linearity in the masonry coursing. Individual bands of
different materials stand out, as do thin lines composed
of tile fragments and tiny pieces of stone. Close
inspection reveals that there are hairline cracks in the
mortar between these bands. The cracks are in fact
bedding joints between consecutive constructional
stages, or ‘lifts’, in the masonry. Junctions between lifts
are frequently observed in buildings made of small
rubble set in lime mortar; the phenomenon was first
studied in detail at Hadstock church (Rodwell 1976).
At Bradwell, it is possible to trace many of these lifts
for considerable distances along the walls and, because
of their regularity, courses can usually be interpolated
where a later window or other disturbance has broken
the physical continuity of the line. The best preserved
evidence is in the east wall, where many lifts can be
traced across its full width (Figs 6, 12 and 14), and in
the north wall (Figs 5 and 13). The upper parts of the
west gable are the least clear, owing to the residue of a
partial re-rendering.
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The preserved lines in the north and south walls
reveal how the masons gradually increased the heights
of individual lifts towards the east end, in order to
compensate for the slant of ¢. 50 cm on the foundations.
By the time the wall-top was reached, all but 10 cm of
this ground-fall had been compensated for.

Continuity of most lifts can be traced from one face
of the building, through a quoin, to the adjacent face,
demonstrating that the whole structure was raised
simultaneously in a series of horizontal bands. There is
little hint of discontinuity in lifts, or of masonry courses
stepping up towards the corners of the church; nor is
there any sign of ‘humping’ as lifts approached the
heads of windows and doorways. These are significant
pointers to the method of construction. The masonry
was not free-built, for which it would have been
necessary first to raise the corners and other integral
features, before infilling with rubble-work (Rodwell
1989, 137-9).

Instead, the evidence points firmly to the use of
shuttering. Boards about one foot wide would have been
fixed horizontally (probably supported off the
scaffolding) against the inner and outer wall faces.
Bradwell church was of perfect form for shuttered
construction, since there were no offsets or projections
to the walls in either the horizontal or the vertical planes.
Once a full complement of shuttering boards had been
assembled and erected, the two sets (inner and outer)
could simply be slid up and propped, lift by lift, as the
work progressed.

The heights of individual building lifts vary from 18
cm to 30 cm, or more. In many areas of the church there
is still a thin residue of rendering adhering to the walls,
which obscures the evidence for the lifts. Without
removing this it is impossible to be certain whether the
apparent spacing of 40-50 cm between some of the lifts
in the higher reaches is trustworthy. It is highly unlikely
that individual lifts would have been as deep as this, and
intermediate breaks almost certainly still await
detection. Modern repointing around the bases of the
walls has completely obscured the original construction
in the lowest 50-60 cm.
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Fig. 13 Simplified elevations of the north and south walls of the church, showing surviving Norman features, including building-lifts and putlog
holes. The positions of missing windows are indicated in outline
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Fig. 14 Masonry coursing and building-lifts, prominently
visible in the east wall. The north-east quoin is mainly
constructed of half-bricks of Coggeshall type

A single lift represents one work-shift, and that
would normally be a day. The evidence consistently
points to there being nineteen or twenty lifts between
the foundation offset and wall-plate level. Although
detection of lifts in the gables is difficult under current
conditions (z.e. unscaffolded), there must have been
about another twenty to the apex. Estimating the length
of time taken to erect the masonry shell of Bradwell
church is not a particularly fruitful exercise, since it
cannot be ascertained how many gangs of masons
worked alongside one another. One gang alone might
raise the east or west wall by one lift in a single day. But
to raise the entire circuit of the building by a lift in one
day would have required about six gangs working
simultaneously. Mortar-setting time between lifts has to
be allowed for, as well as time for periodic operations
such as forming doorway and window arches, erecting
scaffolding, and constantly repositioning shuttering.
Non-working feast days, inclement weather and perhaps
delays in the supply of materials, would all have an effect
on the total time-span of the project.

Close scrutiny of the walls, and of the quoins, failed
to reveal any excessively thick bedding-joints at the
junctions of lifts, which would have provided compelling
evidence for seasonal breaks in the construction. There
are, however, ephemeral hints in the side walls of one
such break at about mid-height. In the south wall, west
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of the doorway at arch-springing level, a slightly thicker-
than-usual bed was observed: here, a spread of mortar
had been trowelled to a smooth surface, and rounded on
the outer edge. A similar detail occurs in the chancel,
between the doorway and the south-east window; here,
it is one lift higher.

A third instance was noted mid-way along the north
wall of the nave, and it is again at the springing level of
the door-arch. Finally, a fourth occurrence was recorded
in the north wall at the junction between nave and
chancel, but here the thickened joint is two lifts lower
down. Given that the four pieces of evidence are spread
around the church, but are so close together in the
vertical dimension, it seems highly likely that they
represent a genuine hiatus in construction.

It is therefore reasonable to posit that the erection
of the masonry shell, up to eaves level, was achieved in
two building seasons. In view of the considerable
volume of further work involved to raise the gables, it
may be argued that a third building season should be
admitted. Erecting the shell of Bradwell church in a
three-year period would not have been an onerous
assignment, given adequate manpower and a constant
supply of materials.

Scaffolding

The second constructional feature which attracts special
notice at Bradwell is the series of short pieces of thin oak
boarding built horizontally into the walls. Closer
inspection shows that there is an infilled socket in the
masonry immediately beneath each board: these are
former putlog holes, which define the tiers of scaffolding
used in the construction of the church (Fig. 15). Since
all the holes are now blocked and the internal walls are
plastered, it is impossible to determine whether the
putlogs passed right through the walls — simultaneously
serving both internal and external scaffolds — or whether
their ends were merely embedded to a depth of, say, 25-
30 cm. The former is more common.

Putlogs were set into the walls as building proceeded,
and had to be withdrawn upon completion of the work
(very occasionally they were sawn off, and the stumps
left in situ, but no evidence of this has been noted at
Bradwell). Hence it was necessary to cap each putlog
end, in order to prevent fresh mortar from settling
around the timber and embedding it immovably. In
many Essex churches the cheeks of putlog holes were
formed from squarish pieces of stone, or brick
fragments, and a brick (usually Roman) was laid on top
as a cap. There are numerous local examples, yet at
Bradwell a different approach to putlog-hole formation
was employed, for which at present no analogue has
been found.

First, no serious attempt was made to form squared
cheeks to the putlog holes; second, and more
remarkable, bricks and tiles — although fairly plentiful on
this site — were not used as putlog caps. There is but a
solitary case, in the south wall of the nave, of a medieval
brick being employed as a putlog cap. In all other
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instances a thin, flat timber cap was provided. Twenty-
seven surviving examples have been noted, others have
been lost, and some may still be concealed.

The caps are not a miscellany of pieces of timber,
but most if not all were clearly obtained from a single
source. They appear to be sections of riven or hewn oak
planking, 2 cm in thickness. Lengths vary from 28 to 60
cm, but most are in the region of 30-35 cm. Nearly half
of the timbers taper longitudinally in thickness: some
diminish gradually from 2 c¢m to less than 0.5 cm along
their length. The clean finish and taper are both
deliberate, but are demonstrably irrelevant to the use of
these timbers as putlog caps. They must be relict from
some previous activity, and two possibilities suggest
themselves. First, they could be old roof shingles,
salvaged from the previous church on the site.
Alternatively, long tapers suggest end-splicing, and it is
just possible that the putlog caps were made from
planking that was prepared for boat building.' The river

Fig. 15 Examples of original putlog holes with surviving oak
caps in the west wall (2.2 m above SD). In both cases the
putlog rested on a building-lift, and after the timber was
withdrawn the hole was infilled with flints set in a slightly
lighter mortar.

A Putlog hole north of window. The rectangular stone
forming the right-hand cheek is a sarsen pebble.

B Putlog hole south of window. The cap is 40 ¢cm long, and
its tapered profile is apparent
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Blackwater is only 300 m north-east of the church.

The putlog holes are currently all blocked with
masonry. Some of the fillings are later medieval, or
modern, but a few are undoubtedly Norman. The
practice of dismantling scaffolding and immediately
blocking putlog holes with stones and mortar of
identical types to those used in the adjacent walling is
well attested in early medieval rubble buildings. This
practice clearly occurred at Bradwell, where several
putlog holes are still effectively disguised, even though
the timber cap is visible.

Without excavating the holes, it is impossible
accurately to deduce the dimensions of the putlogs, or to
ascertain their cross-sectional form. However, in general
terms it can be said that the holes are rectilinear in
section, rather than circular, and that the putlogs were
no more than 15 cm (6 ins) across in either direction,
and mostly less. The indications point to the use of
prepared timber, not branchwood or saplings. It also
seems clear that the putlogs were withdrawn — and
hence retained for future reuse — and were not sawn off
flush with the wall face, as was sometimes the case when
sapling timber was used.

Sufficient evidence remains in the walls to enable a
reconstruction of the Norman scaffolding scheme used
at Bradwell (Figs 16 and 17). First, it can be deduced
that there were nine bays of scaffolding along the north
and south sides, and four across each end. Bay pitch
varied from 2 m to 3.2 m, according to the exigencies of
the work. The gable-end bays, and those embracing the
doorways to the church, measured 3 m (10 ft), or a little
more. The remaining bays on the north and south were
mostly pitched between 2.2 m and 2.4 m in length,
indicating that the scaffolding was nominally planned
on a module of 7-8 ft. Arrangements at the four corners
were strikingly regular, with the first putlogs, in each
direction, occurring at 1.2 m (4 ft) along the wall. This
establishes that the corner bays were the first to be set
up, that they were 8 ft square, and that the scaffolding
projected 4 ft from the face of the building.

Two scaffold lifts were erected along the side walls,
and a further three on the gables. The tiers of putlog
holes were stepped-in as the gable diminished. The
evidence is best preserved in the west wall, where the
first four lifts are traditionally spaced at ¢. 1.2 m (4 ft)
intervals. At the east end the lift heights were increased
slightly, partly compensating for the fall of the land.

At the same time, it is noticeable in the long walls
how the putlog holes associated with a single lift are in
line, but are not strictly level; hence, the ledgers and the
scaffold platform itself were allowed to slope gently. In
many instances putlog holes do not occur vertically
above one another in adjacent lifts, but are slightly
staggered, showing that the putlogs were lashed,
alternately, to opposite sides of the standards. The
purpose of that was to aid stability in the scaffolding.
Staggering can also result from the use of bent putlogs
or standards. The reason for the wider bays at the
doorways was to prevent congestion: there would have
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Fig. 16 Plan of the church, showing the reconstructed layout of the original scaffolding (external) used
for its erection

been a constant stream of men and materials passing
through these restricted openings.

The evidence from Bradwell is useful in confirming
that the traditional modules used in timber scaffolding,
well into the 20th century, were already established by
the 12th century. In summary, scaffolding was erected
as far as possible in bays 8 ft long by 4 ft wide, and the
ideal vertical lift was also 4 ft.

Building Materials

The walls are built largely of Essex flint, utilising both
quarried material (black flint with a white cortex) and
that obtained by surface collection from fields and river
beds (patinated brown flint). Doubtless a large
proportion of the flint was recycled, being salvaged from
Roman or Anglo-Saxon structures in the locality.
Occasional pebbles of sarsen (sandstone) and other
geological anomalies from the gravel beds were
incorporated (Fig. 15A). A considerable quantity of
ferricrete or gravel-stone was employed throughout
(Robinson 1988). This visually distinctive material is
sometimes also known, misleadingly, as ‘ironstone’ and
‘puddingstone’. It was used in the lower and in the
uppermost regions of the building, but is largely absent
from a wide band in the middle zone (Figs 18 and 19).
This low-grade building material is a distinctive feature
of Saxo-Norman and Norman churches in north-east
Essex, and in certain other areas of south-east England
(Potter 1987, fig. 6).

Many pieces of recycled Roman brick and tile are
present, mostly in the lowest one-third of the walls. The
fragments, which are all relatively small and include
tegula, imbrex and hypocaust flue-tile, often occur at the
junctions between building lifts where they were used as
levelling material. One piece of brick in the east wall has
a large lump of pink Roman mortar attached. The
occasional nodule of septaria (derived from the London
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Clay beds) is probably also recycled Roman material.
Several pieces of volcanic lava from the Rhineland have
been noted: they are the remains of quern stones, and
are likewise probably of Roman (rather than medieval)
origin. The same applies to a fragment of Millstone Grit
from Derbyshire, and two pieces of Hertfordshire
conglomerate (Puddingstone).

No dressed freestone has been noted in the Norman
fabric, with the exception of the threshold slab in the
north doorway. Here, a single piece of oolitic limestone
of Barnack type, 1.32 m long by 12 cm thick, was set
into the foundation so that its upper face was level with
the offset, and there formed the threshold. The door
jambs rise directly from the slab, which is ¢. 22 ¢cm in
width, and there can be no doubt that it is the original
step (Fig. 21). The northern edge of the slab (now
exposed in the drainage trench) has a very slight batter
and is diagonally tooled. To have used this block of
dressed limestone so wastefully can only imply that it
was recycled. The evidence is consistent with the
suggestion that the slab was previously a grave-cover of
early Norman date.

The threshold of the south doorway is now of York
stone, and is a 19th-century renewal. However, adjacent
to this, and set into the brick floor of the south porch, is
a worn piece of Barnack-type limestone, 65 cm long by
25 cm wide. This is almost certainly a portion of the
original doorstep which — presumably for reasons of
antiquarian interest — was retained and set into the
porch floor (which is otherwise wholly of 19th-century
yellow brick). We may suspect that in the 12th century a
single limestone grave-slab was cut longitudinally and
converted into two doorsteps.

Without exception, the material employed to form
the dressings of the quoins, doorways and windows of
the church was red brick of a distinctive medieval type
and fabric. The occasional fragment of medieval brick
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Fig. 17 Reconstruction of the original scaffolding scheme in relation to all four elevations of the church
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Fig. 18 West elevation, showing the banded distribution of ferricrete (dark stone).
The Perpendicular window is a modern renewal

is also to be found in the rubble walling, and in a single
instance a part-brick was used as the cap for a putlog
hole (south wall). The brickwork, which is related to
that at nearby Coggeshall abbey, is discussed in detail
below (p. 102).

Fragments of medieval roof tile were used to pack
the triangular gaps between the bricks that formed the
arches of the windows (Fig. 25). A course of similar tiles
— or sometimes two courses — was also used to level the
tops of the north and south walls, in preparation for
bedding the wall-plates." Few complete tiles are visible
in the fabric, and it is thus difficult to ascertain their
type or full dimensions. They average 1.8-2 cm in
thickness; the width appears to be 18-19 cm, and
lengths of 30 cm and 33.5 cm have been noted.” There
is little doubt that the material is roof tiling of the nibbed
variety, although no nibs are visible in the wall surfaces
at Bradwell. Large nibbed tiles close to these dimensions
have been recorded at Cressing Temple (Ryan and
Andrews 1993, 97).

The matrix of the Norman masonry is a fairly hard
lime-mortar, of yellowish-buff colour. It is clean and
competently mixed, using coarse local sand with an
admixture of river gravel (averaging 3-5 mm across,
with occasional pebbles up to 10 mm). A small amount
of crushed cockle shell was also added as temper.”” The
lime was well burnt, with few lumps visible, and very
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little charcoal present. Occasional woodchips -
accidental inclusions from carpenters’ activities — have
been observed. There is little variation in colour or
texture throughout the building. However, a slightly
finer and paler mix, without the gravel aggregate, was
selected for bedding the brick dressings." Medieval and
later masons often worked with two mortar mixes
simultaneously. Exceptionally for the 12th century, this
is a robust mortar; sandy and earthy mixes are more
commonly encountered.

The use of medieval bricks

As Hull observed, the vast majority of bricks used in the
church are of a distinctive type that has long been
associated with the Cistercian abbey at Little
Coggeshall, 4 km east of Bradwell. The fabric,
dimensions and special forms employed are all distinctly
different from the local Romano-British tradition. The
singular interest of the medieval brickwork at
Coggeshall abbey was first recognized in the mid-19th
century (Cutts 1858, 167-9).

The bricks found at Bradwell are mostly of a mellow
orange-red colour and their edges present an evenly
textured, fine sandy surface, with occasional hints of
knife trimming. Unlike the average Roman brick, they
are not particularly hard-fired and some are sufficiently
soft for the outer skin to have fallen away, revealing a
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Fig. 19 Detail of west gable, showing the high-level window and the linear distribution of ferricrete. Photo: David Guthrie

friable, sandy core which is almost invariably reduced in
colour to dark grey. In underfired examples the core
tends to have a muddy brown appearance. Hard-fired
bricks generally have a partially reduced surface, grey
and blotchy. Occasionally, splashes of green or brown
syrupy glaze are seen on the edges.

Special features of the fabric of Coggeshall bricks
have previously been commented upon (Firman and
Firman 1967, 305). They have ‘abundant angular grains
of quartz and flint, averaging about 1 mm in diameter,
evenly distributed throughout a very fine-grained
matrix. The lack of intermediate-sized grains suggests
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that this is an artificial mixture.” Hence, ‘as early as the
twelfth century some brick-makers were aware of the
value of adding sand to plastic clay to reduce the
shrinkage on drying and burning. One of the
outstanding features of Coggeshall bricks is the
precision with which they have been moulded and their
lack of subsequent distortion.” Generally, the outer
oxidized skin is consistently thin all round the brick, and
the junction between it and the reduced core is sharply
defined (Firman and Firman 1967, pl. 9E). The contrast
between Coggeshall products and most other medieval
bricks in Essex is striking, and points to a high level of
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technical competence at an unexpectedly early date.
For a summary of the brick types and sizes employed
at Bradwell church, see Fig. 46.

Architectural Detailing

Quoins

The number of brick courses in each quoin varied
according to the incline of the foundation, ranging
between 54 in the south-west and 67 courses in the
north-east quoin. The bricks used were probably all of
one type — the medieval ‘great brick’ — measuring an
average 33 x 16 x 5 cm (13 x 6'/: X 2 ins). There are
modest variations in the dimensions, and the thickness
ranges from 4.5 to 5.5 cm. In the north-east quoin are
four bricks that appear to be complete, although only
25.5 cm (10 ins) long, and the south-east quoin
contains an exceptional example measuring 36 x 19 x 6
cm (14'/4x 7'/2 x 2 ins).

It is noticeable in all four quoins that the bricks in the
uppermost seven to fifteen courses are harder fired and
darker in colour, often with a blotchy grey surface.
Some have a patchy glaze on their edges. These bricks
may all be from a single batch.

The great majority of the brickwork in the quoins is
composed of only half-bricks, there being less than two
dozen complete specimens altogether.” It is as though
the masons deliberately broke the bricks in order to
make the supply go further (Fig. 14). In the lower levels
there are hints that the principle of bonding brickwork
to coursed rubble was partially understood. In several
instances we find two or three courses of half-bricks
followed by a single whole-brick course, but this
bonding pattern was not pursued rigorously. Sometimes
a second fragment was laid in the same course as, and
adjacent to, a half-brick, as though to create a pseudo-
bond (Fig. 20).

Doorways (Fig. 21)

The north and south doorways are of similar
construction although differing in size. Each has round-
headed outer and rear-arches of brick, and there is a
substantial rebate near to the outer face, against which
the original door closed. The reveals are squarely built,
not splayed. The jambs of the south doorway are 18 cm
deep (from exterior to rebate) and are formed with
square-edged bricks, laid with an obvious regard to
bonding.'* The bricks are a little larger than most of
those used in the quoins, being 33 x 17.5 x 5.5 cm (13
X 7 x 2'/+ins), although some are nearly 6 cm thick. The
outer arch comprises a single ring of bullnosed bricks,
measuring 20+(?) x 18 x 5.5 cm.

The north door, on the other hand, has both its
jambs and its outer arch formed with bullnosed bricks
(Fig. 24). Moreover, they are double bullnosed: not only
is the outer arris rounded but so too is that forming the
closing-rebate. The jambs again exhibit careful bonding,
and the outer arch is a single brick ring (Fig. 22). The
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Fig. 20 Part of the south-west quoin built of Coggeshall
‘great bricks’. Most are half-bricks, but occasional complete
examples provide a hint of bonding

doorway has an 18th-century brick blocking and part
glazing, which prevents detailed examination of the
Norman bricks, but it would appear that two sizes were
in use. The reveal is 21 cm deep, which seems to be the
length of a double bullnosed brick. If so, the dimensions
are 21 x 18.5x 5 cm (8'/4x 7'/s X 2 ins). Narrower bricks
are used in alternate courses in the jambs, and they
appear to be 21 x 12.5 x 5 cm (8'/s x 5 x 2 ins).

Both doorways have rear-arches of square-edged
bricks, the full dimensions and bonding of which are
obscured by wallplaster. A horizontal ledge, 2-3 cm
wide, occurs at the springing point in each reveal, its
function being to support the timber centring that was
temporarily necessary to form the arch and soffit.
Although the doorways are of differing widths, the
springing-line of both is at the same level. The springing
of the outer arches begins at 1.91 m (75 ins) above
threshold level, and the rear arches at 2.12 m (83'/> ins).
In both instances, the interface between the reveal and
the top of the foundation is exposed ¢. 25 c¢cm above
present floor level (section, Fig. 21).The foundation was
cut away when the floor was lowered, at an uncertain
date (probably in the late Middle Ages).

The outer arch of the north doorway preserves
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Fig. 21 Details of the exposed brick outer openings of the Norman south and north doorways of the nave,
together with a section through the latter

interesting constructional evidence. The jambs were
raised to their full height, and integrated with the
adjacent rubble masonry, but before the centring for the
arch could be erected the walling to either side was
raised by a further lift. The masonry of this lift was
stopped just short of the door opening; the arch was
then built, filling in the gaps to either flank (Fig. 21). A
thin layer of mortar was spread over the extrados of the
completed arch, before the whole was encased by the
next lift of rubble-work. The sequence is clearly defined
because a finer and slightly paler mortar than the norm
was used for the arch construction (Fig. 23).

An intriguing and so far unexplained feature is the
squared balk of oak which is built into the eastern jambs
of both doorways. In each case the depth of the block is
equal to that of the jamb; on the south side it is located
10 cm above the mid-height point, and on the north it is
10 cm below (Fig. 24). No evidence for any original
fixings to these blocks can be seen. On the south side the
block has been used as the ground for attaching the
existing late medieval door catch. There is no
comparable detail on the north, where the block is a
piece of reused timber with a redundant peg-hole in one
face. While both timbers now finish flush with their
respective reveals, it is possible that they were sawn off
in the late medieval period (when the present south door
was fitted). Previously the blocks may have projected
slightly beyond the face of the reveal, into the doorway
itself, and there formed the anchor for a closing or
locking device."”

Windows (Fig. 25)

The pattern of original fenestration is largely preserved,
and what has been lost can be reconstructed with a
reasonable degree of confidence. The windows were all
small, round-headed and built of special bricks which
have external chamfers and internal splays. No
consistent attempt was made to bond the bricks of the

jambs with the adjacent rubble-work. Turning small-
diameter arches was difficult with bricks as thick as
these, and two expedients were employed. First, a few
bricks were hacked longitudinally, to make them more
voussoir-like. Second, pieces of medieval roof tile, 2 cm
thick, were used as wedges, to fill triangular gaps.

Fig. 22 The Norman north doorway, with 18th-century
blocking. Photo: David Guthrie
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Fig. 23 Detail from the arch of the north doorway, showing
the curving joint between the fine mortar used to bed the
bricks and the coarser mortar used in wall construction

It should be noted that the windows did not have
individual sills: the brick jambs merely rose off the
underlying course of flints (always the top of a building
lift). This is in marked contrast to the usual arrangement
seen locally in 11th- and 12th-century churches, where
window openings made of Roman brick had sills of the
same material (¢/. Rivenhall: Rodwell and Rodwell 1985,
133-7). Nor is there any evidence for early glazing, or
shutters. Indeed, it seems likely that the Norman
windows never received glazing before they were
superseded in the 14th century. Internally, the windows
have broad splays and semicircular rear-arches, all now
plastered.

NAVE

The nave was lit laterally by four windows arranged
symmetrically on the north and south. They were set
relatively high in the walls, a not uncommon feature of
the period. The two windows west of the doorways are
intact and are now glazed (they were blocked in the later
Middle Ages, and were only reopened in modern times).
The two lights in the eastern part of the nave were both
destroyed when the new Decorated windows were
inserted. In the south wall, however, one mutilated brick
jamb partially survives (Fig. 38), and in the north wall
the outline of a removed jamb is ghosted by the packing
around the inserted medieval window, and the tips of
three of the bricks belonging to the arched head remain
in situ. As might be expected, the western reveals of the
Decorated windows in the nave incorporate the splays
of their predecessors.

The four Norman windows were evidently all of
similar form and dimensions (Figs 26 and 28). The
apertures measured 20 cm (8 ins) wide, by 71 cm (28
ins) from sill to springing-line. The external openings
were formed from bricks with a plain chamfered angle.
Many of the bricks are fragmentary, but the principal
lengths used were 32 cm and 26 cm (12'/2 and 10'/: ins);
they are 4.5 to 5.0 cm thick (1°/-2 ins); the 55-degree
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Fig. 24 The east jamb of the north doorway, showing
bullnosed bricks and the inclusion of a baulk of oak

chamfer averages 4.5 cm in length. Many of the bricks
in the south-west window are evidently complete, but
only 22 cm long; their breadth is at least 13 cm
(probably 16 cm). Owing to the internal splays being
plastered, it is impossible to establish the breadth of the
bricks with certainty. There are, however, four
incomplete examples of special window-splay bricks
which are kept in the church; these indicate a breadth of
16 cm (Fig. 46). The angle of the internal splay is 65
degrees, and the absence of a rebate suggests that the
openings were not intended for glazing.

Finally, there is the question of early windows at the
west end of the church, the only part of the building
where real uncertainty obtains. There are potentially
two levels of fenestration to consider. A large
Perpendicular window (in modern copy form) now
occupies the centre of the west wall (Fig. 18), and its
insertion has completely destroyed any original low-
level window here.

Turning to the second level, there is a surviving
window high up in the gable: it is odd in two respects
(Fig. 19). First, it is broader and squatter than all the
others that are extant in the church, and, secondly, it is
positioned at an unnecessarily high level (higher than
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Fig. 25 Elevation details of the principal surviving Norman windows.
1 West end, upper level; 2, 3 East end, upper level; 4 Nave, south-west; 5 Chancel, north-west; 6 Nave, north-west

the pair in the east gable) if its function was to let light
into the nave. Surely the purpose of this window was to
illumine a separate space enclosed within the roof, and
if so that points firmly to the presence of a high-level
chamber or gallery here. The window is constructed
with chamfered bricks, like all the others, and measures
29 cm (11'/2 ins) wide, by 60 cm (24 ins) high to the
springing-line. The aperture, which appears never to
have been glazed, is filled by a perforated oak board;
although of recent vintage, the board may replicate an
ancient arrangement. Two circular windows in the west
end of St Peter’s, Barton-upon-Humber, still retain
fragmentary late Saxon slotted oak boards (Rodwell
1986, 165).

CHANCEL
This was also lit by four windows in the side walls.
Evidence for two exactly similar windows to those in the
nave is preserved in the western part of the chancel, one
each in the north and south walls. The north-west
window is intact, but is blocked internally. The site of the
south-west window can be seen externally above the
Decorated priest’s door, where a patch of crude rubble
infilling defines its outline. Curiously, the dressings have
been totally stripped from the external face, except for
the very tips of three bricks; inside, nothing is visible.
The westerly location within the chancel of the two
windows just described points to the probability that
there were originally a further two, which were
superseded by Decorated windows, towards the eastern
end of the church. The internal splays of the lost north-
east and south-east windows are potentially
incorporated in the reveals of their 14th-century
successors. Indeed, corroborative evidence for the
original north-east window was found in 1992 when
repairs were carried out to the masonry.'®
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The chancel was additionally lit from the east, where
there were two tiers of fenestration: one at the same level
as the side windows, and the other in the gable.
Substantial remains of the two windows in the upper tier
are preserved, although blocked, showing that they were
again similar to those already described. The only
difference is that these gable windows were two brick
courses shorter in the jambs. Their appearance is thus
more squat (Fig. 27). Internally, the rear-arches and
splays were exposed in 1905 by the partial removal of
the blocking.

The lower tier has been almost totally destroyed by
later fenestration, but both the geometry and the surviving
remains indicate that there were originally three windows
here. Fragments of one jamb of the southernmost light
remain, indicating that it was generally similar to the
windows already described in the nave and chancel. The
extant tips of two of the arch bricks confirm that the
opening was of similar height (Fig. 31). Internally, the
northern edge of its reveal is defined in the wallplaster. The
centre light of the triplet has been totally removed by a
large Perpendicular window, but the position of the
northern light is clearly marked by a patch of infilling on
the outer wall face. This infill does not, however, provide
an exact ghost of the original, owing to the fact that there
was an intermediate (13th-century) phase of fenestration
in the east gable which is discussed below.

The spacing points to the likelihood that the
windows of the lower tier in the east wall were slightly
wider than those in the side walls, to give increased light
and hence prominence to the sanctuary. Whether the
central light was a little taller than those flanking it
cannot now be ascertained with certainty, but it is highly
likely. The extant west window may provide the clue for
reconstructing the widths of the three destroyed
windows in the east wall. It has thus been used as the
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basis for the reconstructions shown in Fig. 12.

It is to the late 12th century, or perhaps the early
13th century, that the oldest surviving wallpainting in
the church must be assigned. The painting in question is
preserved high up on the east wall, in the splay of the
small southern window. Here, the reveals and soffit are
lined-out in imitation of ashlar work, and on the angle of
the rear-arch is painted a shaft and capital of proto-stiff-
leaf type. Thus the simple fenestration of the east wall
was enhanced by trompe [l’oeil painting so as to give an
exaggerated impression of architectural sophistication.

Red lines on a white ground were used to indicate
ashlar-work; and added emphasis was given to the
window rear-arch by doubling the painted lines.

Wall Finishes

Until ¢. 1951 the exterior of the church was fully
rendered, and it has generally been assumed that the
covering which was removed at that time dated from
about the 17th century. The only rendering that was not
stripped was a roughly triangular area on the south wall
of the nave, above the doorway and within the roof of
the porch. It is immediately apparent upon inspection
that most of the extant rendering — a skim less than 1 cm
thick — is older than the 14th-century porch which abuts
it. Careful examination of all the wall surfaces has
revealed several other, tiny, patches of intact rendering.
These are of various dates and mixtures, but a general
picture of the history of surface treatment can now be
built up.

It has already been remarked that there are many
areas where the Norman building-lifts are obscured by
residual traces of early lime-mortar rendering. This
material is visually identical to the Norman mortar used
in the construction of the walls, and is distinct from later
medieval and more recent mortars. Moreover, the
adhesion and integration of the rendering with the core
mortar suggests that the latter was not fully cured when
the outer skim was applied. In at least one instance the
skim passes over the filling of an original putlog hole,
indicating that as the rendering was applied (working
from the eaves, downwards), the scaffolding was also
removed and the scars of its attachment carefully
concealed.

The rubble-work of the walls was therefore thinly
rendered from the outset, and it remains to consider the
situation in regard to the brick dressings. While it could
be argued that the careful construction of the doorways
implies an intent to display the brickwork, the
haphazard nature of the quoin construction militates
against this. Furthermore, all the brickwork is flush with
the rubble walling and, unlike many later medieval stone
dressings (including those at Bradwell), no rebate was
created as a stop for the rendering.

The conclusion must be that the entire exterior of
the Norman building was rendered, ab initio.
Fortunately, a small amount of original rendering over
brickwork survives to confirm the point. Evidence is
preserved in three areas. First, the surviving rendering
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above the south doorway is partly original, and laps over
the brick arch. Secondly, the Norman window to the
west of the porch retains a small patch of rendering on
its western jamb, running across the chamfer. It is also
worth noting that this window, uniquely, has several
flints built into its jambs, immediately below the
springing of the arch (Figs 25.4, 28 and 29).
Presumably the mason was short of chamfered bricks
and, knowing that the structure was to be rendered,
simply completed the tops of the jambs with whatever
came to hand. Thirdly, small areas of rendering survive
on the jambs of both the high-level Norman windows in
the east wall (Fig. 25.2, 3). The skim is preserved not
only on the outer face of the brickwork, but also on the
chamfers and into the reveals. These upper lights were
infilled with masonry in the late 14th or 15th century,
when the present east window was installed, thus
fortuitously trapping and preserving the original
rendering within the reveals. Finally, when the head of
the north-east chancel window was rebuilt in 1992 it
was noted that some of the Norman bricks which had
been recycled in the 14th-century masonry retained
original rendering on their edges.

The Norman rendering, like the mortar used in the
construction, was of high quality and was durable. In
cross-section it is a cream-buff colour, evenly textured,
and mixed with fine sand. Render that was applied over
brickwork took the form of a thin skim, 3-5 mm in
thickness. Where preserved in the window reveals, the
external surface is hard, smooth and well trowelled; the
colour is orange-buff. Whether this is natural patination,
or the result of an overall application of sepia-coloured
limewash is uncertain. The former is more probable.

In general terms, it is likely that the church was
fully rendered, limewashed and painted with a
rectilinear grid of thin lines in imitation of ashlar
construction. The thin and expertly applied rendering
around the openings meant that the chamfers and
bullnoses of the bricks were not only accurately
reflected, but that the arrises were sharpened and the
pseudo-moulded effect was possibly further enhanced
by the use of paint.

Internally, the church was fully plastered, but to what
extent it was initially decorated is unknown: all the
surviving wallpaintings are secondary.

The problem of the roofs
The present roofs are of 14th-century date, but whether
they incorporate any Norman timbers cannot be
established without a thorough examination: as a
general premise, it seems unlikely that the materials
from a substantial oak roof would have been entirely
discarded when they were only two centuries old.
Although the pitch of the Norman roof has been
established (50 degrees), its form is unknown. It has
been shown that the west gable had an upstand, and was
therefore presumably parapeted. The east gable,
seemingly, was not. Although the later medieval roof has
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Fig. 26 Norman north-west window of the nave.
Note the projecting end of a reused beam from the belfry
incorporated in the raising of the wall

a physical break on the line of the chancel screen, the
continuous eaves point to the likelihood of the entire
Norman church having been roofed as one. While there
has long been a tacit assumption that rural Norman
churches in Essex were thatched, this must be
questioned in view of the presence of clay roofing tiles in
the primary fabric of the walls at Bradwell and elsewhere.
Oak shingles are another possible form of covering.

Three anomalies in the structure of the west end
suggest that this was more complex than might initially
appear. First, the upstanding gable (reflecting the full
wall thickness) argues for the presence of a bell-turret.
Secondly, there is the surviving window in the gable
which, it is argued, lit a high-level chamber rather than
the body of the nave. In view of the widespread evidence
for upper chambers in Anglo-Saxon and Norman
churches, there is no difficulty in accepting that one
formerly existed here. A priest’s lodging is a possible
interpretation in this instance.

The third anomaly is the pair of horizontal slots, or
housings, in the west wall at eaves level, indicative of
features set firmly into the base of the gable (Fig. 12).
The housings have long been packed with medieval
tiles: whatever they originally held was extracted. The
form of these features is more consistent with their
having been for timber rather than for stone. They
cannot be satisfactorily interpreted as, for example,
sockets for limestone kneelers to the gables. Two
possible explanations may be offered.

The evidence is consistent with a horizontal pair of
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projecting timbers — one pointing north, the other south
—measuring 20 x 30 cm in cross-section, and embedded
in the gable to a depth of 75 cm. It might be posited that
the projecting ends of the timbers were carved with
human or animal forms, in the tradition of the stone
prokrossor  found on many Anglo-Saxon and
Romanesque churches. Evidence for similar features at
the east end is slight.

Alternatively, two short sole-plates could have been
set into the haunches of the gable when the timber
belfry was first added outside the west end; their
function would have been to support the corner posts.

MEDIEVAL ALTERATIONS
TO THE CHURCH

The belfry

Cecil Hewett has advanced a claim that the present
timber-framed bell-turret, which sits on a portal-frame
over the west end of the nave, is in part a Norman
structure (Fig. 30). He assumed that the turret is
basically in its original position, although it was jacked
up in the 14th century when the level of the nave roof
was raised. He further maintained that the turret was a
component of the primary structure, citing as evidence
the stumps of ‘the original Norman transom-beam’
which project from the north and south walls (Hewett
1974, 80-1; also Hewett and Watkin 1994, 124).
Unfortunately, this beam is a reused timber, it is not
housed in Norman masonry, and makes no sense as a
supporting member for the present turret. Furthermore,
some of the timbers in the lower sections of the turret
are markedly weathered, which could not have occurred
in their present location.

A full-scale study of the bell-turret is needed, but all
indications point to its being secondary to the nave. Nor
is it necessarily Norman: the use of notched lap-joints
would equally admit a date in the earlier part of the 13th
century. There are further complications which
demonstrate that the turret cannot be accepted as a
simple addition of later Norman or Early English date:
the weathered timbers and the anomalous ‘transom-
beam’ would remain unexplained by positing such a
simple sequence. Moreover, there is an important piece
of evidence externally in the form of a pair of large
postholes, which cut through the foundation offset of
the west wall (Figs 7 and 11).

The holes, which are 4.1 m (13'/> ft) apart and
symmetrically disposed about the gable, must have held
upright timbers in the region of 40 cm square. Clearly
unrelated to scaffolding, they point to the former
presence of a free-standing timber-framed structure
abutting the west end of the church. It may have been
square or rectangular in plan, and there must originally
have been at least a quartet of earth-fast posts. The
positions of the two missing western postholes are likely
to have been lost as a result of later grave digging on the
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Fig. 27 The east gable, showing the blocked remains of the two upper Norman windows and the traceried
head of the Perpendicular window which was probably inserted in 1389. Photo: David Guthrie

site. There can be little doubt that a western belfry was
added to the church, and it was from this that the
components of the present bell-turret were later
salvaged.

The east wall
If any of the lateral windows in the church were enlarged
at an early stage, the evidence has been removed by the
existing 14th- and 15th-century fenestration. In the east
wall, however, a different situation obtains and there are
clear indications of an intermediate phase of window
provision. Here, the three lights of the lower tier were
enlarged in the 13th century. Evidence for the two outer
lights is preserved, but the centre light has been totally
lost and its architectural history is a matter of inference.
It has already been noted that the Norman southern
light had been mutilated, so that only its south jamb and
reveal remained (Fig. 31). They became incorporated in
a larger opening. The level of the sill was lowered, the
head was raised, the aperture was more than doubled in
width (to ¢. 57 cm) and a new north jamb was built in
brick. The height of the enlarged opening was 1.52 m
(60 ins) to springer-level. The arch has been lost:
whether it was round or pointed cannot now be
ascertained, but the latter may reasonably be assumed
(Fig. 32). The new north jamb survives in its entirety
and its bricks are of Coggeshall type, but are not quite
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identical to those in the Norman fabric. They appear to
be 28 cm long, and are up to 5 cm in thickness.
Unfortunately, it is now uncertain whether they were
chamfered like the earlier window bricks, the evidence
having been removed by a rebate (3.5 x 3 cm) cut n situ
to receive a much later timber frame or shutter. A
chamfered aperture is more likely than a squared one.
The northern window of the triplet was evidently
similar, but neither its arch nor its jambs has survived.
The whole structure has been removed, leaving only a
‘ghost” in the form of an irregular scar infilled with
rubble. The entirely lost centre light would almost
certainly have been a little taller, so as to constitute a
typical graduated triplet of the early 13th century. On a
larger scale, the east window of St Nicholas’s church,
Little Coggeshall, exhibits such an arrangement and
dates from c¢. 1220. Its lights are formed with moulded
bricks (Watkin 1996). The lack of mouldings and
paucity of surviving detail at Bradwell make it difficult
to date the refenestration of the east wall, but the general
composition is consonant with work in the closing years
of the 12th century, and the first quarter of the 13th.
Although the two lights in the upper tier of the east
wall were unaffected by the alterations, they evidently
did not remain in use in the 13th century, and the
apertures were blocked. The filling of the southern light
has been removed during one of the modern
restorations, to display its painted reveals, but the
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Fig. 28 Norman south-west window of the nave. Specially
formed window bricks, chamfered and splayed, were used
here, giving rise to the consistent shape and lack of bonding.
See Fig. 46, no. 6

northern light remains blocked. Painted across the
internal blocking, is a vertical ‘barber’s pole’ in yellow
and black. Such decoration is reminiscent of the 13th
century. Clearly, this is later than the false ashlar painted
in the window reveals (see above).

Raising the roof

An increased sense of height within the church was, for
some reason, deemed necessary in the early years of the
14th century, and this was achieved by raising the north
and south walls by 60 cm (2 ft). The increase was slightly
more on the south because the Norman wall-tops were
not quite at the same level: this discrepancy was
corrected before the new roof was built. The gables were
correspondingly raised, but there were no parapets. At
about the same time, the floor at the west end was
lowered by ¢. 15 cm, creating a step at each doorway.
This reduction may have been accompanied by a modest
amount of levelling-up at the east end, in order to
eradicate the slope that was inherent in the floor.

That the levelling operation took place as early as the
14th century is implied by the two surviving patches of
medieval floor tiling: one at the west end of the nave, and
the other just east of the chancel screen. These paving
remnants, which seem to be at least partly n situ,
contain stencilled tiles of 14th-century Essex types (for
details, see p. 110). Further confirmation is provided by
the early 16th-century brick-built font base, which is
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also at the level of the tile pavement.

Raising the roof was carried out in two separate
operations, first the nave, and later the chancel. In each
case, work on the roof preceded the introduction of new
windows.

Nave Roof
Scaffolding was erected: putlogs were laid across the old
wall tops, and the new masonry was built over them.
There were four putlog settings on the south and three
on the north. Remarkably, in all seven instances a thin
oak cap was used, exactly as in the Norman work. An
eighth cap of this period occurs in the west gable, at
haunch level. The idea of using oak putlog caps must
simply have been copied from the earlier work. Indeed,
it would appear from the vertical alignment of several of
the new putlogs with the old (three instances in the
south wall and one in the north) that some of the
Norman holes were rediscovered and opened up. That
would account for the occurrence of later medieval
fillings in Norman putlog holes.

It is also likely that a small number of new putlog

Fig. 29 Detail of the south-west window of the nave,
showing the use of two flint nodules in place of bricks. Small
patches of original lime rendering survive on the chamfered

arris, especially over the lower flint nodule
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Fig. 30 Perspective view of the bell-turret at Bradwell from
the south-east, in its present form (after Hewett 1974).
Note the stump of the redundant beam projecting just

above the window

holes were cut into the north and south walls. There is,
for example, a pair of infilled sockets flanking the 14th-
century nave windows, both north and south. But the
siting and symmetry of these sockets is more suggestive
of an association with the windows themselves rather
than with the roof; the mortar in these particular fillings
also points to a connection with the windows.

Next, the quoins of the nave were built up to the
required height, using some roof tiles but mainly thin
flat bricks of a type not seen elsewhere in the church.
The bricks in the south-west quoin measure 21 x 11 x
3.2 cm (8'/s x 4'/s x 1'/s ins), are hard fired and mostly
dark grey in colour; in the north-west quoin they are 26
cm (10'/s ins) long. Occasional glaze splashes have been
noted. The new quoins survive at three of the corners of
the nave (the north-east angle is not preserved). Hence,
for the first time, the east end of the nave was expressed
in the masonry structure (Fig. 8).

At the same time as the quoins were raised, flint
rubble in a white lime mortar matrix was laid as the
main walling material. Shuttering was again probably
used, but there are no discernible building lifts within
the raised section. The oak top-plate which, it has been
argued, came from the dismantled western belfry, was
reused as a ‘transom-beam’ close to the west end of the
nave. The beam was, perhaps deliberately, centred over
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Fig. 31 East wall, showing remains of the brick-built jambs
of the southernmost window of a triplet. The few courses
remaining of the left-hand jamb are original Norman work,
while the much taller right-hand jamb is part of the Early
English enlargement. One of the small Norman windows of
the upper tier is seen above the arch of the Perpendicular
window

the Norman windows; moreover, it was set on a true
level, which means that while the timber was 20 c¢cm
above the Norman wall-top on the south side, it was
only 10 cm above on the north. Clearly not part of the
new roof structure per se, and having no connection with
the bell-turret in its present form, the purpose of a beam
in this position remains enigmatic. The date at which it
again became redundant is likewise unknown. When
that happened, the entire length of beam traversing the
nave was cut out, leaving only the terminal stumps (Figs
5 and 33).

The new nave roof comprised nineteen rafter-
couples, of which the westernmost was flush with the
outer face of the gable. Much of that couple has now
been lost through decay. Internally, the roof was of seven
cants and underdrawn with a lath-and-plaster ceiling, a
common arrangement in medieval Essex. There is the
usual triangular framing at the eaves, comprising rafter,
sole-piece and ashlar-piece; the pitch is 50 degrees. The
sole-piece is jointed to a single wall-plate set on the mid-
line of the wall. There is also a moulded timber (a false
plate) fixed to the inner face of the wall. Three integral
tie-beams span the nave: the central beam is well
moulded and carries a crown-post. The moulded detail
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Fig. 32 Reconstruction of the east wall, to show the suggested Early English window
arrangement

is similar to that on the head of the rood screen,
suggesting contemporaneity.

A curious feature has been noted at the overhang of
the eaves. Here, the joint between each rafter and its
sole-piece is visible, and in the lateral faces of all the
sole-pieces, close to the wall, is a gouged housing (Fig.
34). Evidently wattles were sprung into these housings,
so spanning the gaps between adjacent rafter-couples. A
single wattle, close to the wall face, could not have
supported a plastered soffit to the eaves: its position is
more suggestive of a cornice fixing. But there is no
precedent for external plaster cornicing in the 14th
century, and the wattles must somehow have been
associated with the support of a soffit."”

Chancel Roof
It is not known for how long the nave stood with its new
high roof, while the chancel retained its original, lower
roof; but the replacement of the latter did not follow
immediately upon completion of the former. Different
gangs of artisans were involved, and the time interval is
likely to have been in the order of several decades.

In due course, the chancel walls were raised to the
same height as the nave, again using flint rubble in a
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matrix of white mortar. The eastern quoins were built
up, not with bricks but solely using roof tiles. The quoins
were well bonded in both directions. The material all
seems to be pegtile, measuring on average 26 x 16 x 1.2
cm (104 x 6'/+ x '/2 in). These dimensions accord with
those of other 14th-century pegtiles in the locality (e.g.
at Cressing: Ryan and Andrews 1993, 97). Numerous
tiles were also embodied in the masonry of the raised
walls. The use of a very large number of whole and
undamaged roof tiles merely as walling material seems
profligate, especially at this early date. There are no
visible putlog holes in the added masonry at the east end
of the church, and nothing useful can be said
concerning the method of scaffolding employed.*

The new chancel roof is of seven cants and was
originally ceiled, like the nave, but it has no tie-beams.
There are fifteen rafter-couples, with the easternmost
set flush with the outer face of the gable. The internal
wallplate projects slightly, and has a plain underside
chamfer. An additional, anomalous truss — perhaps of
later date — was inserted at the junction between the
nave and chancel roofs. The pitches of the two roofs are
different, the latter being only 45 degrees; this is
remarkably low for the 14th century.
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Minor differences in carpentry technique are
evident between nave and chancel: thus, the tenons on
the outer ends of the sole-pieces (where they join the
rafter feet) are shouldered all round, whereas the
comparable joints in the nave roof have their tenons
shouldered only on two sides. The components of each
rafter-couple in the chancel roof are numbered at eaves
level with large Roman numerals. No such numbering
is present in the nave.

Finally, on the chancel roof there are no wattle
housings in the sides of the sole-pieces, but in 1992 Dr
Andrews discovered auger holes in the upper faces of
the wallplate (around each ashlar-piece), and in the sole-
pieces (Fig. 35). These are not pegholes, and are not
drilled right through the timbers. They presumably
contained rods associated with a vertical wattle infill, but
the arrangement is odd since it implies that there was a
triangular panel of wattle-and-daub in the base of each
rafter couple.

Later medieval fenestration and

other features

Given the small size of the church, it is perhaps
surprising that eight new traceried windows were
inserted into its walls in the 14th and early 15th
centuries. They are of slender construction and have
suffered serious distortion as a result of localized
ground movement. Because the frames and tracery are
made from soft stone-types they have also weathered
badly and have been extensively patched with Portland
cement; this unsympathetic repair probably took place
in the 1950s or ’60s. The main doorways, however, were
not modernized in the later Middle Ages, although a
small priest’s door was inserted in the chancel.

At the time when the side walls were raised, the
Norman fenestration (including the Early English
modification in the east wall) was still generally in use:
traceried windows were not introduced at Bradwell until
the 14th century. In all but one instance it can be
demonstrated that the insertion of the existing large
windows took place after the church had been
heightened.

Decorated (Fig. 8)

Stylistically, the earliest traceried window is that at the
north-east corner of the chancel. It has two main, ogee-
headed lights with trefoil cusping, and tracery lights
which are of a common reticulated design. The frame
has a low, two-centred (almost segmental) head and no
hood-moulding (Fig. 36). The material used is a fine-
grained cream limestone, almost certainly Caen stone.
Many of the blocks are small and skimpy, and several
exhibit evidence of having been reworked. The stone is
probably all recycled. Later medieval dressings made
from recut Caen stone have been noted elsewhere in the
locality, including at Rivenhall church (Rodwell and
Rodwell 1985, 149). A date of ¢. 1320-30 is suggested
for this window. It has thin, internal ferramenta and a

Fig. 33 Projecting stump of the redundant transverse beam
from the belfry, in the south wall of the nave

small amount of medieval glass in the tracery.”

The rear-arch and head are plain plastered and
without stone dressings, mouldings or chamfers. The
arch is now somewhat distorted, but was probably of
three-centred form. This is the shortest of the medieval
windows, its head being markedly below the eaves-line
of the Norman chancel. There is every possibility that
the window was inserted before the walls were raised;
it was neatly cut into the Norman masonry. The mortar
used for the insertion is closely similar in colour and
texture to the original Norman work, but is distinctly

Fig. 34 Northern eaves of the nave roof, looking east.
All the sole-pieces have short wattle-grooves in their lateral
faces, which apparently relate to a 14th-century soffit
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Fig. 35 Sketch of the foot of a rafter-couple in the chancel
roof (north side). Unusually, there is a series of auger holes
in the wallplate and sole-piece. (After D.D. Andrews)

different from that found in the other secondary
windows. Owing to structural movement, the window
head and the rubble masonry above it were in a state
of collapse and a partial rebuild was carried out in
1992, removing the archaeological evidence for the
structural sequence.

The near-identical pair of two-light windows at the
east end of the nave were the next to be inserted. Their
design was also based on reticulated tracery. The ogee-
headed main lights have cinquefoil cusping; and the
centre tracery light is an irregular trefoil, all contained
within a frame having a low segmental head without a
hood-moulding (Figs 37 and 38). The unusual trefoil is
based on the lower half of a quatrefoil-reticulation which
has been given extra cusps (¢f- Fig. 36).

The rear-arches are segmental and have plain
plastered jambs, without stone dressings (¢f. north-east
chancel window). Both nave windows have stepped sills.
All three window reveals carry wallpaintings: standing
figures on the splays and a roundel on the soffit.

It is curious that, although so similar, the setting-out
details were not identical in both nave windows. The
main lights are from the same template, but a tighter
radius was used for the segmental head in the north
window, with the consequence that the spandrels are
differently shaped from those on the south side.
Additionally, in the north window the spandrels are
cusped: effectively each is a quarter-reticulation. A date
of ¢. 1320-40 is suggested for these windows. They both
have internal ferramenta, and a little medieval glass in
the tracery lights.”

The nave windows were neatly cut into the rubble
walls, and set in hard whitish mortar (which does not
match that of the raised wall top). Oyster shells were
used as packers. The masonry frame, which is of Caen
stone, stands proud of the wall face and has a shallow
rebate for plastering around its external margins. When
these windows were inserted the adjacent rubble walling

was clearly still rendered.” Traces of multiple layers of
limewash remain on the masonry.* The blocks of Caen
stone used are all small, and several exhibit remains of
redundant chamfers and mouldings relating to their
previous history.

Again of similar date and material is the 14th-
century priest’s doorway in the south wall of the
chancel. The two-centred arch is chamfered and
rebated; there is no hood-moulding (Fig. 39). The
doorway has a threshold composed of three pieces of
reused Barnack-type limestone. That too was doubtless
salvaged material. Superimposed on this is a 19th-
century threshold of brick-on-edge. The rear-arch has
plain, square reveals and a pointed head with a small
chamfer. The rear-arches of the doorway and the
adjoining south-west window are structurally integrated,
but probably not contemporaneous.

Inside the door is a 19th-century brick step down
to the chancel floor. The door, which is of tongue
and-groove boarding and internally ledged, is grained,
and probably dates from the late 18th century.
Long strap hinges bearing zig-zag decoration are fixed
to the ledges.

Fig. 36 The 14th-century north-east window of the chancel,
after the 1992 reconstruction of the masonry above the head.
Photo: David Guthrie
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Fig. 37 The 14th-century north-east window of the nave.
The heightening of the wall above is clearly visible.
Photo: David Guthrie

The two south windows of the chancel must follow
next in the sequence. They are each of two cinquefoil-
headed lights with curvilinear tracery above. The two
are basically similar in design, but the south-east
window is slightly wider than its neighbour, and thus its
features are squatter. The only significant difference
between them is that the central quatrefoil in the south-
west window is augmented by a pair of decorative
bosses projecting from its smaller foils (Fig. 40).

The heads of these two windows are four-centred
and surmounted by a stilted hood-moulding. The stone
used is Upper Greensand, now heavily eroded and
patched with cement. Interestingly, in the south-east
window just two blocks of Caen stone were employed in
the jambs. Possibly this points to the same workshop as
that which previously produced the reticulated windows
in recycled Caen stone. Upper Greensand, although
much less durable, was the common material used for
dressings in this locality in the 14th century. The rear-
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arches have simple plastered splays with segmental
heads. The latter have small chamfers.

Some of these windows contain medieval glass in the
tracery lights, and all are fortunate in having their
original ferramenta preserved.

Contemporary with the south chancel windows is the
timber-framed porch, with its scissor-braced roof
(Guthrie 1991, opp. 2). The original cusped bargeboards
remain on the gable (Fig. 41).The sides comprised seven
panels of open, ogee-headed tracery below a moulded
cornice. The heads remain, but the mullions were
superseded by turned oak balusters (and an intruded
top-rail) in the 17th century. The tracery detailing is so
similar to that in the 14th-century windows that a close
association between carpenter and mason is implied. On
the west side of the porch, the propeller-like motif (a
circle flanked by two foils: Fig. 42A) is precisely matched
in the south chancel windows (¢f. Fig. 40). On the east
side, the trefoils nestling between the ogival heads (Fig.
42B), are a compressed version of the tracery in the
north nave window (¢f Fig. 37).

The porch’s foundation was revealed during
drainage works: it comprised a shallow trench-filled
footing of flint rubble in lime mortar, capped by several
layers of pegtile at ground level. Oak sill-beams, into
which the superstructure was jointed, formerly rested
on these tiled caps. The decayed sill-beams were cut out
and replaced by brickwork in the 19th century.

Fig. 38 The 14th-century south-east window of the nave,
with uncusped tracery spandrels (¢f Fig. 37).

The segmental head has become distorted through
settlement. Note the fragment of brickwork alongside the
left-hand jamb, which is relict from the Norman window.

Photo: David Guthrie
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Fig. 39 Priest’s doorway, in Caen stone, inserted in
the south wall of the chancel.

Perpendicular (Figs 8-10)

There are three Perpendicular windows of closely similar,
but not identical, design. Each has two, or three,
cinquefoil-headed main lights supporting super-mullions
and foiled tracery lights, all under a pointed head.

The east window is the most complex, having three
main lights, four trefoil-headed tracery lights, and a
quatrefoil in the apex (Figs 27 and 43). There is no
hood-moulding. The window is of clunch, now badly
decayed; and, externally, three-quarters of the masonry
is concealed by cement. The window is set in cream
lime-mortar. The rear-arch has a pointed head and
plain splays.

The west window, of two main lights and two trefoil-
headed tracery lights, has a hood-moulding (Fig. 18).
The entire window, a replacement of the 1950s, is in
oolitic limestone. It is believed to be a true copy of the
medieval original which was, apparently, of clunch.
Internally, the window has plain splays and a slightly
dropped, two-centred rear-arch with a hollow-
chamfered arris.

The north-west window of the chancel is almost
identical to that in the west gable, except that the tracery
lights are cinquefoiled. It has a hood-moulding and
label-stops in the form of male and female heads. The
window frame is made of clunch, so too are its head-
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Fig. 40 The 14th-century south-east window of the chancel,
with original ferramenta and medieval glass in the tracery
lights. Photo: David Guthrie

stops, although much patched with cement; the hood-
moulding is however of Barnack limestone. The window
is set in a soft cream mortar, which is the same as the
matrix of the blocking in the adjacent Norman window.
The pointed rear-arch has a hollow chamfer on the
arris, and the splays are plain.

By chance, documentary evidence has survived
which must relate to the construction of one of the
Perpendicular windows. It is contained in a summons,
issued by John Hende, in respect of an unfulfilled
contract. The details have previously been published
(Goodes 1939), but without attempting to relate the
contract to the fabric of the building.* Sir John Hende
held the manor of Bradwell in the late 14th century, but
was not patron of the living.”* Apparently, he
commissioned a L.ondon mason by the name of Thomas
Aylmer, in 1389, to construct a new window in the
church, for which he was paid five marks (£3 6s 8d).
Hende was not satisfied with Aylmer’s work, and in
1395 sought legal redress in the sum of ten pounds.

Thomas Aylmer, mason, was summoned to answer Fohn Hende,
citizen of London, in a plea that whereas the said Thomas for
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Fig. 41 Timber-framed south porch with scissor-braced roof
and original cusped bargeboards.
The turned balusters are 17th century

reconstructing well and sufficiently a certain window of a certain length
and breadth in the church at Bradwell-by-Coggeshall, of stone and lime,
within a certain time for a certain sum, paid to the said Thomas by the said
Fohn ar Bradwell-by-Coggeshall, the said Thomas did not have that
window constructed in the aforesaid form within the aforesaid time, to the
damage of John, 101.

Whereof John, by RichardWaltham, his attorney, says that Thomas on
Monday after the close of Easter, 12 Richard II [19 April 1389],
undertook to reconstruct a certain window 14 ft long by 10 ft wide, in the
church of Bradwell-by-Coggeshall, of stone and lime, well and sufficiently,
Jor the said Fohn within a certain time, to wit, before the feast of St Michael
then next following, for a certain sum, to wit 5 marks...the said Thomas
did not construct the said window in the form aforesaid within the said

time...whereof John said he had damage to the value of 101, and thereof

produced suit’

There is no window in Bradwell church of the
dimensions given. The side walls could not accommodate
a window 14 ft high, which means that it can only have
been intended for one of the gable-ends. The scale of the
window was too grand for the west wall, especially in
view of the fact that the portal frame carrying the belfry
had been erected here. The only plausible explanation is
that Sir John Hende commissioned a new east window
for the chancel. However, at 11 ft by 7 ft, the present east
window falls far short of the specified dimensions, and it
is certain from the undisturbed Norman masonry that
there has never been a window here measuring 14 ft by
10 ft (4.3 m by 3 m).

The existing east window is of a common three-light
design, which had a long life, from the late 14th century
to the mid-15th. It is entirely feasible for this design to
date from c¢. 1390, especially if it was the work of a
London mason. The options are, therefore, either that
Aylmer failed to build a window at all at Bradwell, or
that he constructed this undersized one. The latter is
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more likely, and the confirmatory clue is found in
Aylmer’s reply to the summons.

‘And Thomas came in person and defended... said that he well and
sufficiently reconstructed the window aforesaid of stone and lime, in the
form aforesaid, before the feast of St Michael aforesaid, and is ready to
vertfy the same, whereof he begged judgment.

And the said Fohn said that Thomas did not well and sufficiently
reconstruct the said window, or ordered it to be constructed, as John has
above alleged, and begged enquiry by the country. And Thomas likewise!

The Sheriff failed to summon a jury, and the case
was adjourned. The outcome is not known. Nor is it
clear why it should have taken Hende five years to bring
the case against Aylmer. A possible explanation may
however be offered. Although Hende held Bradwell
Hall, and was buried in the church in 1418, he obviously
did not live permanently in the parish. He was described
in the summons as ‘citizen of London’, where he was
Lord Mayor in 1391 and 1404. His life as a prominent
London citizen would have eclipsed his rural interests,
and it is entirely feasible that he did not visit Bradwell
for several years. Aylmer, or a mason acting on his
behalf, would have been aware that he was working for
a wealthy, absentee patron, and thus there was a
temptation to skimp on the work.

It will be noted that, in his response to the Sheriff,
Aylmer insisted that the window had been constructed
on schedule, but it is interesting that he did not confirm
it was to the specified dimensions. We may, therefore,
suggest that the present undersized east window is the
product of the commission of 1389. The dimensions
stipulated for the new window indicate that it should
probably have been of four lights, rather than three, and
the tracery pattern would thus have been considerably
more complicated. The kind of window which Hende
had in mind might have been akin to that in the east end
of the south aisle at St Botolph Aldersgate, LLondon
(Schofield 1994, fig. 22).”” Nothing of consequence is
known about Aylmer’s career as a mason; he died in
1407 (Harvey 1987, 11).

In the south-east corner of the chancel is an ornate
piscina, probably of the early 15th century (Guthrie
1991, opp. 14). It has a four-centred arch with cinquefoil
cusping, set under a square label, with foliate-decorated
spandrels. The arch is chamfered and has brooch stops;
rosettes are carved in relief on the chamfers. The label
carries a stooling for a poppyhead finial (missing). The
basin is in the form of a moulded semi-octagonal
bracket, with the mutilated remains of a male head. The
hollowing of the bowl is quatrefoiled in plan.

There are no sedilia, but the sill of the south-east
window is finished with a flat stone slab which projects
slightly into the chancel, and is chamfered on the lower
arris. This must have served as the sedilia, and may well
be 14th century in origin. Both the piscina and sedilia
are too high in relation to chancel floor level for practical
use.” Consequently, there must have been a significant
alteration in levels at the east end of the church in the
later Middle Ages. The floor is currently at about the
original Norman level, and the sanctuary must have



HOLY TRINITY CHURCH, BRADWELL-JUXTA-COGGESHALL

that the extant building was erected de novo in the
Norman period, without incorporating fabric or
foundations of a previous structure on the site. The
plan, proportions and general design should therefore
be truly representative of contemporary church-
building practice. Virtually all the medieval parishes of
Essex were in existence — and provided with churches —
well before the close of the 11th century. Most local
churches originated as late Anglo-Saxon stone buildings
which were progressively adapted and extended in the
Norman and later periods. Because Bradwell is so
markedly different, it is a candidate for positing the
survival of an Anglo-Saxon timber predecessor into the
12th century.

DESIGN

The orientation of the church and plan of the graveyard
are further indicators of a fresh Norman layout. First,
the church is aligned on a true east-west axis, and not in
sympathy with the prevailing local topography (Fig. 1).
The latter is reflected in the roads and the Hall, and
were the church on pre-Norman foundations it would,
almost certainly, have conformed likewise. Concern for
a liturgically correct, as opposed to topographically
convenient, orientation was a Norman predilection.
Secondly, the graveyard is of near-rectangular plan, with
the church placed squarely at the centre. Again, this
smacks of Norman planning. Nearby Faulkbourne
provides a close analogue, and in both instances the area
of the churchyard is almost two-thirds of an acre.

Apart from building rubble, the sole feature in the
fabric of Bradwell church which must surely be derived
from an earlier structure is the Barnack limestone slab —
doubtless a grave-cover — that was cut up and used for
the door thresholds. Unfortunately, the stone provides
no dating evidence beyond the fact that the diagonal
tooling suggests it is Norman. Slabs of this type and
material are known in the locality from the early 12th
century: e.g. Rivenhall (Rodwell and Rodwell 1993, 18).
Medieval grave-covers were frequently recycled as
building material within a generation of their
manufacture.

The simple rectangular plan of the church, although
slightly distorted by an error in laying out the
foundations, displays the use of a mensural system in its
design based on a unit akin to the statute foot. In this
respect Bradwell differs from late Anglo-Saxon
buildings in the area, where measurement was based on
the Northern foot (Rodwell and Rodwell 1985, 91;
Rodwell 1986, 157). In accordance with the usual
practice of the period, the foundation-trench was set out
by the builders using the centre-lines of the walls as their
guide. The length of the church was 60 ft and the width
25 ft. Although not expressed in the ground plan, the
ratio of the sub-division between nave and chancel was
35:25 feet.

While elevation details were sometimes linked
proportionally to the plan, in this case they were not.
Although insufficient data exist for sweeping
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generalizations to be made, there are indications that the
elevations of Norman churches were often separately
contrived, and not generated from the ground plan.
Such was the case at Bradwell. The mensural
proportions of the design are readily appreciated by
reference to the plan and south elevation (Figs 11 and
13).The eaves height above door threshold level is 12 ft.
The axis of the doorway is 15 ft from the west end, with
the south-west window located midway (i.e. 7'/> ft from
the corner). Although the nave-chancel division was not
physically expressed in the masonry, the south-east
window of the nave was nevertheless 7'/ ft from the
notional dividing-line.?

Moving on to the chancel, the south-west window
was 10 ft from the divide, and the lost south-east
window was a further 10 ft east (as near as can be
estimated from the internal splay). That leaves 7'/> ft
between the window and the south-east corner of the
chancel, balancing exactly the distances of the nave
windows from their respective corners. Turning now to
the east elevation, we find that the outer windows of the
lower triplet were also 7'/: ft from the corners of the
building. The distance between centres of the three
lights was 6'/> ft, which is the same as the measurement
between the two windows of the upper tier.

In summary, the elevations of the nave were designed
so that its windows were symmetrical about its corners,
and the fenestration of the chancel was weighted
towards the east end — thus giving luminary
prominence to the position of the altar — but a balanced
distribution of windows around the eastern corners was
still achieved.

CONSTRUCTION AND MATERIALS

Turning to constructional issues, Bradwell provides an
exceptionally rare instance where the complete
Norman scaffolding scheme for the exterior can be
adduced with near certainty (Figs 16 and 17). At least
58 putlogs must have been set into the walls, although
the holes for 15 have been lost owing to later works.
Remarkably, of the 43 that have been recorded not less
than 27 still retain their original oak caps (and others
may lie hidden behind mortar and patching); only one
putlog hole has a brick cap.

The free end of each putlog was lashed to a vertical
pole (standard), which was set into a hole in the ground.
The standards defined the bays and were linked by
horizontal poles (ledgers) at each lift. So much can be
asserted with confidence. There was presumably an
additional element to the scaffold in the form of
diagonal bracing, which would have been essential to
prevent the whole structure from racking and
collapsing. The arrangement of corner putlogs implies a
scaffold depth of four feet.

The interior of the church had also to be scaffolded
during construction, but the putlog holes are now
concealed behind plaster. If through-putlogs were used,
as is likely, the individual timbers would have been cut
to a length of about ten feet. The average intended bay
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length (i.e. span between standards) was eight feet.
However, owing to the exigencies of the church plan,
and the need to keep the doorways clear for the passage
of men and materials, some scaffold bays were as much
as ten and eleven feet in pitch. Medieval scaffolds were
decked out with hurdles, and it is often supposed that a
single hurdle spanned the gap between adjacent putlogs.
That would be feasible if the putlogs were less than five
feet apart, but a span of eight or ten feet would be out
of the question. The implication is clear: the hurdles
were supported, not on the putlogs, but mainly on the
ledgers. Hence, there had to be not only ledgers
connecting the standards, but also a line of them close to
the church wall (carried on the putlogs, as shown on
Fig. 16). That way, the hurdles were supported across
their width, the span being only 3-4 ft.

The inner ledger had another important function, as
the principal support for the shuttering that was used in
the construction of rubble walling. While putlog holes
are a common sight in medieval walls, they are seldom
recorded in detail, or analyzed for the information that
they can yield on building methodology. The late Saxon
church at Rivenhall, also rubble built and using
shuttered construction, appears to have had its putlogs
spaced at 10 ft intervals, again leaving no doubt that the
hurdles must have been supported on parallel ledgers
(Rodwell and Rodwell 1985, fig. 91). On the other
hand, at Bradwell-on-Sea putlog holes in the walls of the
early Saxon church are more closely spaced, being
between 4 ft and 7 ft apart (Rodwell 1986, fig. 105).
Hurdles might just have spanned the larger gaps with
the aid of some ad hoc propping. Nevertheless, there can
be little doubt that parallel ledgers were in use here too,
once again on account of the shuttered construction.

The mixture of building materials in the Norman
church is interesting, suggesting that the great majority
of the stone was secondhand, if not third-hand. The
reused Roman tile is especially telling in this respect.
Had a nearby Roman ruin been freshly quarried for
building materials a greater quantity of tile would be in
evidence and, more significantly, complete and near-
complete examples would be expected. As it is, Bradwell
church contains only small pieces of tile, and mixed in
with these are other identifiable relics of Romano-
British settlement, such as querns of Rhenish lava,
Millstone Grit and Puddingstone. This is a classic
example of low-grade building materials being
scavenged or recycled more than once. The flints and
sarsen pebbles too have come from various sources:
some could have been collected in the locality, from the
fields and river beds. Others, which ultimately came
from a greater distance, may nevertheless have been
grubbed out of Roman foundations in the immediate
locality. In the 12th century, supplies of Roman building
materials in Essex were rapidly reaching exhaustion.
Church architecture provides eloquent documentation
of this demise.

It is only the ferricrete (ferruginous conglomerate)
that stands out as being potentially freshly quarried
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stone (originating in the Stour valley), but even so its
occurrence in Bradwell church is curiously sporadic.
Either cartloads of fresh ferricrete were arriving on site
at the same time as loads of materials from other
sources, allowing them to be mixed, or else the ferricrete
too was being reclaimed.

Ferricrete does not appear to have been widely used
as a building material in north-east Essex in the Roman
period, and there is little occurrence of it in definite
Anglo-Saxon contexts.” The earliest use of a substantial
quantity is in the Saxo-Norman chancel at Inworth
church. Thereafter, many Norman churches display
large amounts of ferricrete in their fabrics, sometimes in
concentrated horizontal bands that suggest it was
consciously employed to decorative effect (e.g. at Marks
Tey and Great Bentley). If so, these buildings were not
fully rendered.

At Bradwell no attempt was made to create
decorative bands with different materials: everything
was piled into the walls, just as it arrived on site. The
bulk of the unequivocally Roman material occurs in the
lowest one metre of construction. Ferricrete is scarce in
the first few lifts, then there is a band of about one metre
in which it is prolific (1.2 m in the east wall). Above that,
the virtual absence of ferricrete from a zone 1.6 to 1.8
m high all around the church, basically at mid-height,
attests a hiatus in its supply (Figs 8-10).

The side walls of the chancel were completed to
eaves level before a fresh supply of ferricrete was
available, but in the two uppermost lifts of the nave it
reappears in quantity. This is a useful indicator of
building logistics, demonstrating that the whole church
was not raised by one lift at a time, but that differential
progress was being made by separate gangs. The
simplest explanation for the observed phenomenon is
that as the masons approached eaves level the supply of
material (basically flint) was dwindling, with the result
that the gangs working on the nave were withdrawn,
leaving those engaged on the chancel to use up the
remaining stone stock. That could have coincided with a
natural break at the close of a building season. When
work resumed a fresh supply of ferricrete was to hand,
and this was used, nter alia, to complete the nave wall-
tops and to raise both gable-ends.

It has been noted that slight evidence for a
temporary capping-off of the north and south walls
exists at mid-height, and that construction over two
seasons is thereby implied. It has further been argued
that the gables were the work of another building season.
The foundations are likely to have been laid in a
separate, initial season, allowing a little time for them to
settle before being loaded. The general indications point,
therefore, to the erection of the masonry shell of
Bradwell church over a period of four years. Working at
such a rate probably required no more than two gangs
of men.

The walls could not have received the thrust of a
heavy oak roof until the lime-mortar had cured for some
months; hence roofing is likely to have been another
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year’s work. A full season must be allowed for erecting
the roof trusses (which would have been prepared in a
woodyard and brought to the site in disassembled
form), for tiling, and for plastering the church both
inside and out. In sum, the indications all point to a
period of about five years for the erection of the church.

Unfortunately, nothing can be said about the
Norman roof, since none of the structural carpentry
seems to have reused in later work. The nature of the
roof covering also raises interesting speculation. Clay
tiles were clearly present on the site when the church
was being built, perhaps pointing to their use here at an
early date. Oak shingles are the most likely alternative.

None of the material used in the rubble walling was
suitable for dressings: although flint quoins were
sometimes constructed in the 11th century — as in the
tower at Little Bardfield church — the practice ceased in
the Norman period. Essex had a long tradition of
recycling Roman bricks for the dressings of churches,
beginning at Bradwell-on-Sea in the mid-7th century.
Prodigious quantities were salvaged and recycled
between the 10th and early 12th centuries, but when the
ready supply became exhausted new sources of suitable
dressing materials were sought. Barnack-type limestone
and Caen stone began to appear in northern Essex
around the end of the 11th century, but were rare before
the mid-12th. One of the earliest examples is
Faulkbourne church, a rather grand proprietorial
foundation of the late 11th century with all its dressings
in Barnack stone.

Many Essex churches of the middle and later
Norman era employed English limestone, sparingly, for
dressing windows and doorways. However, in the
Coggeshall area a novel solution was developed to
overcome the absence of good local stone and the
exhaustion of recyclable Roman materials: a new supply
of Roman-type bricks came into production. This was a
logical and economically sound response to a perceived
need. Moreover, the ‘Coggeshall range’ was tailor-made
to suit the latest architectural fashion. When Roman
bricks were used to dress windows and doorways,
chamfers and bullnoses had to be cut by hand, whereas
in Coggeshall bricks such details were integrally
moulded, as in Continental brickwork.

The exterior of Bradwell church was fully plastered
and, in all probability, limewashed and outlined with
paint to simulate the appearance of a plain ashlar
building. Despite their smart appearance, Coggeshall
bricks were not generally meant to be seen. At St
Nicholas, Little Coggeshall, where bricks were
prolifically used as dressings, the church was originally
plastered both inside and out (Beaumont 1890, 101).

It is suggested that the west gable may have carried a
small bell-turret, and there could well have been an
external demarcation between nave and chancel in the
roof line, especially if it was tiled. Although churches
that were structurally, but not necessarily functionally,
single-celled were doubtless commonplace in the
Norman period, few Essex examples can be cited. Both
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Easthorpe and Little Braxted were small churches of
comparable status and size, their only real difference
being an apsidal termination to the east end. At
Easthorpe the opposing nave doorways are preserved:
they are simple, round headed and built of Roman
brick. As at Bradwell, the south doorway is wider than
the north. Of similar plan is the church at Little Tey, but
there the Norman doorways are dressed with limestone,
a reflection of the changing attitude to materials and
masoncraft in the second quarter of the 12th century.
Developments in window design are also evidenced at
Little Tey: squatter proportions and stone dressings
(with, interestingly, the occasional piece of Roman brick
coursed in with the stone).

Very few churches preserve a complete scheme of
Norman fenestration in the east wall, but the indications
are that three, or five, small openings arranged in two
tiers were not unusual. Sometimes there was also an
oculus in the apex of the gable. Bradwell certainly had
five windows, but whether it was also given an oculus
cannot now be determined, owing to the loss of the apex
masonry. The heavily restored east end at Rainham
church exhibits a tiered arrangement of five lights, plus
an oculus (RCHM 1923, 117; Godman 1905, 36).

It has been argued that an enclosed upper chamber
is likely to have been built within the western part of the
nave. Few Norman west ends survive intact, but
Faulkbourne provides a comparable example of a gable
light as well as having windows at a lower level. At Little
Tey, too, the Norman gable light survives, and a similar
arrangement seems to have obtained at Little Braxted,
before the church’s restoration. Our understanding of
the nature and functions of upper chambers and
galleries in the west ends of Anglo-Saxon and Norman
churches is very inadequate.

DATING

Dating the Norman work at Bradwell is the hardest task
of all. Decorative Romanesque masonry is entirely
absent from the fabric, and the limestone bowl of the
font — cut down from a square to an octagon in the 16th
century (RCHM 1922, pl. p. xxiv; Paul 1986, 48) — is
the only moulded feature earlier than the 14th century.
Decoration is confined to a small band of chevron
ornament just below the rim, although it seems possible
that there were once carved heads, or other
embellishments, on the four corners that have since
been hacked away. The font bowl probably dates from
somewhere in the first half of the 12th century.
However, the font could have belonged to a previous
church on the site, and does not therefore provide
dating evidence for the present structure.

Other cut-down Norman font bowls in Essex are
found at Ashdon, Little Maplestead and Strethall (Paul
1986, 31, 134 and 186). At Naughton, Suffolk, a square
bowl of the late 12th century was similarly reduced to an
octagon (Cautley 1954, 57-9).

Bradwell church has usually been assigned to the
‘early 12th century’ (e.g. RCHM 1922, 12), wisely
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without attempting to be too specific. Superficially,
there is no reason to dissent from that view, and various
indicators pointing to the early or middle, rather than
the later, years of the century should be noted. A pre-
12th-century date is not sustainable.

6)) The use of brick to form dressings. Although the
bricks are all medieval at Bradwell, they are
employed in precisely the same manner as
Roman brick had been in buildings of the 10th to
12th centuries. By the mid-12th century
limestone dressings were becoming popular,
especially for outlining windows. Little Tey
provides a touchstone of ¢. 1130-50.

Small chamfers are not usually seen in the 11th
century, but are ubiquitous in window apertures
of the early and mid-12th century in the region.
The new bricks were made ready chamfered, in
recognition of contemporary requirements.

The tall, narrow proportions of both the
doorways and the windows at Bradwell are
strikingly reminiscent of the openings found in
many local churches of the 11th century and the
beginning of the 12th (¢f. Rodwell and Rodwell
1985, 136-7). In the second half of the latter
century window apertures were becoming wider,
both in actual measurement and in proportion to
their height.

(i)

(iif)

In sum, a date in the second quarter of the 12th
century would seem most likely. The temptation to link
Bradwell church to the building of Coggeshall abbey —
and thereby to conjure up a more precise date — must be
resisted for two reasons. First, Bradwell was never
owned by the abbey, and, secondly, the date at which
brick began to be used at Coggeshall is currently a
matter of guesswork.

Early English

Two improvements to the fabric are archaeologically
detectable. First, the enlargement of the fenestration in
the east wall. A graduated triplet of plain lancets, akin to
that seen at Little Coggeshall church (but more widely
spaced), was doubtless created. Fairstead preserves a
similar arrangement, as does Easthorpe (RCHM 1922,
92 pl.). If any other windows were simultaneously
enlarged at Bradwell the evidence has been wholly
removed. At the same time, it is likely that the church
received its first wallpaintings. The purpose of the
painting on the east wall, at least, was to enhance the
architecture by adding trompe l’oeil detail.

The second improvement took the form of a
freestanding timber-framed belfry, erected outside the
west end of the church. This structure presumably held
three or perhaps four bells of modest size. Its original
form and date remain enigmatic. Detailed study of the
extant timberwork would shed further light on the
history of the belfry (Fig. 30).

Two options may be considered: first, the structure
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could have been no more than a low-level bell-cage of
the type exemplified at East Bergholt, Suffolk. But this
lacks conviction, firstly because such cages are only
known in the later Middle Ages, and secondly because
the extant turret components would not fit a structure
based on a module of 13-13'/> ft (the spacing between
the postholes against the west wall). The second option
is that Bradwell was given a full-scale western belfry,
based on four earth-fast posts. A similar structure has
been posited on archaeological evidence at West
Bergholt (Turner 1984).

This solution, too, presents a problem. Structurally,
it is clear that nothing substantial was tied into the fabric
of the west gable, and a tall, four-post turret on a base
only 13 ft square would have been unstable, even
though the bell-cage would have been stepped-in from
the base-frame. If, however, it is posited that the two
surviving post-sockets did not mark the external corners
of a turret, but belonged to an inner quartet of posts,
then a larger belfry of stepped construction is implied.
Such belfries are well attested in Essex (see, generally,
Hewett 1962). Stock and Blackmore provide examples
of the square plan, while Navestock and West
Hanningfield represent a group with cruciform bases.

The plan of the Blackmore belfry merits closer
scrutiny (Fig. 44). The 15-ft square central tower is
based on a quartet of posts, and is ‘aisled’ on all four
sides. The span of each aisle is half that of the central
square, and the overall dimension of the structure is
slightly greater than the external width of the nave. If we

Fig. 44 Plan of the western timber belfry at Blackmore
church (after Godman 1905). The outer frame is
slightly wider than the Norman nave, which is of

similar width to Bradwell
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apply the same design principles to Bradwell an
interesting result is obtained. On the evidence of the
postholes, the pitch of the central quartet is fixed at 13-
13'/> ft; add to this a pair of outer aisles, each equivalent
to half of that pitch, and the overall north-south
dimension of the structure would be fractionally greater
than the external width of the Norman nave.

In proportion to the mass of the church, a
rectangular belfry would seem appropriate at Bradwell,
as reconstructed in Fig. 11. A close analogue may be
found in the belfry of similar plan at West Bergholt
(Hewett in Turner 1984, 52). That began its existence as
a fully external structure, but was later enveloped by a
westward enlargement of the nave.

At Bradwell, there is one crucial piece of evidence
to support the suggestion of a broad-based belfry: it is
Hewett’s ‘transom-beam’. This was a timber not less
than 8.6 m long which was reused in the 14th century
to span the west end of the nave, supporting either an
upper floor or the resited bell-turret. The length of the
timber was such that its ends protruded through the
north and south walls. Both ends can be seen to have
an empty mortice in the soffit face, and a single peg-
hole for securing the tenon. On the south side of the
church the beam has been trimmed, so that the
mortice is now cut open (Fig. 33); and on the north the
end is steeply chamfered.

The timber was clearly once a tie-beam or a top-
plate from a framed structure that was virtually the
same width as the present nave (externally). It is an ideal
candidate for the top-plate of the ground stage of a
timber belfry. Today, only the ends remain embedded in
the side walls, the main span of the beam within the nave
having been cut out. Presumably the western belfry was
dismantled in the 14th century, and immediately re-
erected more-or-less in its present form.

Provisionally, it is suggested that the Early English
work dates from the first half of the 13th century.

Decorated

The next modification was, almost certainly, the
installation of a new window with reticulated tracery in
the north wall of the chancel. There then followed a
series of improvements, beginning with the raising of
the nave roof. Why the old one should have been
discarded, when it was no more than 200 years old, is
problematic. An unrecorded disaster — such as fire —is a
more likely cause than natural fatigue.

The new roof took the form of a trussed-rafter
structure of seven cants; it was internally ceiled. This
was the most common roof type in Essex churches in
the 13th and 14th centuries. While it has been assumed
that the present arrangement of the western belfry dates
from the same time, further study of the carpentry is
required to confirm this. However, if the transverse
beam at the west end of the nave came from the free-
standing belfry, as posited, it follows that the original
belfry was dismantled before work began on raising the
nave walls, the timber being firmly entrapped by the
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added masonry.

The provision of two large new windows in the nave
followed next, but was not structurally part of the wall-
raising operation. The most interesting aspect of the
windows is the fact that they are made of reused Caen
stone. The same applies to the slightly earlier north-east
chancel window, and the priest’s doorway in the south
wall. Precisely where the latter came in the sequence
cannot be determined. While Caen stone was imported
in the Norman period for dressings on castles and
monastic houses, it is not often found as newly quarried
material in Essex churches after the 12th century.
Obviously, the Caen stone did not originate in features
at Bradwell church, and must have been reclaimed from
elsewhere. An exactly similar situation was discovered at
Rivenhall church, where Caen stone was reused in
fifteenth-century contexts (Rodwell and Rodwell 1985,
146, 151-2). Recycling limestone and recutting
mouldings was evidently a serious local component of
the stonemasons’ industry.

Raising the chancel roof followed that of the nave
and, although it too was given a seven-cant form, there
are sufficient differences to show that there was a time
lapse and that another gang of carpenters was at work.
It is slightly odd that improved lighting was not provided
in the south wall of the chancel at the same time, but
there is no hint of this.

There then came several new features: the two
windows in the south wall of the chancel, and the
timber-framed south porch (Hewett 1974, fig. 38).
Tracery details link the windows and porch. There may
not have been a long interval between this phase and the
previous work, but the materials and design of the
windows are distinctly different.

Finally, the floors were at least partially tiled, and a
series of new paintings executed on the walls. The use of
a distinctive type of floor tile with stencilled patterns
exemplified a local trait that had its floruit in the second
quarter of the 14th century (Drury 1993, 10-12). A
single fragment of rare mosaic tile points to the
likelihood that discrete panels of this material were
incorporated in the chancel floor or sanctuary steps.

Stained glass of high quality was introduced into the
new windows at about the same time. Unfortunately,
little of the medieval glass survives today, but a fresh
study of it is needed (¢f. Hamilton 1884).

The date of all this work seems to be in the second
quarter of the 14th century. Thereafter, the interior of
Bradwell church would have presented a unified and
up-to-date decorative ensemble.

Perpendicular

Three new windows were installed between the late 14th
century and the middle of the 15th, in the east and west
gable walls, and in the north-west part of the chancel.
The east window probably dates from 1389. Curiously,
the north-facing chancel window was embellished with
a pair of head-stops. The male head on the east appears
to have a pair of pomegranates slung around the neck
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(now restored in cement), while the western head is
female. One wonders whether these represent Christ
and the Virgin Mary.

Also of the 15th century are the piscina, the chancel
screen and rood loft, and the south door, while at the
end of the period came the reconstruction of the font.
The cutting down of the Norman bowl and its
remounting on a decorative brick column may not have
occurred until the early 16th century.

General (Medieval)

Some general comments on the relative elaboration of
windows and doorways seem appropriate. First, in the
Norman church, the south doorway was larger than that
on the north, which is commonplace and may be taken
to suggest an order of importance, or it may be purely
convention. Unusually, in this instance, the north
doorway is slightly better detailed than its counterpart:
it has bullnosed brickwork all round the outer opening,
whereas in the south doorway this feature occurs in the
arch alone.

Second, in the early 14th century, it was the north
side of the chancel that first received a traceried window,
hinting at greater prominence than the south. Then the
provision of new nave windows raised another,
admittedly very subtle, imbalance: the spandrel lights
were cusped only on the north. These modest
elaborations may indicate that, as far as the patron was
concerned, the north was the more important side. He
resided in Bradwell Hall and would thus have
approached the church from the north. His private pew
was probably on that side too.”!

Upgrading the south elevation belongs to the next
Decorated phase, when two new windows were inserted
in the chancel and at the same time a fashionable timber
porch was added in front of the doorway. These
improvements were clearly directed towards the public
face of the church.

Finally, the three Perpendicular windows tell their
own story. Those in the east and west ends are fairly
plain, whereas the north-west chancel window has
slightly finer detailing, a limestone hood-moulding and
a pair of carved label-stops. The latter are the only
examples of medieval figural sculpture on the building.
Again, we may suspect that this elaboration was directly
related to the position of the manorial pew.

Post-Medieval

The fabric of the church exhibits very little evidence of
post-Reformation interference. The 17th-century
replacement of the oak mullions in the porch with
turned balusters, and the infilling of the lower parts of
the medieval windows with a few courses of brickwork,
are the only obvious modifications. The brick infilling in
the north and south windows dates from the 18th
century, being associated with the introduction of high
box pews. The greater depth of infilling in the east
window relates to the construction of the Maxey
monument in ¢. 1624. The patch of brickwork visible in
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the east wall, just above ground level, may mark the
blocked entrance to the Maxey vault, which is
presumably under the chancel floor (Fig. 9).%

Internally, a succession of modifications has
occurred to the furnishings, since the 16th century, and
the wallpaintings were obliterated with limewash.

Medieval brickwork

Post-Roman brick making was introduced to eastern
England from the Low Countries, sometime around the
middle of the 12th century. Early medieval ‘great bricks’
are found, in small quantities, on a limited number of
monastic and high-status secular sites in Essex and
beyond: essentially, they are a phenomenon of the east
coast, from the Thames to the Humber (Firman and
Firman 1989, fig. 1). Unfortunately, few bricks have
been recovered from securely dated contexts.”

‘Great bricks’ vary somewhat in fabric and
dimensions. They were obviously produced locally, and
several distinct groupings are identifiable in Essex (for
the first general review of early brickwork in the county,
see Ryan 1996, ch. 4). A few shaped bricks and other
oddities have been reported from disparate sites in the
county, but there is nothing comparable to the
sophisticated ‘architectural’ range found in the
Coggeshall area (Fig. 45; Ryan 1996, fig. 1).

The distinctive brickwork visible in the extant
buildings of the Cistercian abbey at Little Coggeshall
has generated much interest amongst architectural
historians since Cutts (1858) first drew attention to it,
and Coggeshall has widely been regarded as the earliest
post-Roman brick-production site in England (e.g.
Beaumont 1890, 101; Lloyd 1925, 3; Gardner 1955;
Wight 1972, 25-6, 260-2). The re-introduction of
brickmaking has thus been tacitly linked to the
Cistercians, but the supposed connection has never
been logically argued.

Little Coggeshall abbey was founded in 1140 as a
Savigniac house, and it was only after the collapse of
that order in 1148 that it was transferred to Citeaux
(VCH 1907, 177). If the Cistercians imported skilled
brickmakers and set up kilns at Little Coggeshall it is
highly improbable that bricks would have been in
production before the 1150s. Dates of ¢. 1160-70 have
been suggested for the earliest incidence of brickwork at
the abbey; but even then the evidence is equivocal. Ryan
(1996, 94) suggests an overall date-range for the
Coggeshall production of ¢. 1160-1225.

There has been no systematic excavation at the
abbey, but the discovery of segmental bricks on the site
of the conventual church led to the hypothesis that they
had been used in the piers (1.2 m diam.) of the Norman
nave arcades (Gardner 1955, 24). Plain bricks were laid
on the floor and in the bench-tops of the chapter house;
dating this latter structure is problematic, but it is
unlikely to be earlier than ¢. 1170. Architectural bricks
occur in profusion in the abbey guest-house, ¢. 1190,
and in the capella extra portas, ¢. 1220. This eventually
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became the parish church of St Nicholas, Little
Coggeshall (Beaumont 1890, 101-2).

If brick production was in the hands of the
Cistercians, it is reasonable to assume that the initial
output would have been directed towards the building
needs of the abbey, and not to the provision of materials
for proprietary churches that were unconnected with
the abbey or its estates. Yet the earliest known use of
Coggeshall-type bricks is at Bradwell church, the
erection of which is held — on stylistic-architectural
evidence — to be in the second quarter of the 12th
century. It is particularly unfortunate that there is no
objective dating available for the church, and the danger
of introducing a circular argument is all too obvious. On
face value, it is virtually impossible to reconcile the
production of bricks at Coggeshall abbey from, say,
1160 onward with an appearance at Bradwell church
sometime before the middle of the 12th century.

Nevertheless, the bricks found at Coggeshall abbey
and at Bradwell church are inextricably linked, both by
form and by fabric. Unfortunately, no detailed study of
Coggeshall brickwork has yet been undertaken, and
there are many unresolved questions, particularly
concerning dimensions and chronology. New
architectural types (or ‘specials’) continue to be
discovered, although mostly not in primary contexts.
The dimensions and forms of some of the Bradwell
bricks are closely matched at the abbey site, but others
are different. The majority of the plain ‘great bricks’
used in the quoins at Bradwell are identical to those at
the abbey. The fabrics too are indistinguishable, and
their singular composition ensures that these bricks
cannot be confused with any other product of Roman or
medieval date in the locality.

In 1967 the Firmans advanced the suggestion that

v

Coggeshall bricks were a highly skilled product, based
on a specially prepared mixture of clay and sand
(Firman and Firman 1967), but they have subsequently
acknowledged that the mixture could be natural. If so,
the Coggeshall brickmakers probably obtained their raw
material from solifluction deposits, somewhere in the
Blackwater valley (Firman and Firman 1989).

Rectangular bricks with one, or two, plain chamfered
corners occur at Coggeshall abbey and other sites, but
seemingly not at Bradwell. There, the window dressings
appear to be formed with special reveal-bricks which
not only have a chamfered arris, but are also splayed to
suit the internal angle of the reveal (Fig. 46). The
single- and double-bullnosed bricks found in the two
doorways at Bradwell are a rarity. While it is not
difficult to appreciate the use of the single-bullnosed
brick — as an imitator of the quadrant-moulded voussoir
which is found in some Romanesque arches — the
double-bullnosed brick is a less familiar form. This type
cannot have been intended for the use to which it was
put in the Bradwell doorways. Double-bullnosed bricks
could have been created for use in pilasters and in the
innermost orders of double-sided arches. Gardner
failed to illustrate bullnosed bricks, but mentioned their
existence in the guest-house at the abbey (Gardner
1955, 26)). Ryan omitted bullnoses entirely from her
typology of Coggeshall bricks (Ryan 1996, fig. 1).
Window-splay bricks and several other special forms
were also overlooked.

It is readily apparent that there was a standard great
brick, and the nominal ratio of length-to-breadth was
2:1. A smaller size was also produced, being two-thirds
the length of the standard. The special window-splay
bricks — again in two sizes — were made from the basic
module, and the same applies to chamfered bricks and

0 20 cm
h:—:i

Fig. 46 Axonometric views illustrating the range of Coggeshall bricks recorded at Bradwell church.
Great bricks: 1 Large; 2 Standard; 3 Two-thirds standard; 4 Small. Window-splay bricks; S Standard;
6 Two-thirds standard. Bullnosed bricks: 7 Single; 8 Double; 9 Two-thirds double. Phnth: 10 Plain chamfer
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other types not found at Bradwell. The implication is
clear: brick sizes were designed with regular bonding in
mind. However, it is all too obvious that the masons
working in 12th-century Essex were not versed in the art
of brick building: that was a foreign skill. Hence, by and
large, masons used new bricks in the same way as they
had been accustomed to laying reclaimed Roman bricks.

During the 1970s the present writer carried out a
systematic search for both Roman and early medieval
brickwork in the churches throughout northern and
central Essex. The results showed that Coggeshall-type
bricks occurred in a restricted area, and a preliminary
distribution map was published (in Drury 1981, fig.
91). Subsequent research has filled out, but not
significantly changed, the picture (Fig. 45), and there
can be little doubt that the material in question was the
output from a single atelier. At present, we have no
indication how many production sites were involved, but
it, or they, must have been somewhere in the vicinity of
Coggeshall. Brickearth and river sand from similar
geological deposits were widely available in the area;
consequently the brickyard could have moved from one
site to another, in response to the demands of individual
building projects.

In view of the fact that the earliest appearance of
these distinctive bricks seems not to be at the abbey itself,
it is proposed that they should simply be labelled
‘Coggeshall brick’ (z.e. not ‘Coggeshall abbey brick’, as
often used hitherto). Even this may, in due course, prove
misleading. It must be mentioned that a kiln or furnace
of some sort was discovered on the outskirts of
Coggeshall, at Tilkey, in the 1840s and that its structure
incorporated moulded bricks of a type found at the
abbey (Cutts 1858, 182).* However, the description of
the feature does not readily suggest a medieval brick kiln,
and ‘early brick wasters’ have been found on another site
(Drury 1981, 139, n. 4). At present, there is no palpable

evidence for a 12th/13th-century factory site.

The Cistercians, with their acknowledged
predilection for tile paving, certainly provide an
attractive peg upon which to hang the Coggeshall brick
industry, but to do so involves putting some strain on
architectural chronologies. Moreover, if the Cistercians
imported brick-makers from the Low Countries to
Coggeshall, we might enquire why they did not do
likewise at other English houses. Their second
foundation in northern Essex was Tilty abbey (1153),
where brickwork would have been equally useful in the
construction, but there is no sign of it in that locality
(apart from some reused Roman material).> The third
Cistercian house was in the far south-west of the county,
at Stratford Langthorne (Fig. 45). This foundation, like
Coggeshall, was acquired from the Savigniacs in 1148.
Medieval ‘great bricks’ have been found on the site, but
they are plain and of uncertain date. Demonstrably,
there is nothing comparable to the architectural range of
Coggeshall bricks at Tilty, Stratford Langthorne, or any
other monastic house in Essex.

Further doubts about the supposed Cistercian
origin of the Coggeshall brick industry must be raised
in view of the absence of typical Cistercian floor tiling
at the abbey, a point first noted by Gardner (1955,
31). Although mosaic tile pavements appear in French
Cistercian abbeys from ¢. 1190 (Norton 1986, 231),
and subsequently in many areas of England, nothing
related to that early tradition has been found at
Coggeshall. Admittedly, the site of the church has not
been extensively explored, but the chapter house -
where decorative tiling might be expected — had only
plain square pavers on its floor. A few pieces of crude,
14th-century mosaic tile are recorded from the
locality (including Coggeshall abbey and Bradwell
church: see below), but they are irrelevant to the
period under consideration.

Table 1. Summary of brick sizes and types from Bradwell church (Fig. 46)

Type Size (cm) Used in Date
Great brick (large) 36x19x6 SE quoin C12
Great brick (standard) 33x 16 x5 all quoins c12
Great brick (standard, var.) 33X 17.5% 5.5 S doorway Gl12
Great brick (*sstandard) 25x%x15%x5 NE quoin (4 exx.) C12
Great brick (small) 21 x 11 x3.2 nave quoins (raising) Cl4
Single chamfer(?) 28x?Xx5 E window ci13
Chamfer & splay (standard) 32x16%x4.5 nave windows Ci12
Chamfer & splay (?/sstandard) 22x%16 x5 nave windows Ci12
Single bullnose 20P% 17.5% 5.5 S doorway Ci2
Double bullnose 185x21x5 N doorway Cl12
Double bullnose (%/3) 125%21%5 N doorway C12
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A cruder and entirely different kind of pseudo-
mosaic work is encountered in the floor at Little
Coggeshall church, the surviving capella extra portas
(Gardner 1955, pl. 14; Norton 1986, 248, n. 44). In
fact, the floor is not made of tiles (in the generally
accepted sense of the word), but of moulded bricks: it
would be more accurately described as a ‘brick mosaic’.
Again, this is not relevant to the early history of
Coggeshall brickwork.

If the Cistercians were not responsible, could the
Savigniacs have introduced brick-makers to Essex in the
1140s, establishing an individualistic factory that paid
no heed to subsequent developments in Cistercian
ceramics? And if so, why only at Coggeshall and not at
Stratford Langthorne? The more the Savig-
niac/Cistercian connection with early Essex brickwork is
probed, the less plausible it appears. It may be that the
chance survival of so much brickwork at Coggeshall
abbey in late 12th- and early 13th-century contexts has
lured scholars into accepting a definitive association
which is more apparent than real.

The conclusion must be that brick-making is
unlikely to have come to Coggeshall directly in
company with a monastic order: more probably it was
an independent, speculative development in the
medieval building industry. That Coggeshall brick,
technically accomplished as it is, could have been a
spontaneous local invention of the early to mid-12th
century is too implausible to merit further discussion,
and an external agency has perforce to be invoked to
explain its appearance. One wonders, could
brickmakers have arrived in east-central Essex for some
other prestigious construction project in, say, the
second quarter of the 12th century, and subsequently
found a ready market for their products as Coggeshall
abbey was being built? There are no major royal or
secular building projects recorded in the district during
the period in question, but the absence of evidence does
not provide a definitive answer.

A hitherto unexplored possibility is that the Knights
Templar were responsible for the introduction of brick
making. Although their headquarters were at Holborn,
London, their most important preceptory in England,
founded in 1136, was at Cressing which is 6.5 km west-
south-west of Coggeshall (Fig. 45). All the early
buildings of the preceptory — with the exception of the
two notable timber-framed barns — have long gone, and
hence their masonry dressings have been lost.
Coggeshall-type bricks have recently turned up during
excavations on the site, but nothing can yet be said
about the structures in which they were originally used
(Ryan and Andrews 1993, 94).

It is interesting to speculate as to what might have
been used at Cressing Temple for masonry dressings in
the 1130s, bearing in mind that all building materials for
this de novo foundation had to be brought on to the site.
Almost certainly, supplies of reusable Roman brick in
the locality were long since exhausted, having gone into
Anglo-Saxon churches. The options were twofold: either
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to import limestone over a long distance, or to obtain a
fresh supply of locally made brick. Although incapable
of proof, it is not inconceivable that the foundation of
Cressing preceptory provided the impetus to seek out
foreign brick-makers.

One of the most intriguing questions arising from the
study of Coggeshall bricks, is why they turn up, in small
quantities, on an ever-increasing number of sites. Very
few fragments have been found in post-medieval
contexts, and their occurrence cannot therefore be
explained as incidental inclusions in rubble carted from
Coggeshall abbey after the Dissolution. On the contrary,
it is clear that the overwhelming majority of Coggeshall
bricks reached their present destinations in the Middle
Ages, although not necessarily immediately following
manufacture. The Bradwell bricks were undoubtedly
new when they were built into the church. This contrasts
with nearby Rivenhall, where there is no meaningful
structural context for the use of Coggeshall brick, yet no
less than three sizes of plain ‘great brick’ and seven
architectural types have been found in excavations
adjacent to the church (Rodwell and Rodwell 1993, 7-8).

It is difficult to locate examples of Coggeshall brick
in structures which are confidently assignable to the
12th century, apart from Bradwell church and the abbey
itself. The use of Coggeshall bricks in coursed rubble-
work at Great Leighs church is particularly interesting,
for here they occur in the lowest stage of the round
tower. The quantity is small, and Roman bricks are
mixed with the medieval, but the context is primary and
undoubtedly datable to the second half of the 12th
century. This tower is further distinguished by having a
plait-motif used in the stone hood-moulding of its west
doorway: it has been shown that the detail originates in
Schleswig-Holstein, and no other occurrence of it has
been noted in England (Heywood 1988, 173, fig. 71). It
may be no coincidence that north Germany is the
homeland of some of the earliest medieval brickwork in
north-west Europe. This is a potential indicator that
brickmakers came to Essex, along with other artisans
from Europe, without the direct involvement of any
specific religious order.

After Bradwell, the most extensive occurrence of
Coggeshall brick is in Great Braxted church, where the
quoins of the tower and the chancel are made almost
entirely of it. Here the use is early 13th century. At
Fairstead church the quoins of the west tower and the
dressings of the chancel doorway are all of Coggeshall
brick. The date of the tower has been claimed as early
13th century, but it may belong to the end of the
previous century. Small quantities of brick occur in the
dressings of several other late 12th-century churches,
including Little Leighs, Barnston and Boreham.

Coggeshall-type moulded bricks are also found in
the 12th-century newel stair at Fyfield church (Ryan
1996). This is an anomaly for which there is currently
no satisfactory explanation, Fyfield lying well outside
the nucleus of the Coggeshall distribution (Fig. 45).

The latest known use of Coggeshall brick in a
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structural context is in the south arcade at Copford
church: here, chamfered bricks were employed for the
inner orders of one of the arches in the late 13th century
(RCHM 1922, 76). But this may be misleading; it is
likely that the medieval bricks were recycled, since they
occur in company with reused Roman bricks. Finally, it
may be noted that Coggeshall brick occurs in small
quantities in at least a further thirteen local churches.*

Although other sporadic occurrences of early
medieval brick are known in Essex and Suffolk, these
are not closely related to the Coggeshall types, in terms
of fabric or dimensions. Moreover, they are plain and
were not intended to reproduce architectural mouldings.
Outside the Coggeshall area, there are only two
substantial survivals of i situ brickwork antedating the
13th century. The first is at Polstead church, Suffolk,
where the arches of the nave arcades are turned entirely
in plain ‘great bricks’ (Kennett 1990; Haward 1993,
322-3). These semicircular arches, of two square orders,
are carried on stone piers with decorated capitals. A date
around the middle of the 12th century is implied
(probably pre-1163). The dimensions of the bricks
average 25.5x 15x 3.7 cm (10 x 6 X 1'/2ins). Elsewhere
in the church there are yet smaller bricks, and some
undoubted Roman material too.

The second occurrence is at Chipping Ongar
church, Essex, where plain ‘great bricks’ were coursed
into the rubble walls, used as dressings for the north
nave doorway, and set on edge to form a relieving arch
over the monolithic limestone head of a narrow window.
The church has been assigned to the late 11th century
(RCHM 1921, 52), but this is optimistic and a date
nearer the middle of the 12th century is suggested.
Either way, the brickwork is extremely early and on
morphological considerations the building would
appear to be contemporary with Bradwell-juxta-
Coggeshall church. The dimensions of the Ongar bricks
average 38 x 19 x 3.8 cm (15 x 7'/2x 1'/2ins).”’

The source of the Polstead bricks is unknown: they
may constitute an isolated occurrence, or they may be
part of a so-far unrecognized distribution in south-east
Suffolk. The church at Chipping Ongar was associated
with Ongar castle, and thus a context for the arrival of
early brick on the site may be established. Neither,
however, includes special-purpose bricks of the 12th or
13th centuries: in that respect the Coggeshall types are
unique in the region.
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Appendix 1

Wall paintings
by Sharon Cather and David Park

Introduction

Bradwell church is notable for its splendid series of 14th-
century wall paintings, described by Pevsner as ‘aesthetically
of the highest quality’ (Pevsner 1965, 97), but it also retains
important paintings associated with the early Gothic and late
medieval phases of the building. All of this painting seems to
have been uncovered during the restoration by the Revd. T. H.
Curling in 1905, who recounted that until that time the walls
were covered with whitewash. He then

‘determined to make some personal experiments in

the removal of the whitewash...[and] was rewarded by

discovering two paintings in the window south of the
nave. The other paintings were discovered partly by
the workmen, partly by myself and my friend, Mr.

Stephen Warner ... The whole of the north wall of the

nave was covered with paintings but...it was

impossible to preserve any except the little head of a

cherub’ (Curling 1906, 36-7).

In his account of the wall paintings that came to light, Curling
includes only the 14th-century scheme in the Decorated
windows, the head of the ‘cherub’, and ‘high up on the east
wall of the chancel...an angel with outstretched wings’. There
is no mention of the considerable remains of decorative
painting in the chancel, including that on the unblocked
Romanesque window in the east wall. Given the absence of
any subsequent documented programme of uncovering, it is
likely that Curling simply confined his descriptions to the
figure-subjects, omitting as insignificant purely ornamental
painting.

The rationale for exposing the resulting assemblage of
fragments of schemes from at least three periods eludes the
modern observer. Much painting must have been destroyed
wilfully or carelessly in the quest for earlier remains, and the
unblocking of the Romanesque window creates a palimpsest
of architectural periods to match that of the wall paintings.
Curling’s account of the stripping of the screen - whitewash,
lath and plaster, black-letter texts and Commandments all
went - suggests that it is his legacy. What is perhaps clearer is
that much painting must remain concealed. Mercifully, for
whatever reason, the treasure hunt was curtailed.

Despite the wealth of phases represented in the exposed
paintings, the one period from which no painting is known is
the first, that of the early or mid 12th century. Rodwell has
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Fig. 47 Chancel, east wall: Romanesque window with early
Gothic decoration. (Copyright Courtauld Institute)

Fig. 48 Chancel, north-east window, eastern splay: Throne
of Mercy Trinity (detail). (Copyright Courtauld Institute)
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Fig. 49 Nave, south window, eastern splay: Incredulity of St
Thomas (detail). (Copyright Courtauld Institute)

convincingly demonstrated that the rubble and brick exterior
was originally rendered, but it is unlikely that the external
plaster of such a modest church was decorated with masonry
pattern or other ornament. By contrast, it is likely that the
interior, with largely uninterrupted wall surfaces, would have
been painted with an extensive and coherent programme of
christological and other subject-matter typical of the period,
though doubtless much less elaborate than the approximately
contemporary scheme in the bishop’s chapel at nearby
Copford (Park 1993).

13th century

The earliest visible painting at Bradwell is in the southern of
the two small Romanesque windows high up in the chancel
east wall (Fig. 47). Originally, this window formed part of a
group of five lights, their disposition and proportions
reconstructed by Rodwell on the basis of the archaeological
evidence. In the early Gothic period, the lower three were
enlarged, while in the 15th century the central light was
destroyed by the insertion of the large Perpendicular window,
accompanied by the blocking of the remaining windows.
Presumably during the repairs and investigations of 1905, the
upper southern window, which preserves its Romanesque
proportions, was excavated and the well preserved early
Gothic painted decoration exposed. No doubt further remains
of the 13th-century scheme — and perhaps the original
Romanesque layer beneath it — survive in the windows that
remain blocked.

The unblocked window retains paintings on its splays and
soffit, though the base of the northern splay was destroyed by
the 15th-century window. Although there are no visible
remains of the scheme extending on to the east wall, the
surface surrounding the unblocked window has never been
carefully examined. Despite considerable loss, the essential
components of the early Gothic fictive architectural scheme
survive. Masonry pattern of single horizontal and double
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vertical lines, the latter consistently differentiated as one dark
and one light line, covers the splays and the soffit where the
courses narrow and converge toward the window opening.
The outer edge of the soffit is articulated by fictive voussoirs,
composed of alternating red and yellow blocks, divided by
double red lines, and separated from the adjacent masonry
pattern by a white border. Most interesting, however, is the
fictive column which notionally supports the voussoirs. It is
composed of a narrow yellow shaft, prominent red and yellow
astragali from which spring simple forms intermediate
between volute and foliate, and which are painted in red
against yellow and highlighted in white. These are surmounted
by a wide rectangular abacus, banded in white, yellow and red,
which matches the width of the voussoirs.

Ornament of fictive voussoirs combined with masonry
pattern is typical of the early Gothic period, and is recorded
for example on windows of the capella ante portas of Tilty
Abbey (RCHM 1916, 321; Park 1986a, 195-7). As at
Bradwell, such decoration was often used to embellish and
update earlier Romanesque architecture. At Great Canfield,
two of the large 12th-century windows in the chancel east wall
were painted in the mid 13th century with masonry pattern —
which extends across the wall — as well as stylised foliage
(Tristram 1950, 333-4, 518, pl. 170). Although Essex provides
no known parallel for an imitation column in window
decoration, comparable examples dating from ¢. 1200 and
later in the 13th century either survive or are recorded at some
six sites, and a further two examples date from about the
beginning of the 14th century. One of these late examples is
also the most elaborate. The west window of the refectory of
Bushmead Priory (Beds.) is embellished by early 14th-century
decoration in which the fictive capitals, with serrated foliage
and carefully detailed astragal and abacus, extend
appropriately on to both the splay and the wall. Predictably,
the capitals support an imitation arch of voussoirs in
alternating red and buff. Surprisingly, on the soffit the width
of the arch is halved by the inclusion of a band of foliate
ornament which also, improbably, springs from the abacus
(Park 1986b, 73, pl. 8).

Despite similarities to some of the earlier examples, the
Bradwell column does not provide sufficient stylistic evidence
to allow a precise dating. It may be compared, for example, to
the columns at the edges of the reveals of the lancets in the
nave of Ampney St Mary in Gloucestershire (Tristram 1955,
134), where the three volutes of the capitals are disposed
symmetrically on each face and at the angle, presumably the
original arrangement at Bradwell. However, the Ampney St
Mary decoration is simultaneously less architectonic, executed
only in simple outline, and significantly later, dating from c.
1300. Elsewhere, two recorded examples provide further
comparisons: a column capital on an Early English lancet in
the chancel at Westwell (Oxon) apparently had three tiers of
paired volutes, while another at St Twynells (Pembrokeshire)
imitated stiff leaf (C.A.B. 1859, pls. opp. pp. 269 and 270).
Both examples seem particularly simplified, though it is
difficult to assess whether that is largely a function of the
crude 19th-century engravings from which they are known.
Surviving examples in a grander building, the chapter house
of Dryburgh Abbey of ¢. 1200, perform a similar function,
with simple capitals painted over initial incised drawing at the
springing of the arch (Redman 1997, 11-12, pl. 23).

Perhaps the most instructive parallel for Bradwell is
provided by the extensive and elaborate, though unpublished,
decorative scheme in the chancel of Ewenny Priory
(Glamorganshire), dating from ¢. 1200 and embellishing
fenestration datable on documentary evidence to between
1116 and 1126 (Thurlby 1988). The ambitious Ewenny
scheme unifies the Romanesque three-light elevation using the
Bradwell components — masonry pattern, fictive voussoirs and
columns - but adds segmental arches, which spring from the
capitals on the lower flanking windows to span the intervening

surfaces. Here, the masonry pattern is a robust double red-line
design, enriched with tendrils emerging from the vertical
joints; it extends throughout the windows and across the wall,
forming a continuous backdrop for the more assertive
architectural elements. The column shafts are red and extend
equally on to splay and wall surface, the width of the shaft
apparently adjusted to the height of the window, so that the
central higher shaft is proportionately broader. The capitals
have a prominent astragal, foliate ornament in red and white,
and terminate in a heavy red abacus, outlined in white and
ornamented with white dots. On each of the windows, this

Fig. 50 Nave, south window, soffit: Agnus Dei.
(Copyright Courtauld Institute)

Fig. 51 Chancel, east wall: 15th-century cloth of honour to
north of window. (Copyright Courtauld Institute)
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abacus forms the base for the springing of the fictive
voussoirs, in characteristic alternating red and yellow. On the
area of the wall between the windows, however, painted
segmental arches spring improbably from the broad astragal of
the flanking windows, tangle with the foliate ornament of the
capital, and come to rest on an extra astragal provided at that
level on the columns that flank the central window. This
curious innovation results in a new rhythm of arcuation, both
of height and form.

Clearly, the early Gothic transformation of the stolid
Romanesque architecture at Ewenny is mirrored at Bradwell.
At Bradwell, however, the updating involved architectural
alterations — the enlargement of the lower windows — as well as
painted decoration. As at Ewenny, it is reasonable to assume
that the Bradwell decoration was extensive, and, as noted
above, it seems likely that further areas remain concealed.

14th century

The most conspicuous and important of the various painting
schemes is that of the 14th century, now exposed on the splays
and soffits of three Decorated windows, in a band across the
upper part of the chancel east wall, and as a small fragment
near the north door. A programme of scientific investigation
and conservation by the Courtauld Institute in 1991-3, funded
by the Chase Charity, was confined mainly to stabilisation and
other remedial treatment of the exposed paintings on the
Decorated windows. The conservation was occasioned by the
obvious instability of the painted soffit of the north-east
window of the chancel, where the most significant intervention
was undertaken. Here, structural investigations indicated that
the rubble walling above the soffit was so degraded that there
was an imminent risk of collapse. Therefore, the window was
shored with a counterform and the walling above the soffit
rebuilt from the exterior, resulting in the discovery that the
window incorporated part of the western splay of the original
Romanesque window.

The eastern splay of this chancel window is painted with
aThrone of Mercy — or Gradenstuhl —Trinity (Fig. 48). This
iconographic type comprises God the Father enthroned,
Christ crucified, and the Holy Spirit descending in the form
of a dove, and was the dominant form throughout Europe
from the Romanesque period onward. Remarkably, what
appears to be the earliest known example, of ¢. 1090, is the
recently discovered wall painting above the chancel arch at
Houghton-on-the-Hill in Norfolk (Park and Heywood
1997). At Bradwell, the monumental, rigidly frontal figure of
God the Father occupies virtually the entire available space,
and supports the cross with the crucified Christ, represented
on a markedly smaller scale. Although only fragments of the
dove survive, there is enough to discern that it is in a
characteristic position, descending from the upper left with
its head close to Christ’s.

On the soffit of this window is an abbreviated Doom,
similar to the 13th-century example in a comparable position
on one of the nave windows at nearby Easthorpe, which,
however, continues down on to the splays (Tristram 1950,
540, pl. 172). Christ displaying his wounds is enclosed in a
mandorla at the centre, flanked by angels bearing the
Instruments of the Passion; the better-preserved western angel
gazes up at Christ and holds the cross and the crown of thorns.
On the western splay, and unidentified before the recent
conservation programme, is the Noli me Tangere. Although the
Magdalene has virtually disappeared, the swaying figure of
Christ — holding the staff of Resurrection and reaching down
to deflect the Magdalene’s touch — is readily recognisable, and
painted on the same scale as the figure of God the Father
opposite. Christ’s elegant swaying pose is particularly closely
paralleled in the early 14th-century Peterborough Psalter
(Sandler 1974, fig. 55). The identification of this post-
Resurrection subject lends further credence to Sheingorn’s
suggestion that the decoration of this window may have been
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associated with a temporary Easter Sepulchre on the north
side of the chancel (Sheingorn 1987, 137), though presumably
the prominent depiction of the Trinity on the eastern splay at
least partly reflects the dedication of the church itself.

Both the eastern nave windows retain painting belonging
to this scheme. On the eastern splay of the southern window is
an elegant figure of Christ who holds the staff of Resurrection
with its fluttering banner across his body with his left hand,
and, with his right, guides that of the kneeling Thomas to his
wound (Fig. 49). Most of the figure of Thomas has been lost,
but even in its fragmentary form this representation of the
subject is again especially closely paralleled in the
Peterborough Psalter (Sandler 1974, fig. 58). Interestingly, it
also shares the pose of Christ and the overall composition with
the Noli me Tangere in the chancel. On the soffit of this window
the Agnus Dei is enclosed in a roundel surrounded by
vinescroll (Fig. 50), while on the western splay is St James the
Great. The saint is shown holding his scrip and bourdon,
though without the pilgrim’s hat sometimes included in
representations of this period. He is depicted on a smaller scale
than Christ opposite, the space above occupied by the
repetitive decorative motif of triple red dots that forms the
background for both splays. Yet he is on the same scale as the
kneeling figure of St Thomas, and this, together with the Agnus
Dei attribute of St John the Baptist on the soffit, indicates that
the programme of this window was conceived as primarily
hagiographical rather than christological.

Much less remains of the programme on the opposite
window on the north side of the nave. On the eastern splay,
little can be discerned except the head of a canopy. On the
soffit, however, is a roundel enclosing a bird, revealed during
the recent conservation work as the eagle symbol of St John
the Evangelist holding a scroll. As with the corresponding
Agnus Der on the southern window, it was surrounded by a
vinescroll, though both the western area of the soffit and the
western splay are covered with whitewash and have not been
investigated. The pairing on these windows of John the Baptist,
simultaneously the last prophet and the first saint, with John
the Evangelist, one of the first called and best-loved of the
disciples, occurs frequently in medieval programmes (Ayers
1998, 37-8, 62). The eucharistic Agnus Dei represents the
sacrifice of Christ, and thus the gift of grace, while the eagle,
which flies closest to heaven, denotes the Evangelist’s
privileged understanding of the message of Christ.

On the nave walls, the only significant fragment of the
14th-century scheme now visible is the small head high up to
the west of the north door. Although described by Curling as
the ‘head of a cherub’, it is doubtless that of a Christ Child
originally carried by a figure of St Christopher. Almost
ubiquitous in parish churches from the 13th century onward,
St Christopher was typically represented above or beside one
of the nave doorways so that the image was readily visible;
thus, a much-damaged figure of the saint occurs next to the
north door in the early 14th-century paintings recently
discovered at Little Tey (Curteis, this volume). As at Little Tey
and in numerous other schemes of the period, it is likely that a
miscellany of diverse subjects, such as the Three Living and
the Three Dead, occupied the nave walls, and it is entirely
possible that some of this painting may still survive under the
later whitewash. Small exploratory tests undertaken in 1991-
92 showed that the painting on the nave windows continues on
to the adjacent wall surfaces.

On the chancel walls, the only area of 14th-century
painting now exposed is high up on the east wall, comprising
remains of double-line masonry pattern with an upper border
of red and white wave pattern enriched with circles, similar to,
but somewhat more elaborate than, the borders dividing the
splays from the soffit in the southern nave window. At the
north end of the wall, this border can be seen sloping down to
follow the line of the ceiling. This 14th-century layer has been
heavily keyed for the application of the later medieval plaster
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which still covers much of the east wall, and no doubt more of
the scheme survives underneath.

One of the most striking features of the 14th-century
paintings is the darkened areas, particularly the face of Christ
in the Incredulity of St Thomas (Fig. 49). Scientific
examination showed that the palette includes not only red and
yellow ochres, but also vermilion and lead pigments, of which
the last have altered to a dark form. Both vermilion and lead-
based pigments would have been applied with an organic
medium, making them more vulnerable to loss due to
obliteration and to amateur uncovering. Much of the painting
that survives represents only the initial underdrawing and
blocking out of forms. Undoubtedly the paintings would have
been far more colourful, and thus more comparable to the
contemporary stained glass that filled the windows. Altered
lead pigments are particularly common in the flesh areas of
early 14th-century paintings in East Anglia, with some of the
most striking examples at Little Wenham just across the
Suffolk border. The use of lead pigments, however, occurs at
least as early as the Romanesque period, as in the figure of an
apostle of ¢. 1140 at Little Easton, and numerous instances of
their alteration have been identified (Welford 1991). For red
lead, the transformation to the darkened form (plattnerite)
seems to occur in two stages: first, alteration to white lead
(cerussite) and then to dark brown plattnerite. This has been
observed in the Romanesque wall paintings of St Gabriel’s
Chapel, Canterbury Cathedral, where a grey veil of cerussite
has formed over the red lead layers (Cather and Howard
1994, 149, pl. 12). The same phenomenon is evident at
Bradwell, including areas of a greyish veil in the Incredulity of
St Thomas.

Stylistically, the elegant poses of the Bradwell figures and
the triangular swag of broad fold drapery descending from the
knees of God the Father in the Trinity, fit comfortably in the
second quarter of the 14th century. The same is true of the
decorative motifs, such as the foliate scrollwork in the
background of the Doom, paralleled in paintings such as those
of ¢. 1340 at South Newington in Oxfordshire (Tristram
1955, 226-9, pl. 16a). The naturalistic foliage on the soffits of
the nave windows finds close parallels in the contemporary
stained glass surviving in these windows, while comparable
leaves also occurred in the lost painting of the Deadly Sins at
Felsted, dating from about the middle of the century (Benton
1923-5, pl. opp. 32). The arrangement of the nave soffit motifs
in roundels surrounded by vinescroll is particularly closely
paralleled in the south arcade scheme of Evangelist Symbols at
Little Witchingham (Norfolk), though in these slightly later
paintings of ¢. 1360 the roundels are elaborated by cusping
and the vinescroll with bunches of grapes (Pevsner and Wilson
1997, 601). There is no doubt that all the window paintings at
Bradwell belong to a single scheme, executed in the second
quarter of the century and in all probability coeval with the
surviving tiles and glass of the period. Overall, this point
undoubtedly marked the moment of greatest elaboration in the
development of the church.

15th century

Whatever the original extent of the 14th-century programme,
the subsequent alterations to the fenestration — two later
Decorated windows inserted in the chancel south wall, and
Perpendicular windows at the west and east ends and in the
chancel north wall — would have necessitated adjustments to
the painted decoration. Although there are substantial remains
of late medieval painting on the east wall of the chancel, they
cannot be dated precisely though they may well be at least
partly coeval with the large window that was inserted there. To
the south of this window is the upper part of a large and
elaborate canopy, painted in black outline with yellow and
white, and decorated with trefoil cresting and other motifs.
This canopy presumably framed a figure, and may be only
partially uncovered; lower down the wall, immediately to the
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south of the Maxey monument, is further painting which
seems to be in the same style, in black outline with areas of
yellow and white, though adjacent patches of black paint frame
an 18th-century mural tablet.

More extensive remains of late medieval painting survive
to the north of the window, though the central area is now lost
or concealed by whitewash (Fig. 51). The painting consists of
a red ground decorated with rows of small white stencilled
rosettes, bordered above and at right — where it follows the
jamb of the 15th-century window - by an exuberant border of
fleshy yellow and white foliage which spirals round a crimson
rod. The rosettes are of a size and form common in the
painted decoration of late medieval screens in East Anglia
(Vallance 1936, pls. 174, 187, 206-8), while the border type is
frequently found in stained glass and other media from the
early 15th until well into the following century, and is
therefore not closely datable; prominent examples occur in
the mid 15th-century glass at Combs in Suffolk (Woodforde
1950, pl. XLII).

Centred above this decoration is the upper part of an
angel, with yellow hair and wings, while the red ground
continues on to the adjacent part of the north wall and retains
traces in a darker red of what may be a brocade pattern. This
decoration seems, therefore, to show an angel supporting a
cloth, presumably as the background for a sculpture. Angels
supporting a cloth of honour are frequently associated with
images of the Virgin, as in a 15th-century niche at Great
Ellingham (Norfolk) with its painted backdrop to a carved
image of a seated Virgin and Child now lost (Tench 1923-25,
345-6, pls. opp. 341 and 345). By the late Middle Ages, all
parish churches must have had at least one image of the
Virgin; already in 1287, Exeter synodal legislation
recommends the provision of such an image in every parish
church (Binski 1995, 50). Essex examples dating from earlier
in that century still survive in wall painting — behind the altar
at Great Canfield (Tristram 1950, 518, pls. 170-1) — and in
sculpture: a polychromed wooden image apparently from
Langham now in the Victoria and Albert Museum
(Williamson 1995, 114, ill. 174). Moreover, the position of the
Bradwell painting to the north of the altar also suggests that
the Virgin was represented. Positioning of the image on or
against the east wall of the chancel, to the north of the altar,
seems to have been typical, and two early 14th-century
examples survive across the Suffolk border. At Little Wenham
is a magnificent wall painting of the Virgin and Child, while at
Brent Eleigh only the elaborate painted backdrop complete
with censing angels survives of what must originally have been
a combination of wall painting and sculpture (Binski 1995, pl.
44a and b).

Finally, considerable remains of decorative painting
were uncovered on the 15th-century rood screen during
Curling’s restoration work. No remains of medieval painting
were found on the western face of the screen, but the upper
zone would have been hidden by the projecting rood loft
gallery, from which the singers would have been able to see
into the chancel through the small trefoil openings. Similar
openings survive in the screen at Llanelieu, Breconshire
(Vallance 1936, 23, 68, pl. 33), which however is painted
with simple ornament and surmounted by a painted
backdrop to a carved rood. The plastered typanum above
the Bradwell screen is very likely to have had a similar
rood composition, of the type which occurs in eastern
England at Kingston (Cambs.) and elsewhere. Painted
decoration on the Bradwell screen survives only on the
eastern face, and is merely decorative, consisting of highly
stylized red and white flowers scattered over a green ground.
During the Curling restoration, painting was discovered on
the front but was removed in the search for an earlier
scheme. It consisted of the Commandments and other texts,
facing the congregation like those on the nave east wall at
Theydon Mount (RCHM 1921, 234), and is the only
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significant painting — apart from a 17th-century Royal Arms
now hanging at the west end — recorded from the post-
Reformation phases of the church.

Appendix 2

The medieval floor tiles
by Paul Drury

Around 400 medieval floor tiles survive reset in two areas of
the floor, one at the west end of the nave, the other at the west
end of the chancel on the south side; more appear to be under
the rector’s stall. Most are very worn, having totally lost their
surface, and were probably so when they were discovered,
presumably during the restorations of 1905 and later. A
smaller selection, with clearly surviving designs, was reset in
the cill of the western window on the south side of the chancel,
where they were noted by Curling (1906, 36). There is also a
collection of loose tiles and other building materials in a chest
at the west end of the nave.*®

GROUP 1: Line-impressed and stencilled group
The majority of the relaid tiles appear to belong to this group.
They are typically ¢. 120 mm square, 21-25 mm thick, in a red
sandy fabric, usually with a grey core; the edges are slightly
undercut, the sanded bases normally smoothed after removal
from the form. All the patterns present at Bradwell are
stencilled, the technique imposing a simplicity in design. They
comprise:
Four-tile patterns
These are mostly variations of the very common foliate
roundel; no. 6 is a traceried roundel.

Fig. 52 5 examples
19 examples
3 examples
5 examples
1 example
1 example

AW~

Single-tile pattern
7 A rose within a roundel; 2 examples

Repeating pattern
8 3 examples

Border tiles

Designs 9 and 10 were clearly intended to work together; the
reversed-out design 11 presumably also had a corner version,
but no examples have yet been found. The guilloche, 12, is
rather more sophisticated.

9 2 examples
10 6 examples
11 1 example

12 7 examples

There are numerous examples of glazed plain piles of
this group, both brown and cream (glazed over a white slip),
and of tiles with the surface entirely worn away. These plain
tiles were normally laid with joints at 45 degrees to the walls,
in ‘carpet strips’ separated by borders parallel to the long axis
of the floor, hence the presence of many plain and
worn tiles scored for breaking, and broken, diagonally into
two or four triangles, to form the abutments of ‘carpets’
against borders.

At other sites, decoration on tiles of this group includes
single, large line-impressed motifs, and zoomorphic designs
with the fine details added by impressing a sharply-cut die on
the stencilled outline. All three forms of decoration occur, for
example, in the assemblage at Rivenhall church (Drury

110

1993, 10-12). They are found over an extensive area of
northern Essex, southern Suffolk and south-eastern
Cambridgeshire; locally, apart from Rivenhall, they are
known from Great Coggeshall church (but not the abbey),
Inworth and Witham. Their source is unknown, but the
distribution pattern (Drury 1981, fig. 93), suggests that it lay
somewhere in the Stour valley. Dating evidence is sparse, but
a substantial production period centred on the middle of the
14th century seems likely. At Rivenhall, tiles of this group
were tentatively associated with the extensive alterations to
the church completed in the 1320s. There is as yet no
evidence as to whether the use of the simplest form of
decoration alone is chronologically significant.

GROUP 2: Line-impressed mosaic, probably Coggeshall

A single fragment (Fig. 52.13), in a coarse red sandy fabric, 25
mm thick, sanded base. The surface is worn, with a pale green
glaze over a slip; lines faintly scored before firing indicate that
it belongs to a pictorial panel rather than a repeating pattern.

Pictorial panels of this kind, normally set within larger
areas of line-impressed mosaic tiling, are probably best known
from the surviving floor of Prior Crauden’s chapel at Ely, of c.
1324-25 (Keen 1979, esp. figs 4-6). Here, however, the
presence of but a single fragment in so large a collection of
medieval material suggests that one, or at most a small
number, of picture panels may have been set into a floor of
much less expensive material. The obvious location would be
in the chancel, before the altar.

Line-impressed mosaic has a wide distribution in England,
and the sequence of development of the regional styles is not
yet clear. The group to which Ely belongs has a distinctive
fabric quite unlike Essex material, and.occurs as far south-east
as Tilty Abbey, but no further. Other line-impressed material,
apparently of local origin, is known from north-west Essex,
extending as far south-eastwards as Chelmsford. But the most
likely affinity of this fragment is with material from Coggeshall
Abbey, which includes both two-colour and line-impressed
mosaic (for the latter, see Dampier 1864, 50), the latter having
no die-links with the other groups in the region. Quite possibly
this material belongs to an early period in the introduction,
dissemination and indeed development of line-impressed
mosaic, when tiles were primarily manufactured by itinerant
craftsmen for wealthy patrons. The presumed panel at
Bradwell is probably a minor consequence of major
production at Coggeshall; the date is probably in the early 14th
century.

GROUP 3:The Drinkstone group

Tiles ¢. 120 mm square, normally 20-23 mm thick, in a hard
orange to red sandy fabric containing red flecks, and often
partially reduced; the edges are undercut, often acutely so, the
bases smooth or sanded. The design was produced by the slip-
over-impression technique, in which the surface of the slip
occasionally remains below that of the tile, but more often
appears as a virtual inlay, 0.5-1.0 mm deep. Surface colours
are generally reddish-brown and yellow-buff, with a lustrous
glaze where unworn.

14 A perching bird, within what would appear as a diaper
pattern in repetition. One example; also known from
Drinkstone, Suffolk (Sherlock 1980, des. 95).

15 A pelican in her piety; 3 examples.

This group takes its name from the small collection relaid
in the north-east corner of the nave floor of Drinkstone
Church, which, in addition to zoomorphic designs like those
represented here, includes fine geometric patterns and heraldic
designs (Sherlock 1980, des. 83, 86, 95, 124, 125). These finely
wrought tiles are found sparsely across north-west Essex, west
Suffolk and south Cambridgeshire; locally, examples are
known from Coggeshall Abbey and Feering church. Their
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Fig. 52 Medieval floor tiles. 7-12 Stencilled group; 13 Line-impressed mosaic; 14-15 Drinkstone group;
16 Inworth line-impressed group. Scale 1:4

source is uncertain, but a waster fragment probably of this
group was found built into the tile kiln excavated at Radwinter
(Webster and Cherry 1980, 262), to which it probably came,
from no great distance, with the pegtile wasters which were the
main building material of the kiln.

Dating evidence is similarly tenuous. Part at least of
Drinkstone church was rebuilt in 1340 (Cresswell 1896),
following which they may have been used there. One tile in the
series shows a merchant mark, which does not seem to have
been common before the late 14th century (Girling 1964).The
Radwinter kiln was last fired, on archacomagnetic evidence, in
1420%20, but could have been built 30 or 40 years previously.
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A late 14th-century date for the group is therefore likely,
placing them among the latest decorated tiles to be produced in
East Anglia. Their quality, of both design and execution, also
sets them apart from the products of the far more numerous
late 13th- and early 14th-century manufactories of the region,
like Danbury (Drury and Pratt 1975).

GROUP 4: The Inworth line-impressed group
Tiles ¢. 118 mm square, in a red fabric, often rather reduced.
Since all are in situ, other details are unknown.

16  one example
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These tiles, known only from Bradwell and Inworth parish
churches, some 7 km apart, were probably produced by a local
tilery in crude and simplified imitation of a line-impressed and
stencilled group design illustrated in Drury 1993, fig 5.5. A
late 14th-century date seems likely.

GROUP 5: Plain Flemish

Tiles ¢. 115 mm square, glazed dark green (plain) or yellow
(over slip), with 5 nail holes; another fragment, perhaps from
a larger tile, has a mottled green glaze. Since they are in situ,
other details of these tiles are unknown.

Plain coloured Flemish tiles, distinguishable from local
products by the holes caused by the nailed board used to grip
the tiles during trimming, are common in southern and
eastern England between the later 14th and mid-16th
centuries, substantially filling the gap left by an apparent
decline in production within the region. The smaller sizes tend
to belong earlier in the date range.

Discussion

The overwhelming majority of floor tiles present belong to the
Line-impressed and Stencilled group, and there can be little
doubt that a substantial part, at least, of the interior of the
church was paved with these tiles in the 14th century. Of the
other groups, only the fragment of a mosaic pictorial panel
could predate the main paving work, but it is hard to see how
it could have been used in an otherwise unpaved floor. Perhaps
one or more of these panels provided a high quality
contribution to the chancel floor, the stencilled tiles being used
elsewhere, as a cheaper version of the Prior Crauden’s chapel
flooring where line-impressed mosaic was used for general
paving (Keen 1979, pl. 20). If so, the whole campaign is likely
to belong to the 1320s or ’30s.

The later tiles, present in small numbers, probably reflect
subsequent, smaller-scale, embellishment and making-good
after alterations or because of heavy wear, to which stencilled
tiles are particularly vulnerable. The number of distinct
groups of medieval tiles, all probably within the 14th century,
is unusual for a parish church of modest size: compare
Rivenhall with just three, one of which was of 15th- or 16th-
century date (Drury 1993). This may reflect a wider
programme of incremental work to the fabric of the church
during the 14th century.

Notes

L. It is, however, worth noting that the buildings, yards and closes
of Bradwell Hall extend over a much larger area than might be
expected for a modest rural manor. On the Tithe Map (1839),
no fewer than twenty separate structures are shown, in
addition to the hall itself (ERO: D/CT 45B). This may hint at
a more extensive medieval settlement than has hitherto been
supposed. Unfortunately, the hall was completely rebuilt after
a fire in 1879, and huge agricultural sheds have replaced the
traditional farm structures. The old hall appears to have been
16th century, with later embellishments (Mason 1901).

2 The painting of 1908, by A.B. Bamford, depicts a panoramic
view, looking east. It was published as the frontispiece to the
volume containing Curling 1906; it is also reproduced in Bond
1908, 126. For a more restricted photographic view of 1913,
see RCHM 1922, opp. p. 34.

3. Curling was rector of Bradwell, 1901-12; Secretary of the Essex
Archaeological Society, 1903-23, and President in 1944, the
year of his death.

4, Unfortunately, the trenching was not archaeologically
supervised. Some pieces of brick and tile were collected, and
are now kept in an oak chest at the west end of the church. They
include several items of special interest.

5. Oddly, earlier accounts mention only the few tiles on the
chancel window sill. It would appear that the two areas on
the floor must have been concealed from view until sometime
after 1913.

6. The slab was also listed, without comment, in EA. Greenhill,
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16.
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18.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.
31.
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Incised Effigial Slabs, 2, 3. (London, 1976).

The sill has since been built up, so that only the front edge of
the seat can be seen; there were probably never any divisions
between the sedilia.

RCHM 1922, 13, pl. p. xxxiv. Paul 1986, 48.

All elevation drawings are marked with the site datum [SD],
which is the top of the threshold slab in the south doorway (Fig.
5). This roughly corresponds to the level of the foundation
offset in the west wall.

If this hypothesis holds true, it is odd that so many of the caps
should have been made from spliced ends. The only way to prove
that the caps were former shingles would be to locate the fixing
holes, but that would involve removing timbers from the walls.
In 1992, Dr Andrews observed that the top of the Norman
north wall was finished with a thick layer of mortar, but he did
not see any evidence for the bedding of original roof timbers.
A complete example in the north-west quoin measures 30 x 18
x 1.8 cm.

A fragment of ormer(?) shell was also noted.

During the 1992 repair, Dr Andrews observed that, in the wall
core, the mortar was unusually hard, orange-brown, and
appeared to contain brickearth. On the surface, this has
leached-out, revealing the paler colour of the lime and sand
constituents.

There are six whole bricks in the south-east quoin, six in the
north-west, and four in the south-west quoin.

Parts of both jambs are obscured by modern notice boards;
the bottom of the east jamb is also partly covered by the
porch bench.

It must however be acknowledged that there is no specific
evidence to confirm that either block has been shortened in situ.
Dr Andrews noted the springing of the eastern jamb of the lost
window, and also found curved fragments of limewashed
wallplaster which had presumably come from its soffit.

Wattle housings are sometimes found in wallplates and ashlar-
pieces, for closing the eaves internally: e.g. West Bergholt church
(Andrews 1996). For a different arrangement, see the chancel
roof at Bradwell (below).

A single, blocked putlog hole was found in 1992, when the
window head at the north-east corner of the chancel was
rebuilt. Inf. Dr D.D. Andrews.

In the head of the main eastern light is a glazier’s inscription:
W.¥. Gosling Coggeshall 1912.

In the main eastern light is' a glazier’s inscription: Arthur
Brasier Coggeshale Gla/s]r 1833. See Guthrie 1991, opp. 11.
The masonry is spalled and has been variously patched. Glazed
medieval floor tiles were used to repair the east jamb of the south
window. Two tile types are present, measuring 135 x 135 x 30
mm and 110 x 110 20 mm, respectively. The jambs carry various
graffiti, including WN, on the east side (17th-18th century).
The limewashing is post-medieval, because it fills various dated
graffiti on the jambs of the north window. These include: 77
1753 and IL 1753.

The following extracts are taken from the transcript published
by Goodes. The original document is in the PR.O.: De Bianco
Roll 537, m.349d, 18 Rich. II.

The patronage was then in royal hands (Newcourt 1710, 2, 82).
The Aldersgate window, which was destroyed when the church
was rebuilt in 1790-91, dated from ¢. 1400.

The sedilia are 1.15 m, and the piscina bowl 1.35 m, above
present floor level.

The interface between nave and chancel could well have been
expressed by markings in the rendering, or by painting.

Contra Potter 1987, 167-8.

The patronage of the living passed from the king to the lord of
the manor of Bradwell towards the end of the 14th century.
An internal offset, just above floor level (Fig. 4) may also relate to
the vault entrance. Moreover, its construction may have given
rise to the subsidence which has occurred at the south-east
corner of the church, necessitating the addition of a crude
buttress.
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33. E.g the Augustinian abbey at Waltham Holy Cross (Huggins

1972, 111).

34.  While the placename “Tilkey’ undoubtedly refers to a medieval tile
kiln (Reaney 1935, 367), this does not provide confirmation that
brick or tile was produced on the site in the 12th century.
Medieval and later tile kilns were not uncommon in the Black-
water valley, and some certainly existed in the Coggeshall area.

35.  Ryan (1996, 29) mentions a possible fragment of medieval
brick from the site, but this does not constitute evidence for
early Cistercian brickmaking at Tilty, as she claimed. The
complete absence of medieval brick in the surviving remains of
Tilty abbey and its capella extra portas is more telling: Andrews

and Gilman 1992.

36.  Bocking; Earls Colne; Great Coggeshall; Great Tey; Little Tey;
Rivenhall (Rodwell and Rodwell 1985, 145); Shalford;
Springfield; Stisted; Ulting(?); West Bergholt (Turner 1984);
White Colne; and Witham. See further Ryan 1996, 26-9.

37.  Ongar was entirely overlooked by Ryan (1996).

38.  The whole collection was studied and tracings of the designs
made in May 1983. Some additional items have, however,
appeared in the chest since that time.
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Peasants in Essex, ¢. 1200-¢.1340:

the influences of landscape and lordship!

by Jennifer Ward

Over the past forty years, historians of medieval society
have become increasingly aware of the importance of
examining material other than documents. Obviously
written records remain crucial for the discussion of the
peasantry, both the royal government records such as
Domesday Book and the taxation records of the
thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries, and the estate
records which concentrate on the individual manor, or
the larger royal, baronial or ecclesiastical estate of which
the manor was just a part; all of these demonstrate the
subjection of the peasantry to varying degrees of
lordship. Yet this material needs to be supplemented by
evidence from the landscape in which the peasantry lived
and worked in order to see how far it had an effect on
peasant fortunes, as compared with other considerations
such as the exercise of royal, seignorial and ecclesiastical
power. The peasantry’s dependence on these factors and
on the environment is closely interrelated.

Essex was a well settled county by the time of the
Domesday Survey with a diverse settlement pattern of
nucleated and polyfocal villages, hamlets and isolated
farmsteads. The pattern of settlement has to be viewed
in the long term, and the expansion of knowledge of
prehistoric and Roman Essex has made it clear that the
diverse settlement pattern had its roots before the
Roman invasion of AD 43.? Archaeological excavation
and work on timber-framed buildings are elucidating
thirteenth-century settlement and highlighting the
variety of buildings in hamlets and villages. At one
extreme is the isolated hut excavated at Molehill Green
on the Stansted Airport site.* A farm of middling status
has recently been excavated at Stebbingford Farm in
Felsted.* Timber-framed houses of various sizes and
status have been examined and dated by the form of the
joints used by the carpenters to peg the timbers
together;® some of these are likely to have belonged to
substantial peasants while others were the homes of
knights and gentry. The great landholders of the county
had a visible presence not only in their castles and
religious houses, but also in their great barns such as
those built in the early thirteenth century at Cressing
and the earlier example at Coggeshall.®

The evidence from settlement and buildings points
to diversity, not only in settlement type, but in the
condition of the inhabitants, and indicates that peasants
enjoyed varying levels of fortune. In order to get a better
idea of this it is important to look at the landscape itself,
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and to think in terms of pays, or landscape regions,
rather than of the county as a whole.” In Essex there is
considerable variety of soils and physical features. The
landscape of the county can be said to be approximately
divided by the Roman road from LLondon to Colchester.
Some of the best farmland in Essex is found on the
river-terraces along the River Thames. There is very
little chalk in the county; there is a small outcrop at
Purfleet and Grays, and rather more in the extreme
north-west. The chalk soils can be shallow, but are free-
draining and alkaline, and quite fertile. Much of the area
to the south and east of the London to Colchester road
is covered by London clay which is very heavy and
difficult to cultivate; it is sticky when wet and liable to
crack when dry. The London clay in north-east Essex is
however less heavy and more fertile. The area of
London clay includes the coastal marshlands which
were very important for pasture in medieval and early
modern times, and is bordered by a line of Bagshot hills
running through Tiptree, Danbury and Fryerning to
High Beech which rise to 330 feet and where the soils
are easy to cultivate but of low fertility; there is another
Bagshot ridge further south. North and west of the
London to Colchester road lies the boulder clay area
which extends beyond the county into Suffolk and
Hertfordshire. On the whole this is a more fertile area
and the chalky boulder clay produces a loam rather than
a clay.® These are essentially broad guidelines and
individual places inevitably show soil variations.

When the evidence of the landscape is related to the
Domesday Survey, it is apparent that parts of the county
were already well exploited by 1086. This was notably
the case with sheep pasture on the marshes, as on
Canvey and Wallasea Islands where pasture was
apportioned among the neighbouring parishes.’
Woodland was extensive especially in west Essex, but
there was little in the south-east and in parts of the north
of the county.’” When Domesday plough-teams and
population are mapped, an approximate correlation is
found between plough-teams and soil types. Uttlesford
hundred in the north-west had the highest number of
plough-teams (thirty-five to forty-five per square mile);
this is the hundred which includes the chalk area. The
boulder clay hundreds of Clavering, Harlow, Dunmow,
Freshwell, Hinckford and Witham, and the area of
lighter London clay in Winstree and Tendring hundreds
had twenty-five to thirty-five plough-teams per square
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mile, while all other parts of the county had less than
twenty-five. The highest density of recorded population
was in Uttlesford hundred with thirteen to the square
mile, and in Dunmow and Hinckford with twelve; this
corresponds to the area with the largest number of
freemen and sokemen. All other parts of the county had
a density of between five and eleven. The most
flourishing parts of the county in 1086 were the north-
west and the area round Colchester."

The population in England grew rapidly in the
twelfth and thirteenth centuries, and an interdisciplinary
approach, based on fieldwork and documentary
research, adds to our understanding of this
phenomenon. As far as Essex is concerned, fieldwork
has hardly started, but the field survey completed for
north-west Essex points to a number of new settlements
as well as the growth of loosely nucleated villages, as at
Strethall, Chrishall and Elmdon.”? On the boulder clay
in particular, there are a large number of settlements
styled Green, Tye and End, and these may well have
been part of the colonising process of the twelfth and
thirteenth centuries. Work done in East Anglia has
shown that Green settlements were unusual before the
twelfth century, and the earliest pottery found dated
from ¢.1100. These areas could certainly have been used
as commons at an earlier date, with the rise of
population leading to the development of settlements.
These were peripheral settlements; it was found in East
Anglia that it was rare to have a church on a Green and
this also seems to be the case in Essex.” To take one
example from the centre of the county, at Matching in
1086 there may well have been three foci, round
Matching Hall and the church, at Housham Hall and at
Brent Hall. Probably as a result of clearance of
woodland in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, small
settlements grew up at Carter’s Green, Matching Tye
and Newman’s End, and the main village came to be
sited at Matching Green."

Documentary research indicates extensive assarting
(the clearance of land for farming), involving mainly the
colonisation of woodland although there was some
inning (reclamation) of marshland. The reduction of
woodland and the rise of population were apparent in
some places in Domesday Book; on John nephew of
Waleran’s manor at Elsenham, the woodland for 1,300
swine of 1066 had been reduced to woodland for 1,000
in 1086, while the number of bordars had risen from
one to twelve, the rest of the recorded population
remaining the same at eight villeins and five serfs.” This
type of assarting is found all over the county, especially
before ¢.1250. Saffron Walden, like Elsenham, saw a
reduction of woodland between 1066 and 1086, and an
examination of the fields points to a link between soils
and colonisation. The soils in the parish comprise chalk,
alluvium and heavier glacial drift, and it is the latter area
which is more wooded and where the pattern of
enclosed fields indicates colonisation.'® At Lawling in
the east of the county a survey of 1310 points to
extensive assarting in the wooded hamlets of the
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manor."” A considerable amount of assarting took place
in west Essex, and here it is sometimes possible to date
its progress. The surveys of the dean and chapter of St
Paul’s cathedral, London, in 1181 and 1222 show that at
Chingford the area of demesne arable had expanded
from 145 to 180 acres, while the tenants’ lands in 1222
consisted of about 250 acres of arable together with
thirty-five acres of old assarts, and twenty of new."

Much of the.county comprised royal forest, land
which was not necessarily wooded, but which was
subject to the king’s forest law. In 1204, the men of Essex
paid 500 marks (the mark was worth 13s. 4d.) and two
palfreys for the disafforestation of the area north of Stane
Street, the road running west from Colchester through
Braintree and Great Dunmow into Hertfordshire;" in
future, the unpopular and punitive forest law was no
longer to operate in this part of the county. It was only
after 1327 that the royal forest became confined to
south-west Essex.? Although fines for assarting were
levied when the royal justices carried out a visitation of
the forest, this does not seem to have deterred
colonisation, and in some cases the area taken from the
forest was considerable.” In 1189 Richard I granted
Waltham Abbey about 1,000 acres of assarts, in Epping,
Waltham, Sewardstone, Nazeing and elsewhere,” and
pardoned the bishop of Ely for 186.5 acres of assarts in
Hadstock and 246.5 acres in Littlebury.” The initiative
seems often to have been taken by the peasants
themselves, as appears in the case of Havering. Here, the
assarting produced both large and small holdings, but
the emphasis elsewhere was usually on small, and this
probably reflects peasant initiative and the difficulty of
the terrain particularly in LLondon clay areas. To judge
from the St Paul’s surveys, most of the assarts at
Navestock were small, while at Wickham St Paul’s they
ranged from the exceptionally large holding of forty-
eight and a half acres to the tiny allotment of just one
rod. At Epping, there was a settlement of smallholders on
Epping Heath by ¢.1235 where more than half the
holdings comprised about two acres.*

Assarting slowed down in the later thirteenth
century, probably a sign that the limits of marginal land
had been reached. Havering was an exceptionally large
manor stretching from Hornchurch marsh bordering
the River Thames inland to the village of Havering-atte-
Bower; it included the settlements of both Romford
and Hornchurch. The soils range from alluvial marsh in
the south, to glacial gravels which were easy to cultivate
but not very fertile, and to heavy London clay in the
north. It is significant that this northern area has
remained wooded into modern times.” Many wetter
sites such as Navestock Common would have been
avoided by medieval farmers; this common still
survives although it used to be much larger.”
Substantial areas of forest remained (and some still
remain) in west Essex, a sign that there were limits to
the assarting efforts of land-hungry medieval peasants.
In any case, woodland remained an important means of
livelihood to the peasantry as a source of pasture,
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building materials, wood-crafts and charcoal-burning,
not to mention poaching.?”

By means of assarting it is likely that substantial new
areas were taken into cultivation, but because of the rise
of population a large number of peasants would have
found it hard to make a living from their land. The
number of smallholders all over the county, together
with the evidence for divided holdings, points to land-
shortage. Population figures are difficult to estimate, but
there is no doubt that the increase was considerable. At
Havering, the direct tenants of the Crown and the
wealthier sub-tenants numbered 368 in 1251, as
compared with the figure of eighty-seven tenants in
1086. Allowing for poorer sub-tenants as well, it has
been estimated that Havering had a population of
between 1,800 and 2,000 in the mid-thirteenth
century.® At High Easter, the 119 tenants of 1086 had
grown to 226 about 1328, suggesting a population of
between 1,000 and 1,200.* Smallholdings were
widespread throughout the county; of the 226 tenants
at High Easter, seventy-nine held less than two acres,
while at Thaxted in 1348 sixty-six out of 139 tenants
held five acres or less, forty-eight of them holding
between one and three acres.® The extent to which
holdings were subdivided varied. Of the customary
virgate holdings at High Easter, only one was held by a
single tenant, seventeen were each held by two men,
nine by three men, and three by four. However, at
Hatfield Broad Oak about the same time, six of the
customary virgate and half-virgate holdings were each
in the hands of one man, while sixteen were each held by
up to ten people.*

In view of the pressure on land, it is essential to look
not only at types of land and their uses to peasant
society, but also at physical features and especially at
lines of communication. The growth of markets can be
regarded as an aspect of colonisation, and could have a
real bearing on the fortunes of peasants. The
smallholders at Epping Heath may well have benefited
from the grant to Waltham Abbey in 1252 of a market
and fair there.”” It is significant that the numerous
markets created in the county were associated with small
towns, which would cater for agricultural communities,
or with villages; the only town of any size was Colchester
which however did not grow rapidly before the
fourteenth century. Essex was well supplied with
markets; R.H. Britnell has listed seventy-eight markets
in the county before 1350 of which twenty-four were
probably founded before 1200 and a further thirty-
seven received market licences from the Crown between
1200 and 1274.>* The markets were fairly evenly spread
throughout the county, although there were none close
to Colchester, probably because of Colchester’s larger
hinterland. Of the sites chosen those with good
communications stood the best chance of surviving
until the early modern period. The Rivers Lea, Roding,
Thames, Crouch, Blackwater, Colne and Stour served
the west, south and east of the county; otherwise Roman
roads continued in use such as Stane Street and the road
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from London to Colchester, together with a network of
smaller roads. Markets are found along all the main lines
of communication, often at regular intervals, such as
Stratford, @ Romford, Brentwood, Ingatestone,
Chelmsford, Borham, Witham, Kelvedon and
Colchester along the London to Colchester road, and
Barking, Rainham, Aveley, West and Grays Thurrock,
West Tilbury, Corringham, Fobbing, Hadleigh and
Prittlewell on or within a short distance of the River
Thames. These markets provided an opportunity for
peasants as well as lords to buy and sell, and the growth
of the London food market has to be borne in mind
together with local opportunities for business.*

In the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, therefore, the
Essex landscape provided peasants with the chance of
new land for cultivation and with opportunities to trade.
These were expanding activities which affected the
whole of the county. Certainly peasants experienced
differing fortunes; the contrast in the assarted holdings
between smallholders and a relatively few men with a
substantial holding bears this out. Can we however go
further and differentiate between particular parts of the
county in order to see whether there are different levels
of wealth and whether these are linked to factors in the
landscape?

The assessments for taxes on movable goods (i.e.
personal property as distinct from land and buildings)
down to 1334 provide a county-wide survey, giving the
assessment of each vill and often the names of individual
taxpayers and their personal assessments. It was only in
1334 that the tax was levied as a lump sum imposed on
each vill; before then, each tax was separately assessed.
Whatever the method of assessment, most of the tax was
paid by the peasantry. These records have their
drawbacks. They do not record total wealth, and it is
generally agreed that they underrated taxable wealth.
Most of the Church’s movable wealth was excluded as
the Church was taxed separately. With the ‘poor’ being
exempt, a large number of inhabitants were never listed.
There is no way in which a real check can be made on
individual vills. It is only rarely that the detailed local
assessment survives in addition to the enrolled copy,
and, even when it does, it is not necessarily informative;
its very survival may be an indication that the
assessment was suspect.* However, in spite of these
limitations, the tax assessments remain the most useful
available guide to the relative distribution of wealth in
the county.

Looking at individual vills, a comparison can
sometimes be made with estate surveys near in date to
the tax. The surveys ordered by John de Bohun earl of
Hereford and Essex about 1328 can be compared with
the tax assessments for the twentieth of 1327, and they
show that it was the more substantial tenants, free and
unfree, who paid the tax. Some tenants had been
successful in building up composite holdings; at
Hatfield Broad Oak, William de Flemstede paid 3s. 6d.
in tax, held half a virgate and seven acres of free land,
one-twelfth of a virgate of customary land, and about
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two acres freely of the land of the akermen
(smallholders), while Warin de Dunmawe paid one
shilling in tax and shared half a virgate of customary
land with four others, an unfree holding among the
akermen, and had one messuage and two stalls in the
market.’* However, it has to be remembered that the
estate surveys were primarily concerned with
landholding and obligations to the lord, not with
movable wealth. There are not always clear correlations
between the two, and factors are presumably concealed
of which we know nothing. Why was it, for instance,
that on about half of the virgate holdings at High Easter
only one man of the several holders paid tax?*” Was he
paying on behalf of the others, or was he paying because
he also held land elsewhere in the manor and on
different terms?

The wealth of the county can best be assessed by a
comparison based on the hundreds. In view of the
possibility of widespread evasion of a particular tax and
the likelihood of variation in assessment methods, two
taxes will be used for the comparison, the twentieth
levied in 1327, and the fifteenth and tenth of 1334 .>* The
introduction of quotas for each vill in 1334 was
designed to eradicate corruption, and certainly raised
more money in Essex.

Comparisons are based on the amount of taxable
wealth per square mile in each of the Essex hundreds,
and there is a remarkable correlation between 1327 and
1334 (table 1). In contrast with the situation in
Domesday Book, the wealthiest hundred was Chafford
in central south Essex bordering the River Thames. The
second wealthiest was Rochford in the south-east
corner, and the third was Hinckford in the north. There
were landscape reasons for these ratings; the fertile
river-terraces and the marshland had been developed,
and advantage taken of the potential for marketing, the
Thames being the route towards sales in London or
Flanders; this part of Essex was renowned for its cheeses
at least down to the Elizabethan period.* Hinckford was
a fertile boulder clay hundred. This combination of
trading potential and agricultural development was
crucial, and the absence of these two factors accounts
for the relative poverty of the hundreds at the bottom of
the table, Tendring, Winstree, Dengie and Thurstable, all
of which bordered the North Sea, had a soil mainly of
London «clay, and seem to have had poor
communications with the rest of the county. The
hundreds of west Essex where there had been
considerable assarting but where large amounts of forest
remained were midway in the pecking order; Becontree
and Waltham benefited from urban development and
nearness to London, Ongar was less favourably placed.
This variation within as well as between hundreds can
be attributed to soil and communications. In Becontree
hundred there is an enormous difference in the 1327
density of taxpayers per square mile between East Ham
with 18.2 and Woodford with 3.9. The difference is
equally marked in Chafford hundred with densities of
11.1 at Grays Thurrock, 6.2 at South Weald and
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Brentwood, and 5.2 at Stifford.

Landscape and wealth can be seen to be related, but
the figures indicate that it is essential to look at other
factors as well. Why was Hinckford apparently so much
wealthier than other boulder clay hundreds, especially as
it had relatively little urban development? Why were
Uttlesford and Freshwell rated at no. 14 in 1327 and no.
13 in 1334, having been the wealthiest part of the
county in Domesday? To try to answer these questions,
it is important to look at the nature of lordship and at
opportunities open to peasant society.

The thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries were
an age of demesne farming and lords were exploiting
their lands and making their profits with the labour
services, rents and other obligations of their customary
and free tenants. The available surveys show that this
was happening widely in Essex, and inevitably this put
constraints and pressure on the peasantry. Manors such
as High Easter, Hatfield Broad Oak and Thaxted had a
hierarchy of free and unfree tenants whose services were
related to their status and to the amount of land which
they held. There are however other factors concerning
lordship which require emphasis, one being the
expansion of the lord’s demesne by means other than
assarting. This would have an adverse effect on those
peasants who were forced to give up their lands, just as
it did on military tenants who were squeezed out. The
Clare earls of Gloucester followed this policy on many
of their demesne manors in the second half of the
thirteenth century, including Great Bardfield where
they were accumulating small amounts of rent and land,
and at Claret in Ashen.* The number of smallholders all
over the county by ¢.1300 may well have been due to a
shortage of land suitable for farming, and the situation
may easily have been exacerbated when the lord’s
demesne came to take up an undue proportion of the
available arable. At High Easter in 1328, the demesne
was estimated at 898 acres one rod, and the customary
tenants held 29.75 virgates, or 892.5 acres as the survey
stated that the virgate contained thirty acres. The
majority of the rest of the holdings were small, and
purprestures (encroachments on the waste) were so tiny
that they were rarely measured; thus Geoffrey le Parker
held two plots of land at a rent of threepence halfpenny,
and seven acres at a rent of one shilling.*’ Lords were
probably also taking an undue share of other resources
such as meadow; this was a matter of complaint against
the abbot of Waltham who was accused of having too
large a share of the rich meadows along the River Lea.*

As well as the accumulation of demesne land, the
creation of parks by lords may well have put pressure on
the peasantry. At Thaxted, the three parks, Great Park,
Little Park and Oldefrith, took up at least 989 acres,
15.8% of the area of the parish.” Parks were a
particularly widespread phenomenon in Essex. L.
Cantor has listed over one hundred parks in the county
between the eleventh and fifteenth centuries of which
the majority were created before the Black Death.*
Quite apart from the love of hunting, the desire for
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Table 1 Assessed Taxable Wealth in Essex
‘Hundred | Size,  |1327,total |1327, | 1334,total | 1334, -

Square taxable taxable taxable taxable

miles wealth wealth per| wealth wealth per

s | sq. mile sq. mile
£ £ % £

Chafford 54.2 772 14.2 872.25 161
Rochford 78.3 1,088 13.9 1,164 14.9
Hinckford 168.3 2,304 13.7| 2,512.50 14.9
| Chelmsford 132.4 1,760 13.3| 1,804.50 136/
Harlow 47.2 618 13.1 629.25 13.3
Clavering 19.2 250 13 268.5 14
Becontree 84 1,052 12.5 1,022 E-
Waltham 36.1 445 12.3 4455 123
Witham 59.2 729 123 765 12.9
Lexden 112.8| 1,35 12 1,376 122 0 ]
Ongar 88.3 938 10.6 994.5 1.3
Dunmow 799 838 10.5 908.25 1.4
Barnstable 115.7 1,147 9.9] 1,203.75 10.4
Uttlesford - - B
and 138.1 1,325 9.6 1,439 104
Freshwell o
Tendring 131.6 1,249 9.5| 1,335.75 10.2
Dengie 93.2 863 9.3 914.25 - 938
Winstree 325 262 8.1 292.5 9
Thurstable 35.4 252 71 278.25 7.9

variety on the menu, and the acquisition of a status
symbol, the park offered several possibilities for profit
through the sale of pasture, pannage, sale of nuts, use as
arable, and the management of its timber; Oldeparke in
High Easter was valued at £10. 13s. in 1328.* Many of
the licences for the creation and enlargement of parks
were issued in the late thirteenth century when it is likely
that pressure on land was at its most intense. This may
well be a reason why parks were broken into, as at
Matching where the creation of the park by Thomas de
Arderne in 1229 reduced the amount of open
woodland; the park-keeper was attacked in 1278, and a
large number of men were accused of breaking into the
park in 1320.%

Not every manor had an energetic and demanding
lord. M. MclIntosh’s work on Havering has shown how
land could be accumulated by tenants in a manor where
the Crown can be described as a relaxed landlord. As
elsewhere in Essex, the manor had large numbers of
smallholders, but an elite peasantry emerged, taking
advantage not only of the opportunities of assarting but
of legal advantages of tenants on the ancient demesne of
the Crown.? Certainly freemen and ancient demesne
tenants had advantages in law not available to serfs, but
it is questionable whether free smallholders would have
been able to take advantage of these.

Men with larger holdings would have been in a
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stronger position and during the thirteenth century
some freemen had substantial farms with holdings of
over one hundred acres; in 1279 at BelchampSt Paul
Martin de Suthmere held 245 acres and had twenty-two
tenants of his own.* It was the freemen who could take
advantage of the royal courts to buy and sell land. In
1222 at Navestock Nicholas de Hoo, described as the
heir of the widow Gunnora, held forty acres for rent; he
was probably the same man who in 1235 paid seven
marks for thirty-four acres of land in Navestock.” Two
of the Navestock taxpayers in 1327, John de Solariis
and William Clement, had been involved in land
transactions in the royal courts in the previous thirteen
years.” The evidence suggests that where lordship was
lax and where tenurial advantages existed better-off
tenants could take advantage of the situation. Probably
as a result the gulf between rich peasants and
smallholders widened, casting doubt on the wisdom of
referring to all these men as peasants, or of relying on
tenurial categories. There are strong parallels between
some of the better-off and the yeomen of the fifteenth
and sixteenth centuries.

Did some peasants enjoy the opportunities of
alternative employments to be found in villages and
hamlets? If the poll tax returns of 1381 are examined for
the hundred of Hinckford, they point to a substantial
craft presence in a number of villages. Sturmer for
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instance had smiths, fullers, carpenters, shoemakers,
and a tailor, while Sible Hedingham had a fuller, tiler,
smith, tailors, drapers and carpenters.”” Was there a
similar craft presence in thirteenth-century villages, and
could these trades help to explain how smallholders
survived? The only attempt to answer this question so
far has been made by M. Gervers who has analysed the
occupational names relating to the textile industry in
late twelfth and thirteenth-century charter sources.” His
analysis of the location of textile manufacture, as
opposed to marketing, has shown that this was
concentrated round Colchester, and in north central
Essex, especially in the hundred of Hinckford, and in
Freshwell hundred near to the Hinckford border; apart
from this, there is little sign of manufacturing activity in
the hundreds of Freshwell and Uttlesford. This
availability of extra employment may well explain the
wealth of Hinckford hundred in 1327 and 1334; as said
earlier, all three hundreds mentioned had the advantage
of fertile boulder clay for farming. Yet the question still
remains as to why this development happened in
Hinckford rather than elsewhere. One possible
explanation lies in weak manorial control, a point
emphasised by Joan Thirsk in discussing the
development of the early modern cloth industry.”
Manors in Hinckford hundred were small in 1086, and
there were large numbers of freemen and sokemen; this
combination was still present in the thirteenth century
and beyond. Peasants may well have found that not only
could they take advantage of their tenurial position, but
also develop alternative employments with little
reference to lords.

In examining the peasants of thirteenth-century
Essex, in all their variety, landscape appears to have had
a definite influence on their fortunes; the availability of
land, the nature of the soil, the lines of communication,
and the possibilities for trade all played their part. Yet it
would be fatal to take landscape on its own, since
conditions for the peasantry were undoubtedly
influenced by patterns of manorial development, the
nature of tenures, manifestations of lordship, whether
intense or lax, and by the role of the royal courts. Other
factors which we are rarely able to glimpse also have a
bearing, such as the weather, family size, and individual
skills and abilities. In order to understand and elucidate
the complexity of peasant development an
interdisciplinary approach is essential, and an obvious
conclusion to be drawn from this study is that it is one
which can be taken much further in the future.
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Late medieval building remains in Saffron Walden:
excavations to the rear of 33-35 High Street, Saffron Walden

by R. Clarke
with contributions by M. Germany and H. Walker

Archaeological investigation in advance of a residential
development to the rear of 33-35 High Street, Saffron
Walden uncovered the stone foundations of a late medieval
(15th to 16th century) building. Some evidence that this
building may have replaced an earlier (13th to 14th century)
earth-fast timber structure was also found.

A possible buried soil containing pottery dating from the
13th to 14th century was partially investigated to the west
of the late medieval building, and a late medieval horizon
was identified in the northern part of the development area.

In the post-medieval period the ground-level in parts of
the site was artificially raised, perhaps coinciding with the
construction of industrial buildings to the north of the
development area. The foundations of a large building dating
from the 18th or 19th century were also revealed. Small
quantities of residual Roman and Saxon pottery were present.

Introduction

During April 1997 an archaeological evaluation was
conducted at 33-35 High Street, Saffron Walden (Figs 1
and 2) by Essex County Council Field Archaeology
Group in response to a planning application by Jaygate
Homes Plc for a residential development. An initial
desk-top study utilising cartographic evidence (Fig. 3)
was carried out followed by an evaluation involving the
excavation of three trenches.

The results of the evaluation established the
archaeological importance of the site and an additional
stage of work was undertaken in September 1997. This
involved exposing more of the late medieval building
remains and the excavation of a previously inaccessible
area in the north-east of the site.

The archaeological brief for the excavation required
limited investigation of key areas of the site with an
emphasis on i situ preservation of features and deposits
not directly affected by the development. The ground-
plan of the late medieval foundations identified during
the evaluation was to be exposed, with no detailed
excavation, prior to their preservation beneath a thick
geotextile material in an area which is to be a garden. All
fieldwork was carried out under the direction of the
main author.

The site archive and finds (SW32 97) are stored at
Saffron Walden Museum. A full detailed description of
the site is contained in the evaluation and excavation
reports (Clarke 1997a and b).
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Location and Geology

Saffron Walden lies in a side valley of the river Cam in
north-west Essex, close to the county borders with
Suffolk and Cambridgeshire. The surface geology
comprises chalk, with a possible band of alluvium to the
south of the site.

The development site (TL 5365 3845) lies within
the area of the medieval market town. Buildings fronting
onto the medieval High Street stand to the east and the
site is bounded by Park Lane to the south. Gardens,
retaining walls and Victorian buildings mark the western
and northern limits of the site.

There is a gentle slope westwards from the High
Street, from ¢.52m to ¢.50m OD. Terracing is present,
with a noticeable difference (up to 2m, both higher and
lower) in ground levels between parts of the development
area and adjacent plots to the north and west.

Archaeological and historical background
Saffron Walden (Essex Sites and Monuments Record
(ESMR) 0408) had its origins in the mid to late Saxon
period and developed into a prosperous market town
during the medieval period. By the later medieval
period (13th to 15th centuries) the town had become a
major centre for the cloth trade, and was famous for the
production of the saffron dyestuffs from which its
name derives. There is some evidence of earlier
settlement of prehistoric, Iron Age and Roman date in
the general area.

The castle, around which the town developed, is
believed to have been founded in the late 11th-century
by the de Mandevilles. Following an initial phase of
urban development in the 12th-century, further
expansion in the early to mid 13th-century included the
creation of a rectilinear street-plan in an area to the
south of the castle bailey. This was enclosed by a large
defensive ditch, which still partially survives as an
earthwork to the south of Gibson Close, known as the
Repell or Battle ditches (ESMR 0443). This expansion
may have been associated with the grant of a new
charter in 1236. A more detailed discussion of the
history of Saffron Walden can be found in the Essex
Historic Towns Survey (Medlycott 1997).

The development area is situated at the south-
western edge of the 12th-century nucleus, but is within
the more extensive 13th-century planned town (Fig. 1).
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Reproduced from the Ordnance
Survey Map with the permission
of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright Reserved
Licence No. LA 76619

]

Fig. 2 33-35 High Street, Saffron Walden. Site plan with trench lay-out. © Crown copyright 87584 M.

Saffron Walden has a large number of surviving late
medieval buildings, but archaeological investigation has
added relatively few well-dated sequences to improve
our knowledge of the medieval town. This is due partly
to the small scale of much of the archaeological work,
and partly also to recent disturbance or truncation of
medieval strata.

124

Cartographic and documentary study
by M.Germany

A desktop assessment of the development area was
undertaken in advance of trial-trenching, to establish the
location of previous buildings on the site. A pictorial
representation illustrating the development of the site in
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plan since 1758 was created (Fig. 3). The sources for
this were the Audley End estate maps from 1758, ¢.1825
and c.1828 (ERO: T/M 123, T/M 141 & D/DQy 25
respectively), the Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile maps
from 1877 (1st), 1879 (2nd) and 1921, and the
Ordnance Survey 1:2500 maps from ¢.1980 and ¢.1995.
The sequence shows the approximate location of most,
but probably not all, of the major buildings and
boundaries since 1758.

Two plots, or ‘burgages’, can be identified on the
1758 plan. The first plot, in the south-east corner, was
defined by Boundaries I and III (now 33-35 High
Street). The second plot, to its immediate north, was
defined by Boundaries III and VI (now 27-29 High
Street). The first plot was sub-divided into two halves
by Boundary II and the second plot was sub-divided
into one half and two quarters by Boundaries IV and V.
Both plots were ¢.180 feet wide, both half-divisions ¢.90
feet wide, and both quarter divisions ¢.45 feet wide.

By 1825 Boundary II had disappeared and
Boundaries IV, V and VI had been realigned. Building C
had been replaced by Building I, Building B by ],
Building D by K and Buildings E and F by courtyard
building L. Block H had also been replaced by
tenements M and N.

By 1877, very few of the 1758 buildings were
still standing. The destruction of Building I had
permitted the realignment of Boundary III, and
Buildings M and N and realigned Boundaries IV,V and
VI had been removed to make way for Buildings O, P,
Q and R. This pattern then remained fairly constant
until 1921, when courtyard building L. was replaced by
two semi-detached houses, and until the early ?1980s
when nos 33-35 High Street were demolished to make
way for a new supermarket. Nos 27 and 29 High Street,
to the north of the supermarket, however, are still
standing and are Grade II listed buildings dating from
the 16th century.

The plot measurements on the 1758 map are
significant because they are indicative of medieval town
planning. As the town’s population grew, each burgage
would have been sub-divided in response to a growing
demand for a frontage on the High Street.

Two episodes of medieval town planning have
already been identified in Saffron Walden (Bassett
1982, 20 and 25 and fig. 8). The first episode, along
Church Street and Castle Street, appears to have been
based on tenement widths of 30 feet. It was probably
laid out in the early 12th century and was possibly
related to the town’s first market. The second episode,
to the east and west of the High Street, appears to have
been based on a grid of 12 perch squares. It was
possibly laid out in the early 13th century, at the time
the magnum fossarum was excavated.

Of the two, it seems the more likely that the two
aforementioned plots are related to the grid of 12 perch
squares, though this is not certain. It is equally possible
that the two plots belong to a different system, which
was laid out subsequently.
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In the late 19th/early 20th century, the remains of a
stone wall foundation were discovered in a contractor’s
trench in the garden of ‘Park Side’ (33-35 High Street)
by Guy Maynard. It was ‘several feet thick’ and was
aligned north-south, parallel with the adjacent High
Street. It was constructed from mortared flints and
pebbles and may have been part of a substantial
masonry structure (ESMR 0482; Bassett 1982, 107).

Excavation

Two stages of work were undertaken, in April and
September 1997. Although relatively little hand-
excavation was carried out, the archaeological
investigation identified a stratified sequence of activity on
the site ranging from the ?Roman to the modern period.

The aims and methods of the investigation were
largely based on the known information about the site’s
development from the cartographic study and
documentary evidence. The evaluation stage of the
project targeted some of the buildings on the 1758 map,
but was designed chiefly to locate the masonry wall
identified by Guy Maynard and assess the survival of
medieval deposits within the development area.

A compacted, discoloured cryoturbated chalk was
exposed in the eastern part of the development area, at
50.2m OD. Natural chalk was revealed at various depths
(between 48.7m and 46.2m OD) across the site in
engineer’s test-pits, and in some of the key areas of
archaeological investigation.

Three trenches (A-C) were initially excavated. The
complexity and abundance of the medieval and post-
medieval strata located by the evaluation trenches
necessitated a selective approach to the recording. Key
areas, which would provide the most information about
the site’s development, were chosen for more detailed
investigation. These comprised the late medieval
mortared flint foundations and associated deposits, and
several boundaries and other features.

The second stage of work involved the excavation of
two more trenches (D and E). Trench D was effectively
an extension to Trench B, whilst Trench E was located
in an area in the north-east of the development. The
latter area had previously been inaccessible due to the
presence of brick retaining walls, trees and a significant
disparity in ground level. Trench D was to determine the
extent of survival of the late medieval building identified
in the evaluation and Trench E was to investigate a small
building (G) on the 1758 map extract.

Roman (1st to 4th century)

Roman pottery was present in deposits located towards
the middle of the development area in evaluation Trench
A.The pottery was found in two of several thin buried
soils investigated by a small box-section (Fig. 6.2). One
of the deposits (99) contained a sherd of Roman pottery
and a struck flint, whilst another sherd was residual in a
later (early 13th century) context (90). It is possible
that deposits (108) and (109), which are below (99), are
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Fig. 3 33-35 High Street, Saffron Walden. Development of the site since 1758. © Crown copyright 87584 M.
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the fills of a shallow cut, as they sloped down towards
the east against the natural slope of the ground, which is
to the west. No finds were retrieved from (108) and
(109), and so dating of these deposits is not possible,
although their stratigraphic relationship below the
?Roman layer (99) suggests that they could be Roman
or earlier. It is possible that these deposits are the fills of
a large, probably shallow, cut feature such as a ditch, of
which only a small part of the western edge was exposed
by the box-section.

A single sherd of Roman pottery was also collected
during the second stage of work from the surface of an
unexcavated post-hole (168) located to the south of the
late medieval building in Trench D (Fig. 4). This
pottery is likely to be residual as the post-hole cut chalk
surface 223 which appears to be a layer associated with
Building 1, of late medieval date.

Early-mid Saxon (Sth to 8th century)

Two sherds of ?early to mid Saxon pottery were found
in late medieval contexts in Trench E. Although the
sherds are residual, the evidence indicates activity in the
vicinity of the site during the Saxon period.

Medieval (13th to 14th century)

The earliest structural remains appear to be medieval
(13th-14th century) in date, and comprise a post-hole
(141) and a slot or gully (01), both of which cut the
discoloured ?natural chalk (Fig. 6.1). These features
were located in Trench B and are probably part of the
foundations of an earth-fast timber building.

The presence of a building of this date is not
unexpected given the site’s location within the area of
the 13th-century planned extension to the south of the
early medieval nucleus (Fig. 1).

The evidence for medieval (and late medieval)
buildings was concentrated in the eastern half of the
development area, in proximity to the High Street and
Park Lane frontages. Towards the western end of the
site, where the depth of stratigraphy increased, buried
soils were present (Fig. 6.2). The uppermost (90) of
these dates from the 13th century, and may represent a
yard or open space for cultivation

Late medievallTudor (15th to 16th century)

Building 1 (Figs 4, 6 and 7, top)
The medieval timber building was replaced in the late
medieval period by a more substantial structure with
mortared-flint foundations. Both buildings are located in
an area without structures on the 1758 map extract (Fig.
3), which suggests that any medieval or late medieval
buildings in this area were demolished prior to 1758.
The walls were relatively well preserved despite
being located at less than 0.3m in places below the
current surface. The building was orientated north-east
to south-west, at right angles to the High Street. The
total surviving length of the exposed foundations was
11.5m, and the width 5.3m, indicating that the building
was quite large. No evidence of a western wall was
found, possibly as a result of post-medieval cellaring,
although it is possible that the building was open-ended.
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A dark yellow sandy gravel (156), overlain by a layer
of unmortared flint nodules (155), was identified in a
small sondage against internal wall 117 (Figs. 4 and
6.3). These layers are probably construction or levelling
surfaces over the demolished medieval timber building.
No foundation cuts for the walls were visible in this
sondage or a larger sondage through the floor levels
against wall 02. The apparent lack of recorded
foundation cuts could conceivably be a result of the
limited nature of the investigations within the building.

Several internal walls (117, 145 and 146), two
external walls (02 and 191) and the base of a small
garderobe (05) were recorded. The walls were
constructed of flints and pebbles within a friable mortar.
The flints and pebbles were generally of medium size
and roughly faced on the exposed surfaces, and of more
irregular size and less densely packed in the core. A
mortar-like plaster (10mm thick) was present on most
of the internal faces.

The narrow width (0.3m) of the internal walls and
the external southern wall suggests that they are
foundations for a timber-framed superstructure.
Fragments of daub were recovered from internal
deposits butting against the walls. The daub contains
vegetable tempering and frequent flecks of chalk with
the surface roughly brushed with a 0.5mm grey layer. It
is possible that the daub originates from the walls of a
room but is likely to come from an inconspicuous
position such as behind a door or window moulding.

The full surviving length of external wall 02, the
most substantial of the walls, was exposed (Fig. 4). The
average width of the wall was ¢.0.5m, although the
western half was wider and appeared to have several
rectangular or square hollows of various sizes and
depths cut into its sides at irregular intervals. It is
possible that these voids represent later alterations such
as post-settings. Another interpretation is that the
narrower part of the wall is the original width and that
the wider portions represent buttresses. The wider parts
do not appear to be mortared, and are on the external
side of the building and so could be a form of structural
reinforcement.

Other slight changes in the build were visible along the
length of wall 02. The most notable of these was a possible
blocked doorway in the eastern half of the wall, and a
change in width to the west of partition wall 117. A large
post-hole appears to have been cut through the ¢.0.8m-
wide blocked doorway at a later date and may represent a
phase of re-building or repair. A fairly large post-hole
(225) was also cut through partiion wall 117 about
halfway along its length. The post-hole was not excavated
but its presence again suggests a phase of rebuilding.

A small irregular channel was cut through the wall to
the immediate west of its junction with 117. It is
probable that the gully was cut when the building had
fallen into disuse, although it is possible that it may have
been a drain added whilst the building was still standing.

A small rectangular cess pit 05 for a garderobe was
inserted into the north-east corner of the building,
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truncating the eastern end of wall 02. The cess pit was
also built of flints, bonded with a cement-like mortar.
The majority of the backfill of this feature was excavated,
revealing a rendered surface on all internal faces.

A sequence of probable floor levels was partially
preserved in the north-east corner of the building
against wall 02, overlying a metre-wide mortared flint
foundation off-set for the wall. The deposits were quite
thin, comprising bands of intermittent tile overlying silt
and clay layers, the latest of which (92) had a reddish
discolouration and frequent flecks of charcoal which
may indicate burning. Fragments of vegetable-tempered
daub were also present in this layer, of which one piece
was burnt grey. Truncation of these layers was evident in
section and could relate to a clearing of the earlier floor-
levels prior to the laying of the latest floor (Fig. 6.1).

This floor was formed by a thick deposit of yellow
chalky clay (116=07), and was observed to extend
within the confines of the exposed walls and is probably
the final occupation horizon before the demolition of
Building 1. It is possible that this layer was deposited
during a phase of alterations, when the addition of
features such as the garderobe were made. After the
deposition of (116=07) another internal wall, 145, was
added between walls 146 and 117 (Figs 4 and 7, top).

A chalk layer 223 which butted against wall 191 was
partially revealed on the southern side of Building 1 and
may be a contemporary external surface.

The western edge of a large circular chalk-filled
feature was recorded in plan to the immediate east of
Building 1, to cess pit 05, and is probably a well.

A layer containing sherds from the same (14th to
16th century) vessel were recovered from cleaning over
wall 02 and from a late medieval layer (185) cut by
several features identified in the north-east of the
development-site. This suggests contemporary activity
in the two areas, which appear to be separate plots to the
rear of the High Street on the 1758 map extract.

The entire building was demolished to the level of
the foundations which were then sealed beneath a layer
of chalk (Fig. 7, top).

Wall 74

A wall (74) of similar mortared flint construction was
found to the south-west of Building 1 in Trench C (Fig.
2), which had been re-used as the foundation for a 19th-
century brick wall. The line of wall (74) appears to
correspond to that of Building A shown on the 1758
map to front onto Park Lane. Although no direct dating
of the wall was possible, the presence of associated
deposits similar to those encountered with the late
medieval walls to the north suggests that all the flint
walls may belong to the same period of development.

Dating

Dating of the building foundations was hampered by the
lack of directly associated dating material, and the
limited nature of the investigation. However, pottery
retrieved from internal floor levels falls into the date-
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range of 14th to 16th century. Finds from later
structural additions and the demolition sequences were
of a similar date, suggesting that the building was
constructed and demolished within the date-range
indicated by the pottery.

Post-medieval

Phase I (Fig. 7)
A phase of wholesale clearance and levelling occurred in

the early post-medieval period, denoted by a band of

1868 Brick Warehouse

<= Flint and
mortar wall

g Archaeological
feature

-——- Limit of excavation

0 S5m

Fig. 5 33-35 High Street, Saffron Walden. Detailed plan of building 2
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Posthole 141

151

Fig. 6 33-35 High Street, Saffron Walden. Selected sections

chalk of varying thickness traceable across most of the
length of the site. The chalk overlay the demolished late
medieval walls, floor levels and associated deposits. No
definite activity attributable to the period immediately
following the levelling was identified, although it is
feasible that building F shown on the 1758 map (Fig. 3)
was constructed at this time. The area to the east of it
may have become a yard sealing the demolished
foundations of Building 1.

In the north-eastern part of the site (Trench E)
activity in the earlier post-medieval period was
characterised by the erection of possible timber
structures with associated floors, pits and ditches. These
features were not excavated, but post-date late medieval
layer 185 (Fig. 5).

A large sub-rectangular feature (188) partially
surrounded by the remains of a brick wall appears to
approximately correspond with building G on the 1758
map extract. The feature is of a smaller size than
building G although it is possible that 188 is a back-
filled cellar, perhaps of building G. Surface finds
collected from 188 indicate a late 18th or early 19th-
century date for the in-filling or disuse of this feature.
This is comparable to the date suggested by the
cartographic evidence which indicates that building G
disappeared between the dates of the 1758 and 1824
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maps. The function of this building is not known,
although its small size and back-yard location suggests
that it was an out-house or store.

Phase II (Fig. 7, middle)

A further phase of redevelopment, indicated by a
band of chalk overlying layers containing demolition
debris, was also identified in the southern part of the
site. This could relate to the demolition of building F
which occurred between the dates of the 1758 and
1825 maps.

The changing boundaries of the development area
indicated by the cartographic evidence was illustrated in
the archaeological record. Post-holes (?relating to
fences), boundary ditches and retaining walls dating
from the 17th, 18th and 19th centuries were recorded
(Fig. 2), some of which correspond well with the
boundaries shown on the relevant map extracts.

In the late 18th or early 19th century, extensive
redevelopment appears to have taken place with the
levelling and backfilling of existing features in the north-
eastern part of the site, which were then sealed beneath
a general layer (178=187) (Figs 5 and 7, bottom). This
activity may have been associated with the construction
of Building 2 which was probably built in the late 18th
or early 19th century.
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Building 2 (Figs 5 and 7, bottom) suggesting that Building 2 was probably of 18th to mid
The trench-built mortared-flint foundations of a large 19th-century date. The cartographic research did not
building were uncovered in the north-east of the identify a building on this part of the site, which
development area. Finds removed from the cement-like suggests that Building 2 was constructed and
mortar comprise a clay-pipe stem and a sherd of glazed demolished between the dates of two of the maps. The
18th to 20th-century pottery. most likely dates are between the 1758 and 1825 maps
A row of four square mortared brick and flint plinths (Fig. 3), when a sub-division of this part of the plot
were partially exposed to the north of, and parallel to, wall appears to have taken place and the time-gap is
166, and the surface of a further two similar structures sufficiently long for such changes to have occurred.
were recorded to the north of these. The ground could The map extracts from the 19th century indicate
not be further reduced in this part of the site due to the successive rebuilding along the Park Lane frontage in
presence of a very tall brick warehouse (dated 1868) the southern half of the development area. This evidence
which formed the northern boundary of the plot. was supported by the archaeological remains
The plinths probably formed the bases of structural encountered in Trench C of the evaluation. Although
supports for a roof, and possibly also an upper storey. some evidence for earlier buildings was present, the
Several floor-levels (216) were identified in the main majority of features are 19th century and can be related
west-facing section, including a thin chalk layer, which to the construction of building B following the
were probably associated with this building. demolition of building A.
The building appears to pre-date the 1868 building A final phase of levelling and consolidation was
to the north, and its foundations are cut through apparent below the existing concrete surface and is
deposits containing 17th to 18th-century pottery, probably relatively modern.
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The finds

Roman pottery

by T.S. Martin

Four sherds (two Hadham redware and two greyware) of Roman
pottery were retrieved from Trenches A and D. Three of the sherds are
residual in medieval and later contexts; one of the sherds occurred in
a deposit with a flint flake and was sealed beneath a 13th to 14th-
century layer.

Saxon pottery

by S. Tyler

Trench E produced two sherds of Saxon pottery residual in later
contexts. The pottery had a fairly hard fabric with abundant organic
temper and belonging anywhere in the period AD 450 to 750, but
most likely towards the end of this date range, given the total absence
of any other temper.

Medieval and post-medieval pottery

by H. Walker

A total of 5.5kg of pottery was excavated from 46 contexts and has
been classified according to Cunningham’s typology (Cunningham
1985, 1-16).

Medieval pottery

Medieval pottery was present in a post-hole and ?slot in Trench B and
in possible buried soils in Trench A. The latter (buried soil 90)
comprises a sherd of early medieval shell-tempered ware and a slip-
coated sherd of very coarse sandy orange ware, perhaps dating to the
early 13th century.

The pottery from Trench B appears to be slightly later,
comprising sherds of medieval coarse ware dating to the 12th to 14th
centuries and, in post-hole 141 (fill 101), a sherd of slip-coated green-
glazed sandy orange ware, in the style of mid-13th to mid-14th
century Mill Green ware.

Sherds of medieval coarse ware and sandy orange ware also occur
in deposits associated with Building 1, namely floor layers 92 and 100,
stone-lined cess pit 05 (disuse fill 08), and demolition layer 116. The
sandy orange ware is hard and largely unglazed. One sherd is slip-
painted and a base fragment shows an internal glaze. This is probably
late medieval sandy orange ware, belonging to the 15th/16th century.
Other contexts with pottery dating to the late medieval period include
unstratified contexts 110 and 122 which produced single sherds of
“Tudor Green’ ware dating principally to the late 15th century. A sherd
of unattributed unglazed stoneware from pit 112 (fill 111) may also be
late medieval.

The second phase of investigation in the area of Building 1 (Trench
D) produced similar late medieval material comprising further sherds of
sandy orange ware, including a beaded bowl rim. Cleaning inside
Building 1 (context 162) produced single sherds of late 14th to 15th-
century Langerwehe stoneware and another sherd of “Tudor Green’
ware. Cleaning over the walls (context 163) produced slightly later
pottery including a sherd of Surrey-Hampshire white ware and part of
a post-medieval red earthenware cup and flanged bowl rim dating
perhaps to the second half of the 16th century. A sherd of buff ware with
internal limescale from cleaning context 169 may also be late medieval.

Pottery of a similar date was excavated from the lower deposits in
the sequence to the south of the Building 2 in Trench E. ?Medieval
horizon 185 produced sherds of late medieval buff ware from the same
vessel as that from cleaning context 169 in Trench D. Layer 184 and
context 186, surface finds from an unexcavated ditch, both produced
sherds of late medieval sandy orange ware, including a flanged bowl rim
with chalk flecks in the fabric. However the pottery from layer 184 may
be residual, as ?equivalent layer 187 produced pottery dating to ¢.1700.

Post-medieval pottery

InTrench A, sherds of 17th-century black-glazed ware were excavated
from the surface of pit 112 and from post hole 19. Eighteenth-century
pottery was excavated from the fills of ditch 14, the latest of which
comprises a white salt-glazed stoneware saucer rim and moulded plate
rim, both showing scratch blue decoration and most likely dating to
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the third quarter of the 18th century.

The latest pottery from the wall sequence (Building 1) in Trench
B is a Frechen stoneware jug rim dating from the later-16th to 17th
centuries. The ditch sequence in trench B (ditch 22) produced slightly
later pottery comprising creamware and transfer-printed pearlware
dating up to the early 19th century.

Relatively large amounts of post-medieval pottery were excavated
from Trench E. Deposits cut by the foundations for Building 2
produced moderate amounts of 17th to early 18th century pottery
comprising black-glazed ware sherds from context 170, Metropolitan
slipware from context 189 and tin-glazed earthenware from context
179. Pottery of this date was also excavated from context 171 where a
greater variety of mainly table wares were found, comprising sherds of
Westerwald stoneware, fragments from a tin-glazed earthenware drug
jar and plate, and a Chinese porcelain tea bowl and saucer. All finds
are typical of a group of this date. The latest pottery is a sherd of
pearlware precluding a date before 1779. A sherd of late 18th to 20th-
century yellow ware was excavated from wall 166 (Building 2).

In the sequence of make-up layers, post-medieval pottery first
appears in layer 187 where sherds from a blue-painted ?Lambeth tin-
glazed earthenware vessel was found, dated by its design to ¢.1700.
Context 188, a feature cutting ?medieval horizon 185 produced later
pottery similar to that found in a ditch (22) in Trench B.

The largest quantities of pottery came from machine-excavated
make-up deposits 160 and 172 from which the most recent pottery is
early 19th to 20th century, although 17th to 18th-century pottery is
also present. In addition to the 17th to 18th-century pottery already
described above, there are sherds of Frechen stoneware, a sherd of
Westerwald stoneware from a ?lion chamber pot, and sherds of
Staffordshire-type combed slipware and manganese-glazed buff ware.
Also of interest is a black-glazed sherd with unusual applied slip
decoration in the manner of Cistercian ware, although this is almost
certainly a local product.

The 19th to 20th-century pottery from deposits 160/172
comprises both utilitarian wares and tablewares. Forms comprise
cylindrical stoneware bottles, bowls in yellow ware and slipped kitchen
earthenware, and what appears to be a jelly mould but with three legs.
Table wares comprise transfer-printed pearlware and ironstone in
floral and scenic patterns as well as in willow-pattern. Bedroom wares
comprise a transfer-printed chamber-pot rim.

Perhaps the latest pottery excavated came from the building
foundations in Trench C where finds include a flowerpot made by
Richard Sankey and Sons of Bulwell near Nottingham. The firm was
founded in 1855 and ceramic flowerpots continued in production
until the early 1980s. The foundations therefore date from the second
half of the 19th to 20th centuries.

Discussion

The presence of late medieval pottery is of interest, as so far little
pottery of this date has been found at Saffron Walden despite the fact
that the town reached its peak during the late 15th century (Eddy and
Petchey 1983, 82). The fabric of the medieval coarse ware and sandy
orange ware are different in appearance to those found in central
Essex and this has been noted in other assemblages from the town
(unpublished). Such an example is the sandy orange ware bowl with
chalk inclusions, pottery with a similar fabric was found at nearby
Thaxted (Andrews 1989, 113) and may have a local origin as this part
of Essex overlies chalk deposits.

The sherd of black-glazed ware with applied slip decoration is not
the first example of unprovenanced slipware to be found in the town
as several were found during excavations at Market Row
(unpublished). The pottery supply to Saffron Walden may have more
in common with the neighbouring counties of Cambridgeshire and
Suffolk than it does with central Essex.

Brick and Tile
by P. Ryan

Brick
The greater part of the brick is of 19th-century date.
A few fragments of unusual brick were found in wall 145 (119) and
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levelling layers 32 and 89. They are orange or brown in colour; very
irregular in general form; with very rounded irregular arrises; striated
upper surfaces; rough and creased faces and rough bases, which
features taken together indicate a Tudor or pre-Tudor date.
Unfortunately none of these bricks were complete so that all three
dimensions could not be obtained; widths vary between 90 to 110mm
and thickness between 40 to 45mm.

Flooring Bricks

A number of flooring bricks were found in context 95 (unstratified).
Measuring 190 x 85-90 x 50-55mm, they are cream with small orange
rounded patches; regular in general form with sharp irregular arrises
where these survive; have striated upper surfaces and smooth bases.
Most of these bricks have one or both stretchers faces worn. Unworn
faces are slightly creased or smooth. One unworn stretcher face has
pink and cream kiss marks. A 19th-century date is indicated.

Maltkiln Floor Support Tiles

Several fragments of maltkiln floor support tiles occur in brick drain
78 and unstratified contexts 95 and 125. As one edge of these tiles
shows signs of wear yet broken edges were encrusted with mortar
these fragments had been re-used. Similar tiles can be seen in the
19th-century maltkiln at Boyes Croft, Great Dunmow. They were also
found in the garden at Cressing Temple but it is possible they had been
obtained for use as edging in the garden rather that re-used when the
maltkiln there became redundant.

Floor Tiles and Pammets

Fragments of 19th-century floor tiles are pammets were found in
contexts 95 and 96. A very worn fragment of floor tile with under cut
knife-trimmed edges is amongst the material from context 95. The
base is sanded and the core reduced. A small patch of cream slip
remains on the upper surface.

Roof Tile

The roof tile from the site is mainly of the pegtile-type. One fragment
from a pantile were identified in context 127 and a fragment from
drain 22 (fill 21) may be medieval in date but the evidence is not
conclusive. There is also part of a pantile in context 98.

Miscellaneous finds
by H. Major and R. Tyrrell

Metalwork

There was a small amount of metalwork, comprising a copper-alloy
token of Hanns Schultes (1550-1596), a perforated fragment of sheet
copper alloy, a William III half penny, a piece of copper-alloy wire, a
late medieval thimble, and a lead weight of unknown date. A single
bladed iron clasp knife was found in ditch 14 and a fragment of
horseshoe came from post-hole 141 which also contained medieval
(13th to 14th century) pottery. All but one of the 20 iron nails came
from late post-medieval contexts.

Daub

Eight fragments of daub came from two late medieval contexts and
may have come from the internal partitions of a timber-framed
building, with the 1949g of mortar and the lumps of mortared flints,
from its stone footings.

Stone

An unstratified fragment of oolitic limestone may have derived from a
wall facing; the surface was poorly finished, and this may have been
discarded prior to actual use. A fragment of a Rhenish lava quern or
millstone, re-used as building rubble, was also found. This was
unstratified, and could be either medieval or post-medieval.

Other Finds

There were also 23 oyster shells, and one mussel, 46 sherds of 18th
and 19th-century glass (including a possible piece of cullet), wine
bottles and small medicine bottles, eight sherds of window glass, and
26 fragments of clay pipe. The clay-pipes were 18th century where
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datable and one of the two pipe bowl fragments had the maker’s mark
on the heel, of which only the first letter (R) was legible.

Animal bone

by P. McMichael

Three hundred pieces of animal bone were examined from 26
contexts weighing a total of 6,567g. The bone was in excellent
condition, though a proportion was fragmentary. Six species were
positively identified: Equus, Bos, Cervus, Sus, Canis and Owvis. There
were also some bones from large [e.g.: goose] and medium [e.g.:
chicken/duck] sized birds.

Of interest was the large number of mainly unfused sheep bones in
Context 170, some with cut and chop marks associated with butchery.
This collection of 139 metapodial bones showed approximately 28
Sheep [Lambs] killed at 6 to 9 months old and 10 killed after 20 to 24
months. Such a uniform group suggests the presence of a local
butcher’s shop/abattoir in the late 17th or 18th century.

Discussion

Although the archaeological investigation was very
limited in terms of actual excavation, the results are of
significance. The relative complexity of the
archaeological strata recorded by the excavation is not
unexpected in an urban context. The evidence is
important, however, as many previous investigations in
Saffron Walden have not identified evidence of a
comparable nature. Time did not permit extensive
detailed excavation of the stratigraphy, and efforts were
concentrated upon in situ recording and minimal
excavation of key areas for phasing purposes. From this
it was possible to reconstruct an outline of the site’s
development from the medieval period to the present
day, against a backdrop of the more general
development trends within the historic town.

The presence of small quantities of Roman and
Saxon sherds of pottery are not unusual in Saffron
Walden. The distribution of previous finds in and
around the town indicates that the Roman settlement
was located to the west of the later medieval nucleus of
Saffron Walden (Medlycott 1997). There is some
indication that there may have been a small Roman fort
on the site of the later Anglo-Saxon cemetery to the
south-west of the development in the area of Abbey
Lane and Gibson Close (Bassett 1982).

The stratigraphy encountered on the site was over
1.5m deep in places and represents an almost
continuous sequence of occupation and activity through
the medieval and post-medieval periods. Despite
successive phases of redevelopment in the post-
medieval and modern periods, the medieval archaeology
was well preserved beneath the overburden over the
majority of the development area.

The survival of the early strata is probably a result of
limited building activity, indicated by the cartographic
evidence (Fig. 3), in the eastern and central parts of the
site in recent times. Extensive disturbance from 19th
and 20th-century foundations for buildings formerly
fronting onto Park Lane was present in the southern half
of the site, although some evidence for earlier structures
and associated deposits had also survived. In the
northern part of the site post-medieval make-up layers
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had increased the ground level by almost 2m, sealing
and preserving earlier deposits.

The late medieval building (Building 1) identified by
the excavation lay behind buildings fronting onto the
High Street (Figs 2 and 4). The foundations are
probably for a timber-framed building, which may have
been open ended to the west, perhaps for storage or
keeping of livestock. It is possible that Building 1 was
contemporary with nos 27-29, which are still standing
and listed as dating from the 16th century, and are on a
similar alignment. A possible interpretation is that
Building 1 was part of a small complex of buildings
extending back from the High Street frontage. The
function of Building 1 was not determined, although its
location suggests a transition between domestic and
more utilitarian activities.

The presence of the garderobe cess pit reflects a
more general trend in the late medieval period, to fit
internal garderobes, designed for regular cleaning, in
many of the wealthier town houses. In the aftermath of
the plague there was a natural inclination to maintain a
level of domestic cleanliness, reinforced by
contemporary medical theory which associated odour
with disease (Platt 1994).

It is feasible that the flint foundations are those
observed by Guy Maynard in a contractor’s trench in
the garden of ‘Park Side’ (33-35 High Street) in the late
19th or early 20th century. The foundation recorded by
Maynard was ‘several feet thick’, much wider than the
walls uncovered by the excavation. A possibility is that
Maynard observed the garderobe, which has thin walls,
but in plan its overall dimensions are quite substantial.
The presence of a ceramic drainage pipe which
truncated the western wall of the garderobe may
support this.

In the late medieval period Saffron Walden became
the major centre for the production of the saffron crocus,
which was used to produce dye, and the town played an
important role in the East Anglian cloth trade (Medlycott
1997). The presence and location of the late medieval
building perhaps supports the historical evidence as it is
indicative of increased pressure on ‘prime’ land (close to
the High Street and the medieval core of Saffron
Walden) in a period of economic prosperity.

Relatively small amounts of late medieval pottery
have been found during previous excavations at Saffron
Walden despite the fact that the town reached it peak in
the late 15th century. The fabric of the medieval coarse
ware and sandy orange ware from this excavation are
different in appearance to those found in central Essex
and this has been noted in other assemblages from the
town. The pottery supply to Saffron Walden may have
more in common with the neighbouring counties of
Cambridgeshire and Suffolk, suggestive of a north-west
Essex ‘pottery zone’, especially as pottery of a similar
fabric type was also found at nearby Thaxted (Andrews
1989,113).

The late medieval building appears to be located just
outside the outer bailey of the medieval town (Fig. 1),
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which is believed to lie somewhere on the lines of
Freshwell Street and Myddleton Place at this point
(Medlycott 1997). No evidence for the outer bailey
ditch was found during the further archaeological work,
although investigation ceased at the late medieval
horizon which may have sealed earlier deposits. The
location of the late medieval building suggests that it
would have been unfeasibly close to the outer lip of the
ditch, although it is possible that at this point the ditch
was back-filled and built over in the late medieval
period. Another possibility is that the outer bailey ditch
ran further to the south and west and that the site is
situated just inside the medieval town boundary.

In the early post-medieval period Saffron Walden
appears to have grown quite slowly, with the in-filling
and sub-division of existing plots (Medlycott 1997).
The archaeological evidence from the northern half of
the development area seems to support this as some
small-scale building (?including building G on the 1758
map) and other activities appear to have taken place
here in the 17th or 18th centuries. The finds from this
part of the site represent a fairly typical assemblage of
discarded domestic waste, although of interest was the
large number of mainly unfused sheep bones some with
cut and chop marks associated with butchery. The bones
were those of approximately 28 lambs killed at 6 to 9
months old and 10 killed after 20 to 24 months,
suggesting the presence of a butcher’s shop or abattoir
nearby in the late 17th or 18th century.

In the late 18th and early 19th centuries, Saffron
Walden became a major centre for the Essex malt
industry. The excavation uncovered a large building
dating from this period (Building 2), with associated
ground-levelling, in the northern half of the
development area. The building was probably
demolished during the late 19th century when the
ground-level was further raised, which may relate to the
construction of the maltings and associated buildings in
the plot to the north of the development area.

The southern half of the site, along the Park Lane
frontage, was subject to successive change and
redevelopment from 1758 to the present day, illustrated
by the cartographic evidence and supported by the
archaeological record. This evidence reflects the general
trend in the post-medieval development of Saffron
Walden which often took the form of the refurbishment
or replacement of individual buildings (Medlycott 1997).

The former supermarket building, which replaced
the earlier property on the corner of Park Lane and
High Street, has since been demolished to make-way for
the modern housing development which prompted the
archaeological investigation.
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The uncovering and conservation of the medieval wall
paintings at St James the Less, Little Tey

by Tobit Curteis

The recent programme of conservation in the small 12th-
century church of St James the Less at Little 1&y, revealed
two unusual and interesting schemes of wall paintings,
dating to the 13th-century and the I14th-century
respectively. On the walls of the apse, an extensive 13th-
century Passion cycle was discovered, as well as fragments of
a later painting, indicating that a similar narrative cycle
had been painted there in the following century. Elsewhere in
the church, fragments of other 13th-century paintings were
uncovered, including scenes of Adam and Eve and of two
unidentified saints. Of the 14th-century paintings, the most
interesting discovery was the Virgin and Child on the south
wall and the previously uncovered Three Living on the north
wall. Although many of the paintings were fragmentary, it is
clear that both the 13th and 14th-century schemes were of
an unusually high figurative quality.

Introduction
Although small fragments of medieval wall painting are
regularly uncovered in medieval churches, the discovery
of complete narrative schemes is far less usual.
Therefore, the discovery in the 1980s of an extensive
scheme of wall paintings in the parish church of Little
Tey, near Colchester, was of particular significance.
Situated at the north end of the village, the church of
St James the Less is a simple single-celled structure,
constructed of flint rubble with limestone dressings for
the doors and windows, and incorporating a number of
quoins of undressed pudding-stone. Although the main
structure of the building is 12th century, a number of
windows were inserted in the 14th century, and the level
of the roof has been raised. The church was also restored
in the 19th century when the east window was replaced.
During the 1960s, the internal walls of the church
were decorated with a synthetic non-porous paint,
which had since deteriorated very badly. By the 1980s,
the loss of the modern paint had begun to reveal areas
of what appeared to be two schemes of early wall
painting, and some important sections of the paintings
were uncovered by Jane Rutherfoord, at this time.

Pre-conservation survey

A detailed examination of the church was carried out in
1995, in order to assess the nature and extent of the
surviving wall paintings as well as their current
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condition and the possibilities for their full uncovering
and conservation. This survey showed that a band of the
original lime and sand render, ¢.165cm in width,
survived on all of the internal walls, at a height of
¢.194cm above floor level. Below this level, the original
plaster had been lost and replaced with a modern lime
mortar dado, while the area above was repaired with a
mud and straw render.

The initial uncovering tests in the area of original
render revealed at least two schemes of wall painting of
different dates, both of which appeared to extend
around all of the walls. On stylistic grounds, as well as
their relationship with the architectural structure of the
church, it appeared likely that the schemes dated to the
13th and 14th-centuries respectively. The fact that a
scene of the Last Supper had been partially exposed on
the north wall indicated that the earlier of the two
schemes included at least part of a Passion cycle.
However, it was far from clear at this early stage whether
the later scheme followed the same narrative structure
or if the paintings were of an entirely different type. At
the west end of the north wall, a number of very small
fragments of paint were found, which appeared to be
part of a much larger scheme of decoration, which had
been almost entirely destroyed.

The structure of the 13th-century paint layer was
relatively simple, with the pigment layer applied on a
single limewash ground over an uneven, but fine layer of
lime render. The 1l4th-century painting was applied
directly over the previous scheme, on a single fine layer
of limewash. Above this were a number of layers of
limewash, and a single layer of blue distemper followed
by at least three layers of brown distemper. Most
recently applied, in 1966, was the layer of slightly grey
Walpamur,' a synthetic emulsion paint. In all, there
appeared to be approximately 12 separate paint and
limewash layers above the render.

The paint analysis showed that the palette used for
both the 13th-and 14th-century paint schemes was
fairly similar, containing red and yellow ochres in an
organic medium.’ In addition, the 14th-century scheme
contained some areas of a lead pigment which had
converted from its original colour to dark brown or
black. The paint layers of both schemes were found to
be relatively fine (¢.15-25um) in comparison to the
limewash layers (¢.150-300um), making them
particularly vulnerable to mechanical damage. It was
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also noted that in a number of areas the pigment layers
appeared to lack cohesion. Analysis of pigment samples
taken from some small fragments of what appeared to
be later paint work on the north wall, showed the use of
vermilion and green verditer.

The analysis of the blue pigment in the later
distemper showed it to be artificial ultramarine.
Although artificial ultramarine was first synthesised in
the first half of the 19th-century, it was not
commercially produced as an artists pigment until the
1850s, and it was presumably later still that it began to
be used as a cheap pigment in distemper. As a result, it
was possible to tell that all the layers above the blue
layer, including all the brown distemper layers, were
later than the mid 19th century. Therefore, in areas such
as those in the apse, where the brown distemper was
applied directly onto the 13th-century paint layer, it can
be concluded that all the paint layers between the 13th
and the 19th centuries had been lost.

Since its application, the Walpamur had shown signs
of extensive delamination and flaking over much of the
area of the church. This had caused large areas of the
lower coatings to delaminate and flake, including in some
areas the original paint layers. It appears that in order to
prepare the wall surface for past redecoration, extensive
preparatory scraping down and cleaning was carried out.
In some cases, this seems to have been extremely
vigorous, with extensive damage throughout the layer
structure and a characteristic linear scarring on the
plaster layer. The most notable example of this is in the
apse, where the preparation of the surface for the brown
distemper had removed all layers above the 13th-century
paint scheme. As a result, in most sections of the apse,
the distemper was applied directly over the badly
damaged 13th-century paintings. In the few small areas
where patches of limewash survived, acting as an
intervention layer, the 13th-century painting survived in
better condition. However, in most other areas, there was
extensive surface abrasion.

Conservation Programme

In many cases where wall paintings are discovered in
situations similar to this, it is considered the best
conservation practice to leave them covered, and merely
to record their presence and ensure that they are not
deteriorating. However, Little Tey was considered to be
an exception as it was the covering layers themselves
which were to a large extent responsible for the
paintings’ deterioration. Therefore, it was decided that
the layers of limewash, distemper and modern paint
should be removed, in order that the paintings could be
exposed and conserved. Significant sections of the
paintings, including the Last Supper and the Three
Living and the Three Dead were uncovered by Jane
Rutherfoord in the 1980s. The main programme of
uncovering and conservation was undertaken by Tobit
Curteis Associates in 1996. The stabilisation of the paint
layers was considered to be the primary aim of the
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conservation work once they were uncovered. In
conjunction with this, the areas of damage were repaired
and losses were treated with a tinted limewash in order
to reduce their visually disruptive appearance. At no
point was retouching or reconstruction of the paintings
undertaken.?

The Paintings

The wall paintings are described in a clockwise order,
beginning with those over the north door. In order to
allow easier identification of the different sections of
painting, the walls of the church have been divided into
twelve sequentially numbered areas (Figs 1 and 2).

North Wall (Areas 1 and 2)

Although the painting in the area around the north door
is very badly damaged, a fragmentary 14th-century
painting of St Christopher is clearly visible. The Christ
Child sits on the shoulder of the saint, with an orb in his
left hand and his right hand raised in a blessing.
Interestingly, he appears to have a scalloped rather than
a crossed halo (Plate 1). The figure of St Christopher is
extremely fragmentary with only a section of the head
and bearded face readily visible, though fragments of his
dark drapery can be seen on the plaster below. Paint
analysis demonstrated that the black pigment was a
converted lead pigment. Above and to the right of the
figures is a border of contemporary vine scroll, painted
partly on a fine lime mortar repair with which it appears
to be contemporary.

In the area above and to the right of the north door,
a series of fragments of later wall paintings were
uncovered, which appeared to date to at least three
different periods. Although the earlier of the fragments
might be figurative, it is possible that the later fragments
are the remains of decorative frames for biblical texts.

To the east of the north door, in Area 2, the most
important painting is the scene of the Three Living and
the Three Dead, which has been dated to the early 14th-
century on stylistic grounds. The wall painting, which is
very similar to that found at St Mary’s, Belchamp
Wialter, also in Essex, shows distinct similarities to the
example in the Psalter of Robert de Lisle (British
Library, Arundel Ms 83 II) of ¢.1310.* The right hand
side of the painting, which would have contained the
figures of the Three Dead, has been lost due to the
insertion of a window with simple Y tracery,
characteristic of ¢.1320.

While much of the 13th-century render survived
in this area, the only feature which is clearly visible is
the fleur-de-lys border which runs above the window
to the right. However, the most interesting area of
13th-century painting is on the lower part of the
wall below the main painting. This shows the top of
a second decorative border, similar in design to that
seen in the upper area, and is the only surviving
indication of how the lower edge of the painting would
have been decorated.’
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Fig. 1 Little Tey church. Internal elevations showing general areas of wall paintings, plus plan of church
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Plate 1. The Christ Child on the shoulder of St Christopher,
on the north wall of the nave.
(Photo copyright: Tobit Curteis Associates)

The Apse (Areas 3 to 6)

The walls of the apse are decorated with a cycle of 13th-
century paintings depicting the Passion of Christ. The
first scene, shows the Last Supper, while to the right, is
the Washing of the Feet. The paintings in this area are by
far the most complete and retain the most interesting
figurative details. Although the two scenes are clearly
differentiated by the alternating background of red and
light pink, figures in the Last Supper encroach on the
Washing of the Feet, giving an impression of
progression in the narrative cycle.

The iconography of both scenes is not unusual for
the period. In the Last Supper, Christ sits at the centre
of the table with St John asleep on his breast and the
other disciples on either side (Plate 2). His left hand is
held out to Judas who kneels on the other side of the
table with his head bent back and his arms outstretched.
In the Washing of the Feet, Christ is seen kneeling before
St Peter, holding his foot above a raised water basin, and
with his left hand raised to admonish Peter for his
reticence. Peter has his left arm upraised in surprise,
while the rest of the apostles look on. An almost identical
representation occurs in a manuscript of ¢.1220-30, at
Emmanuel College, Cambridge (MS25, folio II).6
Interestingly, in the manuscript, Christ has the towel
over his shoulder in the more conventional manner,
while in the wall painting, the towel is hung over a rail at
the back of the scene.

The trefoil devices in the upper border (Plate 3),
which is particularly clear in this area, is very similar to
that found on the nativity cycle at St Clement’s,
Ashampstead, in Berkshire, which has been dated to the
early to mid 13th-century.7 Such an early date for a
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Passion cycle, makes the scheme of paintings at Little
Tey a particularly rare example.

While very little 14th-century painting is seen over
the Last Supper, a particularly interesting area was
discovered on the Washing of the Feet. On the right
hand side of the scene, superimposed over the figures of
the Disciples, is the outline of a single standing figure, in
a long robe. Small fragments of a dark robe, similar to
that of St Christopher in Area 1, were also found. When
analysed these were found to contain converted lead
pigments. Although these remains are only fragmentary,
they are of particular importance in showing that 14th-
century figurative painting had definitely been carried
out in the apse.

To the left of the Last Supper there were large losses
in the original plaster, which had been repaired using
various mud straw and other renders. It is noteworthy
that to the east of the repairs, the trefoil border was
painted significantly below the wall plate, while to the
west, it is higher and far closer to the original wall plate.
The only explanation for this appeared to be that when
it was painted, there was a physical barrier between the
nave and the apse, and therefore there would not have
been the visual continuation which we have today.
Whether such a barrier was structural or merely a
wooden screen is not clear, but, there is a corresponding
loss on the other side of the apse in area 6.

In area 4, to the right of the Washing of the Feet, the
scenes of the Betrayal and the Flagellation were among
the most significant discoveries of the recent
programme. Like the previous scene, the iconography is
typical of the period, with the central figure of Christ
being kissed by Judas. To the right is St Peter with the
sword in his right hand, with which he cuts off the ear of
the high priest’s servant, Malchus, who crouches on the
left hand side. Behind them are the figures of the
soldiers, one of whom holds an axe, and the evil-looking
profiles of the high priest’s followers. The depiction of
the scene on the verso of the folio of the Emmanuel
College manuscript mentioned above, contains many of
the same groupings, although in this case the layout is a
little different. However, the similarly between many of
the figures and objects is noteworthy.®

To the right, the scene of the Flagellation had
suffered far worse loss and only the fragmentary halo of
Christ could be seen on the left of the scene. The figure
of his tormentor, who is wearing a knee length tunic
above bare legs and has his left arm raised, stands to the
right of Christ. To the right of the Flagellation is what
may be a fragment of the Christ Carrying the Cross.
Most of this scene has been lost as a result of the
enlargement of the east window.

Most of the 14th-century painﬁng in this area had
been destroyed. However, one particularly interesting
area was found over the lower half of the figure of Christ
in the Flagellation. This fragment of painting appears to
show two crossed legs, dressed in buskins, and may
therefore be the fragment of a figure of Pilate in a 14th-
century depiction of Christ before Pilate. If this were the
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Plate 2. The central section of the Last Supper on the north wall of the apse.
(Photo copyright: Tobit Curteis Associates)

case, it would be particularly important as, in
conjunction with the scene of the three Marys at the
Sepulchre described below, it would indicate that there
was a l4th-century repainting of the Passion, rather
than a series of individual subjects.

To the right of the east window, in area 5, are scenes
of the Crucifixion, the Entombment and the Three
Marys at the Sepulchre. Although it is badly damaged,
the painting of Crucifixion is particularly striking. The
iconography is more complex than usual, and includes
the figures of Longinus (with the lance) and Stephaton
(with the sponge of vinegar). This layout is more clearly
seen in a contemporary manuscript at the Blackburn
Museum and Art Gallery.” At Little Tey, the figure of St
John adopts an unusual stance with his right hand held
up under his cloak, in the manner shown in a
watercolour of the wall painting of the Crucifixion at
Bapchild Church in Kent. Unfortunately, due to the
enlargement of the east window, the figure of the Virgin
as well as most of Longinus has been destroyed. Above
the figurative scene is the fleur de lys band, which was
also found to be in relatively good condition.
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To the right, is a badly damaged 13th-century scene
assumed to be the Entombment, due to the small
shrouded or cowled head which appears at the base of
the painting. Fragments of a second head looking down
at the figure were also found. Further to the right,
adjacent to the window is the scene of the Three Marys
at the Sepulchre. The three obvious wimpled figures and
the seated angel date to the 14th century. However, close
examination shows a second set of figures, slightly above
these, which are clearly part of the 13th-century
scheme. This is particularly interesting as both the 13th-
and the 14th-century paintings appear to be depicting
the same subject. In conjunction with the fragments on
the previous scenes, this appears to indicate quite
strongly that there was indeed a second, later Passion
cycle painted over the 13th-century scheme.

In Area 6, adjacent to the window is the scene of the
Harrowing of Hell. The haloed Christ is depicted
standing in front of the large open mouth of Hell (whose
eye can be seen above the open mouth). The souls of the
Damned, which were presumably painted coming out of
the mouth, have deteriorated so badly that they are no
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Plate 3. Detail of the decorative border above the Last Supper.
(Photo copyright: Tobit Curteis Associates)

longer visible. However, what can be seen is a small
yellow demon which is jumping out of the mouth
towards Christ.

To the right is the scene of Noli Me Tangere. The
lower part of the kneeling Magdalene is clearly visible,

Plate 4. The Virgin and Child on the south wall of the nave.
(Photo copyright: Tobit Curteis Associates)

as is the lower section of Christ’s robe. However, most
of the upper bodies are destroyed, and only Christ’s
head and the top of the pennant staff can be seen.
Although the scene is difficult to read in its current
condition, comparison with the very similar example in
the rolls of the Velletri, Museo Capitolare," clearly
demonstrate the layout of the scene. Further to the right
is a single bare leg from an unidentified scene.

Plate 5. The Virgin and Child at Little Wenham. (For
comparative purposes, this plate has been printed in reverse.)
(Photo copyright: Tobit Curtets Associates)



MEDIEVAL WALL PAINTINGS AT ST JAMES THE LESS, LITTLE TEY

%

Plate 6. The figure in the soffit of the window in the south wall.
(Photo copyright: Tobit Curters Associates)

Like its counterpart on the north wall, the western
side of area 6 has been repaired with various mud straw
renders. The level of the fleur de lys band also rises
significantly in area 7, indicating the presence of a
physical barrier at the time of painting.

South Wall (Areas 7 to 9)

Immediately to the right of the window is a very fine
depiction of the Virgin and Child, with the Child, who is
holding a orb, sitting on the hip of the crowned Virgin
(Plate 4).The Virgin can be seen to be holding the stem
of a lily in her very delicately painted left hand. A rather
similar but more sophisticated depiction of ¢.1300 can
be seen at Little Wenham Church, in Suffolk (Plate 5).
As with the Three Living and the Three Dead, with
which it is contemporary, the scene has been cut into by
the insertion of a later window.

The 13th-century figure in the soffit of the window
between areas 7 and 8 wears a white undershirt with a
red cloak over its left shoulder (Plate 6). While most of
the facial and other linear details, including the halo,
have been lost, the figure retains most of its bright
yellow hair. Due to the lack of detail, the identification
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of the figure is not clear. However, it is possible that it is
one of a series of paintings of saints or martyrs which
would originally have adorned all of the 12th-century
windows.!"" On the eastern splay of the window is a
second similarly dressed figure also with yellow hair.
However this figure, who holds what appears to be a
scroll in its left hand, is wearing a red robe over its right
shoulder. The outside edge of the window is decorated
with a chevron pattern painted in light pink, which has
deteriorated significantly. Although the details of the
figure differ, this same form of painted decoration on
the soffit and splays of windows is seen at Easthorpe
Church in Essex and at Barfreston Church in Kent.
Although the level of damage in area 8, to the east of
the windows is relatively high, much of the 13th-century
render was found to have survived and fragments of
painting were uncovered. In the area adjacent to the
window, the remains of the figures of Adam and Eve
were discovered. Of the two, both of whom are naked,
the figure of Eve is most visible. The structure of the
breast and lower ribs are similar to that seen in the far
earlier example at Hardham Church in Sussex. The ribs
and upper chest of the bearded figure of Adam are also
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visible. Above the south door are fragments of at least
two further figures. That on the left appears to be an
angel, while the only other clearly visible figure is
bearded. Given it’s juxtaposition with the previous
scene, it would appear likely that it is the Expulsion from
the Garden of Eden. The broken fleur de lys border can
be seen running above both scenes, indicating that they
are part of the 13th-century scheme.

To the right of the door, much of the original render
has been lost. The only surviving section of 14th-
century painting is a fragment of the figure of Mary
Magdalene, which should be viewed in conjunction with
the figures to the west of the structural wooden post in
area 9. These two fragmentary figures are identified as
St Margaret and St Catherine.”? The figure of St
Margaret is in the west corner and can be identified by
the small dragon at her feet and her long crossed staff.
In style, she is similar to the figure of St Margaret at
Little Wenham Church in Suffolk. To her right, adjacent
to the wooden post, are the remains of the upper part of
a figure of St Catherine holding a wheel, again similar to
the figure of that saint at Little Wenham. On the basis of
this grouping of figures, the small red circle in area 8 can
be identified as the top of the pot of ointment held by
the Magdalene.

Conclusions

The discovery of two such interesting schemes of wall
paintings is certainly an uncommon event. What makes
the paintings of particular interest, apart from their
exceptional artistic quality, is the opportunity on stylistic
and architectural grounds to date them relatively closely.
The similarity between the ubiquitous fleur de lys
border seen in the earlier of the two schemes and the
same design at Ashampstead, suggests that they are very
close in date. The latter paintings have been dated to the
early to mid 13th century, which by implication makes
the paintings of the Passion cycle at Little Tey almost
unique in Essex. The similarities between the scene of
the Three Living and the Three Dead on the north wall
and the example in the de Lisle Psalter of ¢.1310 are also
striking. Given that the wall painting must post-date the
Psalter by some time and must predate the Y-tracery
window, (the insertion of which destroyed the figures of
the Three Dead), this leaves a very limited period, in the
early 14th century, when they could have been
executed. This would make the Three Living and by
implication the other parts of this scheme extremely
early examples of their type.
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The life and times of a rural schoolmaster:

Richard Stokes of Ongar Academy

by L.L. Williams

Introduction

The town of Ongar lies in south-west Essex, on a spur
between the River Roding and Cripsey Brook. Its High
Street forms part of the road between Great Dunmow
and Stratford which follows the Roding valley for much
of its course. About 1.5km north of the town this road is
crossed by the highway between Chelmsford and
Epping, which had been turnpiked as far east as Writtle
in 1787. The full name of the town, Chipping Ongar,
indicates its early importance as the market centre for
the area. The town never became a chartered borough,
the market remaining in the hands of the Lord of the
Manor until 1841 (VCH, 155). The population of the
town increased steadily during the first half of the
nineteenth century, from 595 in 1801 and 678 in 1811
to 867 in 1861, shortly after Richard Stokes’s retirement
(Porter 1877, 26). Ongar had no industry, and was
largely dependent on trade. In 1798 the town was able
to sustain 48 occupations, including those needed by a
rural community (blacksmith, miller), dealers in local
produce (maltster, corn factor), a full range of shops
(grocer, tea dealer, tallow chandler), and professional
services (surgeon, attorney, auctioneer, land surveyor).
The needs of the ladies of the town were supplied by the
woollen and linen drapers and the staymaker, while their
husbands kept accounts with the brandy merchant and
the watchmaker (UBD, 176). By 1823 the services had
been augmented by a bank and a fire insurance office,
the number of schools had doubled, and three milliners
had set up business in the town (Pigot 1823-4, 286).
Twenty-five years later Ongar was described as being
‘partially paved, lighted with gas and amply supplied
with water’ (Lewis 1849, 478). The prosperity of the
area, and so also of the town, lay in the supply of
agricultural produce to London, particularly dairy
produce and hay (Brown 1969, 30,39). Although the
turnpike road did not pass through Ongar, by the end of
the eighteenth century the town was already connected
to London by two waggons and three coaches a week
(UBD, 175/6). In addition to the London trade, farming
in Essex benefited greatly from the rise in prices caused
by the wars of 1793 to 1815. Writing in 1807, Arthur
Young noted that ‘Such has been the flourishing state of
agriculture for twenty or thirty years past that scarcely
an estate is sold, if divided into lots of forty or fifty to
two or three hundred a year, but is purchased by
farmers, who can certainly afford to give far more for
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them than almost any other persons, as they can turn
them to the highest advantage by their own cultivation’.
Rents had risen on an estate in Roxwell from 7s 6d in
1764 to 16s (Young 1807, 40, 73). Even the farm
labourers prospered. In 1794 it was reported that so
many of them had enlisted in the army that there was a
‘scarcity of hands’, and in the Ongar area those
remaining could demand a minimum wage of 14s per
week (Brown 1969, 131).

Richard Stokes was born in the nearby village of
High Ongar in 1788, the third child of Jonathan and
Sarah Stokes (Essex Record Office (hereafter ERO)
D/P 68/1/3). Jonathan farmed at Chivers Hall in the
village, though he had been born on his father’s farm at
Shelley. The family had always been part of the
farming community of west Essex, but Jonathan’s
children were able to take advantage of the increasing
opportunities for trade and commerce which were
available in England by the end of the eighteenth
century. Apart from Richard with his school, Edward
was apprenticed to a hatter, two spinster daughters
became professional embroideresses with their own
emporium in Brighton, and another two girls married
John West, the Chipping Ongar coach proprietor, and
his brother Thomas, a tallow-chandler of Stratford
Broadway. Jonathan died early in 1810 at the age of 59,
the Chelmsford Chronicle of 9th March reporting: ‘On
Saturday last died Mr. Stokes, a respectable farmer of
High Ongar, leaving a numerous family to lament his
loss” (ERO T/B 171/14). The family was indeed
numerous; all Jonathan and Sarah’s ten children had
survived infancy, only two had married before
Jonathan’s death, and five of the children were still
under 18 in 1810. Jonathan had made his will a month
before his death, carefully providing for Sarah, while
dividing the bulk of his estate among their children.
Richard received the only large cash bequest, the sum
of £200, as well as a share of the residue of the estate
after his mother’s death. When Sarah eventually died in
1843 each of the surviving children received another
£150 (Public Record Office (hereafter PRO)
IR26/160). It may have been the legacy from his father
which finally decided Richard to set up his own
educational establishment, since it was less than six
months after probate of Jonathan’s will was granted
that he placed an advertisement in the Chelmsford
Chronicle of 11th January 1811:
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EDUCATION:
CHIPPING ONGAR, ESSEX.
R. STOKES
Respectfully acquaints his Friends

and the Public, that his Academy for the Board
and Education of twenty young Gentlemen, will open
on Monday, 21st instant.

Terms, Twenty Guineas per Annum

(EROT/B 171/15).

It was a good time to open a school. The prosperity of
the area during the Napoleonic Wars, coupled with the
increasing tendency of local farmers and tradesmen to
send their sons to boarding school, rather than to local
day schools, meant that there was a ready supply of
prospective pupils for such an Academy. There was
already a charity school in Ongar, whose master also
took in fee-paying pupils, but Stokes does not seem to
have foreseen any difficulty competing with him (Brown
1996, 133,134). In a handbill which Stokes produced to
advertise the opening of his school he stated that a
‘separate Apartment’ would be available for the
‘Instruction of Young Ladies in Writing, Arithmetic and
Dancing’. This evidently produced no response, for
nothing more is heard of the girls, and Ongar Academy
remained exclusively a school for boys (Karr and
Humphrey 1976, 36).

The Academy

It is not known where Stokes himself attended school,
but it is likely that, as was the case with J.E. Adams, the
Sheffield schoolmaster, he stayed on as an assistant
master at the school where he had been a pupil (Adams
1853, 8). In a handbill produced for the opening of the
school, Stokes states that he has had ‘several Years’
Practice in the Art of Teaching’, which implies that he
started at a very young age by today’s standards (Karr
and Humphrey 1976, 36). This was not, however,
unusual in the eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries. Joseph Lancaster, the pioneer of monitorial
training, which later evolved into the pupil teacher
system, started teaching at the age of fourteen, and had
opened his own school in Southwark by the time he was
twenty (Aldrich 1995, 5). Many schoolmasters started
their training as monitors. In his evidence to the Select
Committee on Education, J.T. Crossley of the British
and Foreign Schools Society stated: “We select the
monitors from among the boys who have passed
through the course of instruction in the school, and
who, consequently, are well acquainted with the
business. We give them other instruction for an hour a
day, on those points which we wish to have their
influence to be felt in the school’ (Parliamentary Papers
1834, IX, 82). By the end of the eighteenth century the
proprietorial school was a flourishing institution. It
appealed particularly to the middle classes, offering a
more practical education than the old endowed
Grammar schools, which were in many cases in severe
decline: Colchester Royal Grammar School has been
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referred to as ‘nothing but an educational sham’ by the
1830s, while at Pocklington in Yorkshire the school was
totally moribund, with the schoolroom being rented out
to a carpenter (Davidoff and Hall 1987, 236; Sands and
Hamworth 1951, 71). When Nicholas Carlisle
attempted to survey the Grammar Schools of England
and Wales in 1818, he received no reply at all from three
of the ten Essex schools (Carlisle 1818). Many of the
early private schools were run by dissenters, who often
had no access to education in endowed or charitable
foundations.

During the early years of the nineteenth century the
numbers of private schools continued to increase. The
demand for secondary education was expanding, as the
opportunities for clerical employment rose, and the
private schools were better able to meet this demand
than the endowed schools, since they were able to offer
a more flexible curriculum (Roach 1986, 108). Many of
the new clerical positions arose as a result of the increase
in national and local government, particularly in the
administration of the Poor Law. In rural areas such as
west Essex, the supervision of this administration was in
charge of just those farmers and small tradesmen who
were beginning to appreciate the need for more
sophisticated clerical and financial competence in their
own business record keeping (Brown 1969, 30). That
the majority of pupils at the Academy were drawn from
such a background can be seen from the list of his
patrons which Richard Stokes used on a handbill of
circa 1853 (Karr and Humphrey 1976, 39). There are
65 names listed, and occupations or status have been
determined for 56. Seventeen of these were farmers, and
a further 21 were shopkeepers or small businessmen.
Only seven were of private means, while twelve were
professional men. These private schools were almost all
proprietorial: conducted for profit by the owner who
was also the head or only teacher. The youngest pupils
were seven or eight years old, having been taught at
home or in dame schools until that age. Boys usually left
at the age of 14 to 16 to take up apprenticeships or enter
business with their parents (Davidoff and Hall 1987,
235). In 1841 Ongar Academy had only six pupils
under the age of ten, and no boys over 14, while in 1851
there were only three boys under 10, and seven boys
aged 14 and over. Up to the 1840s the majority of
Stokes’s pupils were from Essex families. The 1841
census included the question ‘whether born in the
County’, to which 32 out of 47 of the boys replied “Yes’.
The next census ten years later asked specifically for
birthplace, and this shows that the boys were beginning
to come from a wider area. While 13 of them had been
born in Essex, an equal number were from London or
Middlesex, and the other four had been born in
Buckinghamshire, Worcestershire, Cornwall and
Newfoundland. In the 1861 census, taken after Stokes
had retired, but when most of the pupils would still have
joined the school under his mastership, the majority of
the boys, 23 out of 29, were from London or Middlesex
(PRO HO 107/336/15, 3-5; HO 107/1771, 267-8; RG
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6/1067, 34-6). Numbers at the school fluctuated over
the years. Stokes expected to be able to teach 20 boys
when he opened the Academy in 1811. By 1833 the
Academy was reported to have had only 13 pupils
(Parliamentary Papers 1835 (62) XILI). The school
reached its largest extent under Stokes’s ownership in
1841, when it had 47 pupils, after which the number
dropped to 30 in 1851. In 1861, shortly after Stokes
retired, the number of pupils was 29. John Shoveller of
Portsmouth considered that the optimum number of
boys in a school was between 20 and 40, though with the
higher number two assistants would be needed
(Shoveller 1824, 46). Among Stokes’s pupils in 1851
were three of his nephews, Edward Stokes, son of his
brother Edward, the London hatter, Richard Stokes, son
of his brother Thomas, who had taken over Chivers Hall
at High Ongar on his father’s death, and Henry West,
son of his sister Mary Ann. Parents preferred to send
their children to schools run by relatives, hoping, often
successfully, to receive a reduction in fees, as well as
closer attention to the needs of their children (Davidoff
and Hall 1987, 239).

One particular difficulty which presented itself to
most schoolmasters, and which probably caused more
financial disasters than any other, was that of obtaining
the payments due to them (Aldrich 1995, 69). As
Henry Hunt remembered, “When I left this school, Mr.
Cooper, the master, came round during the holidays, as
was customary, to collect his bills’ (Hunt 1820, 46). In
July 1825 Rev. H.E. St. John wrote to the Rev. E.G.
Meyrick, the proprietor of a school in Ramsbury,
Wiltshire, admitting that he owed him /£90.8s.5d. for
schooling for his three sons since Christmas 1821,
‘besides £9 what I believe I owe you for till Xmas
1821’. He continues ‘I will send you something as soon
as I can, but I have so many things to buy at this time...’
(Wiltshire and Swindon Record Office (hereafter
WRO) 31/1). The Ramsbury school was superior to
Ongar Academy both in its aspiration as a ‘boarding
school for the sons of the middle classes’ and in its
clientele, which in 1818 included the grandson of the
Earl of Limerick. Nevertheless, Meyrick had no less
difficulty than the proprietors of more modest
establishments in collecting his debts. The actual
amounts that parents were prepared to pay is a well-
researched subject, since so much evidence has
survived in the form of school bills in family papers, as
well as proprietors’ advertisements in the press (Roach
1986, 117). Stokes stated in his opening advertisement
that his fees would be 20 gn. per annum, though this is
at variance with his handbill of the same date, which
states the fees as twelve shillings per quarter for the
basic curriculum, with Geography and Astromony at
two gn. per annum, and other ‘extra’ subjects ‘on the
usual Terms’ (ERO T/B 171/15; Karr and Humphrey
1976, 36). It may be that the lower fee was only for
tuition, and did not include a charge for boarding, since
it is more in line with the 13s. per quarter which W.J.
Wright of Margaretting was charging for tuition only in
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1867 (ERO D/DU 276/7). A later, undated, handbill
for Ongar Academy states the fees as 24 gn. per annum,
with one guinea entrance, and washing at 2 gn. per
annum. This handbill also warns parents that ‘A
Quarter’s Notice, or Payment of Terms for One
Quarter, is expected previous to every young
Gentleman’s removal from the Academy’. By the early
1850s Stokes was charging £30 per annum for boys
under 12 years old, £35 for those over twelve, and £50
per annum for ‘parlour Boarders’ (Karr and Humphrey
1976, 36). These fees appear to be about the average
for a school of its type. In 1827, Willliam Barnes was
charging 22gn. at Mere in Wiltshire. When he moved to
the larger town of Dorchester in 1835 his fees had risen
to 22gn. for those under 12 and 24 gn. for those over,
and by 1844 he was charging £30 (Hearl, 1966,
22,115,176). Two of the sons of Charles Sperling of
Great Maplestead were attending Ashford Grammar
School in the 1840s. The fees at that time were 30 gn.
per annum for the older boy and 25gn. for the younger.
The bill which Sperling received at Christmas 1843
also contained items for books and stationary
(including 5s. for a volume of Ovid, and 1s. for ‘Ince’s
History’), washing and shoemending, hair-cutting and
medicine, and weekly allowances of pocket-money for
the boys, amounting to 4s.6d. each for the half year
(ERO D/DSe 33).

Many schoolmasters conducted their business in
rented property, as the capital cost of buying a large
enough building was beyond their means (Aldrich 1995,
42). Here Richard Stokes was fortunate. His elder
brother Jonathan was already a substantial farmer in
Stapleford Abbotts, and was able to buy suitable
premises in the High Street in Chipping Ongar, which
Richard rented at the outset (ERO Q/RPI1 716). He was
later able to acquire a portion of the freehold, but it was
not until Jonathan died in 1853 that Richard became the
sole owner of the building (PRO PROB 11/2181). The
other major cost of setting up a boarding school was that
of equipping it. In 1827 William Barnes was charged
£2 8s. 0d. for ‘4 Bedsteads for the Scholars’, as well as
£2 2s. 0d. for a desk 13ft. 4in. long. Each bed was
equipped with a mattress, a bolster, sheets and a
‘mingled Counterpane’ costing in all £1 6s. 5( (Hearl
1966, 43). Stokes paid Richard Noble £1 3s. 4d in 1831
for bookshelves for the dining room (ERO D/DU
413/1). By 1830 Stokes was the owner of enough
freehold property in Ongar to be able to vote in that
year’s Parliamentary election, when he voted for the
successful candidates Charles Callis Western and Sir
John Tyssen Tyrell (Poll Book 1830). When the county
constituency was divided by the Reform Act, Chipping
Ongar became part of South Essex. In the subsequent
election of 1832 Stokes again voted for the successful
candidate, Robert Westley Hall Dare, by virtue of
owning ‘freehold houses at the north end of Chipping
Ongar’ (Poll Book 1832). Both Tyrell and Dare were
"Tories, while Western has been described as ‘a Whig, but
not an extreme reformer’ (Stenton 1976, 101, 387;
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Thorne 1986, 516). Jonathan bequeathed not only his
share of the school building to Richard, but also a
cottage which he owned in Chipping Ongar. From these
legacies Richard had to pay various sums to his brothers
and sisters, totalling £700 (PRO PROB 11/2181).

Housekeeping at the school was the province of
Stokes’s wife, Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Shadrack,
who he had married in 1823 when he was 35 years old;
she was only 18 (ERO D/P 124/1/7). Elizabeth received
a dowry of £800 on her marriage, and further
considerable property on the death of her father in
1828. In his will Thomas Shadrack also forgave Richard
Stokes ‘all the debt or debts now owing by him to me’
(ERO D/DU 276/1). The female ‘assistants’ who are to
be found on the census entries for the school in 1841
and 1851 may have been employed in helping Elizabeth
run the house rather than assisting in the teaching. In
each case the young lady in question was a niece of
Richard’s, in 1841 Emma Young, daughter of his sister
Jane, who had died at an early age, and in 1851 Jane
West, daughter of his sister Sarah and John West, the
Ongar coach proprietor. Stokes and his wife had no
children, so needed only modest accommodation for
themselves, the assistants and domestic staff. The boys
would have required a schoolroom, a dining room, and
bedrooms or a dormitory. The present top floor of the
school building, which was used as the boys’ dormitory
in the early years of this century, was not added until
much later in the nineteenth century, so it is not
possible to say where the boys slept. It is likely that few
of them had a bed to themselves. The prospectus of
Standard Hill Academy in Nottingham stated that no
more than two beds were placed in a room, and
generally two boys slept in each bed (Wadsworth 1942,
72). A school at Mere Vicarage in Wiltshire was able to
advertise in 1832 that “each pupil will have a separate
bed”, but at Ongar Academy, even in the 1850s the
younger boys were still having to share beds. Stokes’s
handbill of the period includes among the ‘Extras’ a
charge of One Guinea per annum for a separate bed for
Junior pupils (Hearl 1966, 43; Karr and Humphrey
1976, 39).

The schoolroom was often in need of attention
from Richard Noble, a builder and neighbour of
the Academy who carried out much repair and building
work for Stokes, and who seems to have been
engaged in running repairs on the premises on almost
a weekly basis. In December 1828 he was repairing
the schoolroom floor and making a new platform
for the desks; in September 1829, putting new
hinges on the schoolroom door; in October 1830,
easing the schoolroom windows; in April 1832, fixing
the pot on the schoolroom chimney (ERO D/DU
413/1). Noble and his men could turn their hands to
almost any task: repairing Venetian blinds, putting a
new seat in the privy, stopping up rat-holes in the cellar,
putting up and taking down bedsteads, making a new
towel roller, and the ubiquitous ‘sundry jobs’. Richard
Noble performed similar maintenance tasks for James
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Lane at Fyfield Academy (ERO D/DU 413/2). The
school was able to supply some of its own food, Noble’s
building accounts mentioning a cattle crib and dairy
house (and making guards for the trees in the field,
presumably to stop the cows harming them), a
cucumber frame, chicken coops and a malt mill. Boys
may well have been better looked after in the dining
room than legend would believe. Henry Hunt
remembered that at his old school “The scholars were
better fed than taught...’, while at Ackworth in
Yorkshire the boys were given a pot of beer each
lunchtime, the size of the pot depending on the age of
the pupil (Hunt 1820, 41; Hunt 1942, 91). In the
summer of 1830 Stokes required Noble’s services for a
more substantial piece of work. A separate set of
accounts in the ledger book is headed “To the alteration
of Building to Connect the House and Schoolroom’.
Other items are intersperced with the building
accounts, but the job seems to have taken about 2!/
months and cost in the region of £90.

One big advantage which parents saw in the
proprietorial schools was their small numbers and their
attention to the individual needs of the pupils. The
grammar schools tended to be larger, to give little direct
supervision to the boys, and to ‘encourage’ learning
only through the liberal use of the rod, whereas in the
best private schools, the aim was to ‘stimulate by the
hope of praise and the fear of censure’ (Shoveller 1824,
51). Moreover, parents feared that their sons could
come under malign influences in such an unsupervised
atmosphere. As Joseph Priestley wrote, ‘...it is well
known that most of our public schools in England are
in such a situation, that a young person runs the
greatest risque of having his morals corrupted in them’
(Priestley 1778, 50). It was, however, in their
curriculum more than in any other respect that the
proprietorial schools differed from the endowed
schools. They were able to offer subjects such as
science, modern languages and land surveying. John
Shoveller described his establishment in Portsmouth as
a ‘classical’ school, but he included mathematics and
science in his curriculum (Roach 1986, 126). At the
school run by Jeffery Whitaker at Bratton in Wiltshire
from 1725, which had many local tradesmens’ sons
among its pupils, Latin, English, Penmanship,
Arithmetic, Merchants’ Accounts, Geometry, Use of
the Globes [Geography], Drawing and Surveying
formed the curriculum (Haycock 1991, 83). In 1807,
the Salisbury and Winchester Journal advertised a
school at Mere in Wiltshire where young Gentlemen
‘will be boarded and instructed in the Latin and English
Languages, Writing in the different hands, Arithmetic
through all its branches with the Mathematics and
Bookkeeping’ (Hearl 1966, 22). Although Stokes could
only offer a basic education in 1811 (even Geography
was ‘extra’), by the 1850s his handbill reads:

The Course of Instruction embraces the Greek,
Latin, French and German Languages,
Penmanship, Arithmetic in all its branches,
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with Merchants’ Accounts, Land-Surveying, and
Algebra, the Mathematics, Geography, Astronomy,

and History; thus including every subject that may

be considered necessary for a sound Classical,
Mathematical, or Commercial Education

(Karr and Humphrey 1976, 35).

Only the Sciences seem not to have been in demand in
rural Essex, in contrast to Nottingham, where in 1808
the Standard Hill Academy possessed a microscope,
electrical machine, air pump, a prism, barometer,
thermometer, quadrant, and an orrery (Wadsworth
1941, 66). Even in this field, however, the pupils of
Ongar Academy received some instruction. In a letter
home to his brother in 1847, Walter Barlow wrote
“Tomorrow and the following day we are going to have
two lectures on Electricity and Galvanism by Mr.
Thornthwaite, a lecturer from London’ (Barlow n.d.,
50). The field which Stokes rented from his mother-in-
law could have been used for practical exercises in
surveying. A pupil at Ackworth School recalled that:

I made one of several boys who would be taken
out by the Master on to some of the Farm Lands
occasionally, to have practical lessons in the latter
science [Land surveying], carrying with us the
‘Rod’ or ‘Pole’ staff and ‘Gunter’s Chain’ of 100
links, with other paraphernalia for accomplishing
our work which we made notes of and then had to
enter in our Ciphering Books, - on our return to the
school room... these Ciphering Books commencing
with ‘Notation” and ‘Numeration’ were all preserved
and sent home with each boy on his leaving school,
carrying through all his acquirements in the
Mathematics as far as he had gone (Hunt 1942,
183-4).

A similar arithmetical exercise book has survived among
the papers of Stokes’s father-in-law, Thomas Shadrack.
It belonged to one R. McNarry, a pupil of W.J. Wright of
Margaretting (ERO D/DU 276/7).The school field may
also have been used for sporting activities. Stokes
realised the value of open-air exercise for his pupils, his
handbill of 1811 assuring parents that as well as a
‘spacious and convenient Schoolroom’ he also provided
an ‘appropriate Play-ground’. Although Stokes does not
mention playground equipment, illustrations of similar
schools show climbing frames, parallel bars, rope swings
and various other apparatus (ERO D/DSe 29). John
Shoveller considered that boys should devote 5 hours a
day to such exercise and to meals, with 9 hours for study
and 10 for sleep (Shoveller 1824, 130). At Milk Street
Academy in Sheffield, twelve hours a week were devoted
to mathematics and accounts, and six to English
grammar. Penmanship was taught for one or two hours
every morning, as well as for three hours in the
afternoon on four days a week. It was interspersed with
reading, with 1'/2 hours every Saturday morning
devoted to recitation from memory. Geography,
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drawing and French were each allowed three hours a
week (Abraham 1805, 56).

Good, clear handwriting was essential in the era
before the invention of the typewriter, and Henry Hunt
recalled that one of his schoolmasters, Mr. Alner, ‘was a
remarkably good penman and accountant’ (Hunt 1820,
49). Stokes paid particular attention to penmanship.
The surviving copybook of one of his pupils, John
Shipman, is a fine example of the kind of writing which
was expected of an educated man, and the way in which
it was taught. It may have been Shipman’s holiday task,
since the first page reads “Specimens of penmanship
written by John Shipman at Ongar Academy Christmas
1818, while the last tells us that “The Vacation will
terminate on Monday the 18th of January 1819”. The
other three large pages consist of copies of aphorisms
(ERO D/DU 276/8). Although Religious Instruction
does not appear on the curricula of any of the schools,
boys were expected to attend church (or chapel) each
Sunday, and in the handbill which Stokes produced in
the 1850s he stated that his ‘course of instruction [was]
based upon Christian principles’ (Hearl 1966, 74; Karr
and Humphrey 1976, 37). In March 1831, Richard
Noble sent in a bill for ‘putting fences round pew in
church to prevent books getting down’. One can
imagine the boys, during a long sermon, relieving their
boredom by seeing just how far a book could be eased
over the back of a pew before it clattered over onto the
floor in front. The previous year Noble had put ‘Boards
for Children’s Hats under Seats at Church’ and charged
Stokes 7s. for the carpenter, planks of deal and nails
(ERO D/DU 413/1).

The College of Preceptors

Most school proprietors needed some assistance in their
teaching. In 1851, the assistant master at the Academy
was Augustus Noble, son of the Richard Noble the
builder, who had earlier been a pupil of Richard Stokes.
The 1851 Census listed him as a ‘teacher of languages’.
Ten years previously the assistant had been William
Casford (PRO HO 107/1771, 276; HO 107/36/15, 3).
For a few years in the 1830s Stokes’s assistant had been
John Parker, who moved from Ongar to found his own
school, Trafalgar House, in Brighton (Chapman 1985,
10). It was through Parker that Richard Stokes was
introduced to the group of young, enthusiastic
schoolmasters and proprietors who were determined to
raise the standard of private education in England,
particularly by the introduction of proper training for
teachers, with examinations to test their competence.
The group met in Brighton to discuss various aspects of
teaching practice, and after several such informal
meetings a provisional committee was formed, with
Henry Stein Turrell of Montpelier House School,
Brighton as its chairman and John Parker as secretary
(Gosden 1972, 218; Aldrich, 1995, 96). Stokes was a
member of this committee, and as such attended the
inaugural meeting of the College of Preceptors, held at
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the Freemasons’ Tavern in Great Queen Street, London.
This was just south of Bloomsbury, where the College
was to have its premises from its foundation until the
1970s. The meeting, which was held on 20 June 1846,
was attended by 300 men, 60 of whom were
immediately enrolled as members of the College. The
provisional committee was elevated to the status of
Council, with H.S. Turrell as its President (Chapman
1985, 21; Aldrich 1995, 97). The Calendar of the
College of Preceptors for 1846 fully reported the
meeting. The principal motion was moved by Mr.
Gunton of Soham and seconded by Richard Stokes:

That, in the opinion of this meeting, it is desirable for
the protection of the interests both of the Scholastic
profession and the public, that some proof of
qualification both as to the amount of knowledge,
and the art of conveying it to others, should be
required,...of all persons who may be desirous of
entering the profession;...

The Calendar also shows that Richard Stokes had also
become the honorary secretary of the Local Board for
Ongar (British Library (hereafter BL), 732.d.45). In
1849 the College obtained its Royal Charter, which
defined its object as

...promoting sound learning and of advancing the
interests of Education, more especially among the
middle classes, by affording facilities to the teacher
for the acquiring of a sound knowledge of his
profession and by providing for the periodical
session of a competent Board of Examiners to
ascertain and give certificates of the acquirements
and fitness for their office of persons engaged or
desiring to be engaged in the Education of Youth,
particularly in the Private Schools of England and
Wales...

Although the College of Preceptors never achieved its
first aim, that of becoming the sole professional body for
teachers in private schools, its examinations for
teachers, and later for scholars, have always been well
subscribed to and respected. Its failure to become the
sole regulatory body for teachers, such as the British
Medical Association became for doctors, was due in
part to internal wrangling within the organisation itself,
but above all to the fact that teaching quite quickly
became a salaried occupation rather than a profession of
independent practitioners (Gosden 1972, 18). There
was also, at first, a certain amount of mistrust on the
part of parents towards examinations in which the
performance of teachers was to be assessed by the fellow
members of their own organisation (Montgomery 1965,
64). Despite this, the College held its first examinations
for teachers in January 1847.The only two compulsory
subjects were Bible History, and the Theory and
Practice of Education. Other subjects offered by the
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candidates (24 of whom passed out of an unknown
number of entrants) included Classics, Mathematics
and Commerce (Aldrich 1995, 106). The “Theory and
Practice’ paper was set by H.S. Turrell. As a founder
member, Richard Stokes was not required to pass an
examination. The by-laws of the College allowed that all
school proprietors who had joined before January 1847
were automatically awarded the rank of Member of the
College of Preceptors, and could use the initials M.C.P.
Assistant masters became Associates (A.C.P.).The term
‘Member’ was later replaced by ‘Licenciate’. Fellowship
of the College was at first granted on the grounds of ‘a
very lengthened period of probation in connection with
the highest attainments’, but was later to be gained only
by examination (Educational Times 17, 103; Aldrich
1995, 98). Stokes was elected a Fellow of the College in
June 1852 (ACP Council Minutes, 19 June 1852).
Examinations for pupils were first held by the College in
December 1850, and thereafter twice yearly. They
quickly became recognised as the equivalent of the
Local Examinations of Oxford and Cambridge
Universities, but there is no evidence that pupils of
Ongar Academy were entered for them during the
mastership of Richard Stokes. The Minute Book of the
Council from 1848 to 1854 has survived, and shows
that Stokes was not very regular in his attendance,
although he did chair Council meetings on several
occasions (e.g. ACP Council Minutes, 4 January 1851).
At the meeting of 10 April 1852 he was,with others,
removed from the Council for having not attended
meetings for more than six months, but he was
immediately nominated for one of the resulting
vacancies. He was re-elected to the Council at its
following meeting in May. The Council met monthly to
discharge the general business of the College, such
matters as the payment of bills, the relationship between
the College and its landlord, and the conduct of its
examinations. For many of its concerns, the Council
appointed special sub-committees, examinations,
finance, and the efficacy of Local Boards being typical
subjects for separate discussion. Stokes seems to have
avoided becoming a member of any of these
committees, except that formed in 1852 ‘to reconsider
the place of examinations for Assistant Masters in
Commercial Schools” (ACP Council Minutes, 10
January 1852).

In October 1847 the first issue of the Educational
Times appeared, a ‘Monthly Stamped Journal of
Education, Science and Literature’. Although it had no
formal connection with the College of Preceptors until
1861, it fully reported meeting of the College Council
and its General Meetings, as well as giving selections
from its examination papers and lists of successful
candidates. It gave reports of the meetings of other
bodies of teachers, such as the Educational Institute for
Scotland and the Assistant Masters’ Association. Its
views were closely allied to those of the College in such
matters as the education of women (in favour) and
corporal punishment (against). It also published letters
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from ‘those who would reform the educational
establishment, and from those who had suffered at its
hands’ (Aldrich, 1995, 102). The reports by the
Educational Times of the General Meetings of the
College seem to be their only surviving record, since
they are alluded to in the Council Minute Book only in
the most general terms. It is thus in that journal, that
there are to be found the only verbatim reports of the
views of Richard Stokes on educational matters. During
the discussion on the report of the Council to the Half-
yearly Meeting of 27 June 1850,

Mr Stokes expressed his opinion, that the College
should impress upon Parents the necessity of
interesting themselves more particularly in the
Education of their children; to enquire diligently and
minutely into the fitness of the Educators to whom
they committed so important a trust; and to assist by
their authority, influence, and active cooperation, in
the moral, religious, and literary training of their
offspring. A deep thinker, a keen observer, one of the
greatest poets and finest authors of antiquity,
speaking of his own education, alludes to his father
in these terms;-

“Ipse mihi custos incorruptissimus omnis

Circum doctores aderat.” (Educational Times, 3,

35)

Here Horace (Satires I, iv) praises his father for himself
accompanying his son to school, rather than leaving the
task to a slave, as was the usual practice. It is not only the
aptness of the quotation which is significant. Stokes
obviously assumed that his audience, although
composed largely of those who regarded their schools as
having a practical and commercial bias, were still well
versed in the Classical authors. When, three years later,
the Half-yearly meeting was discussing the examination
of teachers, Stokes pointed out

the disadvantages, pecuniary and moral, which
resulted to the properly qualified teacher, from the
existence of pretenders to the art of teaching — men
who made it their boast that the less they knew of any
subject, the better they taught it, — and hoped to see
examinations made compulsory.

(Educational Times, 4, 70)

Present-day teachers would agree with Stokes on
this issue.

The Chipping Ongar Vestry

In addition to his involvement with the College of
Preceptors, Richard Stokes was active in the public life
of Ongar, particularly in the field of local and church
government. Throughout the time that Stokes was living
in the town, Ongar was administered by a Public Vestry,
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except for about three years in the 1820s when a Select
Vestry was set up. Minute books survive for the period
1780-1863 (VCH, 168). Stokes attended a Vestry
meeting for the first time less than a month after the
opening of Ongar Academy, on 5 February 1811.
Meetings were held monthly at that time, mainly to
approve the accounts of the Overseer of the Poor (ERO
D/P 124/8/2). In the early years of the century one of
the Overseers was Thomas Shadrack, Stokes’s future
father-in-law, but in 1819 a permanent Overseer was
appointed, at a salary of £15 per annum. The office of
Overseer of the Poor had always been one which parish
ratepayers disliked, and avoided filling if they could.
Since the sixteenth century every parish had been
responsible for maintaining its own poor citizens, and
the cost of this became an increasing burden upon the
ratepayers (Reeve and Morrison 1989, lvii). By the end
of 1821 the Chipping Ongar Vestry was seriously
alarmed at the financial state of the parish. The
Overseer’s accounts had not been properly kept for a
number of years, rates were higher than they should be
because so many people did not pay their demands, and
the parish was constantly in debt. The Vestry resolved to
appoint a permanent committee to audit the accounts,
and directed the Overseer to use a properly printed
ledger, cash book, rate collectors book etc. Stokes was
appointed a member of this committee. Three months
later on 6 March 1822 the committee reported that the
parish was in debt to the extent of about £200. It
proposed that an extra rate of 2s. in the £ per month
should be levied, and that creditors should receive 5s. in
the £ per month until the debt was cleared. The Vestry
meeting of 17 April 1823, with Richard Stokes in the
chair, appointed a new Assistant Overseer, who was to
continue with the new way of composing the accounts,
which was deemed a ‘good and intelligent’ method. The
meeting also resolved unanimously that ‘the thanks of
this Meeting be given to Mr. Stokes for his able and
impartial Conduct in the Chair and for the Business of
the Day as on all former Occasions in the affairs of the
Parish’. The Vestry was also much concerned with the
administration of the parish Poorhouse. In February
1828 it was proposed that a ‘fit and competent person’
should be appointed as Governor or Master. Stokes also
proposed a motion that the Poorhouse should be
enlarged, but this was not carried. At the next meeting
various proposals were put forward for its ‘better
management’, including a book to be kept listing all the
inmates, with their ages and dates of admission and
discharge. Stokes proposed that the Master was to
promote ‘Cleanliness, Industry, Frugality, Sobriety,
Peace and Piety’ among the inmates, and to prevent the
contrary vices of ‘Sloth, Idleness, Wastefulness,
Intemperance, Discord and Immoral language’. On no
account were cards, dice or gambling to be allowed. The
Master was to read prayers to the inmates twice a day,
all able-bodied inmates being required to attend, and all
were to attend the Parish Church or another place of
worship every Sunday (ERO D/P 124/8/3).
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In March 1828 Richard Stokes was elected
churchwarden for the first time; he continued in this
office until March 1836, when he proposed William
Boyer to replace him. The duties of churchwardens
were rather more onerous in the early nineteenth
century than they later became. As far as the church
was concerned, they had to fulfil all the duties which
are now shared among the members of the parochial
church council. They were ex-officio members of the
Vestry, and their duties included ensuring that the
Lord’s Day was properly observed in their parish,
particularly in respect of manual labour and the visiting
of ale-houses during Divine Service (Nutt and Gosling
1734, 43 passim). Under the provisions of the Act of
1782 “for the better relief and employment of the
poor”, which allowed several parishes to unite in
building a common workhouse, Richard Stokes
proposed a motion to the Vestry:

that this parish do henceforth in conjunction with any
Parish or Parishes within 10 miles of the Workhouse
to be erected in virtue of an Act of Parliament made
and passed in 22 Geo3 Chap 83:- adopt in all
respects the Provisions, Rules, Orders and
Regulations prescribed by the said Act for parishes
uniting for these Purposes; and that a convenient
Workhouse and other Buildings and necessary
conveniences shall be immediately provided at or near
the Town of Chipping Ongar and accommodated for
the purpose mentioned in the said Act.

An amendment was then moved, and carried, that
consideration of the proposal should be postponed for
three months. It was in fact several years before the
Vestry again deliberated on the possibility of a united
Workhouse (ERO D/P 124/8/3).There were various
occasions on which the Vestry passed an amendment to
a motion, that discussion of a subject should be
postponed until a later date. It seems to have been a way
of avoiding acrimonious discussion of a possibly
contentious issue, without a visible rebuff to the
proposer of the original motion. For most of the time
that Richard Stokes was a churchwarden the parish rate
remained at 6d. in the pound, but in September 1831 it
rose to 9d. in the pound. Perhaps as a result of this, the
Vestry of 18 April 1832 unanimously declared that the
parish rate assessment was unfair, and a committee was
appointed to assist the churchwardens and Overseer in
reassessing the parish. As a result of this, Stokes was
newly assessed for a total of £38, of which £20 was for
the school house, £8 for the cottages which he owned,
and £10 for the rented fields. This assessment lasted for
only five years, until September 1837, when a new
assessment increased the rateable value of the premises
owned or occupied by Stokes to £71. However, the
poundage was decreased to 3d. By this time Stokes was
present at few Vestry meetings. He took the chair for the
last time on 13 June 1854, and did not attend at all from
June 1856 until he retired.
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Retirement

It was not only the Chipping Ongar Vestry which saw
less of Richard Stokes as the years passed; he attended
very few meetings of the College of Preceptors after
1854. His old friend John Parker had given up teaching
on becoming Secretary of the College, and moved to
London, where he and his family occupied part of the
building which the college rented as its headquarters
(Aldrich, 1995, 100). Parker had always been one of the
strongest supporters of the idea of teaching becoming a
self-governing profession, and was one of those who
travelled to Manchester in October 1848 to address a
meeting on the objects of the College of Preceptors,
with particular reference to its application for a Royal
Charter (Educational Times 14, 31-35). He was later one
of those who was responsible for the booklet published
by the College, ‘A suggestive manual on the theory and
practice of Education’ (ACP, Council Minutes, 24 August
1850). Unfortunately, he seems to have been less able as
an administrator, and by the end of 1856 was intent on
resigning. Stokes formed a committee to collect
subscriptions for a testimonial for him, but seems not to
have been particularly successful (Chapman 1985, 47).
He hung on for another two years, during which time
the Council seems to have become increasingly
displeased with his performance, but they finally
reported his departure to the General Meeting of the
College in January 1859: ‘Into the details of the causes
and consequences of this official change the Council do
not now enter, farther than to state that, on the 27th
November last, Mr. Parker, having received his salary
up to Christmas, discontinued his attendance as
Secretary’ (Educational Times 137, 37).

Stokes may have felt that he too had had his day, and
at some time in 1859 he sold the Academy and moved
to Brighton, where several members of the family were
living. His staff and pupils presented him with a hand-
made chess set on the occasion of his retirement (Karr
and Humphrey 1976, 39). Despite the considerable
sums which Stokes’s wife brought to their marriage, he
appears to have been in some financial difficulty by the
time he retired. His brother James wrote to him on 12
April 1860 ‘...when you were at Ongar you said you
would pay my Money in February and would meet me
at Stratford [home of their sister Mary Ann] but I have
heard no more from you, I trust you will pay me my just
Rights and I ask for no more,...”. Writing to his brother
Edward a few days later, James says, ‘.... I had a letter
from Brother 